In vitro Characterisation of the *Leishmania*:Dendritic Cell Interaction

Clare Louise Bennett

Thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy University of Edinburgh

2002



For Nanny

.

I declare that the work presented in this thesis is my own, except where otherwise stated

Clare Bennett

-

,

Acknowledgements

My thanks go to Clare, my supervisor, for convincing me all those years ago that science was interesting, and for her constant inspiration, enthusiasm and encouragement. I also could not have done the work for this thesis without Toni Aebischer: thank you for teaching me everything I could ever need to know about *Leishmania*, and for your constant support. I would also like to thank David Gray and Rick Maizels for their advice and help along the way.

I would like to thank the members of the Blackburn lab and CGR, for their help over the last 3 years and for listening to all those parasite immunology seminars. Thanks to the animal staff and people providing technical support, without whom this work would not be possible.

Finally, thanks to my family for always believing in me and being there for me; to Al, Julie and Andrea for support in the lab and friendship; to my friends 'down south', and, of course, to Matt.

Abstract

Leishmania sp. are protozoan parasites that cause a wide spectrum of diseases in man and other mammals. Resolution of Leishmania infections depends strictly on the activation of a type 1 T helper response, which must be initiated by activated antigen presenting cells displaying parasite antigens in the context of major histocompatibility (MHC) class II molecules. Macrophages (M Φ) and Dendritic cells (DC) are specialised antigen presenting cells capable of stimulating T cells. Primary T cell responses however, can only be initiated by DC.

 $M\Phi$ are the principal host cells for *Leishmania* parasites and are ultimately responsible for parasite clearance, via the production of nitric oxide. However, $M\Phi$ do not become activated upon infection and do not efficiently present *Leishmania*derived antigens to T cells, raising the question of how the response is initiated. As *Leishmania* also infect DC, it has been assumed that *Leishmania*-infected DC stimulate the primary anti-*Leishmania* T cell response. The specific interaction between *Leishmania* parasites and DC has not, however, been investigated in detail. This work examines the *Leishmania*:DC interaction through the use of defined *in vitro* systems and therefore evaluates the hypothesis that infection of DC by *Leishmania* parasites is sufficient to activate the primary anti-*Leishmania* T cell response. In particular, it addresses two aims: first to develop an experimental model to investigate the fate of *Leishmania* antigens in infected cells; second to examine the *Leishmania*:DC interaction in a defined *in vitro* model.

In initial experiments, lines of transgenic parasites were generated in which the MHC II-dependent T cell epitope Moth Cytochrome C (MCC) was expressed within a number of different fusion proteins, to provide a model in which the fate of parasite-derived antigens could be followed in infected DC. MHC II-MCC complex formation in DC and M Φ infected with these transgenic parasites was investigated using the complex-specific monoclonal antibody, D4, and a complex-specific T cell line. Although the fusion proteins were clearly demonstrated to be secreted at high levels, no cell surface staining could be detected with D4 and neither infected DC nor infected M Φ could stimulate T cell proliferation. *Leishmania*-infected DC were however, shown to efficiently process and present exogenous antigen to T cells *in vitro*.

Alternative strategies were therefore developed to probe the DC:Leishmania interaction in more detail. Investigation into the effect of uptake of EGFP-expressing L. mexicana parasites by different DC cultures in vitro demonstrated that, in the absence of exogenous factors, uptake of L. mexicana amastigotes did not cause activation of DC. Uptake of L. mexicana promastigotes resulted in activation of a small proportion of DC indicating that promastigotes do encode an activation signal, but that this is not sufficient to activate the entire DC population. However, neither L. major promastigotes nor L. mexicana promastigote mutants lacking surface lipophosphoglycan (LPG) activated DC in vitro. Therefore these data suggest that L. mexicana promastigotes encode an activation signal, but that this is not sufficient to stimulate all DC. As the promastigotes which did not activate DC either lacked, or expressed a modified version of, LPG, we propose that LPG is a L. mexicana pathogen-associated molecular pattern (PAMP).

The work presented in this thesis demonstrates that infected DC are capable of initiating the anti-*Leishmania* response *in vivo*, as they efficiently present antigen to T cells. However, infection *per se* is not sufficient to activate all DC. These data therefore suggest that during the initiation of an anti-*Leishmania* T cell response DC are likely to be activated by factors produced in response to injection of parasites by the insect vector, such as pro-inflammatory cytokines.

.

Contents

Declaration Acknowledgements Abstract

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 The Immunobiology of Leishmania	1

1.1.2 Leishmaniasis – The Disease	4
1.1.3 Inerapeutic Agents	
1.2 Dendritic Cells and their Response to Infection	6
1.2.1 Introduction 1.2.2 Functional Maturation and Migration of DC – Initiation of a Primary Immu	0 1e
Response	7
1.2.3 Heterogeneity of Dendritic Cells	12
1.2.4 DC as a Link Between the Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses to	
Pathogens	16
1.2.5 Polarisation of the T cell Response by Activated DC	25
1.3 Processing and Presentation of Exogenous Antigen by Antigen Presenting Cel	ls
	30
1.3.1 Antigen Presentation by MHC II Molecules	31
1.3.2 Control of the MHC II Processing and Presentation Pathway in DC	36
1.4 Initiation and Resolution of <i>Leishmania</i> Infection	37
1.4.1 The Role of T Cells in Controlling Infection with Leishmania	38
1.4.2 Summary I: The Balance Between Th1 and Th2 Responses in Leishmania	
Infection	52
1.4.3 The Role of Infected Macrophages in the Anti-Leishmania Immune Respons	se
1 A A The Interaction Between DC and Laishmania Parasites	54 63
1.4.5 Summary II: The Significance of Infection of APC by <i>Leishmania</i> to the	05
Development of an Anti-Leishmania Immune Response	66
15 Aims and Evnewimental Approach	67
1.5 Anns and Experimental Approacn	07

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods	69

2.1 Molecular Biology Methods	
2.1.1 General Cloning Techniques	
2.1.2 Isolation of Nucleic Acids	
2.1.3 Northern Blotting	
2.1.4 Radio-labelling Probes	75

2.1.5 Hybridisation Conditions	
2.1.6 DNA sequencing	
2.1.7 Polymerase Chain Reaction	
2.1.8 Generation of Constructs	
2.2 Protein Analysis	
2.2.1 Preparation of Protein Samples	
2.2.2 SDS-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	
2.2.3 Western Blotting	
2.2.4 Antibodies used for immunoblotting	
2.2.5 Acid phosphatase assay	95
2.3 General Tissue Culture	
2.3.1 Culture of Leishmania Parasites	(
2.3.2 Culture of Mammalian Cells	
2.4 Primary Tissue Culture	C
2.4.1 Animal Maintenance	Ģ
2.4.2 Isolation of Bone Marrow	
2.4.3 Generation of Bone Marrow-Derived DC	
2.4.4 Generation of Bone Marrow-Derived M Φ	
2.5 Immunological Methods	
2.5.1 Flow Cytometry	
2.5.2 Magnetic Cell Sorting (MACS)	
2.5.3 Cytokine Detection	
2.5.4 T cell Assays	
2.6 Antibodies	
2.6.1 Primary Antibodies	
2.6.2 Isotype Controls and Secondary Reagents	
Chapter 3: Generation and Testing of a Model Experimental Proposed for the Investigation of Processing and Presentation <i>Leishmania</i> -Derived Antigens in Infected DC	System
Leisnnana Derived Andgens in Intelled De	1
3.1 Introduction	1,
	IV

	100
3.2 The Experimental Model	109
3.2.1 Detection of MHC II-Peptide Complexes in vitro	109
3.2.2 Expression of Transgenic Proteins by Leishmania sp.	110
3.2.3 The Model (Figure 3.3)	114
3.3 Integration of GST-int into the rRNA Locus of <i>L. mexicana</i> Parasites	114
3.3.1 GST-int	116
3.3.2 Generation of the Targeting Construct and Integration into L. mexicana	
Parasites	116
3.3.3 Expression of GST-int-L by L. mexicana Parasites	118

3.4 Use of the <i>L. mexicana</i> Membrane-Bound Acid Phosphatase as a Carrie Molecule for MCC	r 123
3.4.1 Introduction	
3.4.2 Generation of <i>L. mexicana</i> Parasites Expressing MBAP:MCC Fusion	Proteins
3.5 Discussion	145
3.5.1 Integration of GST-int into the L. mexicana rRNA SSU Gene	146
3.5.2 Generation of Parasites Expressing MBAP:MCC Fusion Proteins	
 3.5.3 Processing of a Parasite-Derived Antigen by Infected DC and MΦ 3.5.4 Replacement of a Defined T Cell Epitope from Gp63 with MCC 	149 151
3.6 Concluding Remarks	159
Chapter 4: Characterisation of Infection of Bone Marrow-Derive	ed DC
with L. mexicana Parasites	160
4.1 Introduction	160
4.2 The Experimental Model	161
4.3 Phenotypic Characterisation of BM-DC	163
4.4 Leishmania Parasites are Internalised by BM-DC	166
4.5 Incubation of BM-DC with <i>L. mexicana</i> Promastigotes or Promastigote Results in Activation of a Small Percentage of BM-DC	Lysate 168
4.6 Infection with L. mexicana Amastigotes does not Induce Activation of B	M-DC 176
4.7 The effect of <i>L. mexicana</i> Infection on IL-12 Production by BM-DC	
4.8 Presentation of Exogenous Antigen to T cells by L. mexicana-Infected B	M-DC 182
4 9 Discussion	
4.9.1 Infection by <i>L. mexicana</i> Amastigotes does not Activate BM-DC	
4.9.2 <i>L. mexicana</i> -Infected BM-DC can Efficiently Process and Present Ex Antigen to T cells.	ogenous 190
4.10 Concluding Remarks	190
Chapter 5: Characterisation of Infection of an Alternative DC	
Population with L. mexicana	192
5.1 Introduction to D1 Splenic DC	192
	104

.

5.5.2 Partially Activated BM-DC do not Become More Sensitive Promastigotes	e to Activation by
5.3 Kinetic Characterisation of the Effect of L. mexicana Infection	n on D1 Cells 20
5.4 Characterisation of long-term infection of D1 cells with L. mer. 5.4.1 Effect of Long-term Infection on the Viability of D1 Cells 5.4.2 Characterisation of PV Formation in Infected D1 Cells	xicana
 5.5 Discussion 5.5.1 L. mexicana Promastigotes but not Amastigotes Activate a Cells upon Infection 5.5.2 Characterisation of Long-term Infection of D1 cells with L 	Percentage of D1 2 . mexicana2
5.6 Concluding remarks	
Chapter 6: The role of <i>L. mexicana</i> LPG as a Protozoan 6.1 Introduction	PAMP 22
6.2 Incubation of DC with L. major Promastigotes	
 6.3 Identification of <i>L. mexicana</i> LPG as a <i>Leishmania</i> PAMP 6.3.1 Introduction to LPG 6.3.2 Internalisation of LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes by BM-DC 6.3.3 Incubation of DC with <i>L. mexicana</i> LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes 6.3.4 Incubation of BM-DC with Purified LPG 	
6.4 Discussion	24
6.5 Concluding Remarks	2:
Chapter 7: Discussion	25
Appendix A:	
Appendix B: Transcriptional Analysis of the Effect of In Cell Cultures with <i>L. mexicana</i> Wild Type or LPG ^{-/-} Para	cubation of Data
Appendix C: Bennett, C., A. Misslitez, L. Colledge, T. Aebischer a Blackburn. Silent infection of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells by mexicana amastigotes (2001) <u>Eur. J. Immunol</u> . 31 :876-833	and C. C. <i>Leishmania</i> 27
List of Figures	27
List of Tables	2
List of abbreviations	2

Chapter 1: Introduction

Vertebrates possess a highly evolved immune system that is rapidly activated upon encounter with invading organisms (see Abbas 1997; Parham 2000). The immune response is divided into two arms: the immediate, non-specific, innate response and the acquired, antigen-specific, adaptive response. The acquired immune response is characterised by the generation of immunological memory, which ensures a more rapid, amplified immune response on the second and subsequent encounters with a particular pathogen. Both innate and adaptive responses must be tightly controlled to maximise responses against harmful pathogens, while minimising immune responses to self- or harmless non-self proteins. Dendritic cells (DC) have recently been identified as the antigen presenting cells (APC) that initiate adaptive immune response, and may also play a more instructive role in shaping the outcome of the adaptive response depending on the nature of the invading organism.

The immunobiology of *Leishmania sp.* has been extensively studied over the last 20 years, in particular due to the key role that T helper effector subsets play in the resolution of infection. Until recently, however less was known about the interaction of *Leishmania* with DC, and the role these cells play in initiating the anti-parasite immune response. This chapter reviews the literature on *Leishmania* infection, the role of DC in priming naïve T cells and the interaction between *Leishmania* and the immune system: section 1.1 describes *Leishmania* infection in mammals; section 1.2 introduces DC and discusses their role in initiating immune responses to pathogens; section 1.3 summarises the molecular mechanisms involved in presentation of *Leishmania* infection, and the role of T cells; section 1.4 describes T cell responses to *Leishmania* infection, and the role of infected macrophages (M Φ) and DC; finally, section 1.5 outlines the aims of this project and the experimental approach taken.

1

1.1 The Immunobiology of Leishmania

1.1.1 The Leishmania Life Cycle

Leishmania sp. are protozoan parasites. They have a digenetic life cycle, comprising a flagellated promastigote that resides in the sandfly vector and an aflagellated amastigote that multiplies in its mammalian host (for an outline of Leishmania biology see (Roberts 1996). A schematic representation of the Leishmania life cycle is depicted in Figure 1.1. All Leishmania species are transmitted by phlebotomine sandflies; promastigotes reside in the gut of the sandfly in the form of dividing procyclic promastigotes which are adapted for attachment to the gut epithelium and resistance to digestive enzymes. Metacyclic promastigotes then differentiate through two to three different stages as they migrate along the sandfly gut to the proboscis (Saraiva et al. 1995 and references therein), culminating in the infective metacyclic form which will be transmitted when the sandfly takes a blood meal. Metacyclic promastigotes are coated with a thick glycocalyx which protects them from immune-mediated lysis upon injection into the host. Once in the mammalian host promastigotes are taken up by phagocytic monocytes, principally M Φ , which have been recruited to the site of infection. L. mexicana promastigotes are initially contained in small individual phagosomes. These dilate to form large communal parasitophorous vacuoles (PV) (Courret et al. 2001), probably due to fusion of the phagosome with host endosomal compartments, and to vacuole: vacuole fusion (Antoine et al. 1998). Not all Leishmania species induce the formation of large communal PV, however; L. major and L. donovani parasites remain within individual vacuoles that do not fuse with other compartments in infected cells (Antoine et al. 1998). Once taken up by M Φ , metacyclic promastigotes transform into aflagellated amastigotes. This obligate intracellular form is well adapted to survival in the acidic phagolysosome. Amastigotes reside and multiply in the PV until they are released, probably upon rupture of the cell. They will subsequently be taken up by monocytes attracted to the site of infection, or by a sandfly as it feeds upon an infected host, thus perpetuating the cycle.

Figure 1.1: Schematic Representation of the Leishmania Life Cycle



Leishmania parasites are transmitted by sandflies when they feed on a mammalian host. *Leishmania* promastigotes are injected into the epidermis of the skin where they are taken up by phagocytic monocytes, principally $M\Phi$. Within the monocyte promastigotes transform into amastigotes, the obligate intracellular form of the parasite. Amastigotes are contained within a phagolysosome known as the parasitophorous vacuole (PV). Parasites are released when the cell ruptures and are taken up by other monocytes at the site of infection, or by a sandfly feeding on an infected host, thus perpetuating the cycle.

4

A natural model of cutaneous Leishmania infection has recently been established which mimics transmission of the parasites by the sandfly (Belkaid et al. 1998; Belkaid et al. 2000). In this murine model, infection is imitated by injection of low numbers (one hundred) of L. major metacyclic promatigotes into the dermis of the ear. This reflects the low numbers of parasites transmitted by sandflies and the observation that exposed dermal areas in humans are most vulnerable to infection (Gaafar et al. 1999). Using this model, the course of Leishmania infection was divided into three phases (Belkaid et al. 2000): initially the parasites reside silently within cells of the dermis, in the absence of an anti-parasite immune response. This phase lasts four to five weeks, and is asymptomatic. After week five the second phase is initiated, characterised by a wave of cells invading the dermis. This cellular infiltrate comprises neutrophils, M Φ and eosinophils. At this point lesions develop, and there is a dramatic reduction (95%) in parasite numbers. Naïve and memory T cells now migrate into the site of the infection, and, in humans, were shown to make up fifty percent of the infiltrate (ElHassan et al. 1995). The final phase of the infection is characterised by the persistance of one hundred to ten thousand parasites at the site of the lesion. At this point the majority of infiltrating cells in the ear are M Φ . Virulent parasites were shown, in a different model of infection, to persist indefinitely in the host and disease can recur if the host becomes immunocompromised (Aebischer et al. 1993).

In human cutaneous *Leishmania* infection, parasites have been identified in DC and M Φ at the site of the lesion (ElHassan *et al.* 1995; Gaafar *et al.* 1995). Parasites in various stages of degradation were observed within activated M Φ by microscopy (Gaafar *et al.* 1995). The most efficient mechanism for destroying parasites, however, is thought to be via necrosis of infected M Φ , which results in the development of the ulcerative lesions that are characteristic of the disease (Gaafar *et al.* 1995).

1.1.2 Leishmaniasis – The Disease

Leishmania sp. cause a wide range of diseases in humans, known collectively as Leishmaniases. World Health Organisation statistics estimate that up to 12 million people are affected in 88 countries, mainly in the developing world. 1.5 to 2 million new cases are reported per year and there is growing concern as increases are seen in both the number of cases and the spread to previously non-endemic countries. The emergence of Leishmaniasis as a co-infection with HIV has lead to worry about the appearance of the disease in Southern Europe and the Southern states of America.

The severity of Leishmaniasis depends on the tissue tropism of the species involved; *L. major* and *L. mexicana* are restricted to the skin and cause mainly self-healing cutaneous lesions, while *L. braziliensis* causes a disfiguring mucocutaneous disease that can lead to destruction of nasopharyngeal tissue. *L. donovani* infects macrophages in the liver, spleen and bone marrow, resulting in visceral infections which are fatal if left untreated (Herwaldt 1999).

1.1.3 Therapeutic Agents

Treatment is available for Leishmaniasis, however the drugs are expensive and have toxic side-effects. Pentavalent antimony compounds are effective. However, they are difficult to administer as they require long regimes of therapy, in addition, their mode of action remains unclear. More recent approaches using interferon gamma (IFN γ) and topical application of paromomycin have only modest cure rates (Herwaldt 1999), and the isolation of parasites resistant to pentavalent antimonials from patients who are unresponsive to therapy suggests that the effectiveness of anti-*Leishmania* chemotherapy may be limited (Grogl *et al.* 1992; Ouellette 1993). In Leishmaniasis-endemic areas "Leishmanisation" is practised: in this custom, individuals deliberately infect themselves with parasites from an open lesion on another infected person, choosing an infection site where scarring will not be visible. They then develop an infected lesion which is generally resolved and subsequently develop solid immunity against further infection. A vaccine against Leishmaniasis should therefore be attainable and is highly desirable (Handman 1997).

1.2 Dendritic Cells and their Response to Infection

1.2.1 Introduction

DC were first identified as a novel population of spleen cells characterised by their adherence to glass upon culture (Steinman and Cohn 1973), and were subsequently shown to be potent stimulators of B and T cells responses *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Inaba and colleagues (Inaba *et al.* 1983) initially demonstrated that DC could activate B cell responses to sheep erythrocytes *in vitro* and that purified DC were extremely efficient at stimulating this response: purified DC numbers as low as 0.1-3% of the culture could stimulate antibody production by B cells to the same extent as unfractionated splenocytes. Purified DC were approximately one hundred times more potent than unseparated splenocytes in stimulating Host versus Graft reactions *in vivo* (Knight *et al.* 1983), and direct injection of antigen-pulsed DC into naïve recipients primed antigen-specific T cells responses (Inaba *et al.* 1990).

As DC represent less than one percent of splenocytes (Schuler 1999), protocols to enrich DC populations *in vitro* and *ex vivo* were crucial for the progression of the field. Culture of DC/Langerhans cells (LC) had been shown to be dependent on the presence of Granulocyte/M Φ Colony Stimulating Factor (GM-CSF) (Witmer-Pack *et al.* 1987). Using this cytokine, Inaba and colleagues (Inaba *et al.* 1992) demonstrated that DC could be generated *in vitro* from cultures of mouse blood leukocytes. These blood-derived DC expressed high levels of Major Histocompatibility (MHC) II on their surface, potently stimulated T cells in the Mixed Leukocyte Reaction (MLR) and migrated to the T cell areas of the draining lymph node (LN) upon injection into mouse footpads, indicating that they were *bona fide* DC. It was subsequently demonstrated that the culture of mouse bone marrow precursors with GM-CSF led to the development of bone marrow-derived DC (Inaba *et al.* 1992). These cells, termed BM-DC, also expressed high levels of MHC II and efficiently stimulated T cells in the MLR. DC are now also routinely generated from human blood-derived monocytes (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 1994). *In vivo* elicitation and harvesting protocols arose in mice from the

A natural model of cutaneous Leishmania infection has recently been established which mimics transmission of the parasites by the sandfly (Belkaid et al. 1998; Belkaid et al. 2000). In this murine model, infection is imitated by injection of low numbers (one hundred) of L. major metacyclic promatigotes into the dermis of the ear. This reflects the low numbers of parasites transmitted by sandflies and the observation that exposed dermal areas in humans are most vulnerable to infection (Gaafar et al. 1999). Using this model, the course of Leishmania infection was divided into three phases (Belkaid et al. 2000): initially the parasites reside silently within cells of the dermis, in the absence of an anti-parasite immune response. This phase lasts four to five weeks, and is asymptomatic. After week five the second phase is initiated, characterised by a wave of cells invading the dermis. This cellular infiltrate comprises neutrophils, M Φ and eosinophils. At this point lesions develop, and there is a dramatic reduction (95%) in parasite numbers. Naïve and memory T cells now migrate into the site of the infection, and, in humans, were shown to make up fifty percent of the infiltrate (ElHassan et al. 1995). The final phase of the infection is characterised by the persistance of one hundred to ten thousand parasites at the site of the lesion. At this point the majority of infiltrating cells in the ear are M Φ . Virulent parasites were shown, in a different model of infection, to persist indefinitely in the host and disease can recur if the host becomes immunocompromised (Aebischer et al. 1993).

In human cutaneous *Leishmania* infection, parasites have been identified in DC and M Φ at the site of the lesion (ElHassan *et al.* 1995; Gaafar *et al.* 1995). Parasites in various stages of degradation were observed within activated M Φ by microscopy (Gaafar *et al.* 1995). The most efficient mechanism for destroying parasites, however, is thought to be via necrosis of infected M Φ , which results in the development of the ulcerative lesions that are characteristic of the disease (Gaafar *et al.* 1995).

1.1.2 Leishmaniasis – The Disease

Leishmania sp. cause a wide range of diseases in humans, known collectively as Leishmaniases. World Health Organisation statistics estimate that up to 12 million people are affected in 88 countries, mainly in the developing world. 1.5 to 2 million new cases are reported per year and there is growing concern as increases are seen in both the number of cases and the spread to previously non-endemic countries. The emergence of Leishmaniasis as a co-infection with HIV has lead to worry about the appearance of the disease in Southern Europe and the Southern states of America.

The severity of Leishmaniasis depends on the tissue tropism of the species involved; *L. major* and *L. mexicana* are restricted to the skin and cause mainly self-healing cutaneous lesions, while *L. braziliensis* causes a disfiguring mucocutaneous disease that can lead to destruction of nasopharyngeal tissue. *L. donovani* infects macrophages in the liver, spleen and bone marrow, resulting in visceral infections which are fatal if left untreated (Herwaldt 1999).

1.1.3 Therapeutic Agents

Treatment is available for Leishmaniasis, however the drugs are expensive and have toxic side-effects. Pentavalent antimony compounds are effective. However, they are difficult to administer as they require long regimes of therapy, in addition, their mode of action remains unclear. More recent approaches using interferon gamma (IFN γ) and topical application of paromomycin have only modest cure rates (Herwaldt 1999), and the isolation of parasites resistant to pentavalent antimonials from patients who are unresponsive to therapy suggests that the effectiveness of anti-*Leishmania* chemotherapy may be limited (Grogl *et al.* 1992; Ouellette 1993). In Leishmaniasis-endemic areas "Leishmanisation" is practised: in this custom, individuals deliberately infect themselves with parasites from an open lesion on another infected person, choosing an infection site where scarring will not be visible. They then develop an infected lesion which is generally resolved and subsequently develop solid immunity against further infection. A vaccine against Leishmaniasis should therefore be attainable and is highly desirable (Handman 1997).

1.2 Dendritic Cells and their Response to Infection

1.2.1 Introduction

DC were first identified as a novel population of spleen cells characterised by their adherence to glass upon culture (Steinman and Cohn 1973), and were subsequently shown to be potent stimulators of B and T cells responses *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Inaba and colleagues (Inaba *et al.* 1983) initially demonstrated that DC could activate B cell responses to sheep erythrocytes *in vitro* and that purified DC were extremely efficient at stimulating this response: purified DC numbers as low as 0.1-3% of the culture could stimulate antibody production by B cells to the same extent as unfractionated splenocytes. Purified DC were approximately one hundred times more potent than unseparated splenocytes in stimulating Host versus Graft reactions *in vivo* (Knight *et al.* 1983), and direct injection of antigen-pulsed DC into naïve recipients primed antigen-specific T cells responses (Inaba *et al.* 1990).

As DC represent less than one percent of splenocytes (Schuler 1999), protocols to enrich DC populations *in vitro* and *ex vivo* were crucial for the progression of the field. Culture of DC/Langerhans cells (LC) had been shown to be dependent on the presence of Granulocyte/M Φ Colony Stimulating Factor (GM-CSF) (Witmer-Pack *et al.* 1987). Using this cytokine, Inaba and colleagues (Inaba *et al.* 1992) demonstrated that DC could be generated *in vitro* from cultures of mouse blood leukocytes. These blood-derived DC expressed high levels of Major Histocompatibility (MHC) II on their surface, potently stimulated T cells in the Mixed Leukocyte Reaction (MLR) and migrated to the T cell areas of the draining lymph node (LN) upon injection into mouse footpads, indicating that they were *bona fide* DC. It was subsequently demonstrated that the culture of mouse bone marrow precursors with GM-CSF led to the development of bone marrow-derived DC (Inaba *et al.* 1992). These cells, termed BM-DC, also expressed high levels of MHC II and efficiently stimulated T cells in the MLR. DC are now also routinely generated from human blood-derived monocytes (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 1994). *In vivo* elicitation and harvesting protocols arose in mice from the

discovery that injection of Flt-3 ligand enhanced DC numbers in the spleen. Flt 3 is a haematopoetic growth factor (Rosnet *et al.* 1991) and administration of Flt3-ligand to mice resulted in an up-regulation of cells in the spleen that expressed markers characteristic of DC. These cells, when purified, could stimulate antigen-specific T cell responses *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Maraskovsky *et al.* 1996). Unlike other protocols, enhancement of DC numbers *in vivo* with flt3-ligand does not require GM-CSF. Thus, all DC subsets are expanded in these mice, whereas GM-CSF-based protocols favour the expansion of myeloid DC (see section1.2.2).

1.2.2 Functional Maturation and Migration of DC – Initiation of a Primary Immune Response

Activation of naïve T cells requires two signals: signal one is provided by the interaction between the T cell receptor (TCR) and peptides presented on the surface of APC in the context of MHC molecules; signal two is provided by ligation of co-stimulatory molecules on the surface of the APC with their receptors on T cells. Receipt of signal 1 by a T cell in the absence of signal 2 results in anergy, or unresponsiveness (Bretscher & Cohn 1970). DC are the only APC which constitutively express the co-stimulatory molecules needed to stimulate naïve T cells in the draining LN (Inaba et al. 1990), and therefore have been termed "professional APC" (Matzinger 1994; Mellman et al. 1998). In the tissues DC exist in an immature state, in which they are extremely efficient at sampling the local microenvironment and at retaining peptides intracellularly in an antigenic form. Receipt of specific activating signals results in the maturation of DC, which is associated with up-regulation of surface molecules necessary for the interaction with naïve T cells and concomitant migration of DC to the T cell areas of the draining LN (see Figure 1.2). Activated DC are characterized by high levels of cell surface expression of MHC I and II, the co-stimulatory molecules B7-1 (CD80), B7-2 (CD86) and CD40, the cell adhesion molecule ICAM-1 (CD54), and the chemokine receptor CCR7. Maturing DC are also induced to produce the pro-inflammatory cytokines

Figure 1.2: Activation of Immature DC Results in their Maturation and Migration to the Lymph Nodes



Abbreviations: LPS, lipopolysaccharide; dsRNA, double stranded RNA; TNF, tumour necrosis factor; IL, interleukin; CCR7, C-C chemokine receptor 7

interleukin (IL)-1 β , IL-6, IL-12, and tumour necrosis factor (TNF) α (Banchereau *et al.* 2000).

1.2.2.1 The Sentinel Role of DC and their Activation in the Periphery

Immature DC have evolved a number of different mechanisms with which to capture antigens for delivery to processing and presentation pathways. The local microenvironment is constantly sampled due to high levels of constitutive macropinocytosis, which concentrates macrosolutes into putative peptide loading compartments (Sallusto *et al.* 1995), and uptake of particles via receptor-mediated endocytosis (Garrett *et al.* 2000). DC express the mannose receptor, which facilitates uptake of a broad range of sugars, including mannose and fucose. This receptor releases its ligand at low pH, for example in endosomes, and recycles to the cell surface, therefore enabling a limited number of receptors to accumulate high concentrations of antigen (Sallusto *et al.* 1995). DC also express several lectin receptors including DEC205 (Jiang *et al.* 1995) and DCIR (DC immuno-receptor) (Bates *et al.* 1999). DEC 205 was shown to deliver glycoprotein antigens to MHC II-rich compartments of DC (Jiang *et al.* 1995; Mahnke *et al.* 2000).

Immature DC are actively phagocytic and express high levels of Fc receptors (Fc γ RI, II and III) that mediate uptake of immune complexes and opsonised particles. Internalisation of antigen via Fc receptors significantly increased the efficiency of antigen presentation by DC; antigen-specific T cells were a hundred times more sensitive to DC that had been incubated with an antigen and antibody to that antigen than to DC given antigen alone (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 1994). FcR-mediated uptake has also been shown to target antigen to the MHC II presentation pathway (Fanger *et al.* 1997; Maurer *et al.* 1998).

DC are activated by a number of pathogen-derived products (see section 1.2.4) and by cytokines produced in the tissue as a result of inflammation or tissue damage. In particular TNF α , IL-1 β and IL-6 are potent activators of immature DC (Banchereau *et al.* 2000). IL-12 production by activated DC has been reported to act in an autocrine loop to stimulate increased production of IL-12 (Grohmann *et al.* 1998) and IFN γ

(Ohteki *et al.* 1999). IFN γ production by DC early during the immune response could ensure the rapid activation of other cells involved in the innate response, such as Natural Killer (NK) cells and M Φ . IL-4, which is generally associated with down-regulation of T helper type 1 (Th1) responses, has also been shown to induce production of the Th1 polarising cytokine, IL-12, in both murine (Fukao *et al.* 2000; Hochrein *et al.* 2000) and human DC (Kalinski *et al.* 2000). In both of these studies IL-4 was demonstrated to enhance production of the bioactive IL-12 p70 heterodimer, but inhibited formation of antagonistic p40 homodimers (see section 1.4.1.3.2).

Activating signals result in the down-regulation of antigen capture and processing and the concomitant migration of DC to the draining LN (Reis e Sousa *et al.* 1993; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 1994). Antigens which have been captured in the periphery by DC in their immature form can be retained intracellularly for at least sixty hours, during which time the cells migrate to the T cell areas of the lymphoid organs (Inaba *et al.* 2000). In this way DC survey the tissues and provide T cells with a 'snap-shot' of the antigens present in the local microenvironment at the point when the DC were activated.

1.2.2.2 Migration of DC to the Draining LN

DC aquire antigen in the periphery but must migrate to the draining LN and spleen in order to interact with, and prime, naïve T cells bearing an appropriate cognate receptor. This spatial and temporal separation of the sentinel and antigen presenting cell functions of DC was demonstrated in studies of contact hypersensitivity responses, where LC were shown to take up large amounts of the sensitiser antigen and then migrate to the draining LN where they stimulated specific T cell responses (Macatonia *et al.* 1987). The molecular mechanisms that regulate the retention of immature DC in the tissues and their migration to the T cell areas of the LN upon activation are now understood in some detail, and are mediated by the expression of chemokines and chemokine receptors. Chemokines are small chemoattractive proteins that play a pivotal role in controlling tissue specific localisation of cells of the number and spacing of cysteine residues at their

amino-terminus (Cyster 1999). Immature DC express receptors for inflammatory chemokines. These receptors include the CC chemokine receptors (CCR) 1, 2, 5 and 6, which bind to pro-inflammatory chemokines including M Φ inflammatory protein (MIP)- 1α , MIP-1 β and RANTES (regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted) (Dieu et al. 1998; Sozzani et al. 1998). These receptors are down-regulated upon receipt of an activating stimulus, thus abrogating responses to inflammatory chemokines and enabling DC to exit from the inflamed tissue. Maturing DC up-regulate expression of CCR7. This binds to MIP-3 β and SLC (secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine), which are produced by endothelial cells and mature DC in the LN (Dieu et al. 1998; Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 2000). These chemokines are therefore thought to attract activated DC to the T cell areas of the draining LN, where naïve T cells, which also express CCR7, are localised (Sallusto and Lanzavecchia 2000). In support of this hypothesis, neither CCR7 nor SLC deficient mice were able to generate primary T cell responses, due to the inefficient migration of DC and naïve T cells into the T cell areas of the secondary lymphoid organs (Forster et al. 1999; Gunn et al. 1999). Activation and migration of LC is also associated with down-regulation of E-cadherin, allowing movement of cells from the epidermis and dermis of the skin into the lymphatics (Tang et al. 1993).

1.2.3.3 Final Maturation of DC in the Lymph Nodes

T cell-derived signals are required by activated DC to complete their maturation *in vivo*. Shreedhar *et al* (Shreedhar *et al.* 1999) reported that T cell-deficient mice (RAG2^{-/-} or SCID) had significantly lower numbers of DC in the draining LN than littermate controls, and showed impaired contact hypersensitivity responses which could be rescued by transfer of T cells from wild type mice, indicating that T cells are required for the presence of mature DC in the LN. Several studies suggest that the interaction between T cells and DC is likely to be mediated by binding of CD40 on DC to its ligand on T cells: ligation of CD40 on DC resulted in up-regulation of surface activation markers and production of high levels of IL-12p70 (Cella *et al.* 1996; Koch *et al.* 1996); and the effects of microbial stimuli (Schulz *et al.* 2000) and IL-4 (Hochrein *et al.* 2000) on IL-12p70 production by DC were augmented in the presence of CD40 ligation. This

idea is attractive, since ligation of CD40 causes up-regulation of OX40 ligand on DC, which co-stimulates cytokine production by T cells (Chen *et al.* 1999). Indeed, it was thought that the OX40L:OX40 interaction may polarise T helper type 2 (Th2) responses (Flynn *et al.* 1998), although OX40L^{-/-} mice were subsequently shown to be defective in DC-induced production of both IL-4 and IFN γ by T cells (Chen *et al.* 1999), and ligation of OX40 on activated T cells is now thought to promote survival of all CD4⁺ T cells (Rogers *et al.* 2001). Activated T cells also express TRANCE (TNF-related activation-induced cytokine) that is recognised by a receptor expressed by DC (Wong *et al.* 1997). Incubation of DC with TRANCE resulted in the production of IL-1 β and IL-12p40 but not Th2-associated cytokines such as IL-4, IL-5 or IL-10 (Josien *et al.* 1999). TRANCE-stimulated DC showed an enhanced capacity to stimulate T cells in the MLR and were also resistant to apoptosis due to up-regulation of Bcl-x_L (Wong *et al.* 1997). This indicates that the interaction between TRANCE on T cells and its receptor on DC may promote the survival of mature DC in the LN, and direct their function.

1.2.3 Heterogeneity of Dendritic Cells

1.2.3.1 Murine DC Subsets

Murine DC have been subdivided into increasingly defined subsets based on levels of different surface markers and their location in the body. At present, however, the extent to which these different subsets represent distinct DC populations with independent functions, or merely represent different maturation stages within a single population remains unclear. The overlap in markers for these subsets makes it very difficult to define a role of individual DC subsets *in vivo* and to assess the degree of redundancy between the functions of these different groups.

Early studies indicated that murine DC could be sub-divided into myeloid and lymphoid DC, which are phenotypically defined by expression of CD11c and MHC II, are CD11b⁺ or CD11b⁻ respectively, and were thought to arise from distinct precursors (reviewed by

**** -

Banchereau *et al.* 2000). Data from knock-out mice supports the existence of separate DC lineages: RelB^{-/-} mice lack most myeloid cells, including DC, except LC, (Burkly *et al.* 1995). Wu and colleagues (1998), however, noticed a residual population of CD8 α^+ DC in the spleen of these mice, suggesting that these cells have a non-myeloid lineage. Mice which express the mutated dominant negative Ikaros protein are blocked in the generation of all cells of the lymphoid lineage (Georgopoulos *et al.* 1994; Wang *et al.* 1996). Most of the DC are missing from these mice indicating that the majority of DC *in vivo* are of the lymphoid lineage or that this mutation also effects the development of some myeloid cells. In mice expressing the more specific C-terminal null Ikaros mutation, B and NK cells are ablated but some T cell development leaks through. Importantly, this is accompanied by the appearance of CD8⁺ DC in the thymus (Wu *et al.* 1997), indicating that T cell and DC development are related.

Epidermal LC may represent a third DC lineage: they have generally been considered the archetypal myeloid DC, but are present in RelB^{-/-} mice. Furthermore, LC have been shown to acquire a lymphoid (CD8 α^+) phenotype upon migration to the draining LN (Anjuere *et al.* 1999).

The α -chain of the CD8 T cell co-receptor is present as a homodimer on a distinct subset of DC, and has provided a convenient marker for the identification of different DC populations. Identification of CD8 α^+ DC populations in the thymus led to the assumption that this was a marker for the lymphoid DC lineage since transfer of intrathymic CD4^{lo} lymphoid precursors into irradiated mice led to the development of a thymic DC population of which sixty percent were CD8 α^+ (Ardavin *et al.* 1993). However, definitive proof of this relationship awaits clonal analysis of thymic precursors.

 $CD8\alpha^+$ DC were originally believed to be less efficient than $CD8\alpha^-$ DC at stimulating T cell responses *in vitro* (Kronin *et al.* 1996; Suss and Shortman 1996) and express high surface levels of Fas ligand which might induce apoptosis of Fas-expressing $CD4^+$ T cells (Suss and Shortman 1996; Inaba *et al.* 1997). This led to the proposal that $CD8\alpha^+$

DC might mediate tolerogenic responses, and CD8 α ⁻ DC initiate immunity to foreign antigens. However, DC derived from bone marrow precusors cultured with flt-3 ligand were recently shown to up-regulate CD8 α upon activation with LPS (Brasel *et al.* 2000) indicating that myeloid DC can be induced to express CD8 α , and the thymus is no longer thought to be the only origin for CD8 α ⁺ DC (Brasel *et al.* 2000; Liu *et al.* 2001). Furthermore, a recent study has demonstrated that the transfer of bone marrow-derived common myeloid progenitors into irradiated mice led to the development of CD8 α ⁺ DC in both the spleen and thymus of recipient mice (Traver *et al.* 2000). The significance of CD8 α as a marker of different DC lineages, and whether it plays a role in the function of CD8 α ⁺ DC, thus remains unclear. It is becoming obvious, however, that the convenient division of DC into 'myeloid' and 'lymphoid' lineages was too simplistic.

Murine splenic DC have now been divided into three populations: $CD8\alpha^+CD4^-$, $CD4^+CD8\alpha^-$ and double negative ($CD8\alpha^-CD4^-$) (Kamath *et al.* 2000). The $CD8\alpha^+$ cells are $DEC205^+$ and negative for the myeloid marker CD11b. Conversely, both $CD8\alpha^-$ populations are $DEC205^-$ and $CD11b^+$. Experiments in which these populations were matured *in vivo* by injection of LPS have indicated that they do not represent activation stages of the same population of DC. BrdU labelling studies have also indicated that the three DC subsets represent three separate developmental streams, since the turnover of all populations was equivalent, and one did not lag behind another (Kamath *et al.* 2000).

DC populations in the LN may be more complex that in the spleen, probably reflecting the presence of epidermal Langerhans cells (LC) and dermal DC populations (Anjuere *et al.* 1999; Ruedl *et al.* 2000; Henri *et al.* 2001).

1.2.3.2 Human DC subsets

At present human DC can be divided into two subsets: myeloid (DC1) or plasmacytoid (pDC2) DC (Rissoan *et al.* 1999). DC1 express myeloid antigens such as CD11b, CD11c and CD14, whereas pDC2 are CD11c⁻, CD4⁺ and express other markers also found on lymphocytes (Liu *et al.* 2001). Plasmacytoid DC require IL-3 rather than GM-

CSF for survival, expressing high levels of the IL-3 receptor α chain and low levels of the GM-CSF receptor α chain, and are characterised by rapid production of type 1 interferons (IFN α , IFN β) in an innate response to viral infection (Liu *et al.* 2001).

1.2.4 DC as a Link Between the Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses to Pathogens

The innate immune response is an evolutionarily conserved, rapid immune response to pathogens that is characterised by expression of germline-encoded receptors on effector cells. Vertebrates have also evolved a second arm, the adaptive response, in which receptors on effector cells are generated by gene rearrangement during development, the outcome of which is the ability to generate a memory response. Induction of the innate response must only be initiated in the presence of foreign or damaged cells, and therefore, has evolved to respond to specific pathogen-derived signals via conserved receptors.

1.2.4.1 The Danger Hypothesis

The immune system has been traditionally viewed as distinguishing between self and non-self molecules. Central tolerance to self antigens has long been known to be achieved via deletion of self-reactive T cells in the thymus, and is based on recognition of signal 1, the interaction between the TCR and MHC-peptide complex. Peripheral tolerance to antigens which would not be present in the thymus was partly explained by the two signal hypothesis, since presentation of antigens in the absence of signal 2 results in T cell anergy (Bretscher and Cohn 1970). T cell responses to peripheral antigens are also limited by the restriction of naïve T cells to the blood, lymph and secondary lymphoid organs. Using APC which could either provide the TCR cross-linking signal 1 or co-stimulatory signal 2, but not both, Lui and Janeway (Liu and Janeway 1992) showed that expansion of CD4⁺ T cells is more efficient when both

signals are present on the same cell. This supported the earlier work by Bretscher and Cohn (Bretscher and Cohn 1970), demonstrating that cells that had taken up antigen could not activate a T cell response unless they also expressed co-stimulatory molecules on their surface. The inducibility of the co-stimulatory signal and the nature of the signals that APC responded to could therefore provide a very specific mechanism for controlling activation of naïve T cells, and raised the question of how the induction of responses was controlled. Janeway (Liu and Janeway 1992) proposed that pathogenderived molecules, but not harmless exogenous proteins, could provide an activating signal which would enable APC to distinguish between infectious and non-infectious non-self. This information would be relayed to the T cell via upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules (signal 2) only in the presence of an infection. This hypothesis was later modified by Ibrahim and colleagues (Ibrahim *et al.* 1995), who argued that the innate immune system must also respond to local microenvironmental damage, in order to explain immune responses to allergens or alloantigens when no pathogen was present.

These ideas became cemented into the "danger theory", proposed by Matzinger in 1994, which stated that the primary force driving development of the immune system was recognition of destruction and cell death (Matzinger 1994). Matzinger suggested that the ability of professional APC, i.e. DC, to respond to specific activation signals by up-regulation of expression of surface co-stimulatory molecules meant that the initiation of a primary T cell response would occur only in the presence of "danger". Danger, in this view, was defined as "tissue destruction", which included active signs of stress such as production of heat shock proteins (hsp), or passive signs such as the release of internal molecules that are not normally secreted. This presented, for the first time, the idea that DC could sense their environment and respond to infection or tissue damage by activating a T cell response. The danger hypothesis reinforces the significance of the presence of signal 2 in establishing tolerance to peripheral antigens, and expands on this by describing up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules as a response by DC to environmental stimuli. However, until recently the precise nature of the DC receptors which enabled DC to sense and respond to these stimuli was unknown.

1.2.4.2 PAMPs and PRRs

Janeway proposed that the innate immune system must encode receptors for conserved molecules which are components of pathogenic agents and are distinct from self molecules (Janeway 1989; Janeway 1992). These conserved molecules have been termed PAMP (Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns) and are recognised by PRR (Pattern Recognition Receptors) on immune cells (Medzhitov and Janeway 1997). Since the immune system will exert selective pressure against pathogens expressing molecules recognised by PRR, PAMP are likely to be molecules that are essential for the survival of the pathogen, e.g. virulence factors. They are also likely to be highly conserved, enabling limited numbers of germline-encoded PRR to recognise large groups of microbes.

In keeping with this prediction, all microbial PAMP identified to date are essential for the pathogen's survival, and include cell wall components of Gram negative (lipopolysaccharide (LPS)) and Gram positive (lipoteichoic acids (LTA), peptidoglycan (PDG), lipopeptides) bacteria; yeasts (Mannans); bacterial CpG DNA; and double stranded (ds)RNA of viruses (Medzhitov and Janeway 1997). PRR thus far identified include molecules such as CD14 which bind PAMP in association with other accessory proteins such as LBP (LPS-binding protein), receptors for lectin-type molecules such as the mannose receptor, DEC 205, and complement receptors involved in uptake of opsonised antigens (Medzhitov and Janeway 1997). The recent identification of the Tolllike receptor (TLR) family as receptors for specific PAMP has provided a molecular link between recognition of specific pathogen-derived signals and the activation of an immune response.

1.2.4.2.1 Toll-Like Receptors

The human TLR family was identified by their homology to the *Drosophila* receptor, Toll (Medzhitov *et al.* 1997). Toll was originally identified as a protein which is essential for establishing the dorso-ventral axis in early *Drosophila* embryos (St Johnston and Nusslein-Volhard 1992). Toll family members are characterised by an extracellular domain containing a number of Leucine-rich repeats and an intracellular cytoplasmic signalling domain (reviewed by Medzhitov and Janeway 2000). There is little conservation between the extracellular domains of different Toll homologues. indicating that they may bind diverse ligands. In contrast, the intracellular domains are highly conserved and are homologous to the murine IL-1 receptor signalling domain. Conservation between Toll-like proteins involved in plant and mammalian immune responses, and the presence of NF-kB response elements in genes transcribed upon infection in insects lead to the discovery of a role for Toll and other related genes in Drosophila innate immune responses. Flies possess a primitive immune system, and respond to pathogens by the rapid and transient synthesis of anti-microbial peptides following injury. Toll gain-of-function mutants constitutively expressed the anti-fungal peptide drosomycin in the absence of challenge, while homozygous Toll null mutants rapidly succombed to fungal infection (Lemaitre et al. 1996). These flies, however, remained able to control infection with the bacteria E. coli via the production of specific anti-bacterial peptides. 18 Wheeler was subsequently identified as the receptor necessary for transcription of anti-bacterial peptides (Williams et al. 1997), illustrating that the Drosophila innate immune responses can recognise, and respond appropriately to, different classes of pathogens.

Human orthologues of Toll were first cloned in 1997 (Medzhitov *et al.* 1997) and were shown to contain conserved structures seen in the *Drosophila* proteins. mRNA for human Toll was found in monocytes, M Φ and DC. Constitutively active Toll mutants were found to induce activation of NF- κ B regulated genes such as IL-1, IL-6 and IL-8 in transfected Jurkat cells, and also induced up-regulation of B7-1. This lead to suggestion that TLR could function as non-clonal PRR in the vertebrate immune system. The human Toll signalling pathway has been described, based on conservation with the *Drosophila* pathway (reviewed by Medzhitov and Janeway 2000). During Toll signalling an adaptor protein MyD88 (Myeloid Differentiation factor 88) is recruited and interacts with a domain at the C-terminus of the TLR, known as the TIR (Toll/IL-1R) domain. MyD88 in turn binds IRAK (IL-1 Receptor Activated Kinase) via its death domain. IRAK is activated by an unknown mechanism, becomes autophosphorylated, dissociates from MyD88, and then binds to another adaptor protein, TRAF 6 (TNF Receptor Associated Factor), which interacts with MAP Kinase family members. This signalling pathway results in dephosphorylation of $I\kappa B$, release of NF- κB , and its translocation into the nucleus to activate genes containing NF- κB response elements. These include a number of genes encoding proteins involved in immune responses such as IL-12, and other pro-inflammatory cytokines (Abbas 1997)(Figure 1.3).

1.2.4.2.2 TLR 2 and TLR 4

The first documented interaction between a defined TLR and PAMP was the binding of the Gram negative cell wall component, LPS, to TLR2. TLR2 was shown to be expressed on human monocytes and M Φ and expression increased upon activation with LPS (Yang et al. 1998). Transfection of TLR2 into human embryonic kidney 293 cells conferred responsiveness to LPS, however this was only efficient in the presence of LPS-binding protein (LBP) and CD14 (Kirschning et al. 1998; Yang et al. 1998). Positional cloning of the lps gene, which renders C3H/HeJ mice unresponsive to LPSinduced toxic shock, however, identified the mutated gene as *tlr4* (Poltorak *et al.* 1998); the gene encoding TLR4 in C3H/HeJ mice was shown to contain a mutation resulting in a switch from proline to histidine in a conserved region of the TLR4 intracellular domain (Poltorak et al. 1998). TLR4 null mice are completely unresponsive to LPS and recapitulate the phenotype of the lps mice (Hoshino et al. 1999); tlr4^{-/-} MΦ were not induced to produce TNF α or NO₂⁻ upon activation with LPS, and $tlr4^{-l}$ mice showed neither LPS-induced proliferation of B cells, nor upregulation of surface MHC II, although TLR4^{-/-} B cells could still be activated by IL-4. Therefore, these data indicate that TLR4 is the principal receptor responsible for recognition of LPS by immune cells in vivo. The conflict between the TLR2 and TLR4 data was resolved by Hirshfeld et al (Hirschfeld et al. 2000) who showed that careful purification of LPS to remove contaminating endotoxins abrogated TLR2-mediated responses to LPS. Therefore, the original results reporting TLR2 responses to LPS are likely to be due to sensitivity of TLR2 to the presence of other endotoxin contaminants in LPS samples used.

Figure 1.3: Schematic Representation of Human Tolllike Receptors and their Ligands



Adapted from Kaisho and Akira (2001)

MyD88 knock-out mice showed a similar phenotype to the TLR4 mutants, and were resistant to LPS-induced endotoxic shock (Kawai *et al.* 1999). However, unlike $tlr4^{-/-}$ or C3H/HeJ mice, $myd88^{-/-}$ bone marrow-derived DC are activated by LPS to up-regulate surface markers such as MHC II and B7-2, and show enhanced T cell stimulatory capacity in comparison to immature DC. Furthermore, activation of MAPK and NF- κ B remains intact in $myd88^{-/-}$ mice, although the kinetics are slowed (Kaisho *et al.* 2001). Interestingly, CpG DNA, (which binds to TLR9), is unable to induce activation of DC from $myd88^{-/-}$ mice (Kaisho *et al.* 2001). Therefore these data demonstrate the existence of two pathways: a MyD88-dependent pathway is activated through TLR2, 4 and 9; and a MyD88-independent pathway which is also activated by the interaction of LPS with TLR4. The adaptor proteins TIRAP ((TIR) domain-containing adaptor protein) and Tollip may provide a platform for MyD88-independent signaling from TLR4 (Fitzgerald *et al.* 2001; Granucci *et al.* 2001; Horng *et al.* 2001).

TLR2 has now been shown to transduce signals from a number of different classes of pathogens, including fungi and Gram positive bacteria. Expression of a dominant negative form of TLR2 by a M Φ cell line blocked production of TNF α in response to the yeast cell component, zymosan (Underhill *et al.* 1999), and TLR2 mutants also did not respond to *S. aureus* or Gram positive cell wall preparations (Takeuchi *et al.* 1999; Underhill *et al.* 1999). TLR2 was also subsequently shown to function as a receptor for Mycobacterial components (Takeuchi *et al.* 1999; Wang *et al.* 2000).

1.2.4.2.3 Other Members of the TLR Family

At present ten members are reported to belong to the Toll-like receptor family (Rock *et al.* 1998; Kaisho and Akira 2001) However ligands have only been identified for TLR 2, 3, 4, 5 and 9 (Figure 1.3).

TLR3 is unique among members of the TLR family because the proline which is mutated in LPS-unresponsive mice is replaced by an alanine (Kaisho and Akira 2001). This led to the suggestion that TLR3 was not a functional receptor. However,

Alexopoulou *et al* (Alexopoulou *et al.* 2001) recently reported that TLR3 was the receptor for viral dsRNA: 293T cells expressing TLR3 plus an NF- κ B-dependent reporter responded specifically to the synthetic dsRNA analogue, poly(I:C), and this was confirmed by the generation of *tlr3^{-/-}* mice, since M Φ from these mice produced neither pro-inflammatory cytokines nor anti-viral type I interferons (IFN α , IFN β) in response to poly(I:C). Interestingly, while splenocytes from *myd88^{-/-}* mice did not proliferate in response to poly(I:C), and DC from these mice were not induced to produce IL-12, incubation with poly(I:C) did induce up-regulation of MHC II and CD86 on the surface of *myd88^{-/-}* DC. Therefore, as with TLR4, TLR3 signalling in response to poly(I:C) induces cytokine production via an MyD88-dependent pathway, but maturation of DC via an MyD88-independent pathway.

TLR5 was cloned by data base searching, due to the presence of its TIR domain, and is expressed by monocytes, immature DC and epithelial cells. Screening of putative pathogen-derived products using COS cells transfected with TLR5 linked to a luciferase reporter identified Gram positive and Gram negative bacterial culture supernatants as activators of TLR5-expressing cells. This activity was subsequently demonstrated to be due to bacterial flagellin (Hayashi *et al.* 2001), as activation of TLR5 was restricted to Gram positive and Gram negative flagellated bacteria and was inhibited on deletion of flagellin. Interestingly, on interstitial epithelial cells, TLR5 expression has been shown to be restricted to the basal membrane (Gewirtz *et al.* 2001), suggesting a mechanism to prevent flagellated commensal bacteria in the gut from activating an inflammatory response unless they cross the intestinal epithelia.

TLR9 was cloned and characterised as the mammalian receptor for CpG-containing DNA (Hemmi *et al.* 2000). Non-methylated CpG motifs are characteristic of bacterial DNA and have been shown to activate mammalian DC and drive Th1 responses (Jakob *et al.* 1998; Hartmann *et al.* 1999). This receptor is highly specific for CpG DNA, since *tlr9*^{-/-} mice responded to LPS, zymosan, and peptidoglycan.

A lack of specific reagents has meant that questions such as whether binding of PAMP to TLR is direct or via interaction with other accessory proteins, and where TLR are localised in the cell, remain largely unanswered. Some TLR are, however, thought to be intracellular: HA-tagged TLR2 transfected into a M Φ cell line was recruited to phagosomes following ingestion of zymosan (Underhill et al. 1999); TLR9 is likely to be endosomal (Hemmi et al. 2000) since responsiveness to CpG was shown to require its internalisation (Krieg et al. 1995). Additionally, it has recently been suggested that TLR may form functional heterodimers thus broadening the specificity of the pathogenic components which are recognised: Ozinsky et al (2000) showed that the PAMP specificity of TLR 2 and 6 is partially overlapping and that both these receptors are recruited to phagosomes upon uptake of zymosan, or peptidoglycan derived from Gram positive bacteria. However, TLR2 and 6 also co-localised with phagosomes containing opsonised red blood cells, so it was not clear whether this recruitment was specific or merely reflected non-specific internalisation of the receptors on phagocytosis. Immunoprecipitation of epitope-tagged TLR2 co-precipitated TLR6 and deletion of the intracellular domain indicated that this interaction was mediated by the extracellular domains of the proteins. Chimeric proteins, in which the signalling domain of TLR molecules were fused to the extracellular domain of CD4, were used to investigate the function of TLR homo- and heterodimers. TLR4 homodimers were constitutively active, and induced NF-kB-dependent reporter gene expression in transfected 293 cells (Hoshino et al. 1999), suggesting that TLR4 forms functional homodimers in vivo. CD4-TLR1, 2 or 6 homodimers, however, did not induce constitutive cytokine expression when transfected into a M Φ cell line (Ozinsky et al. 2000), although CD4-TLR2/CD4-TLR6 or CD4-TLR1/CD4-TLR2 heterodimers activated production of TNFa. These data imply that TLR may form functional heterodimers which confer specificity to different pathogen-derived products, thus broadening their recognition spectrum. The inability of TLR2 homodimers to activate cytokine production indicates that TLR2transfected cells which responded to signals from Gram positive bacteria must express additional unidentified TLR molecules (eg. Yang et al. 1998).

1.2.4.3.4 Expression of TLR by DC

In order to assess the potential physiological role of TLR in the activation of DC it is important to determine their expression patterns on immature and mature DC. TLR2 mRNA was most highly expressed on monocytes and was down-regulated as the cells were matured into DC (Thoma-Uszynski et al. 2000; Visintin et al. 2001). Production of IL-12 p40 by monocyte-derived DC, on activation by lipoprotein, was blocked on addition of an anti-TLR2 antibody supporting the role for TLR-dependent activation of DC as a link between innate and adaptive immune responses (Thoma-Uszynski et al. 2000). Lipopeptides induce classical activation of DC; CD80, CD86, CD54 and MHC II were upregulated, endocytosis was down-regulated and the DC showed an enhanced ability to stimulate T cells in an MLR (Hertz et al. 2001). All of these responses were inhibited on addition of an anti-TLR2 mAb (Hertz et al. 2001). TLR4 gene expression also decreased as monocytes mature into DC (Visintin et al. 2001), but was upregulated on DC activated by bacterial products and cytokines, in a mechanism which could be blocked by IL-10 (Muzio et al. 2000). However surface expression of TLR4 proteins was low on monocytes and dropped as the cells differentiated into immature and then mature DC (Visintin et al. 2001). Furthermore, LPS induced activation of the signalling molecule IRAK in immature not mature DC, supporting the idea that only immature DC are competent to respond to signalling through TLR. TLR3 was highly expressed on human DC, but levels decreased upon activation with LPS (Muzio et al. 2000).

Taken together DC expression and function data support the hypothesis that TLR function as PRR, enabling immature DC to act as a bridge between the innate and adaptive immune system. A recently published study on human DC demonstrated that distinct DC subsets expressed distinct TLR patterns; plasmacytoid (pDC2) were shown to specifically express TLR9 which correlated with responses to CpG but not other stimuli, whereas immature DC1 expressed TLR1, 2 and 3, and specifically responded to proteoglycan and poly(I:C) (Kadowaki *et al.* 2001). This raises the possibility that the pattern of TLR expression by different DC subsets may determine which DC populations are competent to respond to different pathogen-derived signals, which in turn could determine the outcome of the subsequent T cell response (see section 1.2.5).
Thoma-Uszynski *et al* (Thoma-Uszynski *et al.* 2000) reported that activation of TLR2 by lipoprotein results in preferential production of IL-12 rather than IL-10. Therefore, this indicates that activation of DC via TLR2 could result in the development of an IL-12-driven polarised Th1 response. However, it has not been shown whether signalling via other TLR leads to production of alternative cytokines.

1.2.5 Polarisation of the T cell Response by Activated DC

Recent studies have revealed that DC do not simply initiate the adaptive immune response in the presence of danger but also play a role in directing the shape of the effector T cell response (Moser and Murphy 2000). It is clear that resolution of infection by different pathogens requires different effector responses, e.g Th1-mediated cellular immune responses are generally required for the clearance of intracellular bacteria and viruses but Th2-mediated humoral responses are usually needed for protection against helminths (see section 1.4.1.2). Activation of inappropriate responses will result in an inability to control the infection and can lead to the development of immunopathologies that are harmful to the host. Two hypotheses have been put forward to explain the mechanisms by which DC polarise CD4⁺ Th responses (Figure 1.4):

- 1) DC of different lineages elicit distinct T helper cell responses,
- 2) the ability of DC to regulate the T cell response is flexible and is shaped by signals from the pathogen and the microenvironment in which the cells are activated. This latter hypothesis requires the involvement of a "third signal" which instructs the DC as to the nature of the immune challenge (Kalinski *et al.* 1999).

1.2.5.1 Model One: Different DC Subsets are Polarised to Direct Different T Helper Cell Responses

In this model, DC1 and DC2, which prime Th1 and Th2 responses respectively, constitute different DC subsets, which may be derived from separate DC lineages (Figure 1.4). Of the three murine splenic DC subsets,

Figure 1.4: Polarisation of the T Helper Cell Response by DC





Two different models to explain the polarisation of T helper cell development by DC. In model one DC1 and DC2 are derived from different DC lineages and are inherently different in their ability to respond to pathogen-derived signals. In model two, the precursor DC can develop into either a DC1 or DC2 effector cell depending on the nature of the pathogen, and cytokines present in the local microenvironment at the time of activation (Adapted from Kalinski *et al* 1999). (Kamath et al. 2000, section 1.2.2.1) it is the CD8 α^+ population which has been repeatedly shown to produce IL-12 upon activation in vitro (Hochrein et al. 2001) and in vivo (Maldonado-Lopez et al. 1999; Schulz et al. 2000): splenic DC were incubated overnight with Keyhole Limpet Haemocyanin (KLH), then sorted into $CD8\alpha^+$ and CD8a⁻ populations and transferred into naïve hosts. LN cells from mice receiving either population of DC proliferated on restimulation with KLH in vitro, indicating that they had been primed by the injected DC. Analysis of cytokine release from these cells showed that injection with $CD8\alpha^+$ DC had primed an IL-2 and IFN γ -producing Th1 response while CD8a DC had primed a Th-2 like response (Maldonado-Lopez et al. 1999). In a separate set of experiments splenic DC were sorted into CD11c⁺/CD11b^{dull} "lymphoid" cells, which would contain the majority of the $CD8\alpha^+$ DC, and $CD11c^+/CD11b^{bright}$ "myeloid" DC, which would be predominantly $CD8\alpha^-$ (Pulendran et al. 1999). These subsets were incubated with OVA overnight and injected into BALB/c mice that had been reconstituted with OVA-specific T cells. The CD11c⁺/CD11b^{bright} DC primed IL-4 and IL-10 production in recipient mice, consistent with the CD8a⁻ DC transfer data of Maldonado-Lopez et al (Maldonado-Lopez et al. 1999). However, unlike the transfer of $CD8\alpha^+$ or $CD8\alpha^-$ subsets (Maldonado-Lopez et al. 1999), injection of both CD11b^{dull} and CD11b^{bright} subsets induced equal levels of IL-2 and IFNy in these experiments. The reason for this discrepancy is unclear but may be due to fact that the DC populations were sorted using different criteria. Based on these data, it has been proposed that the response directed by activated DC will depend on the subset of DC which encounters antigen, whereby $CD8\alpha^+$ DC (DC1) direct Th1 responses and $CD8\alpha^-$ DC (DC2) direct Th2 responses. The converse is true in humans where myeloid "DC1" have been shown to prime Th1 primary allogeneic responses and plasmacytoid "DC2" prime Th2 responses (Rissoan et al. 1999). The work by (Maldonado-Lopez et al. 1999) strongly supports this, since in these experiments all the DC were incubated with antigen together. Thus, all the cells had been exposed to the same microenvironment and antigen, but primed different polarised responses in vivo. A recent publication describing the differential expression of different TLR on "myeloid" or plasmacytoid human DC supports the hypothesis that different lineages of DC could respond to different pathogens (Kadowaki et al. 2001).

1.2.5.2 Model two: Polarisation of DC is Driven by the Pathogen and the Microenvironment in which Challenge Occurs.

The lineage argument (model one) is limited by the fact that $CD8\alpha^+$ DC are localised to the T cell areas of the LN and spleen (de St Groth 1998) but all antigens will first encounter CD8 α DC in the periphery before being taken to secondary lymphoid organs. It also seems inefficient since, in this scenario, activation of an appropriate response would depend on the correct DC meeting the correct pathogen. Kalinski and colleagues proposed that immature DC can adopt a Th1 or Th2-promoting function depending on pathogen-derived signals and the nature of the microenvironment in which the encounter occurs (Kalinski et al. 1999). This implies that DC1 and DC2 can develop from the same precusor (see Figure 1.4). Immature monocyte-derived DC stimulated with IFNy in vitro produced IL-12. If subsequently matured in an IFNy-containing environment, these cells become effector "DC1" which produced large amounts of IL-12 on CD40 ligation. irrespective of the culture conditions. Conversely, if the DC were stimulated and matured in the presence of prostaglandin (PG) E₂ they did not produce IL-12 even in the presence of IFNy (Vieira et al. 2000). These data imply that the environment in which the DC are activated directs their maturation into DC1 or DC2, but that this becomes fixed and cannot be influenced by cytokines in the LN, away from the site of infection. in keeping with the 'snap-shot' idea of DC maturation.

Model 2 was supported by data obtained using pathogen-derived antigens, which directed the establishment of Th1 or Th2 responses. *Toxoplasma gondii* soluble antigen (STAg) primed a strong Th1 response *in vivo* and splenic DC from infected mice produced large amounts of IL-12 (Sousa *et al.* 1997). IL-12 production was principally localised to the CD8 α^+ subset, but CD8 α^- DC could also be induced to secrete IL-12 when activated with STAg, or CpG DNA, in the presence of CD40 ligation (Schulz *et al.* 2000), or when incubated with heat killed *Brucella abortus* (Huang *et al.* 2001). Uptake of different forms of the fungus *Candida albicans* by DC can lead to distinct effector functions *in vitro* and *in vivo*: yeast stimulated IL-12 production (d'Ostiani *et al.* 2000). However, these studies were performed using unsorted splenic DC, and it will be

interesting to define the respective roles of CD8 α positive and negative populations in these responses.

It has been more difficult to demonstrate the ability of DC activated by pathogen-derived signals to direct a Th2 response, since IL-12 production seems to be the dominant response to infection. However, some parasite-derived products were clearly able to polarise DC to a "DC2" phenotype (Whelan et al. 2000; MacDonald et al. 2001). Bone marrow-derived DC cultured with OVA and the filarial nematode glycoprotein ES-62 induced production of IL-4 by OVA-specific T cells in vitro. Control DC given LPS not ES-62 induced the production of IFNy but not IL-4 (Whelan et al. 2000). Likewise, DC pulsed with Schistosome soluble egg antigen (SEA) primed Th2 responses in vivo, as determined by production of IL-4 (MacDonald et al. 2001). Interestingly, levels of the DC surface markers MHC II, CD80, CD86 and CD40 were not up-regulated upon incubation with ES-62 or SEA, and these DC did not differentially up-regulate production of IL-10. Development of a Th2 response may therefore simply be a default pathway in the presence of antigen but relative lack of co-stimulatory molecules or it may result from an alternative form of activation involving up-regulation of as yet unidentified co-stimulatory molecules. Since low doses of antigen preferentially induce Th2 responses the polarisation of a Th2 response by SEA may also be a result of low levels of MHC II on the surface of these DC (Ruedl et al. 2000). The work of Fe d'Ostiani et al (d'Ostiani et al. 2000), however demonstrates that an antigen can stimulate IL-4 production by DC and this will drive a Th2 response in vivo.

Although CD8 α^+ DC have repeatedly been identified as the source of bioactive IL-12 (eg.Maldonado-Lopez *et al.* 1999; Schulz *et al.* 2000; Hochrein *et al.* 2001) it is clear that, under certain conditions, CD8 α^- DC can also be polarised along Th1 pathways. Maldonado-Lopez and colleagues (2001) recently demonstrated that, while DC function appears to be set by its lineage, there is a certain amount of flexibility in the response, depending on the cytokines present in the local microenvironment. It is therefore likely that the polarisation of the Th response by DC will result from a combination of factors including lineage, the nature of the challenge and the microenvironment in which it

occurs, and models one and two should not be considered as exclusive. However, model two is more appealing than model one since it relies only on one precursor cell which can become either a Th1- or Th2-priming cell depending on the pathogen it encounters. A kinetic model of DC activation has also recently been proposed whereby progression from a DC1 to a DC2 phenotype depends on the length of time DC have been stimulated. Therefore, during activation DC will progress from a Th1-promoting DC which secretes IL-12 to a Th2-promoting DC which is "exhausted" and no longer secretes IL-12 (Langenkamp *et al.* 2000). This model would imply that priming of a Th2 response would depend on DC moving rapidly through the Th1-promoting phase to the exhausted Th2-promoting phase. This seems inefficient compared to the flexibility of model two.

1.3 Processing and Presentation of Exogenous Antigen by Antigen Presenting Cells

Antigens are presented to T cells by DC and other APC in the form of short peptides complexed to MHC Class I and II molecules. These complexes are recognised by cognate T cell receptors on CD8⁺ and CD4⁺ T cells respectively. Cytosolic proteins, or antigens from intracellular pathogens, are usually presented on the surface of cells in the context of MHC I. MHC class II molecules usually present antigens from extracellular proteins, bacteria and parasites. MHC I is expressed by all nucleated cells, whereas MHC II expression is restricted to B cells, M Φ and DC, and to thymic epithelial cells and activated keratinocytes (Abbas 1997). This discussion will be restricted to presentation of exogenous antigens by MHC II molecules, since the outcome of *Leishmania* infection is critically dependent on the presentation of *Leishmania* antigens to CD4⁺ T cells in the context of MHC II.

1.3.1 Antigen Presentation by MHC II Molecules

Processing and presentation of exogenous antigens by APC requires newly synthesised MHC II molecules to meet antigens that have been brought into the cell via endocytosis. Thus, pathways leading to proteolytic degradation must integrate with those trafficking MHC II from the ER to the cell surface. To achieve this APC exploit pre-existing endosomal pathways.

1.3.1.1 Formation of MHC II : Peptide Complexes in APC

MHC class II molecules consist of an $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer which forms in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and is stabilised by the binding of a protein known as Invariant Chain (Ii). Trimers of Ii associate with three class II heterodimers to form nonameric complexes. Ii is successively cleaved by cell proteases, resulting in release of a 24 amino acid peptide known as CLIP, (class II associated invariant chain peptide) which binds MHC II molecules via the antigen-binding groove, and which is replaced by exogenous peptides in peptide loading compartments. Ii plays a critical role in controlling MHC II function: the Ii-derived CLIP peptide binds the antigen-binding groove of the heterodimer, thus preventing binding of inappropriate self-peptides in the ER; sorting signals at the cytoplasmic tail of Ii mediate trafficking of the complex into appropriate cellular compartments; and an internalisation signal ensures that any unloaded MHC II dimers reaching the cell surface are rapidly endocytosed (Pieters 1997).

Mice express two different isoforms of Ii, Ii-p33 and Ii-p41. Both forms interact equally with newly folded $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers (Fineschi *et al.* 1995), but the presence of Ii-p41 enhanced the processing of certain antigens (Peterson and Miller 1992), and inhibited the lysosomal protease Cathepsin L (Bevec *et al.* 1996) (see section 1.3.2.3).

H2-M, HLA-DM in humans, is a class II-like $\alpha\beta$ heterodimer which catalyses the removal of CLIP from the peptide-binding groove and allows its replacement with antigenic peptides (Denzin and Cresswell 1995; Sloan *et al.* 1995). This activity has

been demonstrated by a number of studies which showed that in the absence of H2-M presentation of antigens to T cell hybridomas was inefficient, and MHC II molecules on the cell surface were exclusively loaded with CLIP (Martin *et al.* 1996; Miyazaki *et al.* 1996). Furthermore, H2-M^{-/-} mice were deficient in the negative selection of CD4⁺ thymocytes as indicated by their strong response in a syngeneic MLR, since in these mice all MHC II molecules in the thymus are loaded with CLIP rather than the appropriate negatively selecting ligands (Martin *et al.* 1996; Miyazaki *et al.* 1996): in H2-M^{-/-} Ii^{-/-} mice, which do not express CLIP, this phenotype was corrected (Swier *et al.* 1998).

H2-M dimers possess tyrosine-based sorting motifs in their cytoplasmic tails that differ from the di-isoleucine motifs which target the Ii: $\alpha\beta$ complex. This suggests that Ii and H2-M are transported to the MHC II loading compartment via distinct pathways, such that H2-M cannot catalyse inappropriate loading of MHC II (Pieters 1997). H2-M is also thought to play a proof-reading function by catalysing removal of low-affinity peptides from the MHC binding groove, ensuring that only the most stable complexes reach the cell surface (Kropshofer 1996). H2-M is transported from the Golgi to lysosomes in association with the related molecule H2-O (HLA-DO), which may regulate H2-M function (Liljedahl *et al.* 1996).

1.3.2.2 Processing Compartments within APC

The delay in the appearance of MHC II-peptide complexes on the surface of APC reflects the need for the MHC II pathway to integrate with endocytosed antigen. The route of entry of antigens into APC, and the nature of the intracellular compartment to which antigens are delivered, will play an important role in determining degradation of proteins and the dominant T cell epitopes generated. Electron microscopy studies indicated co-localisation of the antigen import pathway (surface immunoglobulin (Ig)) and the MHC II export pathway in an endocytic compartment, thus demonstrating that the molecules involved in processing and presentation might meet via the endosomal pathway (Guagliardi *et al.* 1990). Compartments containing high levels of MHC II were subsequently identified in B cell lines and termed MIIC for MHC II-containing

compartments (Peters et al. 1991). These multi-laminar compartments have since been identified in DC and M Φ (Harding and Geuze 1993; Kleijmeer et al. 1995). MIIC are positive for the lysosomal markers LAMP-1 and CD63, negative for the transferrin receptor, but can be reached by endocytic tracers, identifying them as late endosomal/early lysosomal compartments (Peters et al. 1991; Kleijmeer et al. 1997). MIIC contain high levels of the exchange catalyst H2-M (Sanderson et al. 1994) and, in a human cell line, are also strongly positive for the mAb YAe (Kleijmeer et al. 1997), which recognises the MHC II I-A^b molecule bound to the endogenous HLA-DR α chain (Murphy et al. 1989). These data therefore implicated MIIC as the principal sites of MHC II-peptide loading. A second distinct MHC II-rich compartment was subsequently identified in B cells (Amigorena et al. 1994; Drake et al. 1997). These Class II containing Vesicles (CIIV) contained small amounts of transferrin receptor and lacked lysosomal markers, indicating that they were more closely related to early and recycling endosomes. CIIV contained SDS-stable MHC II $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers, ie. peptide-loaded complexes (Amigorena *et al.* 1994), and were positive for MHC II $\alpha\beta$ -Ii complexes and H2-M (Amigorena et al. 1995). This led to the proposal that they may play a role in the final steps of peptide loading before transport of MHC II-peptide complexes to the cell surface (Amigorena et al. 1995; Pierre et al. 1997).

An alternative MHC II loading pathway has been proposed that utilises the recycling of surface MHC II into early endosomal or recycling compartments (Salamero *et al.* 1990; Pinet *et al.* 1995). This pathway appears to be relatively unimportant compared to classical transport of newly synthesised MHC II molecules, however it may play a role in the presentation of peptides which are sensitive to degradation in acidic endosomal compartments. Early endosomes could function as peptide exchange compartments, resulting in the replacement of low affinity peptides with high affinity peptides on surface MHC II molecules (Salamero *et al.* 1990). Immature DC have also been reported to use a third "rogue pathway" in which MHC II-Ii complexes transiently appear on the plasma membrane before being internalised and loaded with peptide (Saudrais *et al.* 1998). The functional significance of this pathway is, however, unclear.

Transport of MHC II-peptide complexes from peptide-loading compartments to the cell surface is thought to be via direct transport from the loading compartment to the cell surface using vesicular carriers or fusion of MIIC with the plasma membrane. This is supported by experiments in which the transport of MHC II complexes was examined in Mel JuSo cells transfected with a MHC II β chain:GFP fusion protein (Wubbolts *et al.* 1996). These experiments demonstrated, using confocal microscopy, that MHC II:GFP was concentrated in MIIC-like late endosomal/early lysosomal compartments. MHC II:GFP-containing vesicles were visualised migrating from the region of these compartments to the plasma membrane independently of conventional endocytic routes. MIIC-derived vesicles have also been shown to fuse with the plasma membrane and to be shed by B cells (Raposo *et al.* 1996), and T cells were stimulated by MHC II-peptide complexes on B cells in which Transferrin-containing early endosomes had been ablated (Pond and Watts 1997). Collectively, these data support the direct transport of MHC II-peptide complexes to the plasma membrane, without interaction with the early endosomal/recycling pathway.

1.3.1.3 Generation of Antigenic Peptides and Control of Processing of li by Host Proteases.

Cleavage of antigens by endosomal proteases will determine the dominant T cell epitopes presented from exogenous proteins. The aspartate proteases Cathepsins D and E and the cysteine proteases Cathepsins B, L, S and H have all been implicated in the processing of exogenous antigens - either directly through modulation of the peptide or through interactions with Ii. Cathepsins D and E are both involved in the production of functional T cell epitopes whereas H and B appeared to play more redundant roles (Villadangos *et al.* 1999). Hewitt and colleagues (Hewitt *et al.* 1997) extensively analysed the ability of Cathepsins D and E to cleave the C fragment domain from tetanus toxin and produce functional T cell epitopes. This work revealed preferential cleavage sites for each epitope, allowing characterisation of putative amino acid consensus sequences. The similarity in sites cleaved by Cathepsins D and E suggested that they might have overlapping functions. Consistant with this, Cathepsin D^{-/-} mice were able to

process and present four different antigens to T cell clones, indicating that Cathepsin D is not necessary for MHC II-mediated presentation (Deussing *et al.* 1998).

A novel protease, asparaginyl endopeptidase (AEP), has recently been identified which may be responsible for initial processing of native proteins (Manoury *et al.* 1998). Incubation of a tetanus toxin antigen with disrupted lysosomes from a transformed B cell line revealed that the majority of the processing activity was due to this protease (Manoury *et al.* 1998). AEP was demonstrated to cleave the tetanus toxin protein after asparagine (N) residues, indicating that the positioning of these residues may dictate cleavage of dominant epitopes by this protease. N-glycosylation of asparagine residues has been demonstrated to block processing by AEP (Manoury *et al.* 1998). Thus, bacterial proteins, which are non-glycosylated, may be more sensitive to degradation by AEP than self proteins, suggesting that cleavage by AEP may bias the repertoire of complexes generated away from self proteins.

Proteases also control the presentation of T cell epitopes via cleavage of the Ii protein. Cathepsin S catalyses cleavage of a 10KDa CLIP-containing fragment from Ii (Ii-p10), allowing dissociation of MHC II $\alpha\beta$:Ii nonamers into MHC II $\alpha\beta$:CLIP complexes that are receptive for peptide (Riese *et al.* 1996). The importance of this activity was demonstrated through inhibition of Cathepsin S, which resulted in the retention of MHC II $\alpha\beta$:Ii molecules within lysosomes and a lack of peptide-loaded MHC II on the plasma membrane (Pierre and Mellman 1998). Cathepsin L also cleaves Ii but, unlike Cathepsin S, is expressed in cortical thymic epithelial cells and not in DC or B cells (Nakagawa *et al.* 1998).

1.3.2 Control of the MHC II Processing and Presentation Pathway in DC

The maturation of DC as they migrate from the skin to the draining LN is reflected by changes in MHC II compartmentalisation: in immature bone marrow-derived DC, MHC II was shown to be abundant in intracellular MIIC, but as the cells matured MHC II localised to CIIV-like compartments, and in fully mature DC all MHC II molecules were found on the plasma membrane (Nijman et al. 1995; Pierre et al. 1997). Maturation of DC was accompanied by a change in the stability of MHC II-peptide complexes at the cell surface: in immature DC, MHC II complexes are rapidly re-routed to lysosomes for degradation, but as the cells mature, the half life of complexes on the surface increases from approximately ten to more than one hundred hours (Cella et al. 1997). This observation led to the hypothesis that control of surface expression of loaded MHC II molecules is due to rapid recycling of these molecules into degradative compartments. This was recently modified by Inaba and colleagues who, in the absence of a maturation stimulus, could not detect the generation of MHC II-peptide complexes using a complex-specific mAb (C4H3) (Inaba et al. 2000). In these experiments antigen appeared to be internalised and retained intracellularly for at least sixty hours, but C4H3 positive complexes were not observed unless LPS was added to the culture. C4H3 positive complexes appeared to be sorted into CIIV-like structures, along with other T cell co-stimulatory molecules, which were then transferred to the cell surface (Turley et al. 2000). These data imply that control of presentation in DC is at the level of antigen processing/peptide loading and not due to degradation of pre-formed complexes. However, the well characterised differences in the half life of MHC II-peptide complexes in immature versus mature DC make it unlikely that the model proposed by Inaba et al is the sole mechanism for controlling antigen presentation by DC. We have recently shown, using an alternative complex-specific mAb, that MHC II-peptide complexes form rapidly in immature DC, upon incubation with exogenous protein in the absence of a strong maturation signal (Colledge et al.). Furthermore, while both immature and activated DC generated MHC II-peptide complexes with equal kinetics, in immature, but not mature, DC these complexes were rapidly internalised from the plasma membrane and degraded (Villadangos *et al.* 2001). Together, these data support the hypothesis that control of the rate of degradation of MHC II-peptide complexes is responsible for the regulation of their expression in immature versus mature DC (Cella *et al.* 1997).

Loading of MHC II molecules with peptides and transport to the cell surface is dependent on cleavage of Ii. Significant amounts of Ii-p10 accumulated in immature but not mature DC and this decrease as the cells were activated was paralleled by decreased levels of Cystatin C, an inhibitor of Cathepsin S (Pierre and Mellman 1998). A model has been proposed whereby control of cleavage of Ii restricts loading of MHC II molecules and transport to the cell surface in immature cells. This model is based on experiments which demonstrated that in immature DC, Cystatin C blocked Cathepsin S activity and MHC II $\alpha\beta$ -p10 complexes were retained in lysosomes. As the DC matured, Cystatin C appeared to be sequestered in the Golgi, permitting Cathepsin S to degrade Ii-10 to CLIP, which will be replaced by antigenic peptides (Pierre and Mellman 1998). However, Villadangos and colleagues (Villadangos *et al.* 2001) could not detect a difference between localisation and trafficking of MHC II-peptide complexes in DC from Cathepsin S-dependent (I-A^b) and Cathepsin S-independent (I-A^s) allotypes of mice suggesting that Ii does not control loading of MHC II complexes in DC.

1.4 Initiation and Resolution of Leishmania Infection

The immunobiology of *Leishmania* infection has been extensively studied in mice due to the development of a well-characterised model of Leishmaniasis that reflects the spectrum of dieases found in man. The primary and effector T cell responses to *Leishmania* are dependent on priming of T cells by activated DC and M Φ . The literature discussed in this section describes the role of T cells in the balance between resistance and susceptibility to *Leishmania* infection, and highlights the importance of the interaction between *Leishmania* parasites and DC and M Φ for the development of this response. This chapter will focus on studies investigating the infection of mice with the cutaneous species Leishmania major and Leishmania mexicana or Leishmania amazonensis.

Most inbred strains of mice are resistant to infection with *L. major*, and develop small, self-healing lesions. However a few strains, such as BALB/c, CB.17 or NZW mice, are unable to control the infection (Morris *et al.* 1993). Studies on immune responses generally focus on C3H/HeN or C57BL/6 mice, which are genetically resistant, and can control infection with *L. major*, and BALB/c mice, which are highly susceptible, and generally die due to uncontrolled dissemination of the parasites (Reiner and Locksley 1995). However, other *Leishmania* species that cause cutaneous Leishmaniasis do not induce such clear cut polarised responses in "resistant" or "susceptible" strains; whilst BALB/c mice are susceptible to infection with all *Leishmania* species, "resistant" C3H/Hen or C57BL/6 mice are unable to control infection with *L. amazonensis* (Afonso and Scott 1993; Soong *et al.* 1997).

1.4.1 The Role of T Cells in Controlling Infection with *Leishmania*

1.4.1.1 Control of *Leishmania* Infection Requires MHC II-Dependent CD4⁺ T Cells

T cell-deficient BALB/c *nude* (Moll *et al.* 1988) or thymectomised BALB/c mice (Shankar and Titus 1995) could not resolve infection with *L. major*, and developed large ulcerating lesions. Adoptive transfer of CD8⁺ (Ly-2⁺)-depleted, but not CD4⁺ (L3T4⁺)-depleted, T cells from non-infected animals into BALB/c *nude* mice conferred an ability to heal the infection (Moll *et al.* 1988), indicating that CD4⁺ T cells were essential for the generation of protective responses in infected mice. In subsequent experiments Locksley and co-workers (1993) demonstrated that C57BL/6/129 F1 MHC II-deficient mice were highly susceptible to infection with *L. major*, confirming that stimulation of CD4⁺ T cells was critical for the resolution of the disease. Lesion development in *L. amazonensis*-infected C57BL/6 *nude* mice was delayed compared to wild type mice

(Soong *et al.* 1997), and lesion size directly correlated with the number of $CD4^+$ T cells transferred into these mice, implying that $CD4^+$ T cells play role in the immune-pathology, as well as the resolution, of infection with *L. amazonensis*.

Mice lacking MHC I molecules (due to a disruption in the β_2 -microglobulin gene) have normal CD4⁺ T cell numbers but lack MHC I-restricted CD8⁺ T cells, and have disrupted NK cell activity. A number of different studies have shown that the course of infection with *L. major* or *L. mexicana* parasites in these mice on C57BL/6/129 F1, 129 or BALB/c backgrounds was equivalent to infection in matched wild type mice, indicating that CD8⁺ T cells do not influence the outcome of the response to these parasites (Locksley *et al.* 1993; Overath and Harbecke 1993; Wang *et al.* 1993). BALB/c mice that had healed the infection did, however, show an increase in the production of IFN γ by CD8⁺ T cells (Wang *et al.* 1993). Mice immunised with predicted MHC I epitopes from the *Leishmania* surface glycoprotein, gp63, developed specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CD8⁺ T cell) responses to some peptides but were not protected against infection (Wang *et al.* 1993). Therefore, collectively these data indicate that CD8⁺ T cells are not critical for controlling the outcome of infection with cutaneous *Leishmania* species but that IFN γ -production by CD8⁺ T cells may enhance CD4⁺mediated cure of infection.

The presence or absence of B cells from non-infected mice, when transferred with T cells into C.B-17 *scid/scid* mice had no effect on the induction of a protective T cell response to *L. major*, even when given at a ratio of ten B cells to one T cell (Varkila *et al.* 1993). These data indicate that B cell responses neither control nor exacerbate the infection. BALB/c μ MT mice, which lack B cells due to a disruption of the IgM locus (Kitamura *et al.* 1991), remained susceptible to *L. major* infection, while C57BL/6 μ MT mice remained resistant (Brown and Reiner 1999), suggesting that B cells are also not required for the development of T helper subsets in *L. major* infected mice (see section 1.4.1.2). B cell-derived antibodies may play a role in the uptake of opsonised parasites by APC, since mice lacking Fc receptors were resistant to infection with *L. major* (Kima *et al.* 2000). Furthermore, mice lacking circulating antibodies, which had been injected

with serum from *Leishmania*-infected mice or mice immunised with amastigote membrane components, were more susceptible to infection than those receiving serum from non-immune mice (Peters *et al.* 1995; Kima *et al.* 2000). Thus, *Leishmania*-specific antibodies may mediate uptake of parasites by cells expressing FcR (see section 1.4.2.1) but B cell responses do not otherwise influence the outcome of infection.

1.4.1.2 The Role of Polarised T Helper Cell Subsets in Resistance or Susceptibility to Infection with *L. major*

1.4.1.2.1 Development of CD4⁺ Th1 and Th2 Subsets

Murine $CD4^+$ Th cells can be divided into subsets based on the secretion of different cytokines upon restimulation. Mosmann *et al* (Mosmann *et al.* 1986) originally reported that a panel of $CD4^+$ T helper clones could be divided into two groups depending on the secretion of IL-2 and IFN γ or their IgG- and IgE-enhancing activities upon activation *in vitro* (Mosmann *et al.* 1986). These subsets have subsequently been well characterised and shown to have distinct, often antagonistic roles in the immune response (Abbas *et al.* 1996); Th1 cells secrete IFN γ , thus directing cell-mediated immune responses, and promote switching to IgG2a and IgG2b isotypes, while Th2 cells secrete the cytokines IL-4, IL-5 and IL-13 and promote switching to IgE, IgG1 and IgG4 antibody responses which characterise the development of humoral responses.

Naïve Th precursor cells, termed Th0 cells, can develop into either Th1 and Th2 effector cells depending on whether they are cultured in the presence of IL-12 or IL-4 respectively (Abbas *et al.* 1996). IL-12 induces activation of Th1 cells via the signalling molecule STAT (Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription) 4 (Thierfelder *et al.* 1996; Kaplan *et al.* 1996a), while IL-4 induced responses are transduced via STAT 6 (Kaplan *et al.* 1996b) Stimulation of Th0 precusors, e.g. with anti-CD3 antibodies, induces the cells to proliferate and begin to produce effector cytokines (Bird *et al.* 1998; Gett and Hodgkin 1998). Recent studies using the fluoresecent dye CFSE (carboxyfluoroscein diacetate succinimidyl ester) have demonstrated that cytokine production is linked to the number of cell cycles undergone after stimulation (Bird *et al.* 1998; Gett and Hodgkin 1998). Thus, IFN γ is produced successively as the cells divide

whereas expression of IL-4 genes requires additional cell divisions (Bird *et al.* 1998; Gett and Hodgkin 1998). The transcription factor Gata-3 is thought to be the key mediator in development of Th2 cells (Zheng and Flavell 1997), while a second transcription factor, T-bet, has recently been identified as a potential inducer of Th1 development (Szabo *et al.* 2000). The differential expression of IL-4 and IFN γ by activated T cells was shown to be controlled by epigenetic constraints; chromatin structure and DNA methylation prevented transcription of cytokine genes before the cells had undergone the requisite number of divisions. This process was strictly related to the number of actual cell divisions and not the time taken for these divisions to occur (Bird *et al.* 1998). Once demethylation of IFN γ or IL-4 genes occurred it was stably inherited by daughter cells, ensuring that descendants of the original polarised precursor would maintain that effector T helper phenotype (Bird *et al.* 1998).

Individual cells within pools of naïve T cells were shown to have the potential to secrete both Th1- and Th2-associated cytokines, suggesting that the development of Th0 precusors into Th1 or Th2 effector cells was a stochastic event (Kelso and Gough 1988; Kelso et al. 1995). A more recent study has, however, indicated that there is also an inherent instructive component to this process: IFNy- and IL-4-secreting cells developed from naïve precursors in cultures in which all polarising cytokines were neutralised (Farrar et al. 2001); furthermore, retro-viral expression of Gata-3 in polarised Th1 or Th2 cells resulted in the skewing of the majority of these cells to a Th2 phenotype, indicating that their phenotype had not been fixed by selective differentiation of progenitors in IFNy or IL-4 (Farrar et al. 2001). This result, however, contradicts the observation of Bird et al. (1998), discussed in the previous paragraph, that polariastion of Th cells was stably inherited due to epigentic constraints on cytokine gene expression. It is therefore likely that the selective expansion of Th1 versus Th2 clones in response to stimulation will depend on both instructive and selective signals, whereby progenitors have a tendency towards different fates, but this can be influenced by the cytokine milieu in the LN at the time of activation.

Different T helper subsets are important in the elimination of different pathogens: Th1 responses are generally thought to be required for protection against intracellular pathogens, including viruses, while Th2 responses eliminate extracellular pathogens and mediate allergic responses. While this paradigm is useful for defining responses to different organisms, immune responses to pathogens usually develop as a balance between these two extremes (Allen and Maizels 1997). *Leishmania* infection has emerged as a model system in which the ability to cure infection is strictly related to the Th subset which predominates.

1.4.1.2.2 The Role of Th Subsets in Infection with Leishmania

Resistance to infection with *L. major* was originally shown to correlate with expansion of the IFN γ -producing Th1 subset, while Th2 responses predominated in susceptible BALB/c mice (Scott *et al.* 1988; Heinzel *et al.* 1989). The role of these two subsets in controlling the outcome of infection was further defined by studies showing that transfer of Th1 or Th2 cell lines conferred protection or exacerbation of disease respectively: T cell lines were generated from two fractions of soluble *Leishmania* antigens (SLA) which were known to be protective or not on immunisation of BALB/c mice. The T cell line specific for the protective fraction produced IL-2 and IFN γ upon restimulation with *Leishmania* antigen, whereas, the T cell line expanded with the non-protective SLA fraction produced Th2-type cytokines (Scott *et al.* 1988). This observation was supported by a study that showed that reconstitution of BALB/c *scid* mice with T cells from cured mice transferred the healing phenotype, an effect that was blocked on administration of anti-IFN γ antibodies, whilst adoptive transfer of T cells from chronically infected mice conferred IL-4-dependent susceptibility (Holaday *et al.* 1991).

The polarisation of responding T cells towards a type 1 or type 2 phenotype occurs very rapidly after infection by *L. major*. Three days post-infection a five to ten fold increase in cell numbers was observed in LN draining the site of infection, with a concomitant increase in the levels of IFN γ or IL-4 present in the draining LN of C3H/Hen or BALB/c mice respectively (Scott 1991).

Interestingly, transfer of low numbers of T cells into BALB/c mice (Mitchell *et al.* 1981; Moll *et al.* 1988; Varkila *et al.* 1993), or infection of these mice with low numbers of parasites (Doherty and Coffman 1996) resulted in the development of a healing Th1 response. This demonstrated that susceptible BALB/c mice do contain 'healer' Th1 cells, and suggests that they can control the infection when there is a reduction in the frequency of IL-4-producing cells early on in the infection (see section 1.4.1.4).

1.4.1.3 The Role of Th1-Derived Cytokines in Resistance to Infection

The correlation between expansion of the Th1 cell subset and resolution of infection strongly implicates the Th1-associated cytokines IFNγ and IL-12 in development of the protective anti-*Leishmania* immune response.

1.4.1.3.1 The Role of IFNy in the Anti-Leishmania Response

IFN γ is produced by activated T cells and NK cells. Among other roles, IFN γ is a potent activator of mononuclear phagocytes, and promotes differentiation of Th cells to Th1 phenotypes while inhibiting development of Th2 cells. Activation of M Φ by IFN γ leads to enhanced microbicidal mechanisms such as production of nitric oxide (NO), and upregulation of surface expression of phagocytic receptors (Boehm 1997). IFN γ will, therefore, play a dual role in the outcome of *Leishmania* infection; by promoting differentiation of Th1 cells and via direct effector functions on M Φ at the site of infection.

Treatment of resistant *L. major*-infected mice with anti-IFN γ mAb abrogated their ability to control the infection (Belosevic *et al.* 1989) and switched cytokine production in the draining LN from IFN γ to IL-4 and IL-5 (Scott 1991). Parasite burdens in treated mice were equivalent to those in susceptible BALB/c mice, indicating that ablation of IFN γ is sufficient to convert a resistant to a susceptible phenotype (Belosevic *et al.* 1989). This is supported by the observation that IFN γ -deficient mice were unable to control infection and produced significant amounts of Th2 cytokines (Wang *et al.* 1994). Significantly, a single dose of anti-IFN γ given at the time of infection, but not a week later, was sufficient to switch the response from healing to non-healing (Belosevic *et al.* 1989; Scott 1991). Thus, the timing of IFN γ production is important for its ability to control infection. Administration of IFN γ to BALB/c mice at the time of infection led to an increase in IFN γ production by LN cells and a decrease in IL-4 and IL-5. However, lesion development only showed a transient delay and the mice were not able to control the infection (Scott 1991). Therefore, while IFN γ appears to be critical in controlling infection with *Leishmania*, it is not sufficient to control the spread of *Leishmania* infection in susceptible mice, indicating that other factors must also be involved.

The early requirement for IFN γ implies that it is produced as part of the innate response to infection, before the adaptive response is initiated. Activated NK cells were present in the LN of infected mice three days post-infection (Scharton and Scott 1993). High NK cell activity in different inbred stains of mice inversely correlates with parasite burden, thus resistant mice with a low parasite burden tend to have higher NK cell activity (Scharton and Scott 1993). Ablation of NK cells in mice using a rabbit anti-asialo antiserum or an anti NK1.1 mAb led to reduced levels of IFN γ production in the draining LN and an initial enhancement in susceptibility, although the mice eventually recovered (Laskay *et al.* 1993). These data suggest that NK cells may play a role in control of *Leishmania* parasites via non-antigen-specific IFN γ production during the early stages of infection.

1.4.1.3.2 The Role of IL-12 in Initiating the Development of a Th1 Response to *Leishmania*

Introduction to IL -12

IL-12 was first identified in the supernatants of transformed B cells which had been stimulated with the phorbol diester PDBu (phorbol-12,13-dibutyrate). Supernatant from these cells induced high amounts of IFN γ in peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL), augmented cytotoxic activity against target cell lines, and enhanced PBL proliferation in response to PDBu. All three of these activities were co-purifed with a 70KDa glycoprotein which was initially called Natural Killer cell Stimulatory Factor (NKSF) but was later renamed IL-12 (Kobayashi *et al.* 1989; Trinchieri 1995). IL-12 is produced

by DC, M Φ and, to a lesser extent, B cells. It is biologically active as a 70KDa heterodimer (p70) that is composed of two covalently linked subunits of 40 (p40) and 35 (p35) KDa respectively. IL-12 both induces NK cells and T cells to secrete IFNy and functions as a T cell growth factor, thus contributing to optimal proliferation of, and IFNy production by, differentiated Th1 clones in response to antigen (Trinchieri 1995). IL-12 production by activated DC or M Φ is critical for the priming of a type 1 Th cell response (Hsieh et al. 1993; Macatonia et al. 1995): mice in which the p40 gene was mutated (Magram et al. 1996) showed decreased NK cell activity and reduced IFNy production in response to LPS, and consequently failed to generate normal Th1 responses. LN cells from p40^{-/-} mice immunised with KLH also did not efficiently secrete IFNy upon restimulation in vivo, although antigen-induced proliferation of LN cells was normal. Production of IL-4 was enhanced in these mice compared to wild type controls, suggesting that IL-12 may inhibit production of IL-4. IL-12 has therefore been proposed to act as a bridge between the innate and adaptive type 1-biased immune responses since production of IL-12 upon activation of APC directly induces the development of these T cell responses.

The p35 and p40 proteins are encoded by genes on separate chromosomes in humans and mice, indicating that they are differentially controlled (Trinchieri 1995). Differential regulation of both subunits by cytokines (Hochrein *et al.* 2000) can result in the production of an excess of the p40 protein which forms homodimers that can inhibit responses to IL-12 p70 by blocking its binding to the IL-12 receptor (Gillessen *et al.* 1995). (p40)₂ homodimers blocked IL-12-induced proliferation and IFN γ production by T cell blasts (Gillessen *et al.* 1995), and the presence of (p40)₂ homodimers suppressed rejection of myocytes which had been transplanted into the quadriceps of allogeneic mice (Kato *et al.* 1996).

IL-12 and Resolution of Infection with Leishmania

IFN γ is clearly required to control infection with *Leishmania*, but the inability of exogenous IFN γ to heal susceptible mice suggested that other factors were also involved

in the development of a resistant immune response. Treatment of BALB/c mice with recombinant IL-12 (rIL-12) during the first week of infection with L. major parasites rendered these mice resistant to infection in an IFNy-dependent manner (Heinzel et al. 1993; Sypek et al. 1993). Lymphocytes from the draining LN of treated mice produced ten to fifty times less IL-4 than wild type mice in response to Leishmania antigen, indicating that the presence of IL-12 had resulted in a switch from a Th2 to Th1 response (Heinzel et al. 1993). Furthermore, immunisation with SLA and IL-12, but not with SLA alone, resulted in complete protection of mice against challenge with L. major promastigotes (Afonso et al. 1994). As had been shown previously for IFNy (Belosevic et al. 1989; Scott 1991), IL-12 is required during the early stages of infection, since administration of rIL-12 during the first week elicited a durable healing response that lasted up to four months (Heinzel et al. 1993), whereas administration of rIL-12 after the first week could only delay lesion development (Sypek et al. 1993). These data imply that early production of IL-12 initiates the early IFNy response that is needed to control the infection. Evidence for the role of endogenous IL-12 in vivo was demonstrated by the administration of anti-IL-12 antibodies to C57BL/6 mice. Infection of these mice with L. major resulted in a decrease in IFNy production in the draining LN and an increase in parasite burden compared to non-treated animals (Sypek et al. 1993; Heinzel et al. 1995). IL-4 production in infected C3H/Hen mice treated with an anti-IL-12 antibody was equivalent to levels induced on infection of susceptible BALB/c mice (Scharton-Kersten et al. 1995), indicating that ablation of IL-12 is sufficient to switch the outcome of infection. Definitive evidence for the role of IL-12 in mediating resistance to infection with Leishmania came from infection of resistant 129 mice lacking either IL-12 p35 or p40. These mice were highly susceptible to infection with L. *major* and produced levels of IL-4 equivalent to those seen in infected wild-type BALB/c mice. This increase in IL-4 was associated with reduced levels of IFNy. In this study there was no difference between p35 or p40 deficient mice (Mattner et al. 1996).

Three separate studies have shown a requirement for the interaction between CD40 on APC and CD40L on activated T cells for the resolution of infection by *L. major* or *L. amazonensis* (Campbell *et al.* 1996; Kamanaka *et al.* 1996; Soong *et al.* 1996). This

phenotype is also likely to be due to a lack of IL-12 since CD40 ligation enhances IL-12 production and Th1 responses are decreased in mice lacking either CD40 (Kamanaka *et al.* 1996) or CD40L (Campbell *et al.* 1996).

Regulation of Expression of the IL-12 Receptor Correlates with Resistance to *Leishmania* Infection

The IL-12 receptor (IL-12R) is composed of two chains, IL-12R β 1 and β 2 (Gately *et al.* 1998). Culture in Th1-promoting conditions induced up-regulation of IL-12R β 2 expression on T cells, while Th2-promoting conditions induced a transient up-regulation of IL-12R β 2 mRNA followed by down-regulation to undetectable levels (Szabo *et al.* 1997), suggesting that maintained expression of the IL-12R β 2 subunit promotes development of a Th1 versus a Th2 response.

LN cells from C3H/HeN mice infected with *L. major* for two days bound more IL-12 than cells from BALB/c mice. This correlated with increased expression of IL-12R β 2 in the draining LN, although expression of the β 2 subunit was up-regulated on all cells, not just those which were antigen-specific (Jones *et al.* 1998). Administration of rIL-12 to *L. major*-infected BALB/c mice, or treatment with an anti-IL-4 antibody, increased IL-12R β 2 expression in LN cells, while anti-IL-12 antibodies inhibited IL-12R β 2 expression and decreased levels of IFN γ mRNA in the LN (Jones *et al.* 1998). Therefore, these data suggest that maintenance of IL-12R β 2 expression is related to the ability of resistant mice to control infection with *Leishmania*.

Heath and co-workers (Heath *et al.* 2000) demonstrated that ectopic expression of the IL-12R β 2 chain in Th2 cells did not induce IFN γ production upon restimulation, even though IL-12-induced STAT signalling was restored in these cells. BALB/c mice in which the IL-12R β 2 chain was over-expressed under the control of a CD2 promoter and CD2 locus control region developed Th2 responses in the presence of IL-4, even if IL-12 was also present (Nishikomori *et al.* 2000). These mice were as susceptible as their wild type litter-mates to infection with *L. major*, and developed a polarised Th2 response in

the draining LN (Nishikomori *et al.* 2001). The observation that BALB/c mice developed a healing phenotype if given IL-12 at the time of infection, but not seven days post-infection (Heinzel *et al.* 1993; Sypek *et al.* 1993), was assumed to be due to the fact that the IL-12R β 2 chain is no longer expressed by T cells at later time points. Administration of IL-12 seven days post-infection of the IL-12R β 2 chain transgenic mice did not, however, result in an ability of these mice to control the infection (Nishikomori *et al.* 2001). Thus, these results demonstrate that maintenance of the IL-12R β 2 chain is not sufficient to switch a Th2 response to Th1, and that expression of IL-12R β 2 is not the primary factor determining the ability of resistant versus susceptible mice to control infection.

C3H/Hen mice cannot control infection with *L. amazonensis*, and this also correlated with a lack of expression of IL-12R β 2 on CD4⁺ T cells and an inability of these cells to respond to IL-12. This lack of response was independent of IL-4 and IL-10. Interestingly, the link between IL-12 responsiveness and the inability of C3H/HeN mice to resolve infection with *L. amazonensis* is different to that linking susceptibility of BALB/c mice to *L. major*, because administration of exogenous IL-12 failed to resolve infection with *L. amazonensis* (Jones *et al.* 2000).

1.4.1.4 The Role of Th2-Derived Cytokines in Susceptibility to Infection

1.4.1.4.1 The Role of IL-4 in Exacerbating Disease

IL-4 promotes the growth and differentiation of Th2 cells and antagonises production of IFN γ by Th1 cells. Eighty five percent of BALB/c mice infected with *L. major* recovered after administration of an anti-IL-4 antibody (Sadick *et al.* 1990) and anti-IL-4 antibodies switched the cytokine response in the draining LN from IL-4 to IFN γ (Holaday *et al.* 1991). Furthermore, a single injection of an anti-IL4 mAb was sufficient to switch the outcome of infection to a healing Th1-mediated response when it was given two days prior to infection. These mice were also resistant to re-infection (Chatelain *et al.* 1992). Reconstitution of SCID mice with splenocytes from wild type or IL-4^{-/-} BALB/c mice showed that innate production of IL-4 by non-lymphocytes may

play a role in the development of lesions, but that lymphocyte-derived IL-4 was needed for exacerbation of the disease (Satoskar *et al.* 1997). Unexpectedly, IL-4^{-/-} mice were initially reported to remain highly susceptible to infection with *L. major*, indicating that there is not a simple relationship between the presence of IL-4 and susceptibility of BALB/c mice (Noben-Trauth *et al.* 1996). However, other groups have subsequently reported that the same IL-4 deficient mice are resistant to infection with *L. major* (Kopf *et al.* 1996) and *L. mexicana* (Satoskar *et al.* 1997). *L. mexicana*-infected C57BL/6 IL-4^{-/-} mice were resistant to infection and this was associated with the development of a Th1 response. Ablation of STAT6, which is an essential component of the IL-4 signalling pathway (Takeda *et al.* 1996), resulted in mice that resolved infection with *L. mexicana* (Stamm *et al.* 1998). Thus, together these data indicate that IL-4 plays a dominant role in exacerbating disease in susceptible mice.

Infection of BALB/c mice in the foot pad with *L. major* led to two waves of IL-4 production by CD4⁺ T cells in the draining LN: a peak in IL-4 mRNA was first seen at sixteen hours post-infection, decreased and peaked again at five days (Launois *et al.* 1995). This peak of IL-4 was not seen in resistant strains of mice such as C57BL/6 or C3H/Hen and has been thought to correlate with the enhanced susceptibility of BALB/c mice to *L. major* (Launois *et al.* 1995). Anti-IL-4 antibodies given at the time of infection did not abrogate the initial peak of IL-4 production at sixteen hours but did prevent the second peak at five days post-infection, indicating that early IL-4 regulates the development of the effector Th2 response, and subsequent IL-4 production (Launois *et al.* 1997). CD4⁺ T cells from infected BALB/c and C57BL/6 mice both expressed IL-12R β 2 mRNA 24 hours post-infection, but by day five expression had decreased in BALB/c mice to below the level of detection. This decrease did not occur in BALB/c mice treated with anti-IL-4 antibodies (Himmelrich *et al.* 1998), thus correlating the early production of IL-4 in susceptible mice with down-regulation of the IL-12R β 2 chain on T cells.

Screening of a *L. major* promastigote expression library with the protective Th1 cell clone 9.1-2 (Scott *et al.* 1988) identified an antigen which was subsequently cloned, and

characterised as a Leishmania homologue (LACK) of a mammalian Receptor of Activated C Kinase (RACK 1) (Mougneau et al. 1995). LACK is a 36KDa protein that is expressed by both promastigotes and amastigotes and is highly conserved between all Leishmania species tested (Mougneau et al. 1995). Infection with L. major had been previously shown to induce the clonotypic expansion of heterodimeric V β 4, V α 8 TCRexpressing T cell clones in both susceptible and resistant mice (Reiner et al. 1993). Mougneau and colleagues (Mougneau et al. 1995) demonstrated that LACK-specific T cell hybridomas all expressed TCR composed of V β 4 and V α 8 chains, suggesting that LACK induced expansion of these cells during natural infection with L. major. Launois et al (Launois et al. 1997) later confirmed this by demonstrating that deletion of the V β 4 chain by infection of mice with mouse mammary tumour viruses (MMTV(SIM)) resulted in the ability to resolve infection with L. major, which was associated with ablation of the early peak of IL-4 and the concommitant up-regulation of Th1 responses in the draining LN. In order to determine whether the early LACK-induced peak of IL-4 was solely responsible for exacerbation of disease in BALB/c mice, LACK cDNA was expressed from the MHC II I-E α promoter to generate mice that were tolerant to LACK. Infection of these mice did not induce production of IL-4 in the LN and LACK-tolerant mice were able to control infection (Julia et al. 1996), suggesting that development of a susceptible phenotype in BALB/c mice was dependent on early production of IL-4 by LACK-specific T cells. Recent studies have, however, indicated that LACK itself is not crucial for the development of a Th2 response; V β 4-deficient mice on a BALB/c background could control infection with L. major, but uncontrolled lesions developed in the presence of exogenous IL-4 (Himmelrich et al. 2000). Non-infected BALB/c mice were shown to possess LACK-reactive T cells, which cross-reacted with microbial antigens in the gut (Julia et al. 2000), which would therefore explain the rapid production of IL-4 upon infection with Leishmania, before the primary effector response has been primed.

It has recently been shown that administration of IL-4 eight hours post-infection, before the T cell-derived peak of IL-4 has occurred, resulted in cure of *L. major* infection by BALB/c mice and the development of a Th1 response equivalent to that seen in resistant C57BL/6 mice (Biedermann *et al.* 2001). This was associated with IL-12 production by DC in the LN, which inhibited the subsequent burst of IL-4. If IL-4, however, was given at the time of T cell priming, the mice developed a Th2 response and could not control the infection. These results indicate that the non-specific production of IL-4 very early on during infection could promote the development of a healing Th1 response. They do not, however, suggest a source for this early IL-4 if it does play a role during the natural infection.

1.4.1.4.2 The Role of IL-10 in Susceptibility to Infection

IL-10 is produced by Th2 CD4⁺ T cells and indirectly down-regulates the development of Th1 responses by inhibiting expression of co-stimulatory molecules and proinflammatory cytokines by DC and M Φ (Moore *et al.* 2001).

IL-10 was shown to promote survival of intracellular *L. major* parasites, and this correlated with a decrease in production of NO by infected M Φ (Vouldoukis *et al.* 1997). Administration of anti-IL-10 antibodies to susceptible BALB/c mice, however, did not induce resistance to infection with *L. major*, although other IL-10-mediated responses were altered in these mice (Chatelain *et al.* 1999), and C57BL/6 mice engineered to over-express IL-10 remained resistant to infection with *L. major* (Hagenbaugh *et al.* 1997). These data suggested that IL-10 was not a key mediator in controlling susceptibility or resistance of inbred mouse strains to *Leishmania* infection. Other studies using transgenic mice indicate, however, that IL-10 does promote parasite survival: resistant mice in which IL-10 was expressed from the MHC II E α promoter were susceptible to infection with *L. major* (Groux *et al.* 1999), possible due to the inhibition of both Th1 and Th2 responses in these mice; likewise, Kane and Mosser (2001) recently demonstrated that BALB/c IL-10^{-/-} mice were relatively resistant to infection with *L. major*.

Wild type mice infected intradermally with a low dose of *L. major* promastigotes contained parasites that persisted at the site of infection and in the draining LN for the



life-span of the animal. Persistent parasites were not, however, detected in C57BL/6 IL-10^{-/-} mice (Belkaid *et al.* 2001) indicating that IL-10 also plays a role in the maintenance of a parasite reservoir in cured hosts.

1.4.2 Summary I: The Balance Between Th1 and Th2 Responses in *Leishmania* Infection

Resolution of infection with *Leishmania* is dependent on the activation of MHC IIdependent CD4⁺ T cells. The outcome of the infection depends on the rapid activation of specific T helper cells, and represents a balance between the production and maintenance of Th1-or Th2-promoting cytokines. IL-12 production drives Th1 responses, leading to the production of IFN γ , which in turn activates the Leishmanicidal properties of M Φ . Conversely, IL-4 down-regulates expression of IL-12, IL-12R β 2, IFN γ , inhibits NO production in M Φ and stimulates differentiation of the Th2 subset of CD4⁺ T cells. This leads to an inability of the mouse to control infection. IL-4 production is clearly important in the outcome of disease since susceptible inbred mouse strains have a higher precursor frequency of antigen-specific IL-4-secreting T cells than resistant strains, and IL-4 but not IFN γ levels in the draining LN of *L. major*-infected mice correlate with susceptibility (Morris *et al.* 1993; Morris *et al.* 1993).

Based on the data reported in this section, the following model for infection of inbred strains of mice with *L. major* can be proposed: in resistant mice IL-12R β 2 expression is up-regulated on CD4⁺ T cells due to IL-12 production by activated DC and M Φ and IFN γ production by NK cells, and is maintained at high levels on these cells. IL-12 signalling inhibits the early IL-4 production by V α 8, V β 4 T cells and induces development of IFN γ -producing Th1 cells. In susceptible mice, T cells do not maintain expression of the IL-12R β 2 chain and its down-regulation is reinforced by the early LACK-induced peak of IL-4. These T cells develop into Th2 effector cells that produce more IL-4 and lead to exacerbation of disease (Figure 1.5).

Figure 1.5: Schematic Representation of the Role of T Helper Cell Responses in the Outcome of Infection with Leishmania



cells via upregulation of MHC IIparasite antigen complexes
Bystander activation of MΦ Data from mouse models of *Leishmania* infection demonstrate that the outcome of infection is the result of interplay between a number of different factors, none of which alone is sufficient to resolve or exacerbate the disease. Guler *et al* (1996) have elegantly shown that inherent genetic differences between resistant and susceptible mice control the differential ability of T cells from these mice to maintain their responsiveness to IL-12. Thus, data from infection of inbred strains of mice must be considered in the light of the genetic pre-dispositions of these mice. Natural infection in outbred hosts is likely to represent a less extreme polarisation of Th1 and Th2 responses, and the majority of humans are able to resolve infection with cutaneous species of *Leishmania* (Handman 1997). The model proposed in this summary highlights, however, the critical role of DC and M Φ from both resistant and susceptible strains of mice in controlling initial responses to infection and progression of the disease.

1.4.3 The Role of Infected Macrophages in the Anti-*Leishmania* Immune Response

Activated APC present *Leishmania*-derived antigens in the context of MHC II molecules. In most immunocompetent individuals, cell-mediated immune responses are efficiently activated and recovered patients are protected against subsequent infections (Handman 1997). However, M Φ are the principal host cells for *Leishmania* parasites, and low parasite numbers persist indefinitely in 'cured' hosts (Aebischer *et al.* 1993). The outcome of infection with *Leishmania* parasites will depend on a balance between the ability of the parasites to avoid activation of their host cells and the success of APC in presenting parasite antigens to, and activating, the appropriate T cell response. Therefore, a detailed understanding of the specific interaction between *Leishmania* parasites and their host antigen presenting cells is crucial to the understanding of the generation of protective immune responses to *Leishmania* infection.

1.4.3.1 Up-take of Leishmania by Macrophages

The receptors engaged by *Leishmania* promastigotes and amastigotes upon entry into host cells will have important consequences for their ability to avoid activation of these cells. Internalisation via different receptors will also determine the intracellular compartments in which the parasites initially reside, and therefore, access of the host processing and presentation machinery to *Leishmania* proteins.

Promastigotes and amastigotes at the site of infection will be exposed to serum proteins, including Complement components and Ig. Binding of antibodies and Complement components to invading microbes targets them for phagocytosis by mononuclear phagocytes via FcR and Complement Receptors (CR) respectively. The Complement system, which comprises a group of serum proteins that respond to infection via a system of enzymatic cascades, is composed of two converging pathways: the classical pathway is initiated by binding of complement proteins to antigen-antibody complexes; while the alternative pathway is initiated by microbial stimuli, without the need for specific antibodies. A third pathway, the lectin pathway is triggered on binding of the mannose-binding protein to mannose-containing components on the surface of pathogens (Parham 2000). The classical and alternative pathways both result in the proteolysis of a protein, C3 to C3b or iC3b by either the classical pathway or alternative pathway C3 convertase complex respectively. C3b coated molecules bind to Complement Receptor (CR)1, while iC3b binds to CR3. Binding of C3 proteolysis products to C3 convertase changes it to a C5 convertase which catalyses cleavage of C5 to C5b, this in turn triggers formation of a structure known as the membrane attack complex (MAC) by the soluble Complement components C5b to C9. The presence of the MAC on the surface of cells causes their lysis by osmosis through the formation of pores in the plasma membrane (Parham 2000). The consequence of Complement fixation on Leishmania infection is discussed below.

1.4.3.1.1 Uptake of Leishmania Promastigotes by Macrophages

The surface of *Leishmania* promastigotes is dominated by two molecules: lipophosphoglycan (LPG) and the metalloprotease gp63. *Leishmania* promastigotes bind

to mannose receptors (Blackwell 1985; Blackwell *et al.* 1985), and fibronectin receptors (Brittingham *et al.* 1999). However, uptake primarily occurs on binding to the Complement receptors CR1 and CR3 (Mosser and Edelson 1985; Da Silva *et al.* 1989; Mosser *et al.* 1992).

Promastigotes were originally thought to interact with components of the alternative Complement pathway since L. major promastigotes were shown to be bound predominantly by C3, which was then rapidly converted to iC3b (Mosser and Edelson 1985), probably due to the proteolytic activity of gp63 (Brittingham et al. 1995). A number of groups have documented the inhibition of uptake of L. major, L. donovani and L. mexicana promastigotes in the presence of anti-CR3 antibodies (Blackwell et al. 1985; Mosser and Edelson 1985; Talamas-Rohana et al. 1990; Mosser et al. 1992). In particular, Blackwell and colleagues (Blackwell et al. 1985) reported eighty percent inhibition of uptake of L. donovani promastigotes in the presence of anti-CR3 antibodies indicating that CR3 might play a dominant role in mediating their internalisation. Subsequent studies showed, however, that L. major promastigotes were also coated with C3b, a component of the classical pathway which mediates binding to CR1 (Puentes et al. 1988). Sub-division of the promastigote population into non-infective (peanut agglutinin (PNA) positive) log phase parasites and infective (PNA⁻) metacyclic parasites demonstrated that it was infective metacyclic parasites which predominantly bound C3b, and that LPG appeared to be the acceptor for C3b molecules (Puentes et al. 1988). Procyclic parasites also fixed C3, which was, however, released on cleavage to iC3b. Thus, the different developmental stages of L. major promastigotes appear to bind different components of the Complement pathways, such that procyclic promastigotes interact with the alternative pathway while infective metacyclics interact with the classical pathway. Since different CR will mediate uptake of different forms of parasites, this might result in differential activation of host M Φ Leishmanicidal mechanisms. However, uptake by neither the C3b receptor nor the iC3b receptor induced the release of toxic oxygen from human cells (Wright and Silverstein 1983). Transformation of procyclics to metacyclics results in a thickening of the LPG glycocalyx (see Chaper 6, section 6.3). This transformation was associated with the shedding of membrane attack

complex components C5b-C9 from the surface of the parasites (Puentes *et al.* 1990), which supports data showing that infective, metacylic, promastigotes are more resistant to complement-mediated lysis than non-infective forms (Puentes *et al.* 1988). Therefore, *L. major* promastigotes have evolved so that the infective form of the parasite avoids Complement-mediated lysis, but can utilise binding by Complement components to facilitate their uptake by $M\Phi$.

Leishmania promastigotes of all species bind directly to M Φ (Mosser 1994). Uptake of L. major promastigotes by M Φ in the absence of serum was blocked by anti-CR3 antibodies (Blackwell et al. 1985; Mosser and Edelson 1985). However, promastigotes incubated with M Φ acquired low amounts of M Φ -derived C3 on their surface, which may mediate this interaction (Wozencraft et al. 1986). Furthermore, Mosser and colleagues were unable to detect binding of L. major, L. donovani, or L. mexicana promastigotes to Mac-1 (CR3)-coated plates when incubated in serum depleted of C3 (Mosser et al. 1992). Gp63- or LPG-coated beads were taken up by M Φ and this could also be blocked by anti-CR3 antibodies (Russell and Wright 1988; Talamas-Rohana et al. 1990). Gp63 contains an RGD-like motif (Button and McMaster 1988; Miller et al. 1990) which is similar to that which mediates binding of iC3b to CR3 (Russell and Wright 1988), suggesting that a direct interaction could occur between gp63 and CR3. Uptake of L. major promastigotes was only inhibited by fifty percent on incubation of the M Φ cell line J774 with anti-gp63 F(ab)' fragments (Russell and Wilhelm 1986), however, and L. amazonensis promastigotes expressing a mutated form of the motif could bind M Φ as well as wild type parasites, indicating that other M Φ binding sites are also employed by the parasites (Brittingham et al. 1999).

The uptake of *Leishmania* promastigotes by $M\Phi$ is likely to involve multiple receptors. Sheep erythrocytes opsonised with Complement bound to $M\Phi$, but were not phagocytosed, but cross-linking of gp63 to opsonised sheep erythrocytes led to an increase in the efficiency of binding and internalisation by $M\Phi$ (Brittingham *et al.* 1999). This suggests that receptors such as the fibronectin receptor (which binds to gp63) may work in conjunction with Complement receptors to mediate internalisation of Complement-bound parasites.

1.4.3.1.2 Uptake of Amastigotes by Macrophages

In comparison to promastigotes, the amastigote surface is much less well defined, and is dominated by a small GPI-anchored glycolipid, EpiM3 (Winter et al. 1994). L. amazonensis amastigotes have some capacity for interacting directly with host cells via heparin-binding to cell surface heparin sulphate proteoglycans (Love et al. 1993) probably via a number of low affinity interactions with the M Φ glycocalyx (Peters *et al.* 1995). This may account for the ability of amastigotes to bind to a wide range of adherent cells, while promastigotes, which do not have this heparin-binding activity, are more restricted in the cells to which they adhere (Mosser 1994). L. major and L. mexicana amastigotes did not bind mannose receptors (Guy and Belosevic 1993; Peters et al. 1995), and neither in vitro cultured amastigotes, nor amastigotes isolated from SCID mice bound CR3 or FcR efficiently, indicating that the parasites do not bind these receptors in the absence of antibodies (Guy and Belosevic 1993; Peters et al. 1995). BALB/c-derived amastigotes are coated with Ig and C3, which mediates their uptake by FcR and CR3 respectively (Guy and Belosevic 1993). However, immunofluorescence analysis of lesion sections revealed that, in vivo, free L. mexicana amastigotes are bound by mouse IgG but are not coated with Complement (Peters et al. 1995). Mice lacking Ig, or the common γ chain of Fc receptors, were refractory to infection with L. mexicana, supporting the role for antibody binding of amastigotes and their consequent uptake by FcR during infection (Kima et al. 2000). Evidence that this was due to amastigotespecific antibodies came from experiments showing that large lesions developed in B cell-deficient mice that had been injected with serum from infected mice, or mice immunised with amastigote membrane components, but not in mice which had been given non-immune serum (Peters et al. 1995; Kima et al. 2000). Amastigotes must also bind receptors other than the FcR for their uptake, however, since amastigotes from SCID and B cell-deficient, mice are still internalised by M Φ (Guy and Belosevic 1993; Peters et al. 1995). A role has been proposed for L. major amastigote LPG in mediating binding to M Φ in a CR1- and CR3-independent manner (Kelleher et al. 1995). This was

via the phosphorylated oligosaccharide repeat region of *L. major* LPG and may be mediated by a lectin-like receptor (Kelleher *et al.* 1995).

1.4.3.2 Infection of Macrophages by Leishmania

Leishmania-infected M Φ play two important roles in determining the outcome of infection: first infected M Φ must be activated to kill intracellular parasites via the expression of microbicidal molecules in order to limit parasite numbers and ultimately to control the infection; second infected M Φ , or M Φ that have engulfed dead parasites, must present parasite-derived antigens to activated T cells at the site of infection. Survival of the parasites, however, will depend on their ability to interfere with both of these processes.

1.4.3.2.1 Inhibition of Activation of Leishmania-Infected Macrophages

Cytokine-activated M Φ are the principal Leishmanicidal cells; M Φ express inducible Nitric Oxide Synthase (iNOS) which produces NO from L-arginine. NO reacts with oxygen radicals to form toxic products that kill intracellular *Leishmania* (Green *et al.* 1990), and mice lacking iNOS are unable to control infection with *L. major* (Wei *et al.* 1995). M Φ production of IL-12 is also required for the development of IFN γ -producing Th1 cells that will in turn activate killing of *Leishmania* by infected M Φ . M Φ are not, however, activated simply by uptake of *Leishmania* parasites and low numbers of parasites persist in the LN and at the site of infection in an immune host (Aebischer *et al.* 1993; Schubach *et al.* 1998)

NO production is not triggered upon infection of M Φ by Leishmania, unless they are activated by an additional stimulus (Reiner *et al.* 1994; Carrera *et al.* 1996; Weinheber *et al.* 1998); and infection of M Φ by neither *L. major* promastigotes (Reiner *et al.* 1994; Carrera *et al.* 1996) nor *L. mexicana* amastigotes (Weinheber *et al.* 1998) induced production of IL-12. Indeed, infection with *L. mexicana* amastigotes and *L. major* metacyclic promastigotes suppressed production of IL-12 by M Φ (Belkaid *et al.* 1998; Weinheber *et al.* 1998). This inhibition of IL-12 is highly, selective since TNF α is secreted by infected M Φ upon activation *in vitro* (Carrera *et al.* 1996; Belkaid *et al.*

1998) and by infected M Φ in vivo (Gorak et al. 1998). The mechanisms leading to suppression of IL-12 production are not clear but may be related to receptor ligation on entry of Leishmania sp. into M Φ ; ligation of FcyR or CR by erythrocytes opsonised with IgG or Complement respectively did not induce production of IL-12p40 and suppressed activation of M Φ by LPS (Sutterwala et al. 1997). Suppression of L. mexicana amastigote-infected M Φ was, however, independent of engagement of CR3 or FcyR (Weinheber et al. 1998), and phagocytosis of latex beads also resulted in inhibition of IL-12 production by M Φ in this study, indicating that this phenomenon is not specific to uptake of L. mexicana amastigotes (Weinheber et al. 1998). By comparison, IL-10 was produced upon ligation of FcR by lesion-derived, but not in vitro-derived axenic L. major amastigotes (Kane and Mosser 2001). Inhibition of IL-12 on ligation of the FcyR was shown to be due to specific suppression of the IL-12 p35 and p40 genes (Sutterwala et al. 1997). However, inhibition of IL-12 on infection of M Φ with Leishmania is controlled both at the transcriptional (Carrera et al. 1996; Piedrafita et al. 1999) and post-transcriptional (Weinheber et al. 1998) levels. The molecular interactions which result in the specific suppression of IL-12 thus remain unclear. However, purified LPG was shown to inhibit IL-12 production in the absence of infection (Piedrafita et al. 1999).

1.4.3.2.2 Stimulation of Primed T Cells by *Leishmania*-Infected Macrophages

A number of studies have shown that the kinetics of presentation of parasite antigens to $CD4^+$ T cells are impaired in M Φ infected with different *Leishmania* species (Wolfram *et al.* 1995; Kima *et al.* 1996; Prina *et al.* 1996), and that this deficiency extended to the processing of exogenously supplied antigens (Fruth *et al.* 1993; Prina *et al.* 1993). However, inefficient presentation of exogenous antigens could be overcome by increasing antigen concentration (Prina *et al.* 1993) and by using peptide antigens (Fruth *et al.* 1993), suggesting defects in loading of MHC II and processing of parasite proteins respectively. Presentation of endogenous parasite antigens can be enhanced by killing the parasites within M Φ (Wolfram *et al.* 1995), showing that compartmentalisation of proteins within the parasites plays an important role in the inefficient processing and
presentation of Leishmania antigens by infected M Φ . M Φ infected with L. major and L. donovani promastigotes transfected with an episomal vector, pX, carrying the ovalbumin and *lacZ* genes efficiently stimulated OVA- or β -galactosidase-specific T cells, respectively, in vitro (Kaye et al. 1993). Likewise, L. mexicana promastigotes overexpressing an endogenous protein, the membrane-bound acid phosphatase, also stimulated an efficient T cell response in vitro (Wolfram et al. 1996). Collectively, these studies showed that parasite-derived antigens localised to the PV could be processed and presented to T cells in the context of MHC II. Thus, there is no functional defect in MHC II presentation pathways in infected cells, and vesicular flow can occur from the PV to the plasma membrane. Promastigote-infected M Φ could stimulate T cells specific for the intracellular protein, LACK, but this ability was lost 48 hours post-infection, and amastigote-infected cells were never able to activate LACK-specific T cells (Prina et al. 1996). Furthermore, when promastigotes were sub-divided into procyclic and metacylic forms only the procyclic parasites could activate LACK-specific T cells (Courret et al. 1999). This indicates that the infective forms of the parasite have evolved so that immuogenic molecules are not easily accessible to the host processing and presentation machinery.

Infection of M Φ by *L. donovani* did not lead to up-regulation of the co-stimulatory molecule B7-1, and these cells were unresponsive to activation with LPS. Thus, rather than avoiding presentation to T cells, infected M Φ could also promote anergy of parasite-specific T cells by providing signal 1 in the absence of signal 2 (Kaye *et al.* 1994).

1.4.3.2.3 MHC II Loading Compartments in *Leishmania*-Infected Macrophages

Processing of *Leishmania* antigens in infected cells will require convergence of the PV with the endosomal pathway. PV are late endosomal/early lysosomal, LAMP-1⁺ compartments (Russell *et al.* 1992; Antoine *et al.* 1998), which share similarities to MIIC: they contain the host proteases Cathepsins B, D, H and L (Prina *et al.* 1990); MHC II but not MHC I molecules (Antoine *et al.* 1991; Lang *et al.* 1994); and the

loading catalyst, H2-M (Antoine et al. 1999). Therefore, PV are potential sites for processing and loading of Leishmania antigens onto MHC II molecules. Biosynthesis and steady-state levels of MHC II are unaltered by infection, (Antoine et al. 1991; Lang et al. 1994) although immunohistochemical studies have documented the redistribution of MHC II molecules to the limiting membrane of the PV in IFNy-activated M Φ (Antoine et al. 1991; Lang et al. 1994; De Souza Leao et al. 1995). MHC II molecules in the PV tend to be concentrated at the point at which amastigotes bind to the membrane, a phenomenon known as "capping" (Antoine et al. 1991; De Souza Leao et al. 1995). Parasites attach to this point at the site of the megasome, a lysosome-like organelle at the posterior pole of the parasite that contains abundant cysteine proteases. Treatment of infected M Φ with protease inhibitors resulted in an increase in PV-associated MHC II, Ii and amastigote-associated MHC II molecules (De Souza Leao et al. 1995). Parasites in infected cells were also shown to co-localise with MHC II and H2-M by confocal microscopy (Antoine et al. 1999; Courret et al. 2001). These observations suggest that Leishmania parasites interact with components of the host processing and presentation machinery in the PV of infected cells. Whether this is due to active mechanism on the part of the parasite, however, remains open to debate.

Parasite antigen-MHC II complexes have never been visualised in infected cells. Thus, it is not know whether parasite antigens complex with MHC II molecules in the PV, for subsequent transport directly to the cell surface, or whether *Leishmania* antigens are transported out of the PV to meet MHC II molecules at a different point along the endosomal pathway. The observation of Wolfram and colleagues (Wolfram *et al.* 1996) that degradation of intracellular parasites, or over-expression of a membrane-bound or secreted antigen, is sufficient to restore efficient presentation of *Leishmania* antigens to T cells strongly implies that the lack of presentation reflects inaccessibility of parasite-derived antigens, rather than an active block on the part of the parasite. In this case, colocalisation, and the implied sequestration, of MHC II molecules with *Leishmania* parasites would not necessarily represent an active mechanism on the part of the parasite to prevent presentation of parasite-derived antigens to CD4⁺ T cells, but would simply

reflect non-specific transport of nutrients into the PV via the endocytic pathway, and general degradation of proteins in late endosomes/early lysosomes.

1.4.4 The Interaction Between DC and Leishmania Parasites

The requirement for DC to stimulate a primary T cell response, and the relatively poor presentation of parasite antigens by infected M Φ , has lead to the proposition that infected DC are responsible for initiating the anti-Leishmania T cell response. Moll et al demonstrated internalisation of L. major promastigotes by LC in the epidermis of the skin (Moll et al. 1993), and showed that LC incubated with promastigotes or amastigotes could stimulate T cells from infected mice (Will et al. 1992). Infection of mice with L. major promastigotes led to the loss of LC in the epidermis overlying the site of infection, (Blank et al. 1993) and the migration of fluorescently-labelled amastigoteinfected epidermal cells from the skin to the LN was observed (Moll et al. 1993). Parasite-primed T cells were specifically stimulated in vitro by NLDC 145⁺ cells from these LN, i.e. DC (Moll et al. 1993). Leishmania-infected LC are also found in the epidermis, dermis and draining LN of infected humans (ElHassan et al. 1995). Therefore it was proposed that DC are infected in the skin and migrate to the draining LN where they prime the primary anti-Leishmania T cell response (Moll et al. 1993). The DC:Leishmania interaction has not, however, been well characterised and initial studies have produced conflicting data on whether uptake of *Leishmania* parasites activated DC, possibly reflecting differences in the species of parasite used and the population of DC infected. Infection of LC with L. major parasites, or lysates, prevented the downregulation in MHC II biosynthesis normally seen after LC culture in vitro (Flohe et al. 1997), indicating suppression of maturation of these cells. However this observation may be a general phenomenon related to non-specific phagocytosis (Scheicher et al. 1995). Uptake of lesion-derived L. major amastigotes, but not promastigotes, by foetal skin-derived DC induced the up-regulation of MHC II, CD40, CD54, CD86 and TNFa. IL-12 p40 was induced upon infection with these amastigotes but the bioactive p70 heterodimer could only be detected when cultures were co-stimulated with IFN γ or CD40L (von Stebut *et al.* 1998; von Stebut *et al.* 2000). Infection of foetal skin-derived DC with *L. major* amastigotes down-regulated E-cadherin expression, which is associated with migration of LC out of the epidermis *in vivo* (Tang *et al.* 1993; von Stebut *et al.* 1998). In agreement with these studies, Konecny *et al* (Konecny *et al.* 1999) showed that uptake of *L. major* promastigotes by splenic DC did not affect surface expression levels of any of the activation markers tested. By comparison, uptake of both *L. amazonensis* promastigotes and amastigotes activated bone marrow-derived DC (Qi *et al.* 2001). Marovich *et al.* (Marovich *et al.* 2000) used the promastigote surface molecule, LPG, to shown selective activation of infected cells, however, staining for the presence of LPG would not have distinguished between DC which had taken up live, intact or degraded parasites. CD11c⁺ splenic DC were induced to produce IL-12 p40 upon infection with *L. major* promastigotes (Konecny *et al.* 1999), and, in agreement with the need for synergy between a microbial stimulus and CD40 ligation to induce optimal levels of IL-12 p70 upon ligation of CD40 (Marovich *et al.* 2000).

DC infected with *Leishmania* parasites *in vitro* can clearly be used to generate a primary T cell response in mice. Vaccination of BALB/c mice with LC incubated with *L. major* promastigote lysate, but not with lysate alone, immunised mice against challenge with live parasites. This was associated with decreased footpad swelling and a bias towards a healing Th1 response (Flohe *et al.* 1998). Secondary challenge of healed, immunised mice with *L. major* promastigotes resulted in more rapid healing, indicating that a memory repsonse had been established. Likewise, injection of *L. major* amastigote-infected BALB/c-derived DC into syngeic mice resulted in an enhanced ability to resolve the infection (von Stebut *et al.* 2000). These studies do not, however, address the interaction between DC and *Leishmania* during the course of a natural infection.

In vivo, parasites and parasite-derived material were detected in the LN (Moll *et al.* 1993) and spleen (Gorak *et al.* 1998) of infected mice. IL-12 p40 was detected by immunohistochemistry in DC on sections of spleens from *L. donovani*-infected mice one day after infection (Gorak *et al.* 1998), although it was impossible to confirm whether

IL-12 was specific to cells containing whole amastigotes. This expression was transient and was down-regulated three days post-infection.

DC from BALB/c or C57BL/6 and C3H/HeJ mice showed no difference in their ability to ingest *L. major* or *L. amazonensis* parasites, and were equivalent in the upregulation of surface DC activation markers upon infection with lesion-derived amastigotes (von Stebut *et al.* 2000; Qi *et al.* 2001). However, BALB/c DC infected with *L. amazonensis* amastigotes secreted significantly more IL-4 than C3H/HeJ DC *in vitro*, and transfer of amastigote-infected BALB/c-derived DC into non-infected BALB/c recipients induced production of IL-4 from cells of the draining LN when restimulated with parasite lysate. This was not seen when C3H/HeJ DC or BALB/c IL-4^{-/-} DC were infected and adoptively transferred. IFN γ was not induced in the LN of recipient mice. These data imply that infection of BALB/c DC with *L. amazonensis* amastigotes activates them such that they are polarised to stimulate a Th2 response *in vivo*. This study did not, however, distinguish between the effect of the activated DC, and the effect of the presence of *Leishmania* parasites in the recipient mice (Qi *et al.* 2001).

Thus, DC are clearly infected by *Leishmania* parasites *in vivo* and DC can efficiently stimulate the anti-parasite T cell response. However, whether the cells that initiate this response contain live, intact parasites and whether infection of DC by *Leishmania* at the site of infection is sufficient to activate this response remains unclear. Evidence from other systems that DC polarise the effector Th response (section 1.2.5) and the data from (Qi *et al.* 2001) suggest that uptake of *Leishmania* parasites by DC from susceptible and resistant strains of mice may play an important role in polarisation of the subsequent T cell response. However, further experiments are required to determine the ability of *Leishmania*-infected DC to polarise Th1 versus Th2 responses, and also whether receipt of *L. mexciana*-encoded or *L. major*-encoded signals by DC may explain the differential ability to C57BL/6 mice to control infection with these parasites.

1.4.5 Summary II: The Significance of Infection of APC by *Leishmania* to the Development of an Anti-*Leishmania* Immune Response

The expansion of parasite-specific IFN γ -secreting Th1 cells is critical for the ability of an infected host to resolve infection with *Leishmania* (Figure 1.5). *Leishmania* parasites reside within the cells that are ultimately responsible for their clearance, however, activation of infected cells depends on IFN γ secretion by Th1 CD4⁺ T cells and evolutionary pressure will select parasites that minimise antigen presentation by infected cells.

Phagocytosis of opsonised particles in the absence of other exogenous stimuli does not result in the activation of M Φ , thus triggering of the activation of immune cells on uptake of cell debris in the absence of an infection or trauma is avoided. Leishmania promastigotes have apparently exploited this mechanism by using the same receptors to mediate their entry into host M Φ . It has recently been demonstrated, furthermore, that amastigotes bind phosphatidylserine (PS) which is normally displayed by apoptotic cells. Recognition of this molecule by M Φ induces transforming growth factor (TGF)- β and IL-10 production, resulting in the entry of amastigotes into cells without induction of an inflammatory response (de Freitas Balanco et al. 2001). Thus, infected M Φ are not stimulated by infection with Leishmania and become refractory to stimulation by exogenous stimuli. Lack of activation of Leishmanicidal activities on uptake of Leishmania parasites allows a delay in the initiation of the anti-parasite T cell response. During this time promastigotes will transform into amastigotes, which are better adapted for intracellular survival and display fewer potential antigens on their surface. The paucity of Leishmania-derived T cell antigens that are accessible to the host processing and presentation pathway apparently represents an additional strategy evolved by the parasites to avoid activating a deleterious T cell response.

DC containing *Leishmania* parasites have been shown to produce IL-12 *in vivo*. This will polarise the development of Th1 cells upon presentation of *Leishmania* antigens by DC to naïve T cells in the LN. IFN γ production by activated Th1 cells will activate destruction of intracellular parasites by M Φ , and will up-regulate surface expression of peptide-MHC II molecules, thus facilitating the interaction with activated Th1 cells, and augmenting the response. Degradation of intracellular parasites will result in an increase the pool of accessible antigens that can be presented by MHC II molecules (Overath and Aebischer 1999).

1.5 Aims and Experimental Approach

DC are critically important for the initiation of the primary T cell response against foreign organisms. Recognition of conserved determinants on the surface of pathogens results in the activation of DC to a mature form that expresses high levels of costimulatory molecules and other surface molecules necessary for the interaction with naïve T cells. Peptide fragments from phagocytosed organisms, which were taken up at the site of infection, are displayed on the surface of these DC in the context of MHC II molecules. It is clear from the literature that DC internalise *Leishmania* parasites at the site of infection, and that DC prime parasite-specific T cells in the draining LN of infected mice. The data reported in the literature, however, do not demonstrate whether uptake of the parasites *per se* is sufficient to activate immature DC, that is, whether *Leishmania* parasites express PAMP on their surface. Furthermore, it is not known whether the primary anti-*Leishmania* T cell response is primed by DC presenting antigens generated from intracellular parasites.

The aim of this thesis was to address the hypothesis that infection of DC by *Leishmania* parasites is sufficient to activate the primary anti-parasite T cell response. This hypothesis was addressed through two aims: first to develop an experimental model to investigate the fate of *Leishmania* antigens in infected cells; second to examine the *Leishmania*:DC interaction *per se* in a defined *in vitro* model.

Chapter three addresses the first aim and describes the development of a model system with which to follow the fate of *Leishmania*-derived antigens in infected DC. In this experimental model the MHC II-restricted T cell epitope MCC is transgenically expressed by *L. mexicana* parasites. A complex-specific mAb, or MCC-specific T cells, were used to detect the formation of MHC II-MCC complexes in infected cells. This chapter addresses the problems encountered in establishing this experimental model. Chapters four, five and six address the second aim. Chapter four describes the use of an experimental model in which *in vitro*-cultured *L. mexicana* parasites are incubated with bone marrow-derived DC. The effect of uptake of the parasites on the maturation status of the DC is examined. In chapter five the interaction between *L. mexicana* parasites and a splenic DC culture is investigated. The use of this DC culture allowed the effect of long-term infection of DC by *L. mexicana* parasites to be investigated. Finally, chapter six describes the use of this *in vitro* model to identify *L. mexicana* LPG as a putative *Leishmania* PAMP.

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

Unless otherwise stated, analytical grade chemicals were obtained from either Sigma or BDH Laboratory supplies (Merck Ltd.). Analytical grade agarose was supplied by Biowhittaker Molecular Applications. All bacterial media components were supplied by DIFCO laboratories. Synthetic oligonucleotides were synthesised by OSWEL DNA service (University of Southampton, U.K.). Radioisotopes were supplied by Amersham International plc (Little Chafont, U.K.). All tissue culture media were bought from Sigma or GibcoBRL.

2 x Semi-defined medium (SDM) (all components from GibcoBRL or Sigma)

Components	Amount for 10L
Minimum essential medium (S-MEM) powder	140g
(with Earle's salt, L-glutamine, without sodium carbonate)	
M199 medium powder	40g
(with Hank's solution, L-glutamine, without sodium carbonate)	
MEM essential amino acids	160ml
MEM non essential amino acids	120ml
Glucose	20g
Hepes buffer	160g
Mops buffer	100g
NaHC03	40g
Sodium pyruvate	2g
L-alanine	4g
L-glutamine	6g
L-arginine	2g
L-methionine	1.4g
L-phenylalanine	1.6g
L-proline	1.2g
L-serine	1.2g

L-taurine	3.2g
L-threonine	7g
L-tyrosine	2g
Adenosine	0.2g
Guanosine	0.2g
Glucosamine-HCl	1g
Folic acid	0.08g
p-aminobenzoic acid	0.04g
Biotin	0.004g

The medium was made without NaHCO₃, the pH adjusted to 7.0, then NaHCO₃ added and the pH corrected to 7.3. Medium was filter sterilsed and stored at -20° C. For use 2 x SDM was diluted to 1 x with sterile H₂O.

2.1 Molecular Biology Methods

General molecular biology techniques and the preparation of standard solutions was carried out according to (Sambrook *et al.* 1989) unless otherwise stated. Restriction digests were performed as recommended by the suppliers (New England Biolabs and Roche). Digestion products were routinely analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis with gels cast and run in 1 x TAE buffer at an appropriate concentration containing 0.5μ g/ml ethidium bromide. 0.5μ g of 1kb DNA ladder (GibcoBRL) was loaded on each gel as a size standard.

2.1.1 General Cloning Techniques

DNA fragments were routinely subcloned by restriction enzyme digestion and cloning into plasmids. Taq polymerase PCR products (which often have a deoxyadenosine added to the end) were subcloned using the TOPO TA Cloning[®] kit (Invitrogen), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.1.1.1 Gel purification of DNA

Restriction fragments for subcloning, plasmid vectors and PCR products were purified as follows. DNA fragments were run on 0.8% agarose gels until suitable separation had occurred to isolate single bands. Bands of interest were excised from the gel slice using the Geneclean[®] kit (Bio 101 inc., U.S.A.), according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.1.1.2 Modification of Enzyme Sites with the Klenow Fragment

Restriction enzyme sites with cohesive ends were ablated when necessary using the Klenow fragment. DNA was digested and incubated with 1U Klenow (NEB) per μ g DNA and 33 μ M dNTP in 1 x restriction enzyme buffer (NEB), for 15 minutes at 25°C. The enzyme was then heat inactivated at 75°C for 10 minutes. The digested DNA was then religated as a blunt end ligation.

2.1.1.3 Ligations

For ligations, plasmid vectors were digested and gel purifed. Restriction fragments were also gel purified. To prevent re-ligation of empty vectors, purified, linearised vectors were dephosphorylated by treatment with Shrimp Alkaline Phosphatase (SAP) (Amersham). The DNA was incubated with 1μ l (1 unit) of SAP in 1 x SAP buffer for 90 minutes at 37°C, then at 65°C for 15 minutes to inactivate the SAP.

Ligations were set up with 1:1 and 1:10 vector:insert ratio of molar ends with 1 μ l (1 unit) of T4 DNA ligase (Roche) and 2 μ l of 10 x ligase buffer (660mM Tris.HCL pH7.5; 50mM MgCl₂; 10mM ATP; Roche) to a final volume of 20 μ l. Cohesive end ligations were performed at room temperature for at least 1 hour, blunt end ligations were incubated overnight at 18°C. To determine the background level of vector re-ligation, a control reaction containing vector alone was also set up.

2.1.1.4 Transformations

Competent DH5 α bacteria were routinely used for chemical transformations. KCMcompetent bacteria were prepared as described by (Chung and Miller 1988). A single bacterial colony from a freshly streaked plate was used to innoculate 5mls Luria Broth (LB) culture media (1% w/v tryptone; 0.5% w/v yeast extract; 85mM NaCl) which was grown at 37°C overnight with shaking. The 5ml overnight culture was added to 500ml LB media and the culture grown to A_{600} =0.3-0.6 to ensure the cells were in log phase. The cell suspension was split between two tubes and centrifuged at 3000 rpm, in a Sorvall GSA rotor, for 10 minutes at 4°C. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1/20 volume ice cold, sterile LB pH6.1, supplemented with 10% PEG Mw 3350; 5% DMSO; 10mM MgCl₂; 10mM MgSO₄ and 10% glycerol, and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. Cells were dispensed into 100µl aliquots in pre-chilled eppendorf tubes and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage at -80°C.

10µl of the ligation reaction was mixed with 20µl 5 x KCM (0.5M KCl; 0.15M CaCl₂; 0.25M MgCl₂) in a final volume of 100µl, and chilled on ice. Frozen competent bacteria were thawed on ice. 100µl of cells were added to the KCM-ligation mix, incubated on ice for 20 minutes then transferred to room temperature for 10 minutes. 1ml of LB was added and the sample incubated at 37°C for at least 30 minutes. 0.1ml and 0.9ml were plated out onto LB agar plates (1.5% w/v agar in LB) with 50µg/ml ampicillin or 50µg/ml kanamycin.

2.1.1.5 Screening Transformants

Recombinant bacterial colonies were screened for presence of inserts by plasmid DNA preparation (section 2.1.2.1) and subsequent restriction enzyme analysis, or by amplifying PCR products directly from picked colonies (section 2.1.7.1).

2.1.2 Isolation of Nucleic Acids

2.1.2.1 Plasmid Preparation

Plasmid isolation was either performed using Qiagen plasmid isolation kits (Qiagen) according to the manufacturers instructions, or by the following protocol taken from (Zhou *et al.* 1990)

A single colony was picked with a sterile yellow tip into 5mls of LB with the appropriate antibiotic and the culture incubated overnight at 37°C, with shaking. 1.5ml of overnight culture was centrifuged for 1 minute at 13 000 rpm (microfuge) to pellet the cells. The supernatant was tipped off and the pellet resuspended in the remaining 50-100µl by vortexing. 300µl TENS (10mM Tris.HCl pH8.0; 1mM EDTA pH8.0; 100mM NaOH; 0.5% SDS) was added, the solution vortexed for 4 seconds and placed on ice. To this tube was added 150µl of 3M NaOAc pH 5.2 and the tube vortexed for 3 seconds and put on ice again. Samples were then centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatant was transferred to a fresh tube and the samples spun again to precipitate all particles. The supernatant from the second spin was transferred to fresh tubes and mixed with 900µl 100% ethanol (stored at -20° C). The DNA was pelleted by centrifugation at 13 000 rpm for 15 minutes. The DNA pellet was washed in 70% ethanol, air-dried and resuspended in 40µl of H₂O. DNA concentration was determined by absorbance at 260nm.

DNA prepared this way was of sufficient quality for diagnostic digest analysis. If DNA was to be used for sequencing reactions (section 2.1.6) it was prepared using Qiagen miniprep kits. For all midi and maxi preps DNA was prepared using Qiagen plasmid purification kits.

2.1.2.2 Isolation of Leishmania Genomic DNA

1ml of parasite culture was pelleted at 6000 rpm for 10 minutes. The cells were resuspended in 450µl P1 buffer (Qiagen: 50mM Tris-HCl, pH8.0; 10mM EDTA, 100µg/ml Rnase A) and 50µl 10% SDS, and incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes. 2µl of a stock solution of Proteinase K (20mg/ml; Sigma) was then added and the tubes incubated at 55°C for at least 3 hours. The DNA was purified by sequential extraction with 500µl (1 volume) phenol, 500µl 1:1 phenol/chlorofom and 500µl chloroform. The DNA was precipitated with 0.1 volumes 3M NaOAc and 2.5 volumes 100% ethanol, and resuspended in 20-30µl sterile H₂O.

2.1.2.3 Isolation of RNA

Total RNA was isolated from promastigotes using Trizol[®] reagent (Gibco). Approximately 1×10^7 parasites were pelleted at 6000 rpm for 10 minutes. The pellet was resuspended in 1ml Trizol and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature to allow complete lysis of the cells. RNA was isolated by adding 200µl chloroform, shaking for 15 seconds followed by centrifugation at 13 000 rpm for 15 minutes. The aqueous phase was transferred to a fresh tube and RNA was precipitated by addition of 500µl isopropanol. After incubation for 10 minutes at room temperature the samples were centrifuged at 13 000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The RNA pellet was washed in 1ml 75% ethanol, air-dried and resuspended in 20µl RNase-free H₂O (Qiagen). The RNA concentration was determined by absorbance at 260nm. Samples were stored at $-80^{\circ}C$.

2.1.3 Northern Blotting

 $5\mu g$ total *Leishmania* RNA was separated on a denaturing formaldehyde gel as follows. 0.8g of agarose were dissolved in 77ml H₂O and boiled. The solution was allowed to cool slightly and 10ml 10 x MOPS (200mM MOPS; 50mM NaOAc; 10mM EDTA; pH 7.0) and 5.1 ml 37% formaldehyde were added to make a 0.8% agarose gel. The required volume of RNA was made up to 5μ l with RNase-free H₂O and mixed with 25 μ l sample buffer (50% formamide; 2.2M formaldehyde; 1 x MOPS; 5% glycerol; 5% 2.5% bromophenol blue) and 0.125 μ l ethidium bromide (10mg/ml). Samples were loaded onto the gel and electrophoresis performed at 80V in 1 x MOPS.

The gel was washed in 0.1% DEPC-treated H_2O and photographed. A piece of Hybond N^+ nylon membrane (Amersham) was cut to the size of the gel, and a capillary blot was set up and left overnight according to the Hybond manufacturers instructions. The membrane was removed after blotting, rinsed in H_2O and baked at 80°C for 30 minutes.

2.1.4 Radio-labelling Probes

DNA PCR products were radiolabelled by random priming (Sambrook *et al.* 1989). PCR products were gel purified (section 2.1.1.1) and the concentration determined by absorbance at 260nm. Random priming was performed using High Prime (Roche) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

25ng of DNA was adjusted to a final volume of 11µl with H₂0 and denatured by boiling for 10 minutes and chilling on ice. On ice, 4µl High Prime (containing 1U/ml Klenow polymerase; 0.125mM dATP; 0.125mM dGTP; 0.125mM dTTP) and 5µl (50µCi) $[\alpha^{32}P]dCTP$ were added to the DNA and the reaction incubated at 37°C for 10 minutes. The reaction was stopped by adding 2µl 0.2M EDTA (pH 8.0). Unincorporated nucleotides were removed by centrifugation of the reaction through a G-50 sephadex column at 2000 rpm (microfuge) for 2 minutes. Prior to hybridisation the probe was denatured at 100°C for 10 minutes, snap cooled on ice and added directly to the hybridisation mix.

2.1.5 Hybridisation Conditions

All hybridisations and washes were performed in Techne hybridisation bottles rotating in a Techne HB-1 oven using 20ml hybridisation buffer per filter. Prehybridisation, hybridisation and washes were all carried out at 65°C.

Filters were prehybridised for at least 15 minutes in Rapid-hyb buffer (Amersham). Denatured radiolabelled probe was added to the same hybridisation buffer for 2.5 hours. Following hybridisation, filters were washed briefly with 2 x SSC; 0.1%SDS at room temperature followed by 2 x 20 minute washes with the same wash solution and 2 x 20 minute washes with 1 x SSC; 0.1% SDS, all at 65°C. After washing, filters were rinsed in H₂O, wrapped in Saran Wrap and exposed to autoradiographic film at -70° C for the appropriate length of time (1-7 days) for a signal to appear.

2.1.6 DNA sequencing

The manipulation of raw sequence data was performed using Genejockey II for Macintosh.

2.1.6.1 Automated Cycle Sequencing

Automated cycle sequencing was performed using the Perkin-Elmer Taq DyeDeoxy Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit (Applied Biosystems). The cycle sequencing reaction is a modification of the dideoxy-termination method of (Sanger *et al.* 1977). The four 2',3'-dideoxynucleoside 5'triphosphates (ddNTP) are covalently linked to different fluorescent dyes allowing the sequencing reaction to be carried out in a single tube.

Plasmid DNA was prepared using a Qiagen miniprep kit. The DyeDeoxy terminator cycle sequencing reactions were carried out according to the manufacturers instructions. To conserve reagents, half the amounts were used (200-500ng plasmid DNA, 1.6pM primer (section 2.1.6.2), 4 μ l terminator ready reaction mix and sterile H₂O to 10 μ l volume). The reactions were subjected to 25 PCR cycles of 96°C for 30 seconds; 50°C for 20 seconds; 60°C for 4 minutes. The PCR products were precipitated with 1 μ l 3M NaOAc, pH 5.2 and 100% ethanol on ice for 20 minutes. The DNA pellet was washed in 70% ethanol, air-dried and resuspended in 4 μ l loading buffer (5mM EDTA pH8.0; 10mg/ml Blue dextran in deionised formamide). The sequencing reactions were denatured at 95°C for 2 minutes and 2 μ l run on a denaturing polyacrylamide gel (7M urea; 5% acrylamide (29:1 Biorad); 1 x TBE; 0.06% ammonium persulphate; 15ml TEMED per 50ml mix) in 1 x TBE on the ABI PRISM 377 DNA Sequencer. Sequencing gels were run by the CGR sequencing facility.

2.1.6.2 Sequencing Primers

For all constructs PCR primers used for the cloning strategies were also used in sequencing reactions. Additional sequencing primers were:

```
    a) GST-specific primers
    GST-int F': 5' GCGTGCAGAGATTTCAATGC 3'
    GST-int R': 5' GGATGGGTTACATGATCACC 3'
```

b) MBAP-specific primers
HA SEQ F': 5' CCTCTACCGGTGCGTGGTGGT 3'
1203F': 5' CCACCTGGCGAAACTGCTGGT 3'
1531R': 5' ACGTGTTGCCCGTCGCGTCC 3'
MBAP01 F': 5' GTGGTGTCGTGTGCACTGTACTCG 3'

```
c) Gp63-specific primers
Gp63-803F': 5' ACATCACGGAAGGCGTGACC 3'
Gp63-1462R': 5'ACAAGTTCCGACTCTCAGACG 3'
```

2.1.7 Polymerase Chain Reaction

All PCR reactions were carried in a GeneAmp 9700 thermal cycler (PE Applied Biosystems). dNTPs and Taq polymerase were supplied by Roche. PCR reactions to clone genes were performed using a proof-reading Taq polymerase, (ExpandTM; Roche) and a high concentration of template with a low number of cycles to reduce the frequency of Taq-induced mutations in the amplified product.

2.1.7.1 PCR to Screen Transformants

Single bacterial colonies were picked with a sterile yellow tip, then both mixed with 5μ l H₂O in a thin walled 0.2ml PCR tube and smeared on a gridded bacterial agar plate. 5μ l of a PCR mix was added containing 1µl forward primer (100ng/ml), 1 µl reverse primer (100ng/ml), 2µl 2mM dNTPs, 1 x PCR buffer (containing 50mM KCl, 2.5mM MgCl₂; Roche) and 0.1 units Taq. PCR reactions were performed using appropriate internal primers.

2.1.7.2 PCR on Genomic DNA

To 100ng genomic DNA was added 2μ l 10 x PCR buffer; 2μ l forward primer (100ng/ μ l); 2μ l reverse primer (100 μ l/ml); 2μ l 2mM dNTPs; 0.1units Taq and the volume adjusted to 20μ l with sterile H₂O.

The PCR conditions were:

GST-L (GST-int-XhoI F' and GST-int-XbaI; PromR' and GST-int R'): 95°C for 5 minutes followed by 30 cycles of 95°C 20s; 58°C 30s; 72°C 2 minutes; followed by 72°C 7 minutes.

CLB clones (CLB2: MCC1 F' and 1531R'; HA SEQ F' and MCC-Hind R'): 95°C for 5 minutes followed by 25 cycles of 95°C 30s; 58°C 30s; 72°C 1.5 minutes; followed by 72°C 7 minutes.

GP63 (gp63-XhoI F' and gp63-XbaI R'): 95°C for 2 minutes followed by 30 cycles of 95°C 30s; 58°C 20s; 72°C 2 minutes; followed by 72°C 7 minutes.

Integration PCR (Prom R' and SL-pX): 95°C for 5 minutes followed by 95°C 30s; 55°C 30s; 72°C 2 minutes; followed by 72°C 7 minutes.

Control PCR on promoter region (Prom R' and Prom F'): 95°C for 1 minute followed by 30 cycles of 95°C 30s; 58°C 30s; 72°C 30s; followed by 72°C 7 minutes.

PCR products were analysed directly on a 0.8% TAE agarose gel.

	5'	3'
GST-int XhoI-BsrGI F':	GGCTCGAGCCCTGTACATGTCCCCTATACTAGG	
GST-int Xbal R':	GGTCTAGATTCAGTCAGTCACGATGAATTCCC	
SL-Px R':	GCCTCTGAGCATCTCGAGGCTAGCCTCCAGGGC	
MCC-1 F':	GGGTGTACACCGCGAACGAGCGCGCGGACCTGATC TGAAGCAGGCGACGAAGCGGTACCGGG	GCGTACC
Hind-MCC R':	AGCTTGCCTTCGTCGCCTGCTTCAGGTACGCGATC CGCGCTCGTTCGCGTTAACGA	AGGTCCG
Gp63-Xbal R':	TCTAGATTCAGACGTCCTTGGCAGCTTTGACG	
PROM F':	TTGTGTGACAACGTGAGTCG	
PROM R':	CATGTTTTGTGTGTGCTGCC	

2.1.8 Generation of Constructs

2.1.8.1 MCC Peptide Sequences

The following MCC peptide sequences were used for the generation of MCC fusion proteins (Reay *et al.* 1994):

MCC(88-103): ANERADLIAYLKQATK

MCC(95-103): IAYLKQATK

For all MCC sequences the DNA sequence was corrected for optimal codon usage by *Leishmania* parasites according to (Langford *et al.* 1992).

2.1.8.2 GST-int-L

For the following cloning strategies, a slightly modified form of the pSSU-int vector was used (kindly provided by Martin Wiese, Tübingen); *hygromycin'* was replaced by *puromycin'*, and the *CPB 2.8* intergenic region was cloned downstream of the multiple cloning site (see Appendix A-a).

The cloning strategy for the generation of pSSU-GST-int-L is depicted in Figure 2.1. GST-int was amplified from pGEX-2T (GST-int) (Appendix A-a) using GST-int-Xho-BsrGI F' and GST-int-Xba R' primers (section 2.1.7.3) that were complementary to the start ATG and the TGA stop codon respectively. XhoI and BsrGI sites were included at the 5' end of the GST-int-Xho-BsrGI F' primer and an XbaI site was included at the 5' end of GST-int-Xba R', so that the amplified product would be flanked by these restriction sites. The PCR conditions were: 94°C 5 minutes; then 20 cycles of 94°C 20s; 60°C 30s; 72°C 10s; followed by 72°C 10 minutes. The amplified PCR product was sub-cloned into a TA cloning vector (pTA-GST-int).

The 91bp leader peptide sequence from the *L. mexicana* membrane-bound acid phosphatase (*mbap*) gene was cloned onto the N-terminus of GST-int, immediately upstream of the start ATG, using the XhoI and BsrGI sites that had been introduced by PCR. The leader peptide was digested from pTA-Modlap (see Figure 2.2) with XhoI and BsrGI, and the 91bp fragment separated on a 6% polyacrylamide gel. The resulting

Figure 2.1: Cloning Strategy for the Generation of GST-int-L



Ligate into pSSU-int-Im mkk to create GST-int-L

80

bands were excised from the gel, eluted on incubation with 0.5M NH₄OAc, 1mM EDTA over-night at 37°C, and inserted into XhoI, BsrGI digested pTA-GST-int, generating pTA-GST-int-L.

The resulting construct was carefully sequenced to check it was in frame and then digested with XhoI and XbaI and directionally cloned into pSSU-int-lm mkk digested with the same enzymes, to generate pSSU-GST-int-L (Appendix A-b).

Prior to transfection pSSU-GST-int-L was linearised using the PacI (410) site at the 5' end of the integration cassette (Appendix A-a), gel purified to remove any non-digested DNA and electroporated into log phase *L. mexicana* promastigotes (see section 2.3.1.4). For sterilisation of purified DNA the sample was precipitated with 0.1 volumes 3M NaOAC and 2.5 volumes 100% ice cold ethanol for 20 minutes at -70° C, microfuged at 13 000 rpm for 5 minutes, washed with 70% ethanol and air dried in a laminar flow hood. The DNA pellet was resuspended in 20µl sterile water.

2.1.8.3 MBAP

CLB1

The cloning strategy for the CLB1 construct is depicted in Figure 2.2. *L. mexicana mbap* was amplified from the vector pX-Modlap (provided by Martin Wiese, Tübingen) using the following primers:

XhoI-lmmbap 5' CCCCTCGAGATGCTCAGAGGCATCGGTTTCCTC 3' XbaI-lmmbap 5' GGGTCTAGATCAGATCTCGCCGCTGGACATGGG 3'

The amplified product was cloned into the TA cloning vector for subsequent cloning steps (pTA-Modlap). Two complimentary $MCC_{(88-103)}$ olignucleotides were designed flanked by sites for the restriction enzymes BsrG I and Acc 65I at the 5' and 3' ends respectively. These sites are compatible with the BsrGI (386) site immediately downstream of the *mbap* leader peptide. Acc65I and BsrGI have compatible cohesive ends, but this destroys the BsrGI site, resulting in loss of the BsrGI site at the 3' end of the MCC epitope.

Figure 2.2: Cloning Strategy for the Generation of CLB1



amplify Modlap from pX-Modlap and ligate into pCR[®]2.1-TOPO[®]



Ligate into pSSU-int-Im mkk to create CLB1

MCC-1: 5' GGGTGTACACCGCGAACGAGCGCGCGGACCTGATCGCGTACCTGAAGCAG-GCGACGAAGCGGTACCGGG 3'

The MCC oligomers were resuspended at a concentration of 1μ g/ml, mixed at a ratio of 1:1 and annealed by heating to 65°C then cooling slowly to room temperature. The annealed oligomers were then digested with BsrGI and Acc65I, purified with phenol/choloform and inserted into BsrGI digested pTA-Modlap, to create pTA-Modlap-MCC. Olignucleotides specific for the T7 gene 10 epitope tag (Novagen) were designed, which also contained restriction sites for BsrGI, and inserted into the BsrGI site which was now 5' to the MCC epitope.

G10-2: 5' CCCGGTACCGGCCCATCTGCTGGCCGCCCGTCATCGACGCCATGGGGTACC-TTT 3'

pTA-Modlap-G10-MCC was sequenced extensively to ensure that no mutations had been introduced during PCR amplification of *mbap*, that the gene 10 tag and MCC epitope were both inserted in frame with the initiation Methionine and that they were present in the correct orientation. The transgene was digested with XhoI and XbaI and inserted into XhoI, XbaI digested pSSU-int-lm mkk to generate CLB1 (see Appendix Ab). CLB1 was linearised using the PacI site at the 5' end of the integration cassette, as described in section 2.8.1.2, and electroporated into log phase *L. mexicana* promastigotes.

CLB2

CLB2 was generated as described for CLB1 but without insertion of the T7 gene10 tag (Appendix A-b).

G10-1: 5' AAAGGTACCCCATGGCGTCGATGACGGGCGGCCAGCAGATGGGCCGGTACC-GGG 3'

CLB3

The cloning strategy to generate CLB3 is depicted in Figure 2.3. An AvrII restriction site was inserted into a site at the C-terminus of pTA-Modlap using the following primers:

AvrII F': 5' CCTAGGCGAGATCTGATCTAGA 3'

AvrII R': 5' CCTAGGGACATGGGCGACGATC 3'

AvrIIF' and AvrIIR' are homologous to a sequence at the C-terminus of Modlap and contain an overlapping region that contains the AvrII site. The PCR conditions were 94°C for 5 minutes followed by 94°C 15 seconds; 58°C 30 seconds; 72°C 4 minutes for 30 cycles, then 72°C for 10 minutes. The linear PCR product was digested with AvrII and ligated to create a circular plasmid (pTA-Modlap-AvrII.1) containing the unique AvrII (1716) site. pTA-Modlap-AvrII.1 was digested with HindIII, end-filled with Klenow fragment and religated, thus destroying the HindIII site and generating pTA-Modlap-AvrII.2. Complementary olignucleotides encoding a multiple cloning site (MCS) flanked by AvrII restriction sites were annealed, digested with AvrII and inserted into AvrII digested pTA-Modlap-AvrII.2 to generate pTA-Modlap-MCS.

MCSI: 5' TTTCCTAGGTCCGGAATCGATGTTAACCCGTACGATATCAAGCTTCAATTG-CCTAGGTTT 3'

MCSII: 5' AAACCTAGGCAATTGAAGCTTGATATCGTACGGGTTAACATCGATTCCGG-ACCTAGGAAA 3'.

MCC-HindIIIR': 5' AGCTTGCCTTCGTCGCCTGCTTCAGGTACGCGATCAGGTCCGCG-CGCTCGTTCGCGTTAACGA 3'

The MCC oligonucleotides were annealed, digested with HindIII and inserted into the HindIII site of the MCS at the C-terminus of pTA-Modlap-MCS to create pTA-Modlap-MCS-MCC. Clones were analysed by sequencing to ensure that the MCC epitope was inserted in the correct orientation, and that it was in frame with the rest of the MBAP

Figure 2.3: Cloning Strategy for the Generation of CLB3



86





Ligate into pSSU-int-Im mkk to create CLB3

protein. Verified clones were digested with XhoI and XbaI and inserted into XhoI, XbaI digested to pSSU-int-lm mkk to generate CLB3 (Appendix A-b).

2.1.8.4 GP63-MCC

The cloning strategy for the generation of pSSU-int-gp63-MCC is depicted in Figure 2.4. The sequence for the *L. amazonensis gp63 C1* gene was obtained from Genbank, accession number X64394. The truncated gene was amplified from *L. mexicana* wild type genomic DNA using the following primers:

Gp63-XhoI F': 5' CTCGAGATGCCCGTCGACAGCAGCAGC 3'

Gp63-Xbal R': (see section 2.1.7.3).

Gp63-XhoI F' contains the start ATG codon and Gp63-XbaI R' is complementary to a sequence at the 3' end of the gene, 5' of the GPI anchor addition site. Gp63-XbaI F' inserts a stop codon (TGA) immediately after Aspartate residue 1921. Therefore the amplified product would lack the GPI anchor addition site, mutation of which has been shown to result in a secreted form of the intact protein (McGwire and Chang 1996). The Xho I and Xba I sites included in Gp63-XhoI F' and Gp63-XbaI R' respectively were included to facilitate sub-cloning of the product into pSSU-int-lm mkk. The PCR conditions were: 94°C 5 minutes; then 20 cycles of 94°C 30s; 62°C 30s; 72°C 1 minute; followed by 72°C for 7 minutes. The amplified PCR product was sub-cloned into a TA cloning vector to generate pTA-gp63.

To mutate the active site of gp63 Glutamate 265 was converted to an Aspartate residue using the QuikChangeTM Site-Directed Mutagenesis Kit (Stratagene). Antisense primers were designed containing the mutagenised Glutamate \rightarrow Aspartate (GAG \rightarrow GAC) codon (mutated base pairs are underlined).

GLU-265 F': 5' GTCACGCACGACATGGCGCACG 3' GLU-265 R'; 5' CGTGCGCCATGTCGTGCGTGACG 3'

pTA-gp63 was amplified with the mutagensis primers using Pfu polymerase (Stratagene) and the following PCR conditions: 95°C for 30 seconds then 12 cycles of 95°C 30 seconds; 55°C 60 seconds; 68°C 12 minutes; then 68°C for 7 minutes. The PCR

Figure 2.4: Cloning Strategy for the Generation of pSSU-gp63-MCC

amplify truncated gp63 *C1* gene from wild-type *L. mexicana* genomic DNA and ligate into pCR[®]2.1-TOPO[®]







pSSU-gp63-MCC

92

reaction was then incubated with the restriction enzyme DpnI that digests the methylated template DNA but not the non-methylated PCR products. The PCR product, which is maintained as a nicked circular molecule is then transformed into competent cells, in

pTA-gp63-SDM was digested with SacI and religated to isolate the C-terminus of gp63 for subsequent cloning steps. pTA-gp63-SacI.1 was digested with Hind III, the ends filled in with the Klenow fragment and religated, thus destroying the Hind III site and generating pTA-gp63-SacI.2. Two Hind III sites were then introduced into pTA-gp63-SacI.2 by two rounds of site-directed mutagenesis. These sites flanked base pairs 1697-1729 (see Figure 3.19), which could subsequently be removed and replaced by the MCC epitope. The primers used for the site-directed mutagenesis were as follows:

```
SDM-Hind III 1: 5' CGCAGCGGTTCT<u>AAG</u>CTTCGGCGTGAAGG 3'
SDM-Hind III 2: 5' GCCTTCACGCCGAAG<u>CTT</u>AGAACCGCTCGC 3'
SDM-Hind III 3: 5' CGTTGGCGCA<u>AAG</u>CTTGGTGTAGTATCC 3'
SDM-Hind III 4: 5' GGATACTACACCAAGCTTTGCGCCAACG 3'
```

The following PCR conditions were used for both rounds of site-directed mutagenesis: 95°C for 30 seconds then 16 cycles of 95°C 30 seconds; 55°C 60 seconds; 68°C 9 minutes; then 68°C for 7 minutes. The resulting construct was called pTA-gp63-HH-SacI.2. Two complementary $MCC_{(95-103)}$ oligomers were designed flanked by Hind III sites:

```
MCC-gp63 F': 5' AGCTTAACATCGCGTACCTGAAGCAGGCGACGA 3'
MCC-gp63 R': 5' AGCTTCGTCGCCTGCTTCAGGTACGCGATGTTA 3'
```

These oligomers were annealed, and inserted into HindIII digested TA-gp63-HH-SacI.2 to generate TA-gp63-MCC-SacI.2. This construct was thoroughly sequenced to confirm the orientation of the inserted MCC epitope, and that it was in-frame with the rest of the gp63 protein. The pTA-gp63-MCC-SacI.2 SacI-XbaI fragment was ligated with the pTA-gp63 XhoI-SacI fragment and XhoI, XbaI digested pSSU-int-lm mkk to generated pSSU-gp63-MCC (Appendix A-b).

2.2 Protein Analysis

2.2.1 Preparation of Protein Samples

Parasite material was boiled in 1x reducing protein sample buffer for 10 minutes with vortexing to lyse the parasites. Samples were then placed on ice. Parasite supernatants were diluted in 5 x reducing protein sample buffer and boiled. To concentrate supernatants, samples were spun through a concentrating column (Vivaspin Concentrator, 5,000 Mw cut-off; Vivascience).

2.2.2 SDS-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

Discontinuous SDS-PAGE was performed as described by (Laemmli 1970). Protein samples were separated by electrophoresis through acrylamide gels using a Bio-Rad mini gel apparatus. Stock acrylamide solutions for polyacrylamide gels were 30% acrylamide/ bis (37.5:1) (Bio-Rad). The lower resolving gel consisted of 10 or 12.5% acrylamide, 1.5M Tris-HCl pH8.8 and 0.4% SDS, while the upper stacking gel was 4% acrylamide, 0.5M Tris-HCl pH6.8 and 0.4% SDS. Reducing protein sample buffer (1 x concentration) consisted of 0.5% bromophenol blue, 2% SDS, 10% glycerol, 62.5mM Tris-HCl pH6.8 and 2.9M β -mercaptoethanol. Samples were run through the stacking gel at a constant current of 10mA per gel and through the resolving gel at 20mA per gel until the bromophenol blue dye ran off the end of the gel. Running buffer contained 25mM Tris-HCl pH8.3, 192mM glycine and 0.1% SDS.

Full range pre-stained molecular mass standards (Amersham) were routinely run as markers on SDS-PAGE gels.

2.2.3 Western Blotting

Proteins separated by SDS-PAGE were transferred to HybondTMECLTM nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham) by electroblotting. Transfers were performed using a semidry blotter (Bio-Rad) at a constant voltage of 100V with 25mM Tris-HCl pH8.3, 192mM

Glycine, 0.1% SDS and 20% methanol as the transfer buffer. After blotting, membranes were blocked by incubation in blocking solution (PBS-T (PBS, 0.05% Tween-20) / 5% (w/v) skimmed milk powder with shaking overnight at 4°C. Membranes were washed three times with PBS-T before incubation with primary antibody diluted in blocking solution for 1 hour shaking at room temperature. Membranes were washed a further 3 times with PBS-T before incubation with a 1: 5, 000 dilution of an appropriate hydrogen peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated anti-species IgG+IgM (Sigma) for 1 hour at room temparature with shaking. After another round of washes the membranes were developed using the Enhanced Chemiluminescence (ECLTM, Amersham) reagents and exposed to HyperfilmTMECLTM (Amersham) for appropriate lengths of time.

2.2.4 Antibodies used for immunoblotting

The T7 gene 10 tag was detected with an anti-gene 10 mAb (Novagen) diluted 1:3000 and detected with a goat anti-mouse-HRP secondary at 1:5000. The primary anti-GST polyclonal antibody (Amersham) was diluted 1:1000 and detected with a mouse anti-goat-HRP secondary at 1: 160 000.

2.2.5 Acid Phosphatase Assay

Acid phospatase activity was assayed as described by (Menz *et al.* 1991). Amastigotes were cultured overnight in volumes of 1ml at 1×10^7 /ml in a 24 well plate. Supernatants were harvested the next day and stored at -80° C. For the phosphatase assay 10µl of supernatant was incubated with 90µl 5mM p-Nitrophenol phosphate (pNPP) (Sigma) in 100mM NaOAc, pH5.0 in triplicate wells of a 96 well plate. Samples were incubated for 30, 60 and 90 minutes at 37°C, and the reactions stopped with 10µl of 2M NaOH. Absorbance was read at 405nm, and a blank was subtracted from wells containing samples. The acid phosphatase activity was calculated in units, whereby 1 unit equals the amount of enzyme that hydrolyses 1µM of substrate per minute, using the equation:

Units = $\Delta OD_{405nm}(t_2-t_1)/\epsilon_{405nm}$, $\epsilon_{405nm} = 18500 M^{-1} cm^{-1}$.

2.3 General Tissue Culture

All cell culture was performed in laminar flow sterile hoods using strict sterile technique which included wiping the hood down and spraying all items entering the hood with 70% industrial methylated spirits (IMS). All solutions were tested for sterility by incubation of aliquots at 37°C for at least 24 hours before use. Cells were examined using an inverted microscope (Nikon TMS).

2.3.1 Culture of Leishmania Parasites

L. mexicana (strain MNYC/BZ/62/M379) and L. major (LRC-L137 V121) were used for Leishmania experiments.

2.3.1.1 Thawing of Promastigotes Cultures

Vials of frozen promastigotes were taken directly from the liquid nitrogen storage and quickly thawed in a 37°C water bath. The cell suspension was transferred to a 20ml universal tube containing 10ml of pre-warmed promastigote media. The cell suspension was centrifuged immediately at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes. The supernatant was poured off and the pellet resuspended in 1ml pre-warmed promastigote culture medium, then transferred to a 25cm³ flask containing 9ml of the pre-warmed medium.

2.3.1.2 Passage and Expansion of Parasite Cultures

Promastigotes were cultured *in vitro* in SDM / 10% heat inactivated foetal calf serum (iFCS) at 26°C. Cultures were maintained in a volume of 10 ml in 25cm³ tissue culture flasks and passaged weekly. Amastigotes were cultured axenically (section 2.3.1.2) at 34°C in Schneider's *Drosophila* medium (GibcoBLR) supplemented with 20% iFCS and 3.9g/l 2-(N-morpholino)ethane-sulphonic acid (Sigma). Cultures were split 1:20 weekly. Amastigote clumps were dispersed by passing them up and down through a 23G needle (Beckton-Dickinson) before passage.

Parasites were passaged through mice to maintain virulence. Stationary phase promastigotes were washed 3 times in PBS and resuspended at 1×10^8 /ml. Approximately 30µl (3x10⁶) parasites were injected sub-cutaneously at the base of the tail of BALB/c
mice. Mice were sacrificed after at least 4 weeks post-infection and the popliteal lymph nodes taken. Lymph nodes were cut up and cultured in 10 ml SDM / 10% iFCS with antibiotics (50U/ml Penicillin and 50 μ g/ml Streptomycin, Gibco) at 26°C.

2.3.1.2 Generation of Axenic Amastigotes

L. mexicana axenic amastigotes were generated as described by (Bates *et al.* 1992; Bates 1994). Stationary phase promastigotes were diluted 1:10 into amastigotes medium and cultured at 26°C until dense. Cultures were diluted 1:10 again into fresh medium and transferred to 34°C. Amastigotes were then passaged at least twice before use.

2.3.1.3 Freezing Leishmania Parasites

10ml log phase *L. mexicana* and *L. major* promastigotes were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes, the cell pellet resupended in 2.5ml of ice cold freezing solution (iFCS / 10% DMSO) and rapidly transferred in 500 μ l aliquots to Nunc cryotubes on ice. Cryotubes were wrapped in blue towel and transferred to -80°C for at least 24 hours, then moved to liquid nitrogen storage. Exposure of parasites to DMSO is kept to a minimum as it toxic to the cells.

2.3.1.4 Transfer of DNA to Leishmania Parasites

Exogenous DNA was routinely introduced into *L. mexicana* promastigotes by elecroporation as described by (Kapler *et al.* 1990). Briefly, log phase, actively dividing promastigotes were centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 5 minutes and the supernatant discarded. The cell pellet was washed in 10ml sterile elecroporation buffer (EPB; 21mM HEPES pH7.5, 137mM NaCl, 5mM KCl, 0.7mM Na₂HPO₄, 6mM glucose), resuspended in 10ml EPB and counted in a haemocytometer. The cells were centrifuged again and resuspended at $1x10^8$ /ml in EPB and chilled on ice. 400ul of cells were added to chilled 0.2cm elecroporation cuvettes (Bio-Rad) containing 20ul of sterile linearised DNA (section 2.1.8.2). Cells were elecroporated at 0.45V, 500µF in a Bio-Rad Genepulser, which would normally result in a time constant of 4.0. The cuvette was incubated on ice for 10 minutes before transfer of the cells to 10ml promastigote medium. The next day the parasite culture was made up to 24ml and Puromycin added at a final concentration of 40µM. The culture was split into a 24 well plate. Based on an transfection efficiency

of 1 in 1×10^6 this will result in approximately one transfected parasite per well, and cultures grown up from each well were therefore be considered lines.

After approximately 5 days parasites were split 1:10 and the media replaced in the original plate. By 2 weeks positive wells were confluent with drug-resistant parasites that were passaged to be frozen, and harvested for analysis of genomic DNA (section 2.1.7.2).

2.3.2 Culture of Mammalian Cells

All mammalian cells were cultured at 37°C in a humidified incubator with 5% CO₂.

2.3.2.1 T Cell Hybridomas

The 2B4 T cell hybridoma was cultured in RPMI cell culture medium containing 10% FCS; 4mM Glutamine 2mM sodium pyruvate; 0.1% MEM non-essential amino acids; 0.1mM 2-mercaptoethanol. All stock solutions were prepared by at the CGR tissue culture facility. The cells were cultured in 6 well plates and split 1:10 into fresh medium every other day. Aliquots of 1×10^6 cells were thawed and frozen, as described in sections 2.3.1.1 and 2.3.1.3.

2.3.2.2 IL-2-Dependent Cells (Swain et al. 1981)

The IL-2-dependent T cell line C.C3.11.75 was thawed as described in section 2.3.1.1 and resuspended in 11ml RPMI / 10% FCS in a 25cm^3 tissue culture flask with 1ml CASM (section 2.3.2.3). Cells were passaged every 4 days or less by transferring 1ml into a new flask containing 10ml culture medium and 1ml CASM. Cells were monitored by microscopy to ensure that they grew as clumps. Once the cells started growing as single cell suspensions, the cultures were discarded and new aliquots thawed. 1×10^6 cells were frozen in 500µl aliquots as described in section 2.3.1.3.

2.3.2.3 ConA-Stimulated Medium

ConA-stimulated medium (CASM) was prepared as follows. Rat spleen single cell suspensions were cultured at $2x10^6$ /ml in R10 containing 2.5μ g/ml Concanavalin A (Sigma) for 48 hours. The contents were then transferred to 50ml Falcon tubes and centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes. Aliquots of the supernatant were transferred to 20ml Universal tubes containing 0.4g of α -methyl mannoside (Sigma) and stored at -20°C. Aliquots were filter sterilised before use, and tested for IL-2 activity using an IL-2-dependent cell line (see section 2.5.4.3).

2.3.2.4 Culture of D1 Cells

D1 DC were cultured as described by (Winzler *et al.* 1997). The cells were cultured in IMDM supplemented with 10% FCS, 2mM L-glutamine, 50µM 2-mercaptoethanol antibiotics (100U/ml Penicillin and 100µg/ml Streptomycin) and 30% supernatant from NIH/3T3 cells containing 10-20ng/ml GM-CSF.

Cells were harvested for passaging by removing the supernatant and incubating the cells in 2mM EDTA/PBS for 10 minutes at room temperature. Cells were dislodged by vigourous washing with PBS and harvested into 15ml Falcon tubes. Cells were centrifuged at 12000 rpm for 5 minutes and the supernatant discarded. Cells were resuspended in 2ml D1 cell media and counted on a haemocytometer. 2.5×10^6 cells were plated in 10ml D1 cell medium in 10cm tissue culture dishes, or 5×10^5 cells in 2ml in 35mm tissue culture dishes for infection with *Leishmania*.

2.4 Primary Tissue Culture

2.4.1 Animal Maintenance

Six to eight week old female CBA or BALB/c mice were obtained from colonies maintained at the Centre for Genome Research and Ann Walker animal facilities at the University of Edinburgh. All animals were housed and bred according to the provisions of the Animals (Scientific Procedures) Act (UK) 1986.

2.4.2 Isolation of Bone Marrow

Femurs and tibias were taken from CBA mice, sterilised in 70% ethanol and washed well in RPMI. The ends were cut off the bones and the bone marrow flushed out using RPMI in a 1ml syringe with a 26G needle (Beckton Dickinson). Cells were passed through a cell strainer (Beckton Dickinson) to remove any bone fragments and to create a single cell suspension.

2.4.3 Generation of Bone Marrow-Derived DC

BM-DC were cultured *in vitro* according to a method adapted from (Inaba *et al.* 1992). The bone marrow single cell suspension was centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 rpm and red blood cells lysed by incubation of the pellet in 5ml TBAC (144mM NH₄Cl, 17mM Tris pH7.2) for 5 minutes at 37°C, then washed 3 times in RPMI, 10% FCS, 4mM glutamine, 2mM sodium pyruvate (R10). The cell pellet was resuspended in 2ml R10 and cells counted on a haemocytometer. Bone marrow cells were diluted a final concentration of 3.75×10^5 /ml in R10, with 10ng/ml recombinant GM-CSF (Peprotech) or 20% supernatant from fibroblasts engineered to secrete GM-CSF (X63 cells; (Stockinger *et al.* 1995). Cells were plated out in 24 well plates at 1ml per well. The cultures were washed on days 3 and 6 to remove non-adherent granulocytes and lymphocytes. On day 7, loosely adherent BM-DC were removed by vigorous washing and replated to exclude firmly adherent MΦ from subsequent culture. Where necessary, DC were stimulated for 18 hours with 1µg/ml *E. coli*-derived LPS (Sigma) and 10³ U/ml IFNγ (R&D systems), or with 10ng/ml TNFα (Peprotech).

For infection with *Leishmania* parasites, washed parasites were added to replated DC at a ratio of 8:1 and the cells cultured at 37°C for 18 hours. Promastigotes were taken from stationary phase cultures, in which parasites were not dividing but which did not contain debris indicative of cell death. The majority of stationary phase promastigotes were assumed to be metacyclic.

2.4.4 Generation of Bone Marrow-Derived MΦ

Single cell suspension bone marrow cultures were plated at a concentration of 5×10^{5} /ml in M Φ medium (DMEM supplemented with 20% FCS, 4mM glutamine, 2mM sodim pyruvate, and 30% L929 cell supernatant). 12ml of cells were plated in 130mm bacterial petri dishes. After 6 days in culture, non-adherent cells were washed away with warm PBS. The adherent M Φ were removed by 5 minutes incubation at 37°C with PBS, 3mM EDTA and 10mM glucose, followed by vigourous washing with cold PBS.

For infection with *Leishmania* parasites, $M\Phi$ were replated at a concentration of 1×10^5 /ml in 2ml M Φ medium in 30mm bacterial petri dishes and incubated overnight at 37°C. Washed parasites were added at a concentration of 8:1 and the cells incubated at 34°C overnight, for 4 or 7 days. For long-term culture, the cells were give fresh medium every three days. M Φ were given low levels of IFN γ (200 U/ml) either overnight, with the overnight infection, or on days two, three and six of culture to up-regulate expression of MHC II without activating destruction of the parasites.

DC were also incubated with 3.0µm latex beads (Sigma).

2.5 Immunological Methods

2.5.1 Flow Cytometry

2.5.1.1 Preparation of Cells

Day 7 BM-DC were harvested as described in section 2.4.3 into 15ml Falcon tubes (one well per Falcon tube) and diluted with PBS. Alternatively D1 cells were harvested into Falcon tubes, as described in section 2.3.2.3. Cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 rpm and cell pellets were resuspended in 100 μ l PBS / 10% FCS (FACS wash), transferred to a 5ml FACS tube (Beckton-Dickinson) and placed on ice.

2.5.1.2 FACS Analysis

Parasite-infected cells were fixed by addition of 20µl fixation medium A (Fix & Perm kit, Caltag) for 20 minutes at room temperature and then washed with FACS wash. Cells were resuspended in 50µl FACS wash and FcR were blocked by adding 50µl 2.4G2 antibody diluted to a 2 x concentration in FACS wash to the tube. Cells were mixed by agitation of the tube and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature (if fixed) or at 4°C. Cells were centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes and washed in FACS wash. Cells were resuspended in 50µl FACS wash and 50µl of the appropriate primary antibody or antibodies added, diluted to a 2 x concentration in FACS wash. Cells were incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature or on ice, centrifuged and washed. Where necessary cells were resuspended in 50µl FACS wash and incubated with 50µl of a 2 x secondary antibody.

For intracellular staining, the cells were fixed as described above and 20μ l of permeabilisation solution B (Fix & Perm Kit, Caltag) was added to the cells with each round of antibody and the cells vortexed gently.

After the final staining, cells were resuspended in 300µl FACS wash containing 0.01% sodium azide for direct analysis or 300µl FACS wash containing 0.5% paraformaldehyde and 0.01% sodium azide if the cells had not already been fixed and were to be analysed more than 12 hours later. Cells were stored at 4°C in the dark until analysis, for no more than 96 hours. Stained cells were analysed on a Becton Dickinson FACSCalibur. FITC and PE labelled cells were identified in the FL-1 and FL-2 channels respectively. FACS data was analysed using CELLQuest version 3.2 (Beckton Dickinson). Dead cells were routinely excluded by gating. Statistical analysis on FACS data was performed using Student's T-Test.

2.5.1.3 Analysis of Dead Cells by Flow Cytometry

Dead cells were identified by staining with Propidium Iodide (PI) which distinguishes viable cells from non-viable cells. Cells were washed in cold PBS and resuspended in 1x binding buffer (10mM Hepes, NaOH pH7.4, 140mM NaCl, 2.5mM CaCl₂) at a

concentration of 1×10^6 cells/ml. 50µl of the solution was incubated with 5µl PI (50µg/ml dissolved in PBS buffer; 8g NaCl, 0.2g KCl, 1.44g Na₂HPO₄•7H₂O 0.24g KH₂PO₄ in 1 litre H₂0, pH7.2). The cells were vortexed and incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature in the dark. 200µl binding buffer was added to the tube and the cells analysed by flow cytometry.

2.5.1.4 FACS Sorting

Day 7 BM-DC cultures were incubated for 18 hours with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes. The cells were harvested from multiple wells of the 24 well plate, pooled into 15ml Falcon tubes, then centrifuged at 1200 rpm for 5 minutes. The cell pellet was then washed two times in a large volume of PBS. Cells were resuspended in 1-2ml PBS and placed on ice. EGFP positive and negative fractions were isolated using a MoFlo[®] (Cytomation) cell sorter at 4°C, recovered in R10 and placed on ice. A sample of the sorted population was reanalysed to check the purity of the sort. FACS sorting was carried out by Steven LeMoenic (CGR).

2.5.2 Magnetic Cell Sorting (MACS)

Day 7 BM-DC cultures were enriched for $CD11c^+$ cells by MACS. Cells were harvested and incubated with a FITC-conjugated anti-CD11c antibody at a concentration of 0.2µg per $1x10^6$ cells for 20 minutes on ice. Cells were centrifuged for 5 minutes at 1200 rpm and washed with MACS wash (PBS/2mM EDTA with 0.5% BSA). $1x10^7$ cells were incubated with 90µl MACS wash and 10µl anti-FITC magnetic beads (Miltenyi Biotec) for 15 minutes at 4°C. After washing with MACS wash cells were loaded onto a prewashed MS+ column held in a MACS magnet (Miltenyi Biotec). The column was washed thoroughly and the effluent discarded. The column was then removed from the magnet and the CD11c-FITC⁺ cells pushed through with a syringe plunger. CD11c enriched cells were plated in 24 well plates overnight before analysis.

2.5.3 Cytokine Detection

2.5.3.1 Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbant Assays (ELISA)

Supernatants were collected from pelleted DC cultures and stored at -80°C. Supernatants were analysed for cytokines by ELISA using Pharmingen OptEIA[™] Sets as follows. 96 well plates were coated overnight at 4°C with the appropriate capture antibody diluted to the recommended concentration in 0.06M Sodium Bicarbonate. The following day the wells were aspirated and washed 3 times with wash buffer (PBS / 0.05% Tween20). Plates were blocked with >200µl assay diluent (PBS / 10% FCS) for one hour at room temperature. Wells were then aspirated and washed 3 times with wash buffer. Following the last wash plates were blotted on absorbant paper to remove any residual buffer. Plates were then incubated with 50µl of the appropriate samples or recombinant standards diluted in assay diluent (section 2.5.3.2) for 2 hours at room temperature. The plates were sealed to prevent evaporation. Samples were then washed as before. 50μ l of the Working Detector (biotinylated detection antibody + Avidin-HRP), diluted to the recommended concentration in assay diluent, was added to the wells, the plates sealed and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. Plates were then washed again, as before. To detect bound antibody samples were incubated with 100µl Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) and Hydrogen Peroxide (Pharmingen) for 30 minutes, or until a blue colour had developed, and the reaction stopped with 50μ l 2M H₂SO₄. Absorbance was read at 450nm and a blank was subtracted.

2.5.3.2 ELISA Samples

Supernatants were diluted in assay diluent unit to an appropriate concentration for the standard curve. Each sample was tested in triplicate. Recombinant standards were diluted 1:2 down the plate from a 1000pg/ml standard, in triplicate. The last wells were incubated with assay diluent alone as the blank. Cytokine concentrations were determined by extrapolation from the standards. Statistical analysis was performed using Student's T-Test.

2.5.4 T cell Assays

2.5.4.1 2B4

Presentation of MCC was assayed using the MCC-specific T cell hybridoma 2B4. DC and M Φ were plated out in 96 well plates for T cell assays. As controls, DC or M Φ had been pulsed with 1µM or 10µM MCC or 50µM PCC for 4 hours and washed twice by centrifuging the plate for 4 minutes at 800 rpm then inverting it on blue towel, and refilling the wells with fresh medium. T cells were incubated with DC or M Φ at a ratio of 10 T cells (10⁵) to 1 DC (10⁴) or 1 T cell (10⁵) to 1M Φ (10⁵) in a total volume of 200µl of R10, for 18 hours. 150µl of supernatant was subsequently removed and snap frozen at -80°C to kill any cells. Each well was set up in triplicate.

2.5.4.2 IL-2 Assays

Activation of 2B4 cells was assayed by measuring IL-2 production using the IL-2dependent cell line, C.C3.11.75 (Swain *et al.* 1981), as described by (Lawrence *et al.* 1994). 20µl supernatant from T cell assays was added to individual wells of roundbottomed 96 well plates (Nunc). A standard was also set up using recombinant IL-2 (Sigma) diluted 1:2 down the plate from 1000U/ml. IL-2-dependent cells were washed 3 times to remove all CASM and resuspended in R10 at a concentration of 1×10^{5} /ml. To this was added an anti-IL-4 antibody (11B11) diluted 1:400, because the IL-2-dependent cells also proliferate in response to IL-4. 100µl cells was added to each well of the 96 well plate and cultured at 37^{a} C for 24 hours. The following day 1µl [³H]thymidine (1µCi) was added to each well in 10µl R10, to measure cell proliferation by thymidine incorporation, and the plates incubated for a further 18 hours. Cells were harvested and counted using a Top Count Microplate Scintillation Counter (Canberra Packard).

2.6 Antibodies

2.6.1 Primary Antibodies

Antigen	Specificity	Clone	Conjugation	Dilution	Company/ Cat. no.
CD11b	Rat α mouse	M1/70	FITC	1:100	Pharmingen 01710D
CD11c	Hamster α mouse	HL3	FITC	1:50	Pharmingen 09704D
DEC205	Rat α mouse	NLDC145		1:50	Serotec MCA949
CD16/CD32 Fc Block®	Rat α mouse	2.4G2		1:100	Pharmingen 01241D
CD40	Rat α mouse	3/23	PE	1:100	Pharmingen 09665B
CD54	Rat α mouse	KAT-1	PE	1:200	Southern Biotechnology 1700-08
CD54	Hamster α mouse	3E2	Biotin	1:100	Pharmingen 01542D
CD80	Hamster α mouse	1G10	PE	1:100	Pharmingen 09605B
CD86	Rat α mouse	2F7	PE	1:100	Pharmingen 09275B
MHC I	Mouse α mouse	AF6-88.5	PE	1:100	Pharmingen 06105A
MHC II	Mouse α mouse	14-4-4S	PE	1:100	Pharmingen 06025A
CD45R/B220	Rat α mouse	RA3-6B2	PE	1:100	Pharmingen 01125B
CD3	Rat α TCR ⁺ hybridoma	17A2	FITC	1:100	Pharmingen 28004D
F4/80	Rat α mouse		FITC	1:100	Caltag RM2901
$H_2-E^k-MCC_{(95-103)}$	Mouse α mouse	D4		1:1000	Reay <i>et al</i> (1994)
<i>Leishmania</i> parasites	Rabbit α prom/amas.			1:400	T. Aebischer

2.6.2 Isotype	Controls and	Secondary	Reagents

Reagent	Description	Clone	Conjugation	Dilution	Company/
					Cat. no.
Hamster	Hamster	A19-3	FITC	1:100	Pharmingen
IgG1 λ	isotype				11154C
Rat IgG2a ĸ	Rat isotype	R35-95	PE	1:100	Pharmingen
Ū					11025A
Rat IgG2b ĸ	Rat isotype	G28-5	FITC	1:100	Pharmingen
Ū					11184C
Mouse	Mouse isotype	G155-178	PE	1:100	Pharmingen
IgG2a к					03025A
Anti-rat	Goat		FITC	1:100	Jackson
	IgG+IgM				Immunoresearch
	(H+L)			4	112-095-068
Anti-mouse	Goat		FITC	1:100	Jackson
	IgG+IgM				Immunoresearch
	(H+L)				115-095-100
Streptavidin			PE	1:100	Pharmingen
					13025D

Chapter 3:

Generation and Testing of a Model Experimental System Proposed for the Investigation of Processing and Presentation of *Leishmania*-Derived Antigens in Infected DC

3.1 Introduction

Several studies have addressed the capacity of infected M Φ to present parasite-derived antigens and have demonstrated that $M\Phi$ infected with L. major or L. amazonensis parasites and treated with IFNy to up-regulate expression of MHC II did not efficiently stimulate antigen-specific T cells (Fruth et al. 1993; Prina et al. 1993). Since the killing of intracellular parasites resulted in the stimulation of T cells specific for parasite cysteine proteases (Wolfram et al. 1995), and MO infected with Leishmania which overexpressed parasite-derived or exogenous antigens could efficiently stimulate specific T cells in vitro (Kaye et al. 1993; Wolfram et al. 1996), this inefficient presentation of Leishmania proteins was proposed to reflect a general inaccessibility of parasite antigens to the antigen processing and presentation machinery. In infected M Φ , L. mexicana parasites reside in large phagolysosomes, known as parasitophorous vacuoles (PV), that develop as a result of fusion of the original phagosome with host endosomal compartments (Antoine et al. 1999). These compartments contain the molecules necessary for processing and presentation of Leishmania antigens, and have been compared to MIIC, the putative site of peptide loading onto MHC II molecules. Complexes of MHC II molecules loaded with parasite-derived antigens have, however, never been directly visualised in infected APC and therefore it is not known whether these complexes can form in the PV, or whether parasite antigens exit the PV and meet MHC II molecules in alternative endosomal compartments. These studies, furthermore, have focused on infection of M Φ with *Leishmania sp.* and the presentation capacity of infected DC has not been directly addressed. Therefore, it is not known whether DC containing live parasites can efficiently present parasite antigens to T cells, or whether the kinetics of presentation are impaired, as in infected M Φ . The work discussed in this chapter aimed to develop a model experimental system with which to address the fate of parasite-derived antigens in infected DC and M Φ .

3.2 The Experimental Model

To follow the fate of parasite-derived antigens in infected cells, an optimal model system would require the uniform infection of DC and M Φ with *Leishmania* parasites expressing an antigen that can be detected when complexed with MHC II molecules *in vitro*. Ideally, the formation of MHC II: parasite antigen complexes would be monitored in infected cells using a detection system which could distinguish between MHC II complexes displayed on the surface of the cells and complexes which were sequestered intracellularly.

3.2.1 Detection of MHC II-Peptide Complexes in vitro

The formation of complexes between MHC II molecules and a defined T cell epitope can be monitored using a complex-specific mAb which recognises MHC II molecules, of a defined haplotype, only when bound by a relevant peptide. D4 is such an antibody that specifically recognises MHC II H2-E^k molecules when bound by the MHC IIrestricted T cell epitope Moth Cytochrome C (MCC). Detailed characterisation of the binding of a series of peptides differing by a single amino acids from MCC, to a specific T cell receptor (TCR), identified $MCC_{(95-103)}$ as the core epitope recognised by T cells (Reay *et al.* 1994). D4 binds only to H2-E^k molecules complexed with this epitope (Figure 3.1) (Reay *et al.* 2000), which is derived from MCC protein, or with the equivalent epitope in Pigeon Cytochrome C (PCC), which differs by one amino acid from MCC, by APC (L. Colledge unpublished results). D4 binds to H2-E^k-MCC complexes with a rate constant of $1.25 \times 10^{-8} M^{-1}$, indicating that it can detect complex formation with a sensitivity equivalent to that of a TCR (Reay *et al.* 2000). The T cell hybridoma, 2B4, also specifically recognises H2-E^k molecules bound to MCC₍₉₅₋₁₀₃₎ (Hedrick *et al.* 1982). Thus 2B4 T cells can also be used to follow the appearance of MCC-loaded MHC II molecules on the surface of cells.

3.2.2 Expression of Transgenic Proteins by Leishmania sp.

Transgenes are classically expressed in *Leishmania* parasites using the episomal expression vector, pX. pX was constructed using DNA from a circular region identified in methotrexate-resistant *L. major* parasites that encoded the dihydrofolate reductase-thymidylate synthase (DHFR-TS) gene, and appeared to contain all the elements necessary for expression of this gene and replication of the DNA (LeBowitz *et al.* 1990). While pX has been successfully used in many different studies to over-express *Leishmania*-derived (e.g. Wolfram *et al.* 1996) or exogenous (e.g. Kaye *et al.* 1993) proteins in different *Leishmania* species, it has a number of limitations: transgene expression in pX-transfected cultures is extremely heterogeneous (Wolfram *et al.* 1996); transgenes are expressed much more highly by promastigotes than amastigotes (Misslitz *et al.* 2000); and continuous selective pressure is required to ensure that the episome is maintained at a high copy number, limiting the use of transgenic parasites *in vivo*.

An alternative vector has recently been developed that mediates the stable integration of the gene of interest downstream of a promoter that drives high level expression of that gene (Misslitz *et al.* 2000). Integration of the transgene is particularly efficient because homologous recombination in *Leishmania*, as in yeast, predominates over non-homologous recombination (Cappecchi 1990). The integration vector, pSSU-int, contains homology arms for sequences in the 18S small sub-unit ribosomal RNA

Figure 3.1: D4 only Detects MHC II Complexes in the Presence of MCC.



MCC peptide was incubated over-night with CHO-17 cells that had been engineered to express MHC II (H2-E^k) molecules and other components of the MHC II processing and presentation pathway (CHO-17 cells are described by Colledge *et al.* 2001). Formation of MHC II-MCC complexes in these cells was detected by ELISA using D4 with or without saponin to permeabilise the cells. Binding of D4 was visualised using an anti-mousealkaline phosphatase secondary antibody. (rRNA) gene that is transcribed by both promastigotes and amastigotes (Figure 3.2 and Appendix A-a). Transcription of ribosomal genes from this locus is driven by an RNA polymerase I promoter, whereas protein-encoding genes are normally expressed from RNA polymerase II promoters. Post-transcriptional trans-splicing of a spliced leader transcript from the vector onto the transgene means, however, that genes expressed from the ribosomal locus will be expressed as genes transcribed by RNA polymerase II. Expression of *Leishmania* genes is controlled by undefined elements in 3' untranslated intergenic regions that couple both trans-splicing and polyadenylation of the upstream gene (LeBowitz *et al.* 1993). Sequences cloned into pSSU-int therefore require a 3' non-translated region to ensure correct expression of the transgene: the intergenic region from the cysteine protease B 2.8 gene cluster (*CPB 2.8*) is used since it is highly expressed in *L. mexicana* amastigotes (Mottram *et al.* 1997), ensuring high-level transgene expression in the intracellular form of the parasites. A selectable marker was also included in the cassette upstream of a second *CPB 2.8* intergenic region, to allow selection of targeted parasites.

The efficacy of pSSU-int was demonstrated through the characterisation of transgenic parasites expressing β -galactosidase or the enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP). *L. mexicana* parasites transfected with pSSU-int carrying lacZ or EGFP cDNA expressed these proteins as promastigotes and expression was up-regulated to high levels in amastigotes (Misslitz *et al.* 2000). Expression of EGFP was equivalent in *in vitro* cultured axenic amastigotes and lesion-derived amastigotes, even when isolated from animals that had been infected for several months, indicating that high levels of the protein were expressed in the absence of selection (Misslitz *et al.* 2000). A significant advantage of this vector compared to pX is that transfected parasites express highly homogeneous levels of the transgene in culture; flow cytometric analyses of EGFP production by promastigotes and amastigotes revealed a normally distributed single histogram for the culture (Misslitz *et al.* 2000). Therefore, pSSU-int was chosen as the optimal vector for these studies.

Figure 3.2: Integration of a Transgene into a 18S Small Subunit rRNA Locus using pSSU-int



Schematic representation of pSSU-int and integration into the rRNA small subunit locus by homologous recombination. 5' SSU and 3' SSU refer to the sequences required for the homology arms for recombination into the 18S rRNA gene. SSU= small sub-unit, LSU= large sub-unit; SL, splice leader; MCS, multiple cloning site; *HYG'* hygromycin resistance gene; CPB 2.8 IR, *L. mexicana CPB 2.8* gene intergenic region; *AMP'*, ampicillin resistance gene for selection in bacteria.

Taken from Misslitz *et al* (2000). For a plasmid map of pSSU-int see Appendix A-a.

3.2.3 The Model (Figure 3.3)

A model experimental system for the investigation of the fate of parasite-derived antigens in infected cells was designed based on the tools described above. This model proposed that transgenic expression of MCC as a fusion protein in *L. mexicana* parasites would permit the generation of complexes between MHC II molecules and parasite-derived MCC in infected DC and M Φ to be detected *in vitro* using D4 and the T cell hybridoma, 2B4. *L. mexicana* was chosen for this model since it can be cultured both as promastigotes and amastigotes *in vitro*, facilitating uniform infection of cultured cells, and the effect of infection of M Φ with these parasites has been studied in detail. Furthermore, it has been shown that over-expression of a *Leishmania* protein by transgenic parasites results in its detection by parasite-specific CD4⁺ T cells (Wolfram *et al.* 1996), implying that complexes between *L. mexicana*-derived antigens and MHC II molecules do form in infected M Φ .

This chapter describes the derivation and characterisation of several lines of transgenic *L. mexicana* parasites in which different protein carriers were used as vehicles for the expression of the MCC epitope. These lines were used to infect BM-DC and M Φ in order to establish whether formation of MHC II-parasite-derived MCC complexes could be detected *in vitro* and, therefore, whether the experimental model described herein was suitable for investigating the formation of MHC II-parasite-derived antigen complexes in infected DC and M Φ .

3.3 Integration of GST-int into the rRNA Locus of *L. mexicana* Parasites

A proven processing-dependent MCC carrier protein, GST-int, was initially used for these experiments.



Detection of parasite-derived antigen-MHC II complexes in *Leishmania*infected DC and M Φ . Cells are infected with transgenic *Leishmania* parasites that secrete a fusion protein containing the T cell epitope Moth Cytochrome C (red circles). The complex-specfic mAb, D4, is used to detect the formation of H2-E^k-MCC complexes in infected cells, either intracellularly or on the cell surface. An MCC-specific T cell hybridoma can also be used to detect presentation of MCC epitopes on the surface of infected cells. PV, parasitophorous vacuole; MIIC, MHC II containing compartment; T, MCCspecific T cells.

3.3.1 GST-int

Glutathione S-transferase (GST) is a well-characterised enzyme, commonly used for fusion protein production. The core $MCC_{(95-103)}$ epitope was used to replace nonconserved residues in an internal loop of GST, generating the construct known as GSTint (kindly provided by Phil Reay, Oxford; (Colledge *et al.* 2001)). Two of the endogenous GST amino acids provided amino acids 93 and 94 of the MCC peptide. Processing and presentation of MCC from this carrier protein has been carefully characterised (Colledge *et al.* 2001), and MHC II-MCC complexes could be detected with D4 in DC infected with bacteria expressing this fusion protein (L. Colledge unpublished results). GST-int was therefore a potential carrier molecule from which to express the MCC epitope in *L. mexicana* parasites.

3.3.2 Generation of the Targeting Construct and Integration into *L. mexicana* Parasites

An initial cloning strategy was designed in which GST-int was cloned into pSSU-int-Im mkk (kindly provided by Martin Wiese, Tübingen; see Appendix A-a). The cloning strategy for the generation of the construct pSSU-GST-int-L is described in Chapter 2 (section 2.1.8.2). *Leishmania* antigens had previously been shown to be most efficiently presented to T cells if over-expressed on the surface of the parasites, or secreted into the PV (Wolfram *et al.* 1996). The leader sequence from the *L. mexicana* membrane-bound acid phosphatase gene (*mbap*) was therefore cloned onto the N-terminus of GST-int so that the transgene would be targeted to the plasma membrane and would be secreted by the parasite (Figure 3.4).

Log phase promastigote cultures were electroporated with the GST-int-L construct, passaged one day later into a 24-well plate and grown in Puromycin to select for

Figure 3.4: Schematic Diagram Showing Integration of GST-int-L into the 18S SSU rRNA Gene



GST-int-L



- A. Schematic diagram of GST-int-L. The blue box represents the 90bp leader peptide derived from the *L. mexicana mbap* gene. MCC(₉₅₋₁₀₃) is represented in orange. Numbers are base pairs from the start of the transcribed GST-int DNA or *mbap* DNA sequences.
- B. Integration of GST-int-L (orange) into the 18S small sub-unit rRNA gene.

transfectants. It was assumed, based on a transfection efficiency of 1 in 1x10⁶, that each well contained approximately one parasite. Parasites derived from each well were therefore considered clonal lines (see section 2.3.1.4). 10 out of the 24 wells contained parasites that grew in the presence of Puromycin. Positive wells were screened by PCR using a forward primer specific for the promoter of the 18S rRNA gene, outside the homology arms of the integration cassette, and a reverse primer specific for the integrated transgene. Of the lines tested, four were shown to contain GST-int-L correctly integrated into the rRNA 18S SSU gene by PCR. In a further line GST-int-L integrated into the genomic DNA but not into the correct locus (Figure 3.5).

3.3.3 Expression of GST-int-L by L. mexicana Parasites

Expression of GST-int-L mRNA by two of these transgenic lines of parasites (10 and 22) was confirmed by Northern blot analysis. The blot was probed with a labelled PCR fragment specific to GST-int-L. GST-int-L was transcribed by clones 10 and 22 (Figure 3.6A). However, Western blot analysis using an anti-GST polyclonal antibody was unable to detect the fusion protein in promastigote or amastigote pellets or supernatants (Figure 3.6B).

Despite the strong inference that no stable fusion protein was being produced by these parasites, further experiments were carried out to determine whether DC infected with GST-int-L parasites could stimulate MCC-specific T cells. BM-DC were incubated with parasites from GST-int-L lines 10 and 22 at a ratio of 1:8 overnight, washed and co-cultured with the MCC-specific T cell hybridoma, 2B4, at a ratio of 1 DC:10 T cells for 18 hours. Activation of T cells was followed by analysing IL-2 production in the culture supernatant. As expected, DC incubated with purified GST-int protein overnight efficiently stimulated the T cell hybridoma, confirming that MCC was processed and presented from this antigen by DC. However, DC infected with GST-int-L parasites did not stimulate MCC-specific T cells *in vitro* (Figure 3.7).

- A. Genomic DNA from GST-int-L lines was analysed for integration into the ribosomal locus by PCR using a forward primer external to the 5' homology arm of the vector and specific to the promoter region, and a reverse primer specific to a sequence within the GST-int-L construct (red arrows). The predicted band size for this product was approximately 2kb. 4 clones showed correct integration of GST-int-L into the ribosomal locus. A PCR product was not seen when these primers were used with wild type (WT) genomic DNA.
- B. PCR with primers specific for the GST-int-L transgene to indicate the presence of the GST-int-L transgene. The predicted band size for this product was 700bp. In addition to the 4 lines identified in A., one line (4) contains the GST-int-L DNA but is not integrated into the correct locus.
- C. Primers specific to the ribosomal promoter region external to the 5' homology arm of pSSU-int, which should be present in all samples, were used as a postive control (blue arrows).

Numbers represent the wells of a 24 well plate containing Puromycinresistant parasites.

M = 1kb ladder.

Figure 3.5: PCR Analyses to Show Correct Integration of GST-int-L Lines into the 18S SSU Ribosomal Locus





120



- A. 5µg of total RNA from *L. mexicana* wild type (WT) or GST-int-L parasites was run on a denaturing gel, blotted onto a nylon membrane, and probed with a labelled PCR fragment complementary to the GST sequence. A 2kb transcript was detected as predicted for the correctly expressed gene. The right hand panel shows ribosomal RNA as a loading control. *Leishmania* parasites express three rRNA bands between 1.4 and 2.4kb.
- B. Transgenic GST-int-L amastigotes were cultured overnight at a concentration of 10⁸/ml in 100µl of serum-free medium. Parasites were centrifuged the next day and supernatants were loaded onto a 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gel. Proteins were transferred onto nitrocellulose and the membrane incubated with a polyclonal antibody to GST (Amersham). No staining was seen in any parasite samples. This blot is representative of Westerns performed on promastigote supernatants, concentrated supernatants and promastigote and amastigote cell pellets.

Figure 3.7: DC Infected with GST-int-L Transgenic Parasites do not Stimulate a MCC-Specific T Cell Response



DC were cultured overnight with GST-int-L transgenic amastigotes, and then co-cultured with the T cell hybridoma 2B4. IL-2 production by 2B4 cells was measured using an IL-2-dependent indicator cell line. Values shown represent [³H]-thymidine incorporation by IL-2-dependent indicator cell line C.C3.11.75.

DC were incubated overnight with 0.4mg/ml purified GST-int as a positive control for presentation of MCC to 2B4 cells from GST-int.

Each experiment was performed in triplicate.

(Figure 3.7). Since these results were as predicted by Western data GST-int was not pursued further as a potential epitope carrier, and an alternative carrier protein was sought.

3.4 Use of the *L. mexicana* Membrane-Bound Acid Phosphatase as a Carrier Molecule for MCC

3.4.1 Introduction

The L. mexicana membrane-bound acid phosphatase (MBAP) was originally identified using antibodies generated from mice immunised with Concanavalin A-binding membrane components of L. mexicana promastigotes (Menz et al. 1991). The L. mexicana mbap gene was subsequently cloned and characterised (Wiese et al. 1996); Figure 3.8), and shown, in promastigotes, to be localised to endosomal/lysosomal compartments between the nucleus and the flagellar pocket. Over-expression of MBAP, by episomal expression in pX, resulted in its re-localisation to the plasma membrane of promastigotes (Wiese et al. 1996), while deletion of the transmembrane domain (Figure 3.8) resulted in secretion of large amounts of active enzyme into the culture supernatant (Wolfram et al. 1996). M Φ infected by these transgenic parasites in vitro, but not with wild type parasites, were able to stimulate a MBAP-specific T cell line, indicating that localisation of MBAP to the parasite surface, or its secretion into the PV, was sufficient to facilitate the formation of MHC II-peptide complexes (Wolfram et al. 1996). L. mexicana MBAP therefore constituted an attractive carrier molecule in which to clone the MCC epitope. Furthermore, the 3D structure of MBAP, predicted based on the crystal structure of the related rat prostate gland acid phosphatase (rPAP) (M. Wiese unpublished results; (Schneider et al. 1992)) provided a means of designing fusion proteins anticipated to retain the structural integrity of native MBAP.

DNA sequence of the *L. mexicana* membrane-bound acid phosphatase (*mbap*) gene (accession number Z46971). Blue underlined codons are the translation start and stop codons; the peptide leader sequence is highlighted in green; the transmembrane domain is underlined with a dashed line. The sequence that was deleted to create Modlap, the secreted form of MBAP, is marked in bold.

Figure 3.8: Sequence of the *L. mexicana* Membrane-Bound Acid Phosphatase Gene

CCCCACACACACACATACATGCGAGCACCTAATACGACCTCTGTGCCATTGCCTACCGGA 60 AAGACGCAACCGCGCACCGTTTACATATGTTGCCTCTGTTACAGAAAGGTTGCCTTCCCC 120 ACTGTCTGCGTCCTTTGTTCTCTATTTTTTTTTTTTTCTCTCCCCACTCTCACGCCATTGTA 180 TGCACACGTTCATTGCCTGACCTTTTCCAACGCATGCACGTGCACGGTCATCTTGTCG 240 TGCTGGCCATTTCCTTGTCTTTTGCAGGTATCCTCCCCGTCTTCTTCCCACTCCACTGCT 300 TGTGGGCTCTCACCCCCTTTTTTCGACCCATTTTACCGCCGGCGAACTCCTCTCATAGAA 360 GAGACTTCCCATCGCCCGCTTCCCCTTCTCTCCGCTATCATGCTCAGAGGCATCGGTTTC 420 BsrGl GCGGCACCGATGTACAAGGTGGAGCTGGTGCAGGTGGTGCACCGCCACGGAGCACGCTCC 540 CCGCTCGTCGATGACAACCA ACACTCATCTGCGGCACCGAGTTCCCGTGCGGGTTTCTC 600 AACTACGAGGGTCAGGCGATGCTGGTGAACCTCGGTAAGTATCTGCACCATCGCTACACG 660 TCGTATACGCGCTCGACGGATGTGCTGCGCACGCTTCAGAGCGCCCAACGGGCTTCTGCAG 780 GGCCTCTTCCCGAACATGTCGACTTTCTTTCCTGCAATCCACGCAGTGGGAAGAAAGGAG 840 GAGGAGCTGCGGGCCGTGTGCGACGAGGTGTTGGACAGACTAATGTCATTCGATCAGCTG 960 CAGGCGGTAGCGGCGGAGGTTCACTCGCAGAGGTTTTGCGCCAACTACACCCTGCGCTCG 1020 CGTTGTGCGAAGCGGCTGTGCGACATTGGGCGCGCGTACGAGCCCACTGGCCGCTTGGAA 1080 AGTCTCCCGCTGCTTAGTCGGCACCTGGACGACGTGTGCGCTGTGACGGCGATGAGCTCG 1140 TATTTCTATTTCGCTTACAACGCCAGCAATCCCGTCCATCAGAAGCAAGGCGCACCGTTC 1200 TACCACCTGGCGAAACTGCTGGTGAGCAACATGGTAGCGCACCAGCAGCGCGAGACGGCA 1260 CCGCCGTACAAGCTGTACGAGTACAGTGCACACGACACCACTATCTCGCCCCTGGCGGTT 1320 TCCTTCGGTGATAACTCGATGGAGGCGATGCTGCCGCCATTCGGCACAGCGTTTATCATA 1380 GAACTCCTGTCGCTGACGGACGCGCCTGCCGCCGCCGTCGTCCTTCTACGTGCGGCTGCTG 1440 CGCGGTCACTCTGGTGTGAGGCCGGAAAGTAACTTCACCTTCGCTCTGAGTCACTTCGAC 1500 ATGCGCTGCCAGGACGCGACGGGCAACACGTACATTGCGACGGACAACATATGCCCCTTC 1560 GCCGACTTTGAGCGCTTTATAAACTCCACCGCGCCAACGAGCCCGATGGGCACGTGCTAC 1620 CTCGACCCTGGTCTTCTGTTCCGCATGGACTGTCCGATTGACGTCGTCAGCGACAACCGC 1680 AGCTTGTCGGAGGACTGCCTCTTCTACCGCCAGCACTGCAGCAACTACTCGTGCGGCACC 1740 GGCTACTACCTCGACGCGATCGACTACGGCTGCCACCGCATCCCGGCGAACAACTCAACG 1800 GCTGGATCGTCGCCCATGTCCAGCGGCGGGGATTGCTGTCCTGAGCATCACACTCTTCATC 1860 GTCGGCGGAGTGGCGAGCGTCGGCGGTATGGAGGTGTGGAGACGCTACATGAAGTTCAAA 1920 AACAAGCAATCCGAGGCGATTATCGTCTGACAACCTATCGAACCCTGTAGCCATGCTTTT 1980 TTCCTTCGTAGCCTTTATTTTCCTTAAGCAAGAGCATAGCCTTACTTGCGGGGCTTCCTCA 2040 ACAGTACACCCCCTATTCGACAGTGCTTCTGCGAGAAATCGTACATCTGCGCTCAGGTTG 2100 CAAATTCGCAAACGCCCAACACGCACACGAACATTCTCTGATTTATTCTATCTGCCTCGGTACA 2160 TGCTTTTCTTCCTTCTGTGC GTGTGAAGCATATTTGCAGTGGATTATGCTTTCGCTTAG 2220 CCGTGTTTTTGTTTCTCCCCACTACTACTGCTGCTGCTACTGTTCTTTCGTGTTCTAGCCCCTT 2280 2330

3.4.2 Generation of *L. mexicana* Parasites Expressing MBAP:MCC Fusion Proteins

3.4.2.1 Integration of MCC into the N-terminus of MBAP

3.4.2.1.1 CLB1: Generation of Parasites and Integration into the rRNA SSU gene

A cloning strategy was designed in which MCC was cloned into the secreted form of MBAP, known as Modlap (kindly provided by Markus Wolfram, Tübingen; (Wolfram et al. 1996)). Modlap was chosen as secretion of high amounts of the acid phosphatase into the PV may facilitate processing of the protein and loading of epitopes onto intracellular MHC II molecules. MCC₍₈₈₋₁₀₃₎ was initially cloned adjacent to the N-terminus of MBAP. The extended MCC peptide was chosen because the sequence may include protease cleavage sites that would facilitate processing of the core 95-103 epitope. The sequence of the epitope was corrected for optimal codon usage by L. mexicana parasites (Langford et al. 1992). Modelling of the MBAP protein predicted that the N-terminus would not be contained within the globular structure of the enzyme, therefore, cloning into this site should not alter the correct folding and function of the protein. Expression of MCC at the exposed N-terminus of the protein should also ensure that it was easily accessible to host proteases. The T7 gene 10 epitope tag (Novagen) was included Nterminal to MCC in the fusion protein to facilitate analysis of transgene expression by immunohistochemistry and immunoprecipitation. The final construct was designated CLB1, the cloning strategy for which is described in section 2.1.8.3 (Figure 3.9 and Appendix A-b).

To generate lines of CLB1 transgenic parasites the linearised CLB1 construct was electroporated into *L. mexicana* promastigotes. Six Puromycin-resistant lines were selected and expanded. Genomic DNA from these lines was screened by PCR using primers specific to the rRNA promoter and to the splice leader of the integration cassette (Figure 3.10). A PCR product of the expected size (1.6kb) was amplified from all of the lines tested, indicating that they each contained the N-terminal MBAP:MCC construct

Figure 3.9: Schematic Diagram Showing Integration of CLB1 into the 18S SSU rRNA Gene







A. Schematic diagram of CLB1. The hatched box represents the *L. mexicana mbap* leader peptide. MCC₍₈₈₋₁₀₃₎ (black line) and the T7 gene 10 tag (grey line) were cloned into the BsrGI site downstream of the leader peptide. The diagram shows the secreted form of mbap, Modlap, in which the transmembrane (tm) domain was deleted.

Numbers refer to the DNA sequence shown in Figure 3.8.

B. Integration of CLB1 into the 18S small sub-unit rRNA gene.

Figure 3.10: PCR Analysis to Show Correct Integration of CLB-1 Lines into the Ribosomal Locus





Genomic DNA from CLB1 lines was analysed for integration into the ribosomal locus by PCR using a forward primer external to the 5' homology arm of the vector and specific to the promoter region, and a reverse primer specific to the splice leader sequence of the pSSU-int vector (red arrows). The expected size for the PCR product from these two primers if the transgene was correctly integrated into the ribosomal locus was approximately 1.6kb. A PCR product was not seen when these primers were used to amplify wild type (WT) genomic DNA.

Numbers represent wells containing Puromycin-resistant parasites from a 24 well plate.

M = 1 kb ladder.

integrated into the 18S SSU rRNA gene (Figure 3.10). These lines were therefore tested for transgene expression, as described below.

3.4.2.1.2 CLB1: Up-regulation of Acid Phosphatase Activity in the Supernatant of CLB1 Parasites

Wild type L. mexicana amastigotes do not secrete acid phosphatases, therefore, Modlap expression levels could be assessed by assaying acid phosphatase activity in parasite culture supernatants. 1x10⁷ CLB1 axenic amastigotes from different transgenic lines were therefore cultured overnight in 1ml of serum-free medium. The supernatants were then collected and tested for acid phosphatase activity. The acid phosphatase activity was calculated in units, whereby 1 unit equals the amount of enzyme required to hydrolyse 1µM of substrate per minute (see section 2.2.2). Figure 3.11A shows that wild type L. mexicana amastigotes secrete no detectable acid phosphatase activity, whereas parasites in which Modlap had been cloned into pX (pX Modlap) secreted large amounts of the enzyme. CLB1 clones also secreted the functional enzyme, although at much lower levels than the pX Modlap parasites (Figure 3.11B). The lower expression levels in CLB1 clones are likely due to differences in copy number; only one copy of the CLB1 transgene will be expressed by each parasite whilst parasites containing pX Modlap, which is maintained episomally, will express multiple copies of the gene. These results demonstrated that CLB1 transgenic parasite lines over-expressed a functional secreted form of the membrane-bound acid phosphatase.

The existing anti-MBAP antibody, AP4, could not be used to detect CLB1 because it recognises an epitope that was disrupted by insertion of the MCC epitope. To determine whether the fusion protein could be detected using expression of the T7 gene 10 epitope tag, lysates derived from CLB1 parasites and culture supernatants were analysed by Western blotting. No proteins were identified using a mAb specific to the gene 10 epitope. Since repeated phosphatase assays prior to the Western blott analysis had demonstrated that the fusion protein was correctly expressed these data suggested that this peptide was not an appropriate epitope tag for use in this system.

Figure 3.11: Detection of Acid Phosphatase Activity in Supernatants from MBAP:MCC CLB1 Transgenic Amastigote Cultures



Acid phosphatase activity was measured in supernatants from 1×10^7 wild type (WT), pX Modlap (A.) or CLB1 (B.) amastigotes cultured overnight in 1ml of serum-free medium. Activity was calculated from the change in absorbance of the substrate pNpp on incubation with culture supernatants and is expressed as units (1 unit = the amount of enzyme which hydrolyses 1μ M substrate per min).

Values represent the average of 2 experiments. Error bars represent the s.e.m. from 2 experiments, each of which was performed in triplicate.

3.4.2.1.3 CLB1: MHC II-MCC Complexes can not be Detected on Infected DC

Since infected M Φ have repeatedly been shown to present Leishmania-derived antigens inefficiently to T cells, the utility of the CLB1 parasites for the experimental model described in section 3.2 was initially tested using infected DC. BM-DC were generated in vitro from CBA mice and incubated overnight with different transgenic lines of CLB1 axenic amastigotes at a ratio of 1:8 DC:amastigotes. The following day the cells were harvested, fixed, and incubated with D4 and an appropriate secondary antibody, both with and without permeabilisation, to detect the formation of surface and intracellular complexes. These cells were then analysed by flow cytometry. Figure 3.12 shows the results from infection of DC with CLB1-2 amastigotes, and reflects the results obtained by all the other lines tested. No D4 staining was detected in DC infected with transgenic promastigotes and amastigotes, amastigote supernatants or fixed amastigotes. To attempt to optimise these experiments DC were also infected for different time points, with promastigotes and amastigotes, however, D4 staining could still not be detected on or in infected cells (data not shown). Since presentation of Modlap epitopes was previously shown in M Φ , CLB1-2 amastigotes were also used to infect bone marrow-derived M Φ , according to the protocol described by (Wolfram et al. 1996). The cells were then harvested, fixed and stained as above with permeabilisation to detect the formation of intracellular MHC II-MCC complexes. D4 staining was not detectable in infected M Φ (data not shown). Therefore, although CLB1 parasites expressed the secreted acid phosphatase, the MCC epitope was not processed for presentation via MHC II molecules in infected DC or M Φ at levels detectable with D4 or 2B4 T cells.

Based on these results, it was decided that the lack of detectable presentation of MCC may have been due to incorrect processing of the epitope from MBAP. Alternative strategies were therefore devised, also using secreted MBAP as the carrier molecule.

During experiments to attempt to optimise detection of MHCII-MCC complexes in infected cells, BM-DC were also infected with *L. mexicana* parasites and analysed by

Day 7 bone marrow-derived DC were incubated with MCC peptide, *L. mexicana* wild type (WT) amastigotes or CLB1-2 amastigotes for 18 hours at a ratio of 1:8. Cells were harvested and incubated with the complex-specific antibody, D4 followed by FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse antibody.

A, surface stain on DC cultured without antigen or with 50μ M MCC peptide, with or without 10μ g/ml LPS; B, surface stain on amastigote-infected cells; C, as B but DC were activated with 10μ g/ml LPS; D, intracellular stain on amastigoteinfected cells; E, as D but DC were activated with 10μ g/ml LPS; F, surface stain on cells incubated with fixed amastigotes; G, surface stain on cells incubated with supernatants from amastigote cultures.

M1 was set on DC incubated in the absence of antigen and stained with D4 and the appropriate secondary (first panel). Numbers in the top left hand corner of plots represent the mean of the population; percentages represent the percentage of cells in M1.
Figure 3.12: Detection of MHC II-MCC Complexes by D4

LPS (10µg/ml)



flow cytometry to ensure that the lack of presentation of MCC was not due to low level expression of MHC II molecules on the surface of infected cells. BM-DC were infected with EGFP-expressing amastigotes (see Chapter 4) overnight, harvested, fixed and stained with the anti-MHC II mAb 14.4.4. Figure 3.13 shows that, surprisingly, infected BM-DC did not up-regulate expression of surface MHC II. This effect is discussed further in Chapter 4. Based on this result, both immature BM-DC and BM-DC activated with LPS were used to assess presentation of MCC from fusion proteins.

3.4.2.2 CLB2 and CLB3: Alternative MBAP Fusion Proteins

3.4.2.2.1 Integration of CLB2 and CLB3 Constructs into the rRNA SSU Gene

As neither GST-int-L nor CLB1 appeared suitable vehicles for developing a MCC fusion protein, useful for antigen processing and presentation studies, two further constructs were made. First, MBAP:MCC transgenic parasites were generated in which MCC was cloned into the N-terminal of Modlap, as in the CLB1 construct, but without the T7 gene 10 tag: this tag was omitted as it was not detectable by Western blot analysis in the previous fusion protein, and could have conceivably obstructed processing of MCC. Second, MCC was cloned near to the C-terminus of Modlap, immediately prior to the stop codon. For both of these constructs the core $MCC_{(88-103)}$ epitope was used. Again, the DNA sequence of the MCC epitope was corrected for optimal codon usage by *L. mexicana* parasites (Langford *et al.* 1992).

The new N-terminal MCC construct, CLB2, was generated as described in section 2.1.8.3. CLB2 was cloned into pSSU-int (Appendix A-b) and lines of transgenic parasites were generated and analysed for correct integration of the transgene. Six lines carrying the CLB2 transgene were identified by PCR on genomic DNA using a reverse primer specific to *mbap* and oligonucleotide corresponding to MCC as a forward primer to amplify a 900bp product. Of these lines, two contained the construct correctly integrated into the 18S SSU rRNA gene, as ascertained using a forward primer specific to the rRNA promoter and a reverse primer specific to the transgene (Figure 3.14).

Figure 3.13: Infection of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* Amastigotes



Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* amastigotes overnight. Cells were then harvested, fixed, stained for MHC II expression and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants.

Figure 3.14: PCR Analysis to Show Correct Integration of CLB2 Lines into the Ribosomal Locus





- A. Genomic DNA from CLB2 clones was analysed by PCR for the presence of the mbap:MCC transgene. The forward primer was specific to the MCC oligonucleotide inserted into *mbap* and the reverse primer was specific to a sequence within *mbap* (blue arrows). The expected product size using these primers was 900bp.
- B. Integration into the ribosomal locus was verified using a forward primer external to the 5' homology arm of the vector, and specific to the promoter region, and a reverse primer specific to the splice leader sequence of the pSSU-int vector (red arrows). The expected band size for the PCR product from these two primers if the transgene was correctly integrated into the ribosomal locus was approximately 1.6kb. A PCR product was not seen when these primers were used with wild type (WT) genomic DNA. * marks positive lines of parasites.

Numbers represent wells containing Puromycin resistant parasites in a 24 well plate.

M = 1kb ladder.

The cloning strategy for the C-terminal MCC fusion protein is outlined in section 2.1.8.3. In this construct, the MCC epitope was flanked by a multiple cloning site (MCS) which could be used, if necessary, to modulate the sequences surrounding the MCC epitope in order to facilitate processing by host cell proteases (Figure 3.15). The plasmid map for this construct, CLB3, is shown in Appendix A-b. Lines of transgenic parasites were generated and selected by culture with Puromycin. Lines in which the construct was integrated into the SSU locus were identified by amplification of PCR products from genomic DNA (Figure 3.16): internal primers, including an MCC oligonucleotide, confirmed the presence of the intact mbap:MCC transgene in five CLB3 clones; of these, PCR products were amplified from two clones using primers specific for integration of the construct into the rRNA SSU gene.

3.4.2.2.2 CLB2 and CLB3: Over-expression of Acid Phosphatase Activity in Culture Supernatants

Supernatants from CLB2 and CLB3 lines were assayed for acid phosphatase activity, as described in section 3.4.2.1.2. None of the CLB2 lines tested expressed the acid phosphatase (Figure 3.17). Since *L. mexicana* parasites express an endogenous copy of the *CPB 2.8* gene, and the vector used contains two copies of the intergenic region from this gene flanking the antibiotic resistance gene, the *puromycin*^r gene may have been integrated into the *CPB 2.8* gene by homologous recombination in resistant lines which were shown by PCR not to have the transgene inserted into the SSU locus. However, it is not clear why the parasites containing the correctly integrated transgene did not express high levels of acid phosphatase activity.

All of the CLB3 clones tested expressed the functional acid phosphatase. However there was large variation between transgenic lines (Figure 3.17). Surprisingly, expression of acid phosphatase was as high from non-SSU integrants as from parasites containing the correctly integrated transgene. These results indicated that the fusion proteins were produced in an enzymatically active form, suggesting correct folding of Modlap. Based on these results two clones were selected: CLB3-13 in which the transgene was correctly integrated into the rRNA 18S gene and which expressed high levels of secreted acid

Figure 3.15: Schematic Diagram Showing Integration of CLB3 into the 18S SSU rRNA Gene





A. Schematic diagram of CLB3. The hatched box represents the *L. mexicana mbap* leader peptide. MCC₍₈₈₋₁₀₃₎ (black line) was cloned into a multiple cloning site that had been inserted into the AvrII(1820) site.

Numbers refer to the DNA sequence shown in Figure 3.8.

B. Integration of CLB3 into the small sub-unit rRNA 18S gene.

Figure 3.16: PCR Analysis to Show Correct Integration of CLB3 Lines into the Ribosomal Locus



- A. Genomic DNA from CLB3 lines was analysed by PCR for the presence of the mbap:MCC transgene. The forward primer was specific to a sequence within *mbap* and the reverse primer was specific to the MCC oligonucleotide inserted into *mbap* (blue arrows). The expected product size using these primers was 600bp.
- B. Integration into the ribosomal locus was verified using a forward primer external to the 5' homology arm of the vector, and specific to the promoter region, and a reverse primer specific to the splice leader sequence of the pSSU-int vector (red arrows). The expected PCR product from these two primers if the transgene was correctly integrated into the ribosomal locus was approximately 1.6kb. A PCR product was not seen when these primers where used with wild type (WT) genomic DNA. * marks positive lines of parasites.

Numbers represent wells containing Puromycin-resistant parasites from a 24 well plate.

M = 1kb ladder.

Figure 3.17: Detection of Acid Phosphatase Activity in Supernatants from MBAP:MCC Transgenic CLB2 and CLB3 Amastigotes



Acid phosphatase activity was measured in supernatants from 1×10^7 amastigotes cultured overnight in 1ml of serum-free medium. Activity was calculated from the change in absorbance of the substrate pNPP on incubation with culture supernatants and is expressed as units (1 unit = the amount of enzyme which hydrolyses 1μ M substrate per minute).

Values represent the average of 2 experiments. Error bars represent the s.e.m. from 2 experiments, each of which was performed in triplicate.

Numbers in **bold** represent parasite lines in which the transgene was correctly integrated into the SSU locus.

phosphatase; and CLB3-14 in which the transgene was integrated into the genome, although not downstream of the rRNA promoter, and which also expressed the acid phosphatase at high levels.

3.4.2.2.2 CLB3-infected DC and M Φ do not Stimulate the MCC-Specific T Cell Hybridoma 2B4

In order to analyse presentation of MCC from CLB3 transgenic parasites, CLB3-13 and CLB3-14 axenic amastigotes were used to infect CBA BM-DC, overnight, at a ratio of 8:1 amastigotes: DC. The following day the cells were washed thoroughly then incubated with MCC-specific T cells at a ratio of 1:10 for 18 hours. Stimulation of the T cells was followed by assaying levels of IL-2 in the culture supernatant using an IL-2-dependent cell line (Figure 3.18). As a positive control, 1µM or 10µM MCC peptide was incubated with non-infected DC for 4 hours prior to co-culture with T cells. Figure 3.18 shows the results from three independent experiments. These results demonstrate that DC infected with CLB3 transgenic parasites do not present the MCC epitope to T cells in vitro. Processing and presentation of *Leishmania*-derived MCC was also analysed in $M\Phi$. It had previously been shown that $M\Phi$ infected for seven days with parasites that overexpressed Modlap were able to stimulate MBAP-specific T cells (Wolfram et al. 1996), possibly because high concentrations of the antigen could build up in the PV which form in these cells. Therefore, bone marrow-derived M Φ were generated from CBA mice and infected with CLB3-13 and CLB3-14 axenic amastigotes either overnight, for four or seven days. The cultures were given IFNy either overnight or on days two, three and seven to up-regulate expression of MHC II molecules. Cells were then washed and incubated with T cells as above. Figure 3.18 shows that M Φ infected with CLB3 transgenic parasites did not stimulate MCC-specific T cells. Incubation of non-infected $M\Phi$ with MCC for four hours prior to adding the T cells resulted in IL-2 production, although levels were always much lower than with DC cultures.

These results were confirmed by flow cytometric analysis with D4. DC were incubated with CLB3-13 and CLB3-14 amastigotes over-night, harvested, fixed and stained with D4 and an appropriate secondary antibody. Figure 3.19 shows that no staining could be



Bone marrow-derived DC or $M\Phi$ were infected with transgenic amastigotes either overnight (DC) or for different times ($M\Phi$; see legend). Cells were then co-cultured with the MCC-specific T hybridoma 2B4 for 18 hours. IL-2 production by 2B4 cells was measured using an IL-2-dependent cell line. The values shown represent [³H]-thymidine incorporation by the IL-2 dependent cells.

As a positive control MCC peptide was incubated with DC or M Φ for 4 hours prior to culture with 2B4 cells.

Each experiment was performed in triplicate. ND, not done.

Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with 10μ M MCC peptide, 250μ M PCC protein or *L. mexicana* wild type (WT) or CLB3 amastigotes for 18 hours at a ratio of 1:8, with or without 10μ g/ml LPS. Cells were harvested and incubated with the complex-specific mAb, D4 followed by a FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse secondary antibody.

M1 was set on DC incubated in the absence of antigen, and stained with D4 and the appropriate secondary (first panel). Numbers in the top left corner represent the mean of the peak; percentages show the percentage of cells within M1.



Figure 3.19: Detection of MHC II-MCC Complexes in CLB3-Infected DC by D4

detected with the D4 antibody, indicating that MHC II-MCC complexes did not form at detectable levels in these cells.

3.5 Discussion

This chapter describes work that aimed to establish an experimental model with which to follow the fate of parasite-derived antigens *in vitro*, and in particular, to determine whether DC could efficiently process and present parasite antigens to naïve $CD4^+$ T cells for the initiation of the anti-*Leishmania* immune response. The experimental model was based on transgenic expression of the T cell epitope, $MCC_{(95-103)}$, within a carrier molecule that was expressed at high levels by the parasite. MHC II-MCC complexes would then be detected using the complex-specific mAb, D4, and a MCC-specific T cell hybridoma. Both of these read-outs provide highly sensitive means of detecting the formation of H2-E^k-MCC complexes.

It had previously been shown that over-expression of *Leishmania*-derived antigens is sufficient to surmount the block in antigen presentation observed for *Leishmania*derived proteins in infected M Φ (Wolfram *et al.* 1996). Therefore, in our experimental model, transgenes were integrated into the *L. mexicana* genome downstream of a promoter that drives high-level gene expression. Carrier proteins for the MCC epitope were selected that, once over-expressed, should not be detrimental to the intracellular survival of the parasite. Secreted forms of the fusion proteins were engineered for this strategy, since this should result in high concentrations of the antigen being accumulated in the PV of infected cells, and would possibly improve accessibility of fusion proteins for antigen processing and presentation: *L. mexicana* antigens have been shown to be efficiently presented to T cells when secreted into the PV (Wolfram *et al.* 1996), and secreted antigens primed a protective immune response against *Listeria monocytogenes* more efficiently than somatic antigens when delivered as part of a recombinant *Salmonella* vaccine (Hess *et al.* 1996). Two different carrier molecules were selected in which the MCC epitope was inserted at different positions within the gene. Of these, only the MBAP:MCC fusion proteins were successfully secreted at high levels by the parasites. However, MBAP:MCC-derived MHC II-MCC complexes could not be detected within, or on the surface of, DC and M Φ infected with these parasites using either D4 or MCC-specific T cells.

3.5.1 Integration of GST-int into the *L. mexicana* rRNA SSU Gene

In initial experiments GST was selected as the carrier molecule for MCC. A construct, GST-int, in which MCC was integrated into a non-conserved loop of the protein, had previously been generated (Colledge et al. 2001), and infection of DC with bacteria expressing this fusion protein resulted in the formation of MHC II-MCC complexes that could be detected with D4 (L. Colledge unpublished results). Since GST is a wellcharacterised protein, and is routinely over-expressed for the production of GST fusion proteins, this construct was an attractive molecule from which to deliver MCC in our system. The peptide leader sequence from L. mexicana mbap was fused onto the Nterminus of GST-int to target the protein for secretion. Parasite lines were generated with the GST-int-L transgene integrated into the rRNA 18S gene, and transgene expression was demonstrated by Northern blot analysis. However, GST protein could not be detected in these parasites or in culture supernatants, and DC infected with the transgenic parasites did not present MCC to T cells. These results suggested that the GST-int-L protein was not translated by these parasites, or was rapidly degraded upon synthesis, perhaps due to incorrect folding of the fusion protein. Therefore it was not a suitable epitope carrier for these studies.

3.5.2 Generation of Parasites Expressing MBAP:MCC Fusion Proteins

The *L. mexicana* membrane-bound acid phosphatase (MBAP) was chosen as an alternative carrier molecule for MCC. This protein was selected because it had previously been shown that deletion of the transmembrane domain resulted in secretion of the active enzyme by the parasites (Wolfram *et al.* 1996). Importantly, M Φ infected with these parasites stimulated MBAP-specific T cells, indicating that the protein was processed from the PV (Wolfram *et al.* 1996).

A first round of MBAP constructs was made in which $MCC_{(88-103)}$ was cloned into a site at the N-terminus of Modlap (i.e. secreted MBAP), immediately 3' to the leader peptide. An epitope tag was included to follow expression of the transgene. The extended $MCC_{(88-103)}$ peptide was chosen for this construct to maximise the chances of including protease recognition sites involved in mediating processing of the core 95-103 epitope. The construct, CLB1, was integrated into the 18S SSU rRNA gene, and transgenic lines were selected which over-expressed the acid phosphatase in the culture supernatant. MHC II-MCC complexes could not, however, be detected in DC or M Φ infected with CLB1 parasites using D4.

Since Modlap epitopes were previously shown to be presented by M Φ (Wolfram *et al.* 1996), we considered whether expression levels could explain this finding. The amount of protein produced was calculated using the specific activity of the enzyme, (specific activity = units of enzyme activity/mg protein; specific activity of Modlap = 380U/mg; (Wolfram *et al.* 1996)), and was estimated as 3.2×10^{-8} mg of protein produced by five CLB1-2 amastigotes over 18 hours. Assuming that the PV occupies most of the cell, the PV volume was estimated as $20 \mu m^3$. Therefore, the concentration of Modlap within the PV, assuming five amastigotes occupied the compartment, should be around 4mg/ml, assuming limited proteolysis of protein. This is approximately four fold more than the amount of PCC protein given to DC for T cell assays with the MCC-specific T cell

hybridoma, 2B4 (see section 4.8). These calculations indicate that MBAP:MCC was produced at high enough levels to permit detection $H2-E^{k}$ -MCC complexes, if they were formed.

Since Modlap was over-expressed by CLB1 parasites, but MCC was not presented by DC or M Φ , two alternative lines of parasites were generated. MCC₍₈₈₋₁₀₃₎ was cloned into the N-terminus of Modlap, as for the CLB1 construct, but without the T7 gene 10 epitope tag. Alternatively, MCC₍₈₈₋₁₀₃₎ was cloned into a site at the C-terminus of Modlap. Lines of CLB2 (N-terminal) and CLB3 (C-terminal) parasites were generated which contained the transgene inserted into the rRNA 18S SSU gene. However, MBAP was not present in the culture supernatant of CLB2 lines tested. The reason for this is not clear since CLB1 parasites, which also had MCC integrated into the same site, over-expressed the acid phosphatase, and all CLB2 constructs had been extensively sequenced.

CLB3 transgenic parasites did over-express the acid phosphatase, although there was variability between lines of parasites. Of these lines, two were selected, one in which the transgene was inserted into the rRNA locus, and which secreted high amounts of MBAP (CLB3-13), and a second in which the mbap:MCC transgene had inserted into genomic DNA outside the rRNA locus, and which also over-expressed the protein (CLB3-14). CLB3-infected APC did not stimulate T cells; MHC II-MCC complexes could not be detected by incubating infected DC and M Φ with the specific T cell hybridoma, 2B4. The lack of complex formation was confirmed by flow cytometric analysis of DC infected with CLB3-13 and CLB3-14 amastigotes, using D4.

These data demonstrate that MCC was not processed and presented from the MBAP carrier molecule in infected DC and M Φ , at levels that could be detected with D4 or specific T cells. Since several different constructs had been generated in which MCC was integrated at different positions within the protein, this work suggested that MCC would not be presented from MBAP-based fusion proteins without modifications to the current experimental model.

3.5.3 Processing of a Parasite-Derived Antigen by Infected DC and $M\Phi$

Three different hypotheses can be put forward to explain why MCC was not presented by DC or M Φ infected with transgenic *L. mexicana* parasites expressing MCC fusion proteins: first, the fusion proteins were degraded in the PV; second, functional proteins accumulated in the PV but MCC was not correctly processed by host proteases; third, the fusion proteins were not expressed at sufficiently high levels to overcome the inefficiency of antigen presentation in infected cells.

L. mexicana promastigotes and amastigotes produce high levels of cysteine proteases (Mottram *et al.* 1997) that have been implicated in the degradation of MHC II molecules within the PV (De Souza Leao *et al.* 1995). These proteases may also degrade parasite-derived antigens, which are secreted into the PV, before they can be bound by MHC II molecules. A role for parasite inhibition of presentation of parasite antigens is supported by data showing that intracellular *L. mexicana* antigens were presented to T cells only following drug-induced death of intracellular parasites (Wolfram *et al.* 1995).

The role of cysteine proteases in degrading MCC fusion proteins would be difficult to address: *L. mexicana* parasites in which cysteine protease genes had been deleted were less infective than wild type parasites (Mottram *et al.* 1996) and were rapidly killed once taken up by M Φ (Frame *et al.* 2000); inhibitors of cysteine proteases also reduced the infectivity of wild type promastigotes (Frame *et al.* 2000). These studies indicate that inhibitors of *L. mexicana* cysteine proteases could not be used to promote processing of intact MCC in this experimental model, since they also play a role in the survival of *Leishmania* parasites. Protease inhibitors would also inhibit Cathepsins S, which is essential for processing of T cell epitopes by the host cells. Therefore, while it is likely that the abundant cysteine proteases produced by amastigotes will not favour processing of the MCC epitope for presentation in the context of MHC II, this would be difficult to address directly within this model. An alternative approach would be to include sites in the constructs flanking MCC that stabilise the protein: the introduction of N- glycosylation sites or Serine/Threonine-rich repeats, which have been shown to be sites for O-linked post-translational modification of *Leishmania* proteins (Wiese *et al.* 1995), proximal to MCC might protect the fusion protein from proteases in the PV. However inclusion of these sites could also occlude processing of the epitope by host proteases.

A second hypothesis to account for the lack of detectable MHC II-MCC complexes in cells infected with MBAP:MCC parasites is that the protein is not degraded but that MCC is not correctly processed for loading onto MHC II molecules. A core peptide and its flanking sequences provide the signals necessary for its processing, independent of the carrier molecule in which it sits (Lo-Man and Leclerc 1997). However, the tertiary structure of the protein will determine which parts are the most accessible to the host processing machinery. It has also been shown that flanking residues of long peptide fragments, which bind MHC II but remain outside the peptide-binding groove, can hinder the interaction between the loaded MHC II molecule and the TCR (Moudgil et al. 1998), thus if MCC was not correctly processed the epitope could actively inhibit presentation. MCC was cloned into N-or C-terminal sites of mbap that, according to the predicted 3-D structure, would not be contained within the folded enzyme. The epitope should therefore be accessible to intracellular proteases. Protease cleavage sites are not well defined, but certain residues have been shown to be important: characterisation of the epitopes cleaved from tetanus toxin by Cathepsins D and E revealed that hydrophobic residues often flank the cleaved site (position P1 and P1') and there is low tolerance for positively charged polar residues in the site adjacent to this (P2) (Hewitt et al. 1997). The sequence of the MCS surrounding the C-terminal MCC was designed to avoid residues that are known to inhibit processing, but this was limited by constraints imposed by sequences for restriction enzyme sites; the amino acid at P1' was arginine, which is a basic, non-hydrophobic amino acid.

MBAP-specific T cells have previously been shown to be stimulated by M Φ infected with *L. mexicana* amastigotes that over-express Modlap at very high levels (Wolfram *et al.* 1996), indicating that the inaccessibility of parasite-derived antigens can be overcome by increasing the concentration of antigen. It may be, therefore, that while CLB1 and CLB3 parasites, in theory, produced sufficient protein for MHC II-MCC complexes to be detectable with D4, it was not sufficient to over-ride the inefficient processing of antigens that has been shown to occur in infected M Φ . In other studies in which M Φ infected with transgenic parasites stimulated T cells specific for parasitederived antigens, the transgenes were expressed from the episomal vector, pX, which is present at high copy numbers within the cells (Kaye *et al.* 1993; Wolfram *et al.* 1996). Thus, it would be useful to express the MCC fusion proteins generated here from pX and compare these parasites to those in which the transgene was integrated into the 18S rRNA locus. Use of pX would, however, introduce other limitations into the system, as described in section 3.2.1. In the present, pSSU-int-based system, incubation of MBAP-specific T cells with DC and M Φ infected with CLB transgenic parasites would determine whether the concentration of Modlap in the PV was sufficient for MBAP epitopes to be processed and presented in these cells and if so, whether the defect in presentation of MCC was due to the amount of antigen secreted into the PV.

3.5.4 Replacement of a Defined T Cell Epitope from Gp63 with MCC

In the light of the results using the MBAP transgenic parasites an alternative carrier molecule was chosen from which to express the MCC epitope. Unfortunately, time constraints prevented generation of these transgenic parasites, and therefore only the cloning strategy is presented in this thesis.

Glycoprotein 63 (gp63; also known as Leishmanolysin) is a 63 KDa zinc proteinase that is abundantly expressed on the surface of *Leishmania* promastigotes (Russell and Wilhelm 1986). T cells from cured Leishmaniasis patients produced IFN γ in response to restimulation with gp63 protein or peptide epitopes from gp63, indicating that presentation of gp63 antigens may be important in the development of the healing Th1 response *in vivo* (Russo *et al.* 1991; Russo *et al.* 1993). A number of defined T cell epitopes have also been identified in murine gp63, of which PT3 was shown to protect immunised mice against challenge with *L. major* promastigotes (Jardim *et al.* 1990), indicating that gp63 epitopes are highly immunogenic *in vivo*. This is supported by the fact that mice can be successfully immunised against Leishamaniasis by vaccination with Bacillus Calmette-Guerin (BCG) (Connell *et al.* 1993) or *Salmonella typhi* (Gonzalez *et al.* 1998) (Yang *et al.* 1990) vectors expressing gp63 epitopes. Gp63 was therefore considered a good candidate carrier molecule for MCC.

3.5.4.1 The Cloning Strategy

The gp63 DNA (Figure 3.20) and protein structure is highly conserved between different *Leishmania* species, with most of the differences being clustered at the N-terminal propeptide region or at the carboxy terminus (Medina-Acosta *et al.* 1989; Medina-Acosta *et al.* 1993). *Gp63* genes are present as multiple copies of a 3.1kb unit, which is tandemly repeated on a single chromosome. *L. mexicana* was shown to contain three classes of structurally distinct genes, C1, 2 and 3, containing five, four and one copy of the gene respectively. While comparable levels of gp63 RNA were found in both *L. mexicana* promastigotes and amastigotes, C1 transcripts were enriched in amastigotes, suggesting developmental regulation of different classes of *gp63* genes (Medina-Acosta *et al.* 1993). Abundant expression of *gp63* by promastigotes is thought to be due to polycistronic transcription of the *gp63* genes, which are subsequently trans-spliced into multiple mRNAs (Button *et al.* 1989).

A cloning strategy (see section 2.1.8.4) was therefore devised in which the amino acid sequence encoding a stretch of known gp63 T cell epitopes was replaced by the MCC₍₉₅₋₁₀₃₎ epitope (Figure 3.21). The protease sites that flank the endogenous gp63 T cell epitope should thus mediate the correct processing of MCC. The *gp63 C1* gene was amplified from *L. mexicana* wild type genomic DNA by PCR. Mutation of the GPI anchor addition site (Asn 577) has been shown to result in secretion of the intact gp63 protein (McGwire and Chang 1996). A truncated form of the *gp63 C1* gene was therefore cloned by insertional mutagenesis to create a TGA stop codon adjacent to Asp 560. It is from this point that the greatest divergence occurs between the amino acid sequences of different *Leishmania* species, indicating that this region is not essential for

DNA sequence of the *L. mexicana* gp63 C1 gene (accession number X64394). Blue underlined codons are the start and stop codons; the amino terminus of the mature protein is underlined and marked with an asterix (*); letters indicate the amino acids which make up the M Φ binding motif and the HEXXH motif of the active site; regions covering human and mouse T cell epitopes are underlined.

A stop codon was introduced immediately downstream of the aspartate residue at 1927 (green) to remove the GPI anchor addition site and produce a secreted protein. The maximum sequence divergence between species is within this region. The cytosine of the glutamine residue of the active site was mutated to a guanosine (red codon) to inactive the protease. The Hind III sites (AAGCTT) used to insert MCC are shown in red.

Differences between the published *L. mexicana* sequence and the *L. mexicana* strain used for these experiments are indicated with red stars.

Figure 3.20: Sequence of the *L. mexicana* gp63 C1 Gene

AATTCCCCATTTCCGCCATTCACAGACCCATCTCCCCGTGCCCCCTCCCT	60 120 180
CCCCGCGCCGCAGACCCATGCCCGTCGACAGCAGCACGCAC	240
GCCGCGCCCCTGGTGCGCCTCGCGGCTGCCGGCGCGCGC	300
GCGGCCGCGTGGGCACACGCCGGTGCGCCCCAGCACCGCTGCATCCACGACGCGATGCAG	360
GCCCGCGTGCTGCAGTCGGTGGCGGCTCAGCGCATGGCCCCCAGCGCGGTGTCCGCGGTG	420
GGCCTGCCGTACGTGTCCGTGGTCCCCGTCGAGAACGCCAGCACCCTCGACTACTCGCTA	480
* TCGGACAGCACGTCGCCCGGTGTT <u>G</u> TGCGCGCCGCGAACTGGGGCGCGCGCGGGGCGCGCGCGCG	540
GTCTCCGCCGAAGACCTCACCGACCCCGCCTACCACTGCGCTCGTGTTGGGCAGCAGGTC	600
AACAACCACGCCGGCGACATCGTCACCTGCACCGCCGAGGACATCCTCACCGACGAGAAG	660
CGCGACACCCTCGTCAAGCACCTCGTCCCGCAGGCGCTGCAGCTGCACAGGGAGCGCCTG	720
AAGGTGCGGCAGGTGCAGGGCAAGTGGAAGGTGACGGGCATGGCGGACGTGATCTGTGGC	780
GACTTCAAGGTGCCGCCGGAGCACATCACGGAAGGCGTGACCAACACCGACTTCGTGCTG	840
TACGTCGCCTCCGTGCCGAGCGAGGAGAGTGTGCTGGCGTGGGCCACGACCTGCCAGGTG	900
S TTCCCTGACGGCCACCCAGCCGTCGGCGTCATCAACATCCCCGCGGCGAACATTGCGTCG	960
R Y D CGG <u>TACGACCAGCTCGTCACGCGTGTCGTCACGCACGAGATGGCGCACGCG</u> GTGGGCTTC	1020
AGCGGCACATTCTTTGGGGGCCGTCGGCATCGTGCAAGAGGTGCCGCACCTTCGGCGCAAG	1080
GACTTTAATGTGTCGGTGATCACCAGCAGCACGGTGGTGGCGAAGGCGCGTGAGCAGTAC	1140
GGCTGCAACAGCTTGGAGTATCTGGAGATTGAGGACCAGGGCGGTGCGGGCTCCGCCGGG	1200
TCGCATATCAAGATGCGCAACGCCAAGGACGAGCTCATGGCGCCTGCCGCATCTGCCGGG	1260
TACTACACCGCCCTGACCATGGCCGTCTTCCAGGACCTCGGCTTCTACCAGGCGGACTTC	1320
AGCAAGGCCGAGGAGATGCCGTGGGGGCCGGAACGTCGGCTGCGCCTTCCTCAGCGAGAAG	1380
TGCATGGCGAAGAACGTCACGAAGTGGCCGGCGATGTTCTGCAATGAGAGTGCGGCCACC	1440
ATACGGTGCCCCACCGACCGTCTGAGAGTCGGAACTTGTGGTATAACAGCATACAATACT	1500
TCGTTGGCGACGTACTGGCAGTACTTCACCAATGCGTCCCTCGGGGGGCTACTCGCCATTC	1560
CTGGACTACTGCCCGTTTGTTGTTGGCTACAGGAATGGCTCGTGCAATCAGGATGCGTCG	1620
ACGACACCGGACCTTCTCGCTGCGTTCAACGTCTTCTCCGAGGCCGCGCGGGGCATCGAT	1680
AAGCTT AAGCTT GGCGCCTTCACGCCGAAGAACAGAACCGCTGCGGATGGAT	1740
AACGTGAAGTGCGACACGGCCACGCGCACGTACAGCGTCCAGGTGCGCGCGC	1800
TACGCCAACTGCACGCCGGGCCTCAGAGTTAAGTTGAGCAGCGTGAGCGACGCCTTCGAG	1860
AAGGGCGGCTACGTCACGTGCCCGCCGTACGTGGAGGTGTGCCAGGGCAACGTCAAAGCT	1920
GCCAAGGACTTTGCAGGCGACACCGACAGCTCCAGCAGCGCCGATGACGCTGCCGACAAA	1980
GAGGCGATGCAGCGGTGGAGTGACAGGATGGCCGCCTTGGCTACTGCGACGACGCTGCTG	2040
${\tt CTAGGAATGGTGCTCTCTCTCATGGCACTCCTCGTGGTGCGGCTACTCCTTACCAGCTCC}$	2100
CCCTGGTGCTGCTGCAGACTGGGGGGGGGGCTCCCGACG TGA GTTGCGGCGGCCCACTAGCTT	2160
GAAACGGCGTGAAGAGGCTGGGCATGG	2187

Figure 3.21: Schematic Diagram Showing Integration of Gp63:MCC into the 18S SSU rRNA Gene



Gp63:MCC



- A. Schematic diagram of gp63:MCC. The hatched box represents the propertide which is cleaved to form the mature protein. MCC₍₉₅₋₁₀₃₎ (black line) was cloned into a Hind III site that had been inserted immediately upstream of the deleted C-terminus. The amino acid sequence of the active site is shown, demonstrating the site-directed mutation from glutamate (E) to aspartate (D). Numbers refer to the DNA sequence shown in Figure 3.20.
- B. Integration ofgp 63:MCC into the 18S small sub-unit rRNA gene.

the correct folding and function of the protein. Sequencing of the cloned gp63 C1 gene revealed a number of differences compared to the sequence published in Genbank (Figure 3.20). These differences were, however, consistent among all of the clones tested, indicating that they were due to differences between the strain of *L. mexicana* parasites used, and not mutations introduced by PCR. This was confirmed by direct sequencing of the gp63 gene from wild type *L. mexicana* genomic DNA.

Gp63 is a metalloprotease and secretion of large amounts of this enzyme into the PV may not favour the generation of intact T cell epitopes. It had previously been shown that mutation of Glutamate 265, within the HEXXH motif of the active site, was sufficient to create a mutated protein that was expressed at the same level as the wild type protein, but the enzyme activity of which was greatly reduced (McGwire and Chang 1996). Therefore, this amino acid was mutated by site-directed mutagenesis in the cloned gp63 constructs by converting the GAG glutamate codon to a GAC aspartate codon (E265 to D265; see section 2.1.8.4).

The dominant murine and human gp63 CD4⁺ T cell epitopes have been well characterised (Jardim *et al.* 1990; Russo *et al.* 1993). Immunisation of BALB/c mice with the murine PT3 epitope, but not other putative epitopes, resulted in delayed lesion development, suggesting that T cells which recognise this peptide are important in controlling the response (Jardim *et al.* 1990). However, this epitope overlaps the active site of gp63, including the HEXXH motif and is highly conserved between species, indicating that disruption of the amino acid sequence would be detrimental to the folding and function of gp63. Therefore, the core MCC₍₉₅₋₁₀₃₎ epitope was cloned into an alternative region at the C-terminal of the gene that contained three overlapping T cell epitopes, PT6, PT7 and PT8 (Figure 3.20). GP63 has a highly globular tertiary structure, suggesting that domains in the middle of the protein would be relatively inaccessible to host proteases. Cloning of MCC into a site toward the exposed C-terminus of the protein may therefore have the added benefit of promoting cleavage by proteases. The amino acid sequence chosen was relatively similar to the MCC epitope, and avoided potential N-glycosylation sites that are important for the stability of the protein (McGwire and

Chang 1996). An epitope tag was not included in the construct at this point, but would be included in a second round of constructs if the transgene was correctly expressed by transfected parasites.

3.5.4.2 Integration of Gp63:MCC Fusion Proteins into the rRNA SSU Gene

The gp63:MCC construct was electroporated into L. mexicana promastigotes and individual lines were expanded, as described previously. Genomic DNA was extracted and analysed by PCR for correct integration of the transgene. Figure 3.22 shows that amplification of genomic DNA with primers specific for gp63 produced the expected 1kb band in all but one of the lanes, including the wild type. When the forward primer, which recognises a sequence in the promoter region of the rRNA gene, was used with a reverse primer specific for gp63, however, the predicted 3kb product was not amplified (Figure 3.22). Three rounds of transfectants were analysed (72 lines of Puromycin resistant parasites) but in none was the transgene integrated into the 18S rRNA small sub-unit gene. This strongly indicated that the transgene and antibiotic resistance gene were preferentially targeted to a locus other than the ribosomal locus. Gp63:MCC may have been integrated by homologous recombination into one of the clusters of gp63 genes expressed by L. mexicana parasites, however, this does not account for the fact that the antibiotic resistance marker was also expressed by these parasites. These results indicate that there may be a strong selective pressure against parasites that express high levels of gp63, although the protease should be inactive in these parasites, and integration into the 18S rRNA small sub-unit gene does not always drive high levels of transgene expression. Furthermore, over-expression of gp63 has not been reported to be detrimental to the survival of the parasites (Liu and Chang 1992). Large numbers of parasites may, therefore, need to be screened before positive clones are identified. Unfortunately, time constraints meant that this was not possible within the time frame of this thesis.



- A. Genomic DNA from gp63:MCC lines was analysed for the presence of the gp63 as a positive PCR control. All clones and wild type (WT) genomic DNA should be positive because these primers will recognise the endogenous copy of the gene. An approximately 1kb product was predicted from these primers (blue arrows).
- B. Genomic DNA from gp63:MCC lines was analysed for integration into the ribosomal locus by PCR using a forward primer external to the 5' homology arm of the vector, and specific to the promoter region, and a reverse primer specific to a sequence within gp63 (red arrows). The predicted product would be approximately 3kb. No product was amplified by PCR from any of the lines indicating that the gp63:MCC transgene had not been targeted to the correct locus.

M = 1kb ladder.

3.6 Concluding Remarks

Leishmania-derived antigens are not efficiently processed and presented by infected M Φ . This chapter has described attempts to establish an experimental model system with which to explore the fate of parasite-derived antigens in infected DC and M Φ . Presentation of antigens from *Leishmania*-infected DC has not been well characterised, although it is assumed that MHC II-*Leishmania* antigen complexes on the surface of activated DC prime the initial anti-parasite immune response.

DC infected with parasites expressing the T cell epitope MCC did not stimulate antigenspecific T cells, and MHC II-MCC complexes could not be detected using the highly sensitive complex-specific mAb, D4. This indicates that the experimental model proposed at the beginning of this chapter requires further modification before MHC IIparasite-derived antigen complexes can be directly visualised in vitro. All of the hypotheses addressed in section 3.6 may contribute to the inefficient processing of Leishmania-derived antigens in infected DC and M Φ and it will be important to generate transgenic lines of parasites that express very high levels of the fusion protein to ensure that antigen concentration is not a limiting factor in these experiments. As exogenous antigens are efficiently processed and presented by Leishmania promastigote- or amastigote-infected DC (see Chapter 4), MHC II-parasite-derived MCC complexes should be detectable in infected DC once the carrier molecule and processing of the epitope have been optimised. The experiment presented in Figure 3.13 indicated that, unexpectedly, infection of BM-DC with L. mexicana amastigotes did not induce upregulation of surface MHC II. This observation led to a more extensive analysis of the effect of up-take of L. mexicana parasites in vitro.

Chapter 4:

Characterisation of Infection of Bone Marrow-Derived DC with *L. mexicana* Parasites

(Bennett et al EJI (2001) see Appendix C)

4.1 Introduction

 $M\Phi$ are the primary reservoir for *Leishmania* parasites. However, they are not activated upon infection but rather become refractory to additional stimuli (Weinheber *et al.* 1998), and are inefficient in the presentation of *Leishmania* antigens to T cells (Kima *et al.* 1996; Prina *et al.* 1996; Wolfram *et al.* 1996). DC are required for the initiation of primary T cell responses, and it is assumed that parasite-infected DC must prime the T cell response to *Leishmania*. Supporting this, it has been demonstrated that infected LC can migrate from the site of infection to the draining LN, and that DC from LN of infected mice can stimulate parasite-primed T cells *in vitro* (Moll *et al.* 1993). Parasites and parasite-derived material can also be detected in DC in the LN (Moll *et al.* 1993) and spleen of infected mice (Gorak *et al.* 1998). However, the specific interaction between DC and *Leishmania* parasites has not been examined in detail, and is of particular interest given the close lineage relationship between DC and M Φ .

Incubation of *L. mexicana* parasites expressing the MBAP:MCC fusion protein with BM-DC did not induce up-regulation of surface levels of MHC II (see Figure 3.13). This was contrary to expectations since *Leishmania* have been assumed to activate DC upon uptake similar to other pathogens (Reis e Sousa *et al.* 1999): several studies have documented the up-regulation of activation markers on the surface of different DC populations upon uptake of *Leishmania* amastigotes and/or promastigotes (von Stebut *et al.* 1998; Marovich *et al.* 2000; Qi *et al.* 2001), while others have reported infection-induced production of IL-12 (Gorak *et al.* 1998; Konecny *et al.* 1999). However, *ex*

vivo-derived DC are sensitive to manipulation and constitutively mature upon culture *in* vitro (Gallucci et al. 1999). Furthermore, lesion-derived parasites will be opsonised by complement and Ig (Guy and Belosevic 1993; Peters et al. 1995) and exposed to other host proteins in the inflamed tissue (Winter et al. 1994). Thus, it is difficult to define in these systems the ability of *Leishmania* parasites *per se* to activate DC in the absence of other contaminating factors.

This chapter describes experiments that aimed to characterise the interaction between *L*. *mexicana* parasites and DC, through the use of a highly controlled *in vitro* model.

4.2 The Experimental Model (Figure 4.1)

DC can be generated in culture from bone marrow-derived precursors cultured with granulocyte/MQ-colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF). Unlike L. major parasites, L. mexicana maintain their virulence after long-term culture in vitro and L. mexicana promastigotes can be transformed into axenic amastigotes without passage though a host (Bates et al. 1992; Bates 1994); see also section 2.3.1.2)). Axenic amastigotes of different Leishmania species have been well characterised and display a number of morphological and biochemical markers which distinguish them as bone fide amastigotes (Gupta et al. 2001): ultrastructural analyses revealed the presence of amastigote-specific organs such as the megasome and a non-emergent flagellum (Bates et al. 1992); axenic amastigotes have increased cysteine protease (Bates et al. 1992) and nuclease activity (Bates 1994); they show decreased total protein content, including down-regulation of the secreted acid phosphatase (Bates 1994); surface LPG is downregulated (Saar et al. 1998); and axenic amastigotes are more infective than promastigotes in vitro and in vivo (Gupta et al. 2001). The combination of these tools provided an in vitro model in which BM-DC were incubated with L. mexicana promastigotes and amastigotes in vitro. In order to identify cells infected with live parasites, these experiments utilised transgenic parasites in which the enhanced green

Figure 4.1: The Model



Schematic representation of an *in vitro* system with which to study the effects of uptake of *Leishmania* parasites on the activation status of DC.

fluorescent (EGFP) gene was integrated into a small subunit ribosomal locus by homologous recombination (Misslitz *et al.* 2000): integration of the transgene into this locus ensures high expression levels (see Chapter 3). Characterisation of these transgenic parasites demonstrated that the virulence of EGFP-expressing parasites was unimpaired compared to wild type parasites *in vivo*, although lesion development was marginally delayed (Bennett *et al.* 2001). Thus, in the experiments described below, cultured EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* parasites were used to infect *in vitro*-generated immature BM-DC. The activation status of DC was subsequently followed by measuring up-regulation of CD86, MHC II, CD54 and production of IL-12.

4.3 Phenotypic Characterisation of BM-DC

BM-DC were generated by culture of bone marrow precursors in medium containing GM-CSF, as described in section 2.4.3. DC, which are semi-adherent, were harvested into new plates on day 7, by vigorous washing, leaving behind the firmly adherent M Φ . This protocol was carefully optimised to minimise the presence of contaminating M Φ since *Leishmania* parasites may show a preference for this cell type over DC. Once harvested, DC were cultured for 18 hours with or without LPS and IFN γ as maturation stimuli. The purity of these DC preparations was assessed by phenotypic characterisation with a panel of surface markers (Figure 4.2A).

Immature BM-DC derived by this protocol were routinely $CD11c^+$, $CD11b^+$ and $DEC-205^{10}$, consistent with the immunophenotype of myeloid lineage DC (Kamath *et al.* 2000). More than 80% of the cells were routinely intermediate for surface CD86, CD54 and MHC II, and expressed high intracellular levels of MHC II (Figure 4.2A). Overnight incubation of immature DC with 1µg/ml LPS and 10³ U/ml IFN γ resulted in the upregulation of CD86, CD54 and MHC II in at least 50% of the population (Figure 4.2A). Double staining with MHC II and CD11c indicated that 70% of the population were DC (Gallucci *et al.* 1999) (Figure 4.2B). No contamination with T cells or M Φ was apparent



A. Day 7 BM-DC were incubated for 18 hours with or without 1μ g/ml LPS and 10^{3} U/ml IFN γ as maturation stimuli. Cells were harvested and stained for surface antigens. For total MHC II cells were fixed and permeabilised before staining. Dotted lines represent isotype controls except CD11c = unstained cells and DEC205 = secondary antibody only.

Numbers represent the percentage of positive cells for that marker / the percentage of cells which up-regulated that marker on addition of LPS and IFN γ .



- B. B M-DC were co-stained for CD11c and MHC II. 70% represents the number of cells gated in the upper right quadrant.
- C. Day 7 BM-DC were harvested and enriched for CD11c positive cells by magnetic sorting. CD11c⁺ DC were then plated out for 18 hours with or without 1µg/ml LPS, harvested and stained for surface activation markers.

Numbers indicated the percentage of activate cells within the immature population (thin lines).

in these preparations, as determined by staining with anti-CD3 and F4/80 respectively (Figure 4.2A). Staining with anti-B220 revealed a small population of B cells. These were generally smaller cells and were therefore excluded from further analysis by gating on forward and side scatter. Although further purification of day 7 BM-DC by enrichment for CD11c⁺ cells by magnetic activated cell sorting (MACS) resulted in a DC population which was more than 85% pure (based on CD86 and MHC II levels in immature cells), phenotypic analysis indicated that these DC became activated upon replating and therefore, this procedure was not used for this study (Figure 4.2C).

4.4 Leishmania Parasites are Internalised by BM-DC

In order to verify that L. mexicana parasites were taken up by DC, day 7 BM-DC were incubated with stationary phase EGFP-parasites at a ratio of 1:8 for 18 hours at 37°C. This ratio was selected because it resulted in optimal uptake of parasites, with few extracellular parasites remaining in the culture after 18 hours. Preliminary experiments had demonstrated that the effect of uptake of L. mexicana parasites was the same at 4, 12, 18 and 24 hours (data not shown). Thus, an 18 hour incubation was routinely used for these experiments. In contrast to *in vitro* infection of M Φ , parasite uptake by DC could not be monitored by light microscopy, as parasites were not clearly visible inside DC. However, microscopic analysis indicated that they had disappeared from the culture medium. Infection was therefore monitored by flow cytometry. EGFP⁺ DC were clearly visible by FACS (Figure 4.3A), suggesting that parasites had been taken up by DC in culture. However, this analysis could not determine whether parasites had been internalised or were adhered to the cell surface. Therefore, to ascertain whether Leishmania were truly internalised by BM-DC, cells were infected with wild type parasites, fixed, and stained with an anti-parasite serum. Figure 4.3B shows that antiparasite staining could be seen only when the cells were permeabilised, indicating that the parasites were intracellular and not on the surface. Incubation of BM-DC with *Leishmania* amastigotes resulted in infection of 37.0±3.9% (mean ±s.e.m.) of the cells

Figure 4.3: Internalisation of *Leishmania* Parasites by BM-DC



- A. D ay 7 BM-DC were incubated with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* amastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed and analysed by flow cytometry.
- B. B M-DC were incubated with wild-type *L. mexicana* amastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed and stained with an anti-parasite serum with or without permeabilisation.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells within the marker

based on percentages of EGFP⁺ cells in the population. Incubation with promastigotes lead to infection of $22.7\pm4.1\%$ of the cells, although green fluorescence was always decreased in promastigote-infected cultures probably due to higher levels of degradation of promastigotes than amastigotes, suggesting this value may be an underestimate. Table 4.1 presents the complete FACS data set for internalization of *Leishmania* parasites in six different experiments.

4.5 Incubation of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* Promastigotes or Promastigote Lysate Results in Activation of a Small Percentage of BM-DC

To determine whether uptake of *L. mexicana* promastigotes *in vitro* could activate BM-DC, DC were incubated with EGFP-promastigotes, harvested, fixed, and stained for surface activation markers. Flow cytometric analysis revealed that approximately 90% of the population remained immature, as indicated by surface levels of CD86, MHC II and CD54. This immature population contained both infected and non-infected cells (Figure 4.4A).

A small, but statistically significant percentage of cells (14.7 \pm 2.2%) showed increased levels of CD86 expression compared to immature non-infected DC, indicating activation (immature DC versus promastigote-infected cultures, p<0.01; statistical analyses are based on the numbers of CD86⁺ cells in the upper quadrants of dot plots, and are calculated from the average of five different experiments using Student's T test; statistical analyses based on MHC II expression are shown in Table 4.2; CD54 levels were not included in these calculations because the difference in CD54 expression between immature and activated DC was much smaller than for CD86 and MHC II, and therefore is not a sensitive marker for the effect of uptake of parasites on the cells).
Table 4.1:

Complete FACS Data Showing Infection Levels of BM-DC Incubated with *L. mexicana* Promastigotes or Amastigotes.

	Percentage of EGFP ⁺ cells				
	Promastigotes	Amastigotes			
Expt. 1	8.8	32.1			
Expt. 2	28.2	22.2			
Expt. 3	17.9	35.6			
Expt. 4	29.2	39.3			
Expt. 5	29.1	49.7			
Expt. 6		43.3			
Mean	22.7	37.0			
s.e.m.	4.1	3.9			

Numbers indicate the percentage of EGFP positive cells after incubation of day 7 BM-DC with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes for 18 hours.



Figure 4.4: Incubation of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* Promastigotes

- A. D ay 7 BM-DC were incubated with stationary phase EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.
- B. P romastigotes were opsonised by incubation with 5% normal mouse serum and washed thoroughly before incubation with day 7 BM-DC. After 18 hours incubation, cells were harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. The plots shown are representative of 5 separate experiments. Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) and upper right (UR) quadrants for FACS plots of immature BM-DC, or BM-DC incubated with *L. mexicana* amastigotes, promastigotes, opsonised promastigotes or 3.0μ m latex beads, for 18 hours and stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies. For amastigote-, promastigote- and opsonised promastigote-infected populations the values in the upper left quadrant represent the activated EGFP negative cells and the values in the upper right quadrant represent the activated EGFP positive cells.

Values are not included for CD54 data because CD54 levels were not as indicative of activation as CD86 or MHC II.

CD86: Immature BM-DC versus promastigotes p<0.01; immature versus amastigotes, p=0.24; promastigotes versus opsonised promastigotes p=0.76; immature versus beads p=0.43; amastigotes versus beads p=0.89; promastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p<0.01; amastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p<0.01.

MHC II: Immature BM-DC versus promastigotes p=0.76; immature versus amastigotes, p=0.67; promastigotes versus opsonised promastigotes p=0.63; immature versus beads p=0.80; amastigotes versus beads p=0.50; promastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.15; amastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.48.

Table 4.2:

Complete FACS Data Showing Infection of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* Parasites or Latex Beads.

CD86											
	Immat	ure	Amasti	gotes	Promas	Promastigotes		Ops. prom.		Beads	
	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR	
Expt.1	4.7	0.1	4.4	1.5	7.8	0.9	15.6	1.4	2.1	1.3	
Expt.2	4.2	0.1	4.5	1.0	13.0	6.6	13.8	0.2	5.1	0.0	
Expt.3	4.6	0.1	2.9	1.3	9.3	2.0	10.1	7.0	8.1	0.1	
Expt.4	5.8	0.3	6.2	3.5	16.8	3.1	13.5	0.4	4.1	0.1	
Expt.5	5.4	0.1	3.8	2.5	10.6	3.2			9.6	0.0	
Mean	4.9	0.1	4.4	2.0	11.5	3.1	13.3	2.3	5.8	0.3	
s.e.m.	0.3	0.0	0.5	0.5	1.6	1.0	1.2	1.6	1.4	0.3	

MHC II										
	Immat	ure	Amasti	igotes	Promas	tigotes	Ops. p	rom.	Beads	
	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR
Expt.1	5.8	0.0	3.1	0.8	3.6	0.3	7.7	0.2	2.5	2.2
Expt.2	5.6	0.0	4.4	0.7	2.4	2.3	6.0	0.1	5.0	0.0
Expt.3	4.2	0.1	2.5	1.1	2.2	0.3	7.0	0.6	4.8	0.0
Expt.4	17.0	0.1	9.3	4.0	22.2	1.5	23.5	1.5	4.1	0.1
Expt.5	3.6	0.1	7.9	11.5	6.3	2.2			13.5	0.2
Mean	7.2	0.1	5.4	3.6	7.3	1.3	11.1	0.6	6.0	0.5
s.e.m.	2.5	0.0	1.3	2.1	3.8	0.4	4.2	0.3	1.9	0.4

However activated BM-DC tended to be negative for EGFP, suggesting that these cells did not contain live parasites. The data presented in Figure 4.4 indicate that there is a larger increase in CD86 expression on incubation with *L. mexicana* promastigotes than MHC II, indicating differential regulation of these surface markers. The mean percentage of cells expressing high levels of CD86 on incubation with promastigotes is 14.7 ± 2.2 compared to $5.1\pm0.3\%$ of immature cells, whereas $8.7\pm3.9\%$ and $7.2\pm2.5\%$ of the cells, respectively, up-regulated MHC II (Table 4.2). These data indicate that CD86 expression is more sensitive to promastigote-derived activating stimuli than MHC II.

In vivo, uptake of Leishmania promastigotes is likely to be mediated by opsonisation of parasites with Ig. In order to determine whether opsonisation of promastigotes enhanced uptake and activation of DC, promastigotes were incubated with 5% inactivated normal mouse serum for 5 minutes and washed thoroughly before their addition to the BM-DC cultures (Figure 4.4B). Opsonisation of promastigotes did not enhance activation of DC. $15.5\pm0.9\%$ of the cells up-regulated expression of CD86. This percentage was not significantly different from the percentage of cells activated upon incubation with non-opsonised promastigotes (p=0.76, numbers represent the mean ±s.e.m of four different experiments, see Table 4.2). Infection levels, as measured by green fluorescence appeared lower in these cells, probably due to enhanced degradation of these opsonised parasites.

Since incubation of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* promastigotes induced activation of a small percentage of cells that did not appear to contain green parasites, it was interesting to assess whether parasite debris alone could also activate DC. BM-DC were incubated with promastigote freeze/thaw lysates for 18 hours and then analysed for surface levels of activation markers. Incubation of BM-DC with lysates from promastigote numbers which were equivalent to giving intact promastigotes at a ratio of 1:8 led to activation of 13.6 \pm 1.8% of the population, based on levels of CD86 expression (Figure 4.5 and Table 4.3). This was equivalent to the percentage of cells activated on incubation with intact promastigotes (percentage of cells activated upon incubation with promastigotes versus percentage of cells activated upon incubation with an equivalent amount of promastigote



Figure 4.5: Incubation of BM-DC with Different Amounts of *L. mexicana* Promastigote Lysate

Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with different amounts of promastigote freeze/thaw lysate for 18 hours. Cells were then harvested and stained for surface activation markers. Amounts of lysate were calculated based on the numbers of intact promastigotes lysed. Ratios represent number of parasites lysed:DC.

M1 marks the percentage of activated cells compared to the immature population. Histograms are representative of 3 separate experiments.

Table 4.3:

Complete FACS Data for BM-DC Incubated with Promastigote Lysate.

CD86					
	Immature	Promastigote	Prom	astigote l	ysates
		Lysate 8:1	5:1	10:1	20:1
	UL	UL			
Expt.1	4.1	13.7	17.3	23.7	31.9
Expt.2	3.3	8.7	10.3	15.0	16.7
Expt.3	4.5	11.2	16.4	15.4	20.0
Expt.4	6.9	15.2			
Expt.5	3.4	19.3			
Mean	4.4	13.6	14.7	18.0	22.9
s.e.m.	0.7	1.8	2.2	2.8	4.6

	Immature	Promastigote	Promastigote lysates
		Lysate 8:1	5:1 10:1 20:1
	UL	UL	
Expt.1	25.4	20.7	39.6 42.4 40.7
Expt.2	12.8	14.1	14.5 21.9 24.2
Expt.3	8.1	12.5	13.8 19.5 21.6
Expt.4	8.1	14.2	
Expt.5	11.2	13.3	
Mean	13.1	15.0	22.6 27.9 28.8
s.e.m.	3.2	1.5	8.5 7.3 6.0

Numbers on the left hand side of the tables indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) quadrants of FACS plots of non-infected BM-DC or BM-DC incubated with *L. mexicana* promastigote freeze / thaw lysates at an equivalent of 8 parasites : 1 DC. Cells were harvested after 18 hours incubation with lysate, stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers on the right hand side of the tables are from 3 different experiments in which BM-DC were incubated with different amounts of promastigote lysate.

CD86: Immature BM-DC versus promastigote lysate 8:1, p<0.01; promastigotes versus lysate 8:1 p=0.73.

MHC II: Immature BM-DC versus promastigote lysate 8:1, p=0.62; promastigotes versus lysate 8:1 p=0.23.

lysate p=0.73; value calculated from four different experiments) (see Figure 4.4). However, this percentage could not be increased on addition of more lysate, possibly due either to the large amount of proteases released on lysis of *Leishmania* parasites, or due to the limited number of cells in the culture that were susceptible to this activating stimulus. The data presented in Figure 4.5 suggest that, as for incubation with live promastigotes, CD86 is more sensitive to the promastigote-encoded activating stimulus than MHC II or CD54. This difference was not, however, reflected in the other experiments included in this data set (see Table 4.3).

Therefore, these data indicate that uptake of intact *L. mexicana* promastigotes *in vitro* does not activate BM-DC, but that a promastigote product is able to activate a percentage of BM-DC.

4.6 Infection with *L. mexicana* Amastigotes does not Induce Activation of BM-DC

BM-DC were also incubated with *L. mexicana* axenic amastigotes. Figure 4.6A illustrates that infection with amastigotes does not induce activation of BM-DC. Both the EGFP⁺ and EGFP⁻ populations remained immature, as judged by levels of surface expression of CD86, MHC II and CD54. There was no significant difference between the percentage of CD86⁺ cells in the upper quadrants of flow cytometric plots of immature DC versus those incubated with amastigotes (p=0.24, values based on percentages from five different experiments, Table 4.2). There was no significant difference between MHC II levels on EGFP⁺ and EGFP⁻ DC (upper left versus upper right quadrants) derived from the same culture (p=0.48), however, EGFP⁺ cells within the amastigote-infected cultures did appear to be retarded in expression of CD86 compared to the EGFP⁻ cells (upper left versus upper right p<0.01). This observation supports the idea of differential regulation of CD86 and MHC II expression on the surface of BM-DC. The findings from these experiments are in contrast to those of von



- A. D ay 7 BM-DC were incubated with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* axenic amastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.
- B. D ay 7 BM-DC were incubated with 3.0µm latex beads for 18 hours, harvested, fixed, stained and analysed by flow cyometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. The plots shown are representative of 5 different experiments. Stebut and colleagues (von Stebut *et al.* 1998), who demonstrated activation of foetal skin-derived DC by lesion-purified *L. major* amastigotes. These data indicate that uptake of *L. mexicana* amastigotes, in the absence of exogenous factors, does not activate DC. This could be due to *Leishmania* amastigotes presenting as inert particles, so that uptake by the DC is effectively silent. Alternatively, uptake may suppress activation of DC, as has been reported with *Leishmania*-infected M Φ (Kaye *et al.* 1994; Weinheber *et al.* 1998).

The following experiments attempted to differentiate between these two hypotheses. First, day 7 BM-DC were incubated for 18 hours with $3.0\mu m$ latex beads, which are similar in size to *L. mexicana* amastigotes, at a ratio of 1:8. Phagocytosis of latex beads did not induce activation of BM-DC, and there was no statistical difference between the effect of beads versus the effect of amastigotes on the percentage of activated cells in the cultures (p=0.89, based on the percentages of CD86⁺ cells in the upper quadrants of dot plots from five different experiments, Table 4.2) (Figure 4.6B).

To further investigate whether *L. mexicana* amastigotes could suppress activation of DC, BM-DC were simultaneously incubated for 18 hours with *L. mexicana* amastigotes and activated with 0.5μ g/ml LPS and 500U/ml IFN γ . Flow cytometric analysis showed that infected BM-DC were clearly activated by these stimuli, and there was no difference between the number of activated cells in infected and non-infected cultures (p=0.91, based on the number of activated CD86⁺ cells from five different experiments) (Figure 4.7A). When the complete data set for CD86 and MHC II expression from the five different experiments is examined, there appears to be a slight retardation in the activation of infected (EGFP⁺) cells in the population (Table 4.4). This retardation is not, however statistically significant: CD86⁺ EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ cells p=0.09; MHC II⁺ EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ cells p=0.20. Infected DC could also be activated to equivalent levels as uninfected DC with lower doses of stimuli (0.1µg/ml LPS and 500 U/ml IFN γ) (Figure 4.7B). Therefore, these data suggest that lack of activation by *L. mexicana* amastigotes is not due to strong suppression of DC function by the parasites.

- A. Day 7 BM-DC were simultaneously infected with *L. mexicana* amastigotes and activated with 0.5μ g/ml LPS and 500U/ml IFN γ for 18 hours. Cells were then harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.
- B. Activation with 0.1μ g/ml LPS and 500U/ml IFN γ is not suppressed by simultaneous infection with amastigotes. Day 7 BM-DC were simultaneously infected with *L. mexicana* amastigotes and activated with 0.1μ g/ml LPS and 500U/ml IFN γ for 18 hours. Cells were then harvested, fixed, stained for CD86 and MHC II and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent percentages of cells in the respective quadrants. Dot plots are representative of 5(A) and 1(B) different experiments.

Figure 4.7: Infection by *L. mexicana* Amastigotes does not Suppress Activation of BM-DC



Table 4.4:

Complete FACS data for BM-DC Activated with LPS and IFN γ with or without Concomitant Infection with *L. mexicana* Amastigotes.

CD86						
	LPS/II	FNγ	Amas.	Amas. + LPS/IFN γ		
	UL	UR	UL	UR	Total	
Expt.1	56.3	0.4	29.9	16.2	46.1	
Expt.2	24.7	0.2	20.1	7.8	27.9	
Expt.3	35.9	0.1	25.5	14.6	40.1	
Expt.4	58.0	1.6	29.3	26.8	56.1	
Expt.5	30.5	0.3	15.3	14.8	30.1	
	1					
Mean	42.8	0.5	24.0	16.0	40.1	
s.e.m.	4.4	0.3	2.8	3.1	5.2	

MHC II						
	LPS/IF	Nγ	Amas. + LPS/IFN γ			
	UL	UR	UL	UR	Total	
Expt.1	51.9	0.3	20.9	12.4	33.3	
Expt.2	35.8	0.2	22.9	8.1	31.0	
Expt.3	25.7	0.0	18.1	12.5	30.6	
Expt.4	62.8	1.4	26.2	31.4	57.6	
Expt.5	46.3	0.3	21.8	15.8	37.6	
Mean	44.5	0.4	22.0	16.0	38.0	
s.e.m.	6.4	0.3	1.3	4.0	5.1	

Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) and upper right (UR) quadrants for FACS plots of BM-DC activated with LPS and IFN γ and incubated with or without *L. mexicana* amastigotes. Cells were activated with either 0.5µgml LPS and 500U/ml IFN γ or with 10µg/ml LPS alone (expt. 2 and 3), harvested after 18 hours, stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies and analysed by flow cytometry. For the amastigote-infected cultures the values in the upper left quadrant represent the activated EGFP negative cells and the values in the upper right quadrant represent the activated EGFP positive cells.

CD86: Activated BM-DC versus amastigotes p=0.91; amastigotes EGFP⁻versus EGFP⁺ p=0.09.

MHC II: Activated BM-DC versus amastigotes p=0.45; amastigotes EGFP⁻versus EGFP⁺ p=0.20.

4.7 The effect of *L. mexicana* Infection on IL-12 Production by BM-DC

Activation of DC is associated with the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF α , IL-6 and IL-12. In order to determine whether incubation with promastigotes or amastigotes could induce secretion of IL-12, the concentration of the IL-12 p40 subunit was measured in culture supernatants (Figure 4.8A). Immature DC did not secrete IL-12 p40, but stimulation with LPS and IFN γ induced production of high levels of this protein. BM-DC incubated with *L. mexicana* amastigotes or latex beads were not stimulated to produce IL-12. Incubation with promastigotes induced levels of IL-12 p40 that are significantly higher than in non-infected or amastigote-infected cells, consistent with the activation of a small percentage of the population. Thus, production of the IL-12p40 subunit reflects the results obtained by flow cytometry.

Secretion of the IL-12 p40 subunit is indicative of the production of bioactive IL-12p70 in DC, but does not reflect levels of functional IL-12 since p40 can homodimerise and inhibit binding of IL-12p70 to the IL-12 receptor (Gillessen *et al.* 1995). Therefore, levels of IL-12 p70 were measured in the supernatant of infected cells (Figure 4.8B). As expected, immature DC did not produce IL-12p70 and p70 could only be detected on addition of LPS and IFN γ . No bioactive IL-12 was detected in cultures from promastigote- or amastigote-infected cells.

4.8 Presentation of Exogenous Antigen to T cells by *L. mexicana*-Infected BM-DC

L. mexicana-infected M Φ are impaired in their ability to present exogenous antigen to T cells, even after only a two hour incubation with parasites (Fruth *et al.* 1993). DC from infected mice have been reported to efficiently stimulate an anti-parasite T cell response

Figure 4.8: Production of IL-12 by *L. mexicana*-infected BM-DC



Day 7 BM-DC were incubated for 18 hours with *L. mexicana* amastigotes, promastigotes or latex beads, with or without 1μ g/ml LPS and 10^{3} U/ml IFN_Y. The presence of (A) the p40 subunit (n=4) or, (B) the p70 heterodimer (n=3) were measured in 18 hour supernatants by ELISA. The lower sensitivity limit of the assay was 30 pg/ml (dashed line). Values represent concentrations of cytokine in supernatants from ~2x10⁵ cells (means ± s.e.m.).

* p40: amastigotes vs promastigotes: p=0.035; immature DC vs amastigotes: p=0.711; amastigotes vs beads p=0.067.

(Moll *et al.* 1993), however it has not been shown whether these cells contained intact parasites. Therefore, BM-DC incubated with EGFP-expressing parasites were used to investigate whether *Leishmania*-infected DC are competent to stimulate an efficient T cell response *in vitro*.

BM-DC were infected for 18 hours with EGFP-expressing parasites, as described above. The cells were then harvested, washed and sorted flow cytometrically into EGFP positive and EGFP negative populations. Immature DC were also harvested and sorted as a non-infected, sorted control. The cells were then replated in 96-well plates and pulsed with 1 or 10µM MCC peptide or 50µM PCC protein for 4 hours. They were then co-cultured with the PCC-specific T cell line 2B4 (Reay et al. 2000) at a ratio of 1 DC:10 T cells and supernatants collected after 18 hours. Production of IL-2 by activated T cells was monitored using an IL-2-dependent cell line (Swain et al. 1981; Lawrence et al. 1994). Figure 4.9 shows the results from three separate experiments. These data show good concordance between experiments 2 and 3 but variation between these experiments and experiment 1, probably due to variation in responses by the T cell hybridoma, and also due to variable effects which sorting and replating of the DC may have on DC maturation status. When comparing non-infected controls with promastigote EGFP⁺ or EGFP⁻ samples or amastigote EGFP⁺ or EGFP⁻ samples within each experiment there was no significant difference between any of the variables (p>0.05) for all except two of the samples. The exceptions were in experiment 1, non-infected cells versus promastigote EGFP⁺ cells pulsed with 1µM MCC, p<0.01, and in experiment 3, noninfected cells versus amastigote EGFP⁺ cells pulsed with 50µM PCC, p<0.01. However, when the results for the three experiments were pooled there was no significant difference between any of the samples (p>0.3). Therefore, these results indicate that infection of DC with L. mexicana promastigotes or amastigotes does not alter the efficiency with which DC present exogenous antigen to T cells.

Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with *L. mexicana* EGFP-expressing promastigotes or amastigotes or left uninfected for 18 hours. Cells were harvested and sorted into EGFP positive (infected) and negative (non-infected) populations. Non-parasite exposed DC were sorted as a control. Sorted populations were replated, pulsed with peptide or protein for 4 hours and incubated with the T cell hybridoma 2B4 for 18 hours. IL-2 levels in the T cell supernatant were measured by assessing [³H] thymidine incorporation by an IL-2-dependent cell line.

The data shown here are from 3 independent experiments, with each experimental group performed in triplicate (mean \pm s.e.m.).



Figure 4.9: *L. mexicana*-infected DC can Stimulate an Efficient T cell Response *in vitro*

4.9 Discussion

4.9.1 Infection by *L. mexicana* Amastigotes does not Activate BM-DC

The data presented in this chapter demonstrate that internalisation of *L. mexicana* amastigotes *per se* does not classically activate BM-DC. Rather these parasites appear to be recognised by DC as inert particles, similar to latex beads, at least in terms of the expression of surface activation markers and production of IL-12. This was surprising since phagocytosis has been reported to be an activation stimulus in some models (Randolph *et al.* 1998). Weinheber and colleagues (Weinheber *et al.* 1998) also showed that *L. mexicana* amastigotes present as inert particles on infection of M Φ , since infection-induced suppression of IL-12 could be mimicked by phagocytosis of latex beads. However, in contrast, to the situation in M Φ , the data presented here indicate that infection does not suppress the ability of DC to respond to other activating stimuli. Therefore infection of BM-DC by *L. mexicana* amastigotes may be regarded as silent based on the parameters tested.

In addition to these findings, the data presented in this chapter suggest that uptake of intact *L. mexicana* promastigotes may not induce activation of BM-DC. A small percentage of cells up-regulated expression of the surface markers tested upon incubation with promastigotes, however, these cells were not positive for EGFP, indicating that metabolically active parasites are not required for activation of BM-DC. This is supported by the fact that promastigote lysate induced similar levels of activation when added to the culture. The observation that addition of increasing amounts of lysates only marginally increased the number of cells activated indicates that only limited numbers of DC can respond to the promastigote-encoded signal, however, loss of parasite integrity will also release proteases that will have negative effects on the host cells and may restrict the proportion of BM-DC that are able to respond to this signal.

Interestingly, the data presented on infection of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* promastigotes suggests that CD86 and MHC II expression are differentially regulated, such that CD86 levels are more sensitive to low levels of an activating stimulus than MHC II. This observation was not, however, evident in other experiments, indicating that this difference is only apparent in the presence of very low levels of activating stimuli.

The discovery that receptors on the surface of DC recognise conserved pathogen-derived molecules has led to the paradigm that uptake of pathogens activates DC. This scenario is apparently supported by published studies which have examined the effect of *Leishmania* infection on *ex vivo* DC; von Stebut *et al* (von Stebut *et al.* 1998) reported activation of foetal skin-derived DC by lesion-derived *L. major* amastigotes but not promastigotes, whereas Qui *et al* (Qi *et al.* 2001) reported activation of BM-DC by *L. amazonensis* promastigotes and amastigotes. In contrast, the data presented in this chapter show that *L. mexicana* amastigotes *per se* do not express PAMP.

The discrepancies between our findings and those of others may be a function of the respective experimental systems, and in particular due to the use of lesion-derived amastigotes (von Stebut et al. 1998; Qi et al. 2001). Parasites derived ex-vivo are coated with Ig (Peters et al. 1995) and other proteins (Winter et al. 1994). Ligation of parasitebound Ig by DC surface receptors may have two non-exclusive consequences: the interaction might directly activate DC; receptor-mediated endocytosis via FcR may transport the parasites to distinct intracellular compartments in which they may be more efficiently degraded, rendering intracellular Leishmania PAMP more accessible to internal DC pattern receptors. As ligation of FcyR by immune complexes induces maturation of DC (Regnault et al. 1999), the presence of Ig on lesion-derived (von Stebut et al. 1998; Qi et al. 2001), but not in vitro cultured, amastigotes is likely to explain the apparent differential ability of these parasite populations to activate DC. To address this hypothesis, the effect of uptake of Ig-opsonised axenic amastigotes on DC should be examined. In this experimental model, however, incubation of promastigotes with normal mouse serum did not increase activation of DC, although this would lead to coating of parasites with Complement rather than Ig. The observation that opsonisation

of promastigotes with 5% normal mouse serum led to increased degradation of the parasites supports the hypothesis that uptake of opsonised parasites may result in their internalization in distinct compartments. Although opsonisation of promastigotes with normal mouse serum did not apparently lead to increased uptake by DC, it may be that promastigotes were more efficiently internalised but that this was balanced by the increased rates of degradation.

An additional reason for the differential effects on uptake of *Leishmania* parasites by DC is that *ex vivo* DC may have been primed by endogenous factors *in vivo* before isolation and may therefore be more sensitive to activation upon culture *in vitro*. Konecny *et al* (Konecny *et al.* 1999) reported IL-12 production from CD11c⁺ splenic DC infected with *L. major* promastigotes. As shown herein, selection with CD11c results in activation of DC upon replating overnight in the absence of additional stimuli, suggesting that CD11c-purified DC may be pre-disposed to maturation upon phagocytosis of the parasites.

The experimental model described herein has the unique advantage that it allows investigation of the DC:*Leishmania* interaction in a highly controlled system. Infection of BM-DC by EGFP-expressing parasites that have been cultured *in vitro* allowed the effects of this interaction to be addressed in the absence of contaminating host-derived factors, which may prime the activation of DC independently of the effect of the parasites. The results presented in this chapter indicate that, *in vitro*, intact promastigotes and axenic amastigotes bind DC receptors on uptake that do not result in activation of the DC. It is not clear, however, which receptors the parasites are binding in this experimental model: promastigotes utilise the mannose receptor for entry into host cells, however as yet, no evidence suggests that binding of this receptor activates DC (Reis e Sousa *et al.* 1999); promastigotes also bind CR1 and CR3. BM-DC express CR3 (CD11b, see Figure 1.2), however, ligation of CR3 has been shown to suppress activation of M Φ , and there does not appear to be any suppression in these experiments (Marth and Kelsall 1997; Sutterwala *et al.* 1997). The receptors involved in uptake of amastigotes in the absence of Ig therefore remain to be elucidated.

4.9.2 *L. mexicana*-Infected BM-DC can Efficiently Process and Present Exogenous Antigen to T cells.

Leishmania-infected M Φ do not efficiently process and present exogenous antigens. Therefore, in view of the close lineage relationship between DC and M Φ it was of interest to investigate the ability of infected DC to stimulate T cells in vitro. DC were incubated with EGFP-expressing promastigotes and amastigotes for 18 hours and sorted into EGFP positive and negative populations. These cells were pulsed with MCC peptide or PCC protein for four hours and then incubated with a MCC-specific T cell hybridoma. Use of EGFP-expressing parasites permitted direct investigation of the ability of infected DC to stimulate T cells. These data indicated that infected DC present exogenous antigen to T cells as efficiently as parasite-exposed non-infected DC, and non-infected control DC. Despite significant variation between the different experiments, all of the DC populations induced similar levels of proliferation of the T cell hybridoma within each experiment. It is important to note that T cell hybridomas are often co-stimulation-independent so these data only reflect the ability of infected DC to process and present exogenous antigens in association with the MHC II molecule H2-E^k. DC and M Φ may therefore respond differently to infection with L. mexicana. While others have shown that infection strongly suppresses activation of M Φ and alters the kinetics of antigen presentation, in our studies DC responses appear to be relatively unaffected by internalisation of Leishmania parasites. This difference may be related to the observation that L. mexicana parasites do not appear to be able to establish a chronic infection in DC as successfully as they do in M Φ (see section 5.4).

4.10 Concluding Remarks

The data presented here indicate, for the first time, that the receptors utilised by intact L. mexicana promastigotes or amastigotes for entry into DC do not trigger maturation of this exquisitely sensitive cell type. The data presented in this chapter imply that activation of DC *in vivo*, and the consequent initiation of the anti-Leishmania T cell

activation of DC *in vivo*, and the consequent initiation of the anti-*Leishmania* T cell response, is not due to the uptake of intact parasites, but may be due to uptake of Igopsonised intact amastigotes and/or other exogenous activating stimuli. Injection of parasites into the epidermis will induce production of pro-inflammatory factors on wounding, and this innate immune response will also cause further tissue damage. This will result in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α that activate maturation of immature DC. Sandfly saliva, which is injected into the host along with promastigotes, has also been shown to have an important immunomodulatory effect; inoculation of saliva from non-infected sandflies induces a delayed-type hypersensitivity response upon re-exposure to sandfly saliva, and can immunise against challenge with *L. major* promastigotes (Kamhawi *et al.* 2000). The data presented here also demonstrate that infection does not suppress activation and that infected DC are fully competent to process and present antigen to T cells. Thus, in the context of infection *in vivo*, infected DC should be able to initiate the anti-parasite T cell response.

Chapter 5:

Characterisation of Infection of an Alternative DC Population with *L. mexicana*

5.1 Introduction to D1 Splenic DC

A continuous DC culture has been derived from C57BL/6 splenocytes that were expanded in the presence of conditioned medium from fibroblasts engineered to secrete recombinant GM-CSF. These factor-dependent, long-term, relatively homogeneous DC cultures have been termed D1 cells (Winzler *et al.* 1997). D1 cells have all the properties of an immature DC population: they have a surface immunophenotype characteristic of immature splenic DC and up-regulate molecules associated with interaction with T cells upon stimulation with LPS (Figure 5.1); they are highly efficient at taking up antigen, and this decreases upon activation; activation leads to increased motility; and D1 cells potently stimulate an allogeneic T cell response (Winzler *et al.* 1997). Phenotypically immature D1 cells are rounded, but extend long dendrites upon activation. Unlike other *ex-vivo*-derived DC, D1 cells can be cultured long-term in an immature form as a fairly homogeneous population of cells, which can be matured synchronously with LPS. This is a distinct advantage over BM-DC that are heterogeneous in terms of their differentiation from monocyte precursors into DC and their activation status, mature spontaneously over time, and generally die by day nine or ten of culture.

Data presented in the previous chapter demonstrated that infection with intact *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes *in vitro* does not induce activation of BM-DC. In order to test whether this was a general phenomenon, the effect of infection on an alternative *in vitro* DC culture was investigated. The experiments described in Chapter 5 aimed to characterise the effect of infection with *L. mexicana* on D1 splenic DC



D1 cells were plated out for 18 hours with or without 10μ g/ml LPS as a maturation stimulus. The cells were harvested, stained for surface DC markers and analysed by flow cytometry (see also Winzler *et al* 1997).

(Winzler *et al.* 1997). D1 cells were infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes and amastigotes and the effect on surface activation markers and cytokine production was measured. These cells also provided an *in vitro* culture system with which to carry out a kinetic analysis of gene expression in *L. mexicana* promastigote- or amastigote-infected DC. Finally, culture of immature D1 cells facilitated investigation of long-term infection of DC with *L. mexicana* parasites, in particular, whether the formation of the large communal parasitophorous vacuole (PV) characteristic of infected M Φ is induced in DC.

5.2 Infection of D1 cells with *L. mexicana* Promastigotes and Amastigotes

5.2.1 Characterisation of Infection of D1 cells with L. mexicana

In order to compare the effect of infection of D1 cells with *L. mexicana* to the studies performed with BM-DC (Chapter 4), D1 cells were incubated for 18 hours with EGFP-expressing stationary phase *L. mexicana* promastigotes, axenic amastigotes, or 3.0μ m latex beads at 37°C. The cells were then harvested, washed, fixed, stained for the surface markers CD86, MHC II and CD54 and analysed by flow cytometry.

D1 cells efficiently internalised the parasites after 18 hours in culture; $48.0\pm3.7\%$ (mean±s.e.m) and $45.4\pm2.9\%$ of the D1 cells internalised promastigotes and amastigotes respectively, (results are taken from five different experiments, see Table 5.1). Incubation with *L. mexicana* promastigotes resulted in more clearly defined EGFP⁺ populations than were observed with the BM-DC cultures, perhaps due to the relative homogeneity of D1 cultures compared to BM-DC.

Incubation of D1 cells with stationary phase *L. mexicana* promastigotes induced activation of $33.1\pm5.4\%$ of the cells (Figure 5.2), which was statistically different from the non-infected culture (p<0.01, based on percentages of activated CD86⁺ cells from

Table 5.1:Complete FACS Data Showing Infection Levels of D1 DCIncubated with L. mexicana Promastigotes or Amastigotes.

	Percentage of EGFP ⁺ cells				
	Promastigotes	Amastigotes			
Expt. 1	49.1	43.1			
Expt. 2	50.1	46.1			
Expt. 3	60.0	47.9			
Expt. 4	42.6	54.0			
Expt. 5	38.0	36.1			
Expt. 6	37.0				
Mean	48.0	45.4			
s.e.m.	3.7	2.9			

Numbers indicate the percentage of EGFP positive cells after incubation of D1 DC with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes for 18 hours.



D1 cells were incubated for 18 hours with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* stationary phase promastigotes, axenic amastigotes or 3.0µm latex beads. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. FACS plots are representative of 5 different experiments.

five different experiments; statistical analyses on MHC II levels are shown in Table 5.2). Unlike BM-DC, the activated population of D1 cells comprised both infected and noninfected DC, and there was no difference between the EGFP⁺ and EGFP⁻ cells in the cultures (CD86⁺ cells, upper left quadrant versus upper right p=0.79). Interestingly, the percentage of CD86⁺ and MHC II⁺ cells were very similar in these experiments (see Table 5.2), indicating that the differential regulation of these markers by low levels of activating stimuli did not occur in the D1 cells. Opsonisation of promastigotes with mouse complement enhanced neither uptake nor activation of DC (data not shown). The data from five independent experiments is presented in Table 5.2.

Figure 5.2 shows that, as with BM-DC, uptake of *L. mexicana* amastigotes did not induce activation of D1 cells, and that this resembled uptake of latex beads: there was no significant difference between the percentage of CD86^{hi} cells in non-infected D1 cultures compared to cells which had been incubated with *L. mexicana* amastigotes (p=0.21), or latex beads (p=0.92); statistical analyses were performed on percentages of cells in the upper quadrants of plots from five different experiments (see Table 5.2). Moreover, as with the BM-DC cultures, there was no difference between EGFP⁺ and EGFP⁻ cells in amastigote-exposed cultures (p=0.86).

Analysis of cytokine production by infected D1 cells supported the flow cytometric data (Figure 5.3A): infection with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, but not amastigotes or latex beads, induced secretion of statistically significant levels of TNF α , but no IL-6 or IL-1 β . The D1 cultures did not produce IL-12p70, which was expected since CD40 was not cross-linked in these experiments (Winzler *et al.* 1997). IL-10 has been shown to block up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules on DC, and inhibit production of IL-12 (Steinbrink *et al.* 1997). Therefore, supernatants from parasite-infected cultures were also tested for IL-10 to investigate whether amastigote-induced IL-10 could be preventing the activation of infected DC. Both immature and LPS-matured D1 cultures produced IL-10 in these experiments (Figure 5.3B). No IL-10 was detected in promastigote-infected cultures, while low levels, below those seen in the immature non-infected cultures, were detected in amastigote-infected cultures, and in cultures

Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) and upper right (UR) quadrants for FACS plots of immature D1 DC, or D1 DC incubated with *L. mexicana* amastigotes, promastigotes, or 3.0μ m latex beads, for 18 hours and stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies. For amastigote- and promastigote-infected populations the values in the upper left quadrant represent the activated EGFP negative cells and the values in the upper right quadrant represent the activated EGFP positive cells.

CD54 data is not shown because expression of this marker was high in immature cells and CD86 and MHC II were thought to provide a more sensitive read-out of activation in this system.

CD86: Immature D1 cells versus promastigotes p<0.01; immature versus amastigotes p=0.21; immature versus beads p=0.16; amastigotes versus beads p=0.92; promastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.79; amastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.86.

MHC II: Immature D1 cells versus promastigotes p<0.01; immature versus amastigotes p=0.94; immature versus beads p=0.74; amastigotes versus beads p=0.70; promastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.80; amastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.64

Table 5.2:

Complete FACS Data Showing Levels of Surface Activation Markers on D1 DC Incubated with *L. mexicana* Parasites or Latex Beads.

CD86							
	Immat	ure	Amast	Amastigotes		stigotes	Beads
	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL
Expt.1	3.6	0.2	4.0	3.5	21.2	16.6	8.6
Expt.2	5.9	0.0	3.2	4.9	26.7	22.3	9.9
Expt.3	7.8	0.4	3.7	5.5	10.6	8.0	7.7
Expt.4	8.2	0.4	6.9	9.0	12.8	23.5	19.8
Expt.5	12.9	0.8	13.9	11	14.4	9.3	17.5
Mean	7.7	0.34	6.3	6.8	17.4	15.9	12.7
s.e.m.	1.5	0.1	2.0	1.4	3.0	3.2	2.5

MHCI							
	Immat	ure	Amasti	Amastigotes		stigotes	Beads
	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL
Expt.1	17.7	0.8	3.0	1.8	21.4	17.9	9.6
Expt.2	5.6	0.0	3.7	5.6	23.5	22.0	10.4
Expt.3	8.0	0.8	4.0	7.2	10.2	11.4	8.3
Expt.4	14.1	0.4	7.9	10.3	11.5	23.8	17.9
Expt.5	16.5	1.0	10.6	9.3	11.3	8.2	25.8
Mean	12.4	0.6	5.8	6.8	15.6	16.7	14.4
s.e.m.	2.4	0.2	1.5	1.5	2.8	3.0	3.3

Figure 5.3A: Production of Pro-inflammatory Cytokines by D1 Cells



D1 cells were incubated for 18 hours with 10μ g/ml LPS, promastigotes, amastigotes or latex beads. Supernatants were assayed by ELISA for the presence of TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β (n=3). The sensitivity limit for these assays is 30 pg/ml (dashed line). Values represent concentrations of cytokine in supernatants from ~1X10⁵ cells (mean ± s.e.m.).

TNF α * Immature cells vs. promastigotes: p <0.01

** Promastigotes vs. amastigotes: p = 0.02

Figure 5.3B: IL-10 Secretion is not Induced by Infection of D1 Cells with *L. mexicana* Promastigotes or Amastigotes



D1 cells were incubated for 18 hours with $10\mu g/ml LPS$, promastigotes, amastigotes or $3.0\mu m$ latex beads. Supernatants were assayed by ELISA for the presence of IL-10 (n=4). The sensitivity limit for these assays is 30 pg/ml (dashed line). Values represent concentrations of cytokine in supernatants from ~1X10⁵ cells (mean ± s.e.m.).

* Immature cells vs promastigotes: p =0.03; ** immature cells vs amastigotes: p=0.07; *** amastigotes vs beads: p=0.12.

incubated with 3.0µm latex beads. Lack of IL-10 in the amastigotes-infected culture was not statistically significant compared to non-infected cultures (p=0.07) (see Figure 5.3B), due to the large amount of variability in the assay, however, cultures containing amastigotes did not produce significantly less IL-10 than cultures containing latex beads (p=0.12) indicating uptake of inert particles represses production of IL-10 by D1 cells. Therefore, these data suggest that the lack of activation of *L. mexicana* amastigote-infected D1 cells is not due to inhibition by IL-10.

5.5.2 Partially Activated BM-DC do not Become More Sensitive to Activation by Promastigotes

The enhanced activation of D1 cells compared to BM-DC on incubation with L. *mexicana* promastigotes might be explained if the D1 cells were partially activated in culture prior to infection with promastigotes as this might render them more sensitive to activating stimuli. A difference in basal activation state between D1 cells and BM-DC was suggested by the high levels of CD54 expressed by D1 cells versus BM-DC. Therefore, the effect of providing low levels of activating stimuli to BM-DC prior to infection was investigated in these experiments: BM-DC were "tickled" with suboptimal levels of IFN γ and LPS for two hours before infection with *L. mexicana* promastigotes. Figures 5.4A and B demonstrate that infection of sub-optimally activated BM-DC did not result in increased expression of surface CD86 or MHC II compared to non-infected cells. These data therefore suggest that the difference between infection of D1 cells and BM-DC does not reflect prior conditioning of the D1 cells to a more responsive state.

The data presented in Figure 5.4A support the data from Chapter 4 (section 4.5) showing that activated BM-DC do not contain EGFP⁺ parasites. These data suggest either that *L*. *mexicana* promastigotes suppress activation of DC, or that the parasites are rapidly degraded upon activation of the cells.

Figure 5.4A: Infection of Sub-Optimally Activated BM-DC with *L. mexicana* Promastigotes



Day 7 BM-DC were incubated for 2 hours with activating stimuli of different concentrations before infection with stationary phase *L. mexicana* promastigotes for 18 hours. The cells were then harvested, stained for surface expression of CD86 and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers indicate the percentage of activated cells in the labelled quadrants. Quadrants were set on immature, non-activated DC. The dot plots are representative of the results from two different experiments.

Figure 5.4B: Infection of Sub-Optimally Activated BM-DC with *L. mexicana* Promastigotes



Day 7 BM-DC were incubated for 2 hours with activating stimuli of different concentrations before infection with stationary phase *L. mexicana* promastigotes for 18 hours. The cells were then harvested, stained for surface expression of MHC II and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers indicate the percentage of activated cells in the labelled quadrants. Quadrants were set on immature, non-activated cells. The dot plots are representative of the results from two different experiments.
5.3 Kinetic Characterisation of the Effect of *L. mexicana* Infection on D1 Cells.

In order to assess whether the data obtained from 18 hour incubation of D1 cells with L. mexicana parasites was representative of the effect of the parasites at earlier or later time points, as had been suggested by preliminary experiments on BM-DC prior to the work presented in Chapter 4, a kinetic analysis was performed to analyse the levels of surface activation markers on D1 cells incubated with L. mexicana promastigotes and amastigotes for different times. D1 cells were incubated with EGFP-expressing stationary phase L. mexicana promastigotes or amastigotes for 4, 8, 18 and 24 hours. then washed, fixed and stained. Figures 5.5A, B and C show surface levels of CD86, MHC II and CD54 expression respectively throughout the time course, (histograms are representative of three different experiments). CD86 and MHC II levels indicate that activated cells first become apparent 8 hours after infection with promastigotes, and a distinct population is seen by 18 hours. This is less obvious with the cells stained for CD54, as D1 cells consistently express very high levels of CD54. Maximal activation by promastigotes is seen by 18 hours post-infection, but this never reaches levels induced by LPS, and is not sufficient to activate the whole population. In contrast, L. mexicana amastigote-infected cultures always resemble the non-infected controls. At 18 hours post-infection MHC II levels on the amastigote-infected culture appeared below levels on the non-infected cells in the experiment shown, however this trend was not repeated in later experiments (see Appendix B). Therefore, these data confirmed that L. mexicana amastigotes did not activate D1 cells, and that maximal activation on incubation with promastigotes appears to be reached by 18 hours. Based on this time course, D1 cells were infected, harvested at different times and the RNA extracted for a kinetic analysis of the effect of infection with L. mexicana parasites on global gene transcription in D1 cells (see Appendix B).



D1 cells were infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes or activated with 10μ g/ml LPS, for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested, fixed and stained for the surface activation marker CD86. Histograms show non-infected D1 cells (thin lines) and cells incubated with LPS or *Leishmania* parasites (thick lines).

These results are representative of 2 separate experiments. Numbers represent the percentage of activated cells based on the marker set on LPS-activated cells at 24 hours.



D1 cells were infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes or activated with 10μ g/ml LPS, for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested, fixed and stained for surface MHC II. Histograms show non-infected D1 cells (thin lines) and cells incubated with LPS or *Leishmania* parasites (thick lines).

These results are representative of 2 separate experiments. Numbers represent the percentage of activated cells based on the marker set on LPS-activated cells at 24 hours.



D1 cells were infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes and amastigotes, or activated with 10μ g/ml LPS, for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested, fixed, stained for the surface activation marker CD54 and analysed by flow cytometry.

Histograms show non-infected D1 cells (thin lines) and cells incubated with LPS or *Leishmania* parasites (thick lines).

These results are representative of 2 separate experiments. Numbers represent the percentage of activated cells based on the marker set on LPS-activated cells at 24 hours.

5.4 Characterisation of long-term infection of D1 cells with *L. mexicana*

Infection of $M\Phi$ by *L. mexicana* is characterised by the formation of a large phagolysosome known as the PV, which is clearly visible 48 hours after infection. Fusion of *Leishmania*-containing vesicles with other $M\Phi$ endocytic compartments begins to occur within the first 12 hours of infection, while the parasites are still at the promastigote stage (Courret *et al.* 2001). Upon transformation, *L. mexicana* amastigotes secrete large amounts of a proteophosphoglycan (aPPG), which induces expansion of the compartment to a large communal PV (Peters *et al.* 1997). Long-term culture of D1 cells was used to investigate whether DC could also support chronic infection with *Leishmania* parasites, characterised by formation of a communal PV.

5.4.1 Effect of Long-term Infection on the Viability of D1 Cells

D1 cells were infected with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes and cultured at 34°C for up to 96 hours. Cells were harvested at the time points indicated and stained with propidium iodide (PI) to assess viability. Figure 5.6 shows that throughout the 96 hour period of the experiment, there were few PI positive cells in either the infected or non-infected populations, and that the number of EGFP⁺ PI⁺ cells never exceeded 4% of the population. The percentage of promastigote-infected cells stayed fairly constant throughout the experiment, whereas the percentage of amastigoteinfected cells decreased to approximately half the value at 24 hours. This observation may be due to killing of intracellular parasites by D1 cells, or may be the result of intersample variation in the experiment. The presence of an EGFP positive population at 96 hours post-infection with promastigotes or amastigotes supports that fact that *Leishmania* remain viable within DC, since EGFP is rapidly lost upon parasite death (T. Aebischer personal communication). Therefore these data show that DC are permissive for long-term infection with *L. mexicana* parasites, and that both the DC and the parasites remain viable.



Figure 5.6: D1 Cells Support Long-term Infection with *L. mexicana* Parasites

D1 cells were incubated with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes at 34°C for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested and stained with propidium iodide (PI) to identify dead cells by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. These results are from a single experiment.

Infected cultures were also stained for surface CD86 to follow the activation status of infected DC over the time course. Figure 5.7 shows that there is some spontaneous maturation in all three samples by 96 hours, but amastigote-infected cells always have surface levels of CD86 that are more similar to the non-infected cells than the promastigote-infected cells. Maximal activation by promastigotes occurs within the first 24 hours and numerically, based on percentages in the upper left and right quadrants, does not increase beyond this. It is interesting to note, however, that at 24 and 48 hours, the cells expressing the highest levels of CD86 are EGFP⁻ but that as the experiment progresses the EGFP⁺ cells express increasingly higher levels of CD86. This implies a slight retardation of activation of cells containing intact promastigotes. This experiment must be repeated to ascertain whether this observation is significant, but the trend was consistent in cells stained for MHC II during the same experiment (data not shown).

5.4.2 Characterisation of PV Formation in Infected D1 Cells

In order to investigate whether communal PV formed in infected DC, the D1 cells were infected for 72 hours at 34°C, harvested and fixed onto poly-L-lysine-coated coverslips for examination by confocal microscopy (coverslips were coated with 0.5mg/ml poly-Llysine (Sigma), washed with H₂0 and air dried). Data were kindly collected by A. Misslitz and T. Aebischer, Berlin. At 72 hours infection is well established in M Φ and large PV containing multiple parasites are clearly visible (Alexander and Russell 1992; Antoine *et al.* 1998) (see also Figure 5.8). Figure 5.9 shows D1 cells infected for 24 or 72 hours with EGFP-expressing promastigotes. Infected DC were not easily identified by phase contrast microscopy alone, however fluorescence microscopy revealed that EGFP⁺ parasites were contained within the cells. Communal PV were virtually never seen in promastigote-infected DC: 77 out of 186 cells examined contained promastigotes; in only 10 of these the parasites appeared to be contained within individual vacuoles while parasites in the remaining infected cells were not clearly bound by a membrane; in one cell three parasites appeared to be contained within a single vacuole (see Figure 5.9, arrow). Figure 5.10 illustrates that amastigote-infected



Figure 5.7: Long-term Infection with *L. mexicana* does not Increase Activation of D1 Cells

D1 cells were incubated with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes at 34^oC for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested, stained with the activation marker CD86 and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants.

Figure 5.8: PV Formation in *L. mexicana*-Infected $M\Phi$



Confocal image showing PV development in a bone marrow-derived M Φ that has been infected with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes for 72 hours *in vitro*. Kindly provided by A. Misslitz and T. Aebischer, Berlin.

Figure 5.9: Long-term Infection of D1 Cells by *L. mexicana* Promastigotes does not Induce Formation of Large PV.



Cells	No. of	Promastigote-infected cells							
examined	containing prom.	No apparent vacuole	Single vacuole	Communal vacuole					
186	77	66	10	1					

D1 cells were incubated with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes at 34°C for different times. Cells were then fixed onto coverslips and analysed by confocal microscopy. Images are individual sections through cells and are representative of all images captured. Images were captured using a X63 objective.

The arrow points to a potential vacuole containing three parasites.

Figure 5.10: Long-term Infection of D1 Cells by *L. mexicana* Amastigotes does not Induce the Formation of Communal PV *in vitro*



Cells examined	No. of	Amastigote-infected cells						
	cells containing amas.	No apparent vacuole	Single vacuole	Communal vacuole				
157	59	53	6	0				

D1 cells were incubated with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* amastigotes at 34°C for different times. Cells were fixed onto coverslips and analysed by confocal microscopy. Images are individual sections through cells and are representative of all images captured. Images were captured using a X63 objective.

Arrows mark parasites contained in vacuoles.

D1 cells also did not develop the large PV seen in M Φ : of the 157 cells screened from amastigote-infected cultures, 79 were infected and of these only 6 of the cells contained parasites that appeared to be within small individual vacuoles. Vacuoles were not seen in cells that had been incubated with amastigotes for less than 72 hours. Therefore, these data indicate that although promastigotes and amastigotes are viable within D1 cells, infection of D1 DC by *L. mexicana* parasites *in vitro* does not induce formation of the large PV characteristic of infected M Φ .

5.5 Discussion

5.5.1 *L. mexicana* Promastigotes but not Amastigotes Activate a Percentage of D1 Cells upon Infection

The data presented in this chapter indicate that uptake of *L. mexicana* amastigotes does not trigger activation of D1 cells. This supports the idea developed in Chapter 4 that amastigotes use receptors for entry into DC that do not trigger classical activation upon ligation. Incubation with amastigotes did not induce production of the anti-inflammatory cytokine, IL-10, and in fact appeared to repress it, indicating that *L. mexicana* amastigotes do not inhibit activation of DC via production of IL-10.

Uptake of intact *L. mexicana* promastigotes, as with BM-DC, only activated a proportion of the D1 cell population. These results, however, differed from the BM-DC results presented in Chapter 4 in two ways; approximately two fold more D1 cells were activated, which represented a discrete population of cells, and activated D1 cells included both EGFP⁺ and EGFP⁻ cells.

The apparent increased sensitivity of D1 cells to promastigote-derived activating stimuli may reflect genetic differences in the origins of D1 cells (C57BL/6) compared to the BM-DC (CBA) used in Chapter 4. However, infection of BM-DC from C57BL/6 mice with promastigotes did not result in an increase in the percentage of activated cells, indicating that this difference was not responsible for this observation (data not shown). It was hypothesised that D1 DC were partially activated in culture and that this would synergise with promastigote-derived signals. "Tickling" of BM-DC with low levels of IFN γ and LPS prior to infection with promastigotes did not, however, increase activation of these cells indicating that the differences between D1 cells and BM-DC are more fundamental than this, indeed, the observation that CD86 and MHC II surface expression levels are not differentially regulated in D1 cells, as they appeared to be under some circumstances in BM-DC, supports the notion that there may be inherent differences between these two DC cultures.

Activation of D1 cells by stimuli such as LPS or TNF α induces a synchronous shift of surface marker expression in the population (Winzler *et al.* 1997). Activated DC are induced to secrete TNF α , which will activate other cells in the culture by a positive feedback loop. Therefore, it was surprising that incubation with promastigotes only activated a percentage of D1 cells. These data indicate that *L. mexicana* promastigotes induce only low levels of TNF α secretion, suggesting that they encode only a weak activating stimulus, which does not induce sufficient levels of TNF α to activate other cells in the culture. In future work, this hypothesis could be tested by addition of equivalent amounts of TNF α to D1 cultures to that produced by promastigote-infected cultures (411±61.3pg/ml). It is likely, however, that this would induce a small, but synchronous shift in the culture and would not be the reason why promastigotes only activate a proportion of D1 cells. Therefore, activation of only a percentage of D1 cells by promastigotes is most probably due to heterogeneity in the D1 cell culture such that only a fraction of the cells are susceptible to promastigote-derived activation signals.

The observation that the fraction of D1 cells activated by L. mexicana promastigotes contained both EGFP positive and negative cells indicates that metabolically active L.

mexicana promastigotes do activate D1 cells. These data suggest that BM-DC or D1 cells are activated upon uptake of intact parasites, but while they become rapidly degraded in BM-DC, D1 cells are less able to kill intracellular parasites. This is supported by the observation that EGFP⁺ populations were always more defined in promastigote-infected D1 cells compared to BM-DC, and by the data presented in Figure 5.4A which demonstrate that activated cells in BM-DC cultures incubated with TNF α or IFN γ are EGFP⁻.

Kinetic characterisation of the effect of infection on D1 cells confirmed that these cells are not activated upon infection with *L. mexicana* amastigotes, since they remain immature throughout the experiment. Activation induced by *L. mexicana* promastigotes was first seen by 8 hours post-infection and this increased throughout the time course, reaching a maximum at 24 hours. This kinetic analysis of infection was extended by investigating the effects of *Leishmania* infection at the level of transcription (see Appendix B). The data from this experiment, however, awaits in depth analysis, and is only summarised in this thesis.

5.5.2 Characterisation of Long-term Infection of D1 cells with *L. mexicana*

M Φ infected with *L. mexicana* can be cultured *in vitro* for over a week, during which time a chronic infection is established. Large communal PV, in which amastigotes persist, are clearly seen by 48 hours post-infection (Courret *et al.* 2001). The data presented here demonstrate that D1 cells internalise *L. mexicana*, and that the parasites persist within the cells. However, large communal PV do not develop. Instead, D1 DC appear to contain intracellular promastigotes or amastigotes, which are retained within small individual vacuoles that do not expand during infection. This supports the work by Konecny *et al* (Konecny *et al.* 1999) who also did not see formation of classic PV in splenic DC incubated with *L. major* promastigotes for 24 hours. An in vivo analysis has shown that communal PV do form in infected DC in the LN of mice infected with L. mexicana for one year, but that these are consistently smaller than in infected M Φ (T. Aebischer personal communication). Confocal analysis of optical sections confirmed that the discrepancy between the results obtained in vitro and in vivo was not due to the fact that M Φ are firmly adherent to tissue culture plates whereas DC are only semi-adherent and tend to be more rounded. Thus, by light microscopy the PV would appear to take up more room in the flattened M Φ than in cultured DC in vitro. The limited expansion of PV could be envisaged to be due to inhibition of fusion of the phagosome with host endocytic compartments or slower kinetics of PV formation in DC compared to $M\Phi$. If the latter hypothesis was correct larger PV might be expected to form if the infected DC were cultured longer. This might therefore account for the fact that communal vacuoles were not seen after 72 hour infection in vitro, but were seen in mice which had been infected for one year. However, it is not possible distinguish between long-term infected DC and those which have recently taken up parasites released from neighbouring cells in vivo. Therefore, in order to test this hypothesis D1 cultures need to be infected for extended periods in vitro to ascertain whether communal PV can eventually establish in these cells. If these experiments demonstrate inhibition of PV development by DC, important consequences for the survival/growth of the parasite and also for the trafficking of parasite antigens through host MHC II processing and presentation pathways could be inferred. The experiments reported in Chapter 4 (section 4.8) however, demonstrate that infected DC are fully functional in their ability to process and present exogenous antigen to T cells. This strongly suggests that the formation of a PV in M Φ but not DC may play a critical role in the differential ability of these antigen presenting cells to efficiently process and present parasite antigens to T cells.

5.6 Concluding remarks

D1 cells provide a unique and versatile DC culture with which to dissect the interaction between DC and *Leishmania* parasites. The data presented in this chapter reinforce the observation that uptake of *L. mexicana* amastigotes *per se* does not classically activate DC. However, unlike BM-DC, some activated D1 cells containing intact *L. mexicana* promastigotes were observed. This indicates that promastigotes do encode a weak activating stimulus but that the D1 cell population is heterogeneous in its ability to respond to this signal, and that this stimulus is not strong enough to induce a synchronous activation of the entire D1 population as detected by flow cytometry. Differences between the sensitivity of D1 cells and BM-DC to this activating stimulus cannot be wholly ascribed to the activation status of the cells, or to genetic differences, indicating that more fundamental differences exist between these *in vitro* DC cultures.

Finally, characterisation of long-term infection of D1 cells supported the hypothesis that *L. mexciana* parasites do not establish a chronic infection in DC since large communal PV characteristic of infected M Φ did not form in these cells *in vitro*. This observation has important implications in the role of DC as hosts for *Leishmania* parasites, and also in the efficiency with which infected DC can process and present parasite-derived antigens for the activation of an appropriate anti-*Leishmania* CD4⁺ T cell response.

Chapter 6:

The role of *L. mexicana* LPG as a Protozoan PAMP

6.1 Introduction

The experiments described in Chapters 4 and 5 demonstrate that around 15% or 33% of BM-DC or D1 cells respectively are activated upon incubation with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, but that *L. mexicana* amastigotes do not activate these cells. These results suggest that *L. mexicana* promastigotes encode a PAMP that induces activation of those DC bearing the relevant pattern receptor. The experiments described in this chapter aimed to identify this promastigote-derived PAMP via a "candidate molecule" approach.

6.2 Incubation of DC with L. major Promastigotes

Initial experiments were performed in which both BM-DC and D1 cultures were infected with *L. major* promastigotes, since the results from these experiments would indicate whether the activating molecule was conserved between different *Leishmania* species. EGFP-expressing *L. major* promastigotes (kindly provided by T. Aebischer; (Misslitz *et al.* 2000)) were used for these experiments, to facilitate visualisation of infected DC. *L. major* promastigotes were transformed from amastigotes freshly isolated from mouse lymph nodes, and passaged once *in vitro* before use to remove contaminants associated with purification. Stationary phase metacyclic promastigotes were then incubated with BM-DC and D1 cells, as described in Chapters 4 and 5.

L. major promastigotes were efficiently taken up by both BM-DC and D1 cells; 40.1 \pm 10.1% of BM-DC, and 47.6 \pm 4.2% of D1 cells were EGFP⁺ after 18 hours of culture with *L. major* promastigotes (percentages are averages from four different experiments (mean \pm s.e.m.), see Table 6.1). Incubation of BM-DC with *L. major* promastigotes resulted in the presence of a distinct EGFP⁺ population, thus differing from infection with *L. mexicana* promastigotes where the parasite-infected DC did not form such a clear population (Figure 6.1A compared to Figure 4.4). This observation may reflect a differential ability of *L. major* rather than *L. mexicana* promastigotes to survive in BM-DC in culture, or might be due to the fact that *L. major* promastigotes survive for longer at 37°C than *L. mexicana* promastigotes (T. Aebischer personal communication).

Uptake of *L. major* promastigotes did not activate BM-DC; expression of the surface markers CD86, MHC II and CD54 remained intermediate in both the EGFP⁻ and EGFP⁺ populations of BM-DC (Figure 6.1A). The activation status of *L. major*-infected BM-DC cultures reflected that of non-infected cultures or *L. mexicana* amastigote-infected cultures (see Figure 4.6), and the small percentage of activated cells characteristic of BM-DC infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes was not seen (non-infected culture versus *L. major*-infected cultures p=0.90, percentages calculated from activated CD86⁺ cells from four different experiments; for statistical analyses of MHC II levels see Table 6.2). These experiments also reinforced the observation made in Chapter 4 that surface levels of CD86 and MHC II are differentially regulated upon infection of BM-DC with *Leishmania* parasites; EGFP⁻ cells expressed significantly higher levels of CD86 than EGFP⁺ cells within the same sample (p=0.04), whereas EGFP⁻ and EGFP⁺ cells did not express significantly different levels of MHC II (p=0.11, see Table 6.2).

During an initial experiment up-take of *L. major* promastigotes also did not activate D1 cells (Figure 6.1B). However, although this experiment was repeated, spontaneous activation of D1 cells in control cultures made the data unusable. Despite this, D1 cells incubated with *L. major* promastigotes were not induced to secrete the cytokines TNF α , IL-6, or IL-1 β (Figure 6.2), even in cultures in which the 'immature' D1 cells had spontaneously activated; supernatants from *L. major*-infected cultures contained

Table 6.1:Complete FACS Data for Infection Levels of DC Incubated withL. major Promastigotes.

	Percentage of EGFP ⁺ cells						
	BM-DC	D1 cells					
Expt. 1	22.2	43.2					
Expt. 2	37.3	57.6					
Expt. 3	69.0	51.1					
Expt. 4	32.0	38.5					
Mean	40.1	47.6					
s.e.m.	10.1	4.2					

Numbers indicate the percentage of EGFP-positive cells after incubation of day 7 BM-DC or D1 cells with EGFP-expressing *L. major* promastigotes for 18 hours.

Figure 6.1A: Incubation with *L. major* Promastigotes does not Induce Activation of BM-DC



BM-DC were incubated for 18 hours with EGFP-expressing stationary phase *L. major* promastigotes. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. FACS plots are representative of 4 separate experiments.

Figure 6.1B: Incubation with *L. major* Promastigotes does not Activate D1 Cells



D1 cells were incubated for 18 hours with EGFP-expressing stationary phase *L. major* promastigotes. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. These data are representative of a single experiment.

Table 6.2:Complete FACS Data for Infection of BM-DC with L. majorPromastigotes.

CD86						мнс				
	Imma	ture	Proma	stigotes			Imma	ture	Proma	stigotes
	UL	UR	UL	UR			UL	UR	UL	UR
Expt.1	4.3	0.2	3.1	0.4			8.6	0.8	6.7	1.5
Expt.2	4.8	0.0	6.7	1.9			11.1	0.0	7.6	3.6
Expt.3	5.8	0.4	2.1	0.2			8.0	0.8	2.1	1.5
Expt.4	3.0	0.4	3.5	1.8]		3.0	0.4	2.5	0.9
Mean	4.5	0.3	3.9	1.1			7.7	0.5	4.7	1.5
s.e.m.	0.6	0.1	1.0	0.5]		1.7	0.2	1.4	0.6

Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) and upper right (UR) quadrants for FACS plots of BM-DC incubated with *L. major* promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies and analysed by flow cytometry. For promastigote-infected populations the values in the upper left quadrant represent the activated EGFP negative cells and the values in the upper right quadrant represent the activated EGFP positive cells.

CD86: Immature BM-DC versus *L. major* promastigotes p=0.90; *L. major* promastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.04.

MHC II: Immature BM-DC versus *L. major* promastigotes p=0.55; *L. major* promastigotes EGFP⁻ versus EGFP⁺ p=0.11.

Figure 6.2: Infection of D1 Cells with *L. major* Promastigotes does not Induce Production of Pro-inflammatory Cytokines



D1 cells were incubated for 18 hours with 10μ g/ml LPS, *L. mexicana* or *L. major* stationary phase promastigotes. Supernatants (n=3) were assayed by ELISA for the presence of TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β . The sensitivity limit of these assays was 30 pg/ml (dashed line). Values represent the concentrations from the supernatant of ~ 1X10⁵ cells (mean ± s.e.m.).

*TNFa: L. mexicana promastigotes versus L. major promastigotes: p = 0.01

significantly less TNF α than those from D1 cells incubated with *L. mexicana* promastigotes (p=0.01, see Figure 6.2).

The FACS plots presented in Figure 6.1A indicate that EGFP⁺ cells expressed lower levels of CD86 and CD54 than the non-infected EGFP⁻ cells. In order to investigate whether *L. major* promastigotes were suppressing activation of DC, BM-DC were infected for 18 hours with stationary phase promastigotes and then activated for 3 hours with low levels of TNF α (10 ng/ml) or IFN γ (10³ U/ml). The FACS plots presented in Figure 6.3 are representative of two different experiments. Numerically, based on percentages of cells in the upper two quadrants, infection does not appear to suppress activation with IFN γ or TNF α . However, EGFP⁺ cells consistently appear to express lower levels of CD86 and CD54 than the EGFP⁻ cells. These data therefore suggest that infection with *L. major* promastigotes does retard activation of BM-DC with low levels of activating stimuli. Alternatively, however, these data may support the idea proposed for infection of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, that the parasites are more rapidly degraded in infected cells, so that the activated cells are consistently negative for EGFP. This idea is discussed further in Chapter 7.

6.3 Identification of *L. mexicana* LPG as a *Leishmania* PAMP

6.3.1 Introduction to LPG

The surface of *Leishmania* promastigotes is dominated by the glycoconjugate, lipophosphoglycan (LPG), which forms a thick glycocalx around the entire surface of the parasite, including the flagellum (Turco and Descoteaux 1992). The LPG of all *Leishmania* species is comprised of four domains (Figure 6.4): a phosphatidylinositol lipid anchor attached to the plasma membrane; a hexasaccharide glycan core; a phosphoglycan domain and a neutral cap consisting of galactose and mannose residues.



Figure 6.3: Suppression of Activation of BM-DC by *L. major* Promastigotes?

BM-DC were incubated with *L. major* promastigotes for 18 hours and then activated with 10^{3} U/ml IFN γ or 10ng/ml TNF α for 3 hours. Cells were then harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. FACS plots are representative of 2 different experiments.

Figure 6.4: Schematic Representation of *Leishmania* Phosphoglycan-containing Glycoconjugates



Diagramatic representation of *Leishmania* phosphoglycan-containing glycoconjugates: LPG, lipophosphoglycan; GIPL, glycoinositol phospholipid; GPI, glycophosphatidylinositol; PG, phosphoglycan; sAP, secreted acid phosphatase; PPG, proteophosphoglycan (Sacks *et al* 2000).

Differences between species arise in substitutions made to the phosphoglycan core; in L. mexicana promastigotes approximately 25% of the galactose molecules are substituted on the third position with glucose molecules (Ilg et al. 1992), whereas in L. major 87% of the galactose molecules are substituted with different side chains. These substitutions include galactose molecules, linear saccharide chains, or, in metacyclic promastigotes, arabinose molecules (McConville et al. 1990; Sacks et al. 1990). These side chains are exposed in the folded LPG molecule and would be accessible for interactions with different host cell receptors (McConville and Ferguson 1993). Transformation from noninfective promastigotes in the sandfly gut to infective metacyclics is associated with a doubling in size of the LPG molecule due to an increase in the number of phosphoglycan repeat units, resulting in a thickening of the surface glycocalyx (Sacks et al. 1990). L. *major* promastigotes bind to the insect midgut epithelial cells via β -galactose residues terminating the LPG side chains. Metacyclogensis results in the production of LPG molecules in which these terminal residues are replaced by α -arabinose, leading to release of the parasites and migration of the now virulent forms to the mouthparts of the sandfly (Pimenta et al. 1992). The importance of LPG for midgut attachment was demonstrated definitively using LPG knock-out promastigotes, which were lost from the sandfly with excretion of the blood meal (Sacks et al. 2000).

Within the host the thickened LPG glyocalyx of metacyclic promastigotes probably protects them from complement-mediated lysis (Puentes *et al.* 1988) and masks other surface components from recognition by host opsonising antibodies (Karp *et al.* 1991). It may also mediate direct binding of parasites to M Φ (Handman and Goding 1985; Talamas-Rohana *et al.* 1990). Once in the cell LPG plays a number of roles in protecting the parasites until they have transformed into amastigotes, which are better adapted for intracellular survival: LPG protects *Leishmania* from oxidative attack (Chan *et al.* 1989); fusion of the phagosome with host endsomal compartments containing proteolytic enzymes is inhibited by LPG (Dermine *et al.* 2000); and expression of iNOS, IL-12 and IL-1 β can be down-regulated in a LPG-dependent manner (Hatzigeorgiou *et al.* 1996; Proudfoot *et al.* 1996; Piedrafita *et al.* 1999). The latter may be partly due to inhibition of protein kinase C by LPG (Descoteaux *et al.* 1992; Giorgione *et al.* 1996)

and the consequent disruption of a number of signal transduction pathways. LPG may also have an anti-inflammatory effect upon infection since it has been shown to inhibit monocyte migration and responses to chemotactic factors (Lo *et al.* 1998).

The multifunctional role of LPG in promoting promastigote survival lead to the assumption that it was a key Leishmania virulence factor. This was supported by naturally occurring LPG mutants (Handman et al. 1986) or mutants generated by mutagenesis screens (Elhay et al. 1990) which were no longer able to survive in M Φ . However, Leishmania promastigotes express a number of related phosphoglycans on their surface (McConville and Ferguson 1993) which share common epitopes with LPG (Ilg et al. 1991) and which may also be mutated in these screens. The recent generation of LPG-specific knock-outs has, however, not clarified the issue: LPG mutants were independently generated by knocking out the β -galactofuranosyl transferase (*lpg1*) gene which is specifically involved in modifying the LPG glycan core, thus leaving intact other proteoglycan synthesis pathways (Ilg 2000; Spath et al. 2000). Ilg (Ilg 2000) demonstrated that L. mexicana promastigotes lacking LPG were unimpaired in their ability to infect, and survive in, M Φ . These parasites were as virulent, if not more so, as wild type promastigotes in vivo. However, while Spath et al (Spath et al. 2000) agreed that LPG^{-/-} L. major promastigotes were efficiently taken up by M Φ in the presence of Complement, they reported decreased intracellular survival of LPG^{-/-} mutants, which were approximately one hundred times less virulent than wild-type promastigotes in vivo. The differences between the results published by these two groups may reflect differences in the relative importance of LPG for amastigotes of different Leishmania species; L. major but not L. mexicana amastigotes express low levels of LPG (Turco and Sacks 1991; Bahr et al. 1993) that may play a role in their intracellular survival. Therefore it follows that loss of L. major amastigote-expression of LPG may explain the decreased survival of L. major parasites in vivo.

The data presented in section 6.2 indicated that activation of a percentage of DC *in vitro* was due to an interaction with a *L. mexicana* promastigote molecule that was not structurally conserved between *L. major* promastigotes. Since activated D1 cells were

shown to contain intact EGFP⁺ parasites (Chapter 5), it was likely that this molecule was expressed on the surface or was secreted by the parasites. LPG was therefore an attractive candidate for the *L. mexicana* promastigote PAMP. The hypothesis was proposed that pattern receptors expressed by a fraction of DC in BM-DC or D1 cell cultures recognise components of the metacyclic *L. mexicana* LPG molecule, but that the more complicated substitutions to metacyclic *L. major* LPG render these components inaccessible to DC receptors. In order to address this hypothesis, BM-DC were incubated with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} promastigotes *in vitro*.

6.3.2 Internalisation of LPG[≁] Promastigotes by BM-DC

Two independent clones of LPG mutants which had been generated by targeted deletion of the *lpg1* gene (Ilg 2000), and were kindly provided by T. Ilg, Tübingen, were used to infect BM-DC. These parasites lack LPG, but display abundant non-LPG phosphoglycans on their surface (Ilg 2000). The results from both clones were identical, and data from only one of the clones, I/8D, is presented in this chapter.

LPG has been shown in a number of studies to mediate Complement-independent uptake of promastigotes by M Φ (Handman and Goding 1985; Talamas-Rohana *et al.* 1990). Studies using *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} parasites reported no impairment in the ability of these parasites to be taken up by M Φ (Ilg 2000), however it was important to confirm that DC efficiently internalised LPG^{-/-} promastigotes. Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} or wild type promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were then harvested, fixed, permeablised, stained with an anti-parasite serum and analysed by flow cytometry. Some non-permeabilised cells were positive with the anti-parasite serum (16.8±2.1%) indicating the attachment of some parasites to the surface of the cells, however permeabilisation of cells prior to incubation with the anti-parasite serum showed that the majority of the parasites were intracellular (Figure 6.5), and that

Figure 6.5: LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes are Internalised by BM-DC



BM-DC were incubated with LPG^{-/-} promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed and stained with an anti-parasite antibody with or without permeabilisation. Dotted lines represent A. non-stained cells and B. cells incubated with normal mouse serum and the secondary antibody. Solid lines represent cells from parasite-infected cultures.

This data is representative of four separate experiments

41.6±2.5% of the cells were infected (average from four different experiments, see Table 6.3).

6.3.3 Incubation of DC with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes

To investigate whether uptake of LPG^{-/-} promastigotes activated BM-DC *in vitro*, BM-DC were incubated with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} promastigotes for 18 hours, harvested, fixed, and stained for surface activation markers before being permeabilised and stained with the anti-parasite serum to identify infected cells by flow cytometry. Infection of BM-DC with LPG^{-/-} promastigotes did not induce up-regulation of the surface markers CD86, MHC II or CD54 (Figure 6.6). Co-staining of BM-DC with the anti-parasite serum and antibodies against CD86, MHC II or CD54 demonstrated that both the infected and non-infected populations retained low levels of the surface activation markers tested. Interestingly, as with the *L. major* data in section 6.2, the lack of up-regulation of surface markers was more apparent with CD86 expression than MHC II. (Figure 6.6; Table 6.4). These data indicate that *L. mexicana* promastigotes lacking LPG no longer activate BM-DC (percentage of CD86^{hi} cells in BM-DC cultures versus LPG^{-/-} promastigotes p=0.06, see Table 6.4).

The effect of uptake of LPG^{-/-} promastigotes was also examined in D1 cells. Figure 6.7A shows that incubation of D1 cells with LPG^{-/-} promastigotes did not result in the upregulation of the surface markers CD86, MHC II and CD54 seen on approximately 33% of the cells upon incubation with wild-type EGFP-expressing promastigotes, confirming the results from the BM-DC experiments (wild type EGFP-expressing promastigote-infected culture versus LPG^{-/-} promastigotes p=0.04; value based on percentage of activated CD86⁺ cells from five different experiments, see Table 6.4). It should be noted that infected and non-infected D1 cells were not distinguished in experiments using LPG^{-/-} promastigotes.

Table 6.3: Complete FACS Data for Infection Levels of BM-DC Incubated with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes.

	Percentage of cells stained with the anti-parasite serum					
	Permeabilised	Surface				
Expt. 1	35.0	18.8				
Expt. 2	46.7	14.7				
Expt. 3	43.6					
Expt. 4	41.1					
Mean	41.6	16.8				
s.e.m.	2.5					

Numbers indicate the percentage of cells stained with the anti-parasite serum in BM-DC cultures incubated with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained with or without permeabilisation to distinguish between surface-bound and intracellular parasites and analysed by flow cytometry.



Figure 6.6: *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} promastigotes do not activate BM-DC upon infection

BM-DC were incubated with stationary phase wild-type or LPG^{-/-} *L. mexicana* promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers then permeablised and stained with an anti-parasite serum. Cells were then analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. FACS plots are representative of plots from 4 different experiments.

Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) and upper right (UR) quadrants for FACS plots of immature BM-DC and D1 DC, or BM-DC and D1 DC incubated with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies, then permeabilised and incubated with anti-parasite serum followed by the appropriate FITC-conjugated secondary. Cells were then analysed by flow cytometry. For promastigote-infected populations the values in the upper left quadrant represent the activated serum negative cells and the values in the upper right quadrant represent the activated serum positive cells.

- CD86: Immature BM-DC versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.50; wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.06.
 MHC II: Immature BM-DC versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.54; wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.03.
- CD86: Immature D1 cells versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.13; wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.04
 MHC II: Immature BM-DC versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.09; wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} p=0.07.

Table 6.4: Complete FACS data for infection of DC with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} promastigotes.

A. BM-DC

CD86								MHC						
	Imma	L	WT n	1 rom.	LPG ^{-/}	⁻ prom.	1		Immat	ure	WT pi	om.	LPG-/-	prom.
	UI.			UR	UL	UR	1		UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR
Expt 1	62	0.0	12.4	2.4	9.0	3.0	1		10.1	0.0	17.0	6.4	9.8	3.3
Expt.1	110	0.0	43.2	8.1	6.4	2.1	1		16.8	0.0	24.8	6.5	9.0	6.4
Expt.2	93	0.0	35.5	2.5	6.2	1.1	1		13.9	0.0	32.5	7.2	15.3	2.7
Expt.5	6.0	0.0	12.5	3.0	7.5	1.7			9.6	0.0	14.2	4.0	5.6	4.5
Laput														
Mean	81	0.0	25.9	4.0	7.3	2.0	1		12.6	0.0	22.1	4.8	9.9	4.2
s.e.m.	1.2	0.0	7.9	1.4	0.7	0.4	1		1.7	0.0	4.1	0.7	2.0	0.8

B. D1 cells

CD86													
	Imma	l	EGFP	prom.	LPG-/-	prom.	1	 Immat	ure	EGFP	prom.	LPG-/-	prom.
	UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR		UL	UR	UL	UR	UL	UR
Expt 1	3.6	0.2	21.2	16.6	13.0	0.3	1	17.7	0.8	21.4	17.9	25.3	0.2
Expt.2	5.9	0.0	26.7	22.3	11.4	0.0		5.6	0.0	23.5	22.0	14.5	0.1
Expt 3	12.9	0.8	14.4	9.3	22.6	0.6		 16.5	1.0	11.3	8.2	22.8	0.8
Expt.5	16.9	0.2	40.3	18.6	28.6	0.0	1	16.0	0.3	31.7	14.8	27.2	0.0
Lapar	10.5		<u> </u>				1						
Mean	98	0.3	25.7	16.7	18.9	0.2	1	 14.0	0.5	22.0	15.7	22.5	0.2
s.e.m.	3.1	0.2	5.5	2.7	4.1	0.1		2.8	0.2	4.2	2.9	2.8	0.3



- A. D1 cells were incubated with stationary phase *L. mexicana* wild type (WT) or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested and stained for surface activation markers. Thin lines represent noninfected cells and thick lines represent cells incubated with *Leishmania* parasites. FACS plots are representative of 4 different experiments.
- B. Supernatants from LPG^{-/-} infected cultures were assayed for TNFα (n=3) by ELISA. The lower sensitivity limit of this assay was 30 pg/ml. Values represent concentrations in supernatants from approximately 1X10⁵ cells (mean ± s.e.m.).

* WT promastigotes versus LPG^{-/} promastigotes: p=0.03
The lack of activation of DC on incubation with LPG^{-/-} promastigotes was confirmed by analysing TNF α production in infected D1 cell cultures, since this cytokine had been induced on incubation with wild type promastigotes (Figure 5.3); incubation with LPG^{-/-} promastigotes did not induce TNF α production by D1 cells (Figure 6.7B); wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} promastigotes p=0.03.

6.3.4 Incubation of BM-DC with Purified LPG

In order to determine whether LPG itself could activate DC *in vitro*, BM-DC were incubated with purified *L. mexicana* or *L. major* LPG (kindly provided by T. Ilg, Tübingen), for 18 hours, harvested, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry. LPG^{-/-} parasites were also incubated with purified *L. mexicana* LPG to test whether this was sufficient to restore the activation of 15% of the cells seen on incubation with wild type promastigotes.

Simultaneous incubation of LPG^{-/-} promastigotes and 10µg/ml *L. mexicana*-derived LPG with BM-DC restored activation of BM-DC to levels seen on infection with wild type *L. mexicana* promastigotes (Figure 6.8; wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} promastigotes with 10µg/ml LPG p=0.57, based on CD86 expression from three separate experiments, see Table 6.5). 10µg/ml LPG was chosen for these experiments based on a titration of the effect of LPG on infected MΦ (T. Aebischer personal communication). Incubation of BM-DC with 10µg/ml purified *L. mexicana* LPG activated 23.0±2.3% of the cells (based on CD86 expression from five separate experiments; Table 6.6, see also Figure 6.9). Incubation with 50µg/ml *L. mexicana* LPG did not significantly increase the percentage of activated CD86⁺ or MHC II⁺ cells in the population, confirming the idea that BM-DC are heterogeneous in their ability to respond to the promastigote-derived activating signal.



Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with *L. mexicana* wild type (WT) or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes, or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes with 10 μ g/ml purified *L. mexicana* LPG for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed and stained for surface activation markers, then permeabilised and stained with an anti-parasite serum and FITC-conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody. Cells were then analysed by flow cytometry.

Quadrants were set on non-infected DC. Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the respective quadrants. Dot plots are representative of 3 different experiments.

Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) and upper right (UR) quadrants for FACS plots of immature BM-DC, or BM-DC incubated with *L. mexicana* wild type (WT) or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes, or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes and 10mg/ml purified *L. mexicana* LPG, for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies, then permeabilised and stained with an anti-parasite serum and a FITC-conjugated secondary antibody. Cells were then analysed by flow cytometry.

CD86: Wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} promastigotes + 10μ g/ml LPG p=0.57; LPG^{-/-} versus LPG^{-/-} + 10μ g/ml LPG p=0.09; wild type versus 10μ g/ml *L*. *mexicana* LPG p=0.93.

MHC II: Wild type promastigotes versus LPG^{-/-} promastigotes + 10μ g/ml LPG p=0.63; LPG^{-/-} versus LPG^{-/-} + 10μ g/ml LPG p=0.07; wild type versus 10μ g/ml *L. mexicana* LPG p=0.64.

Table 6.5:

Complete FACS Data for Infection of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* Wild Type or LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes, or LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes and Purified *L. mexicana* LPG

CD86											
	Immature		WT promastigotes		LPG-/	LPG ^{-/-}		LPG ^{-/-} prom. +			
					proma	promastigotes		10µg/ml LPG			
	UL	UR	UL	UR	Total	UL	UR	Total	UL	UR	Total
Expt.1	8.9	0.0	9.9	3.4	13.3	7.2	1.0	8.2			
Expt.2	6.6	0.0	6.8	3.1	9.9	5.8	0.5	6.3			
Expt.3	5.5	0.0	8.1	4.7	12.8	6.6	0.9	7.5	15.4	3.4	18.8
Expt.4	6.2	0.0	27.4	25.0	52.4	6.5	0.7	7.2	11.7	4.2	15.9
Expt.5	9.0	0.0							39.5	16.6	56.1
Mean	7.2	0.0	13.1	9.1	22.1	6.5	0.8	7.3	22.2	8.1	30.3
s.e.m.	0.7	0.0	4.8	5.3	10.1	0.3	0.1	0.4	8.7	4.3	12.9

MHC II											
	Immature		WT promastigotes		LPG ^{-/-} promastigotes		LPG ^{-/-} prom. + 10µg/ml LPG				
	UL	UR	UL	UR	Total	UL	UR	Total	UL	UR	Total
Expt.1	16.6	0.0	11.4	7.7	19.1	4.9	5.2	10.1			
Expt.2	27.0	0.0	8.4	8.4	16.8	7.5	2.9	10.4			
Expt.3	8.6	0.0	12.6	19.0	31.6	7.4	2.0	9.4	26.4	6.7	33.1
Expt.4	21.6	0.0	ND	ND	69.3	11.2	3.9	15.1	17.2	13.2	30.4
Expt.5	12.8	0.0							4.1	7.1	11.2
A	<u> </u>										
Mean	17.3	0.0	10.8	11.7	34.2	7.8	3.5	11.3	15.9	9.0	24.9
s.e.m.	3.2	0.0	1.3	3.7	12.1	1.3	0.7	1.3	6.5	2.1	6.9



Figure 6.9: Activation of BM-DC by Purified *L. mexicana* or *L. major* LPG

Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with 10μ g/ml purified *L. mexicana* or *L. major* LPG for 18 hours. Cells were then harvested, fixed, stained for surface activation markers and analysed by flow cytometry.

Quadrants were set on dot plots from non-infected BM-DC. Numbers represent the percentage of cells in the upper left quadrant. Dot plots are representative of plots from 4 different experiments.

Table 6.6:Complete FACS Data for Incubation of BM-DC with Purified L.mexicana and L. major LPG.

A. L. mexicana LPG

CD86					M	IHC				
	LPG ()	l lg/ml)	1		┥┝ ╨	<u> </u>	LPG (ı 1g/ml)	L	4
	1	5	10	50			1	5	10	50
Expt.1			20.9	44.5	1				41.3	53.4
Expt.2			16.0	36.4	1				41.3	41.8
Expt.3			21.9	38.2	1				33.4	43.8
Expt.4			26.9	17.9	1 [53.5	8.8
Expt.5	12.3	11.8	29.2		1		19.5	19.7	30.1	
Expt.6	10.6	35.6					18.0	27.7		
			1		1 Г					
Mean	11.5	23.7	23.0	34.3	1 [18.8	23.7	39.9	37.0
s.e.m.	0.9	11.9	2.3	5.7	1		0.8	4.0	4.1	9.7

B. L. major LPG

CD86				MHC II			
	LPG (ıg/ml)			LPG (ug/ml)	
	1	5	10		1	5	10
Expt.1			35.3				34.8
Expt.2			29.5				41.9
Expt.3			22.2				55.8
Expt.4			24.3				36.0
Expt.5	10.9	31.5	43.7		18.2	30.6	43.8
Expt.6	36.8	30.4			20.7	37.9	
A							
Mean	23.9	31.0	31.0		19.5	34.3	42.5
s.e.m.	13.0	0.6	3.9		1.3	3.7	3.8

Numbers indicate the percentage of cells in the upper left (UL) and upper right (UR) quadrants for FACS plots of BM-DC or D1 cells incubated with *L. major* promastigotes for 18 hours. Cells were harvested, fixed, stained with anti-CD86 or anti-MHC II antibodies and analysed by flow cytometry.

Unexpectedly incubation with $10\mu g/ml L$. major-derived LPG potently activated BM-DC (Figure 6.9); $31\pm3.9\%$ of the cells up-regulated surface expression of CD86 on incubation with L. major LPG (statistical analysis based on five separate experiments, see Table 6.6). L. major LPG also appeared to activate BM-DC more potently than L. mexicana LPG at lower concentrations (Table 6.6). In order to demonstrate that this activation was not due to contamination of LPG samples with endotoxin, BM-DC were incubated with $10\mu g/ml$ LPG that had been pre-incubated with $50\mu g/ml$ Polymyxin B (Sigma), which binds to the lipid A component of LPS thus inhibiting its activity. Table 6.7 shows that L. mexicana and L. major LPG activate BM-DC in the presence of Polymyxin B, indicating that the results described above are not due to endotoxin contamination of the samples. Thus, these data demonstrate that binding of Leishmania LPG activates a proportion of BM-DC.

6.4 Discussion

To investigate the nature of the *L. mexicana* promastigote-derived signal responsible for activating 15% or 33% of BM-DC or D1 cells respectively, experiments were performed in which metacyclic *L. major* promastigotes were incubated with DC *in vitro*. The data presented in this chapter indicate that uptake of stationary phase *L. major* promastigotes does not activate BM-DC and therefore, that infection with these parasites resembles infection with *L. mexicana* amastigotes in its overt effect on DC maturation. LPG is an abundant *Leishmania* surface glycoconjugate, the structure of which differs between metacyclic *L. mexicana* and *L. major* promastigotes, and LPG expression is down-regulated on transformation of *L. mexicana* promastigotes into amastigotes. Thus, *L. mexicana* LPG appeared an attractive candidate PAMP.

To address this possibility, BM-DC and D1 cells were incubated with *L. mexicana* LPG^{-/-} mutants. These parasites were efficiently taken up by both cell types, but did not induce activation of DC as assessed by expression of surface activation markers and

Table 6.7:Incubation of BM-DC with Purified LPG and Polymyxin B

CD86					
			Polymyxin B		
	Immature	LPS	L. mexicana	L. major	100ng/ml
		100ng/ml	LPG	LPG	LPS
			10µg/ml	10µg/ml	
Expt.1	9.1	33.0	20.9	72.9	14.8
Expt.2	7.7	ND	23.6	59.6	11.8

MHC II					
			Polymyxin B		
	Immature	LPS 100ng/ml	<i>L. mex</i> LPG 10µg/ml	L. major LPG 10µg/ml	100ng/ml LPS
Expt.1	13.1	30.3	23.9	34.3	7.9
Expt.2	7.2	ND	12.1	43.8	3.7

Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with LPS alone or purified *L. mexicana* LPG, *L. major* LPG and LPS with 50μ g/ml Polymyxin B for 18 hours. Cells were then harvested, fixed, stained for the surface activation markers CD86 and MHC II and analysed by flow cytometry.

Numbers represent percentages of cells in the upper left quandrants of dot plots. ND, not done.

cytokine production. Rather, infection appeared to resemble incubation of the cells with *L. mexicana* amastigotes, or *L. major* promastigotes. Therefore, these data support the hypothesis that binding of *L. mexicana* LPG to receptors on DC induces activation of DC *in vitro*.

To further test this hypothesis, BM-DC were incubated with purified *L. mexicana* LPG. The results from this experiment would determine whether LPG itself is an activating stimulus, or whether uptake of parasites expressing LPG results in internalisation of parasites in compartments where they are accessible to other host pattern receptors. Incubation of BM-DC with purified *L. mexicana* LPG alone or LPG with LPG^{-/-} promastigotes resulted in activation of a proportion of the BM-DC population. Therefore, these data indicate that LPG is the promastigote-encoded molecule that directly induces activation of a percentage of BM-DC when incubated with intact promastigotes or promastigote lysate.

LPG derived from both *L. mexicana* and *L. major* metacyclic promastigotes is composed of the same neutral cap strucure and phosphatidylinositol lipid anchor. However *L. mexicana* LPG contains a glycan core substituted with occasional glucose molecules, whereas in metacyclic *L. major* LPG the glucose residues are replaced by more complex saccharide units, including arabinose moelcules (McConville and Ferguson 1993). Since *L. mexicana*, but not *L. major*, promastigotes activated BM-DC, this observation indicates that DC receptors that recognise *L. mexicana*, but not *L. major*, promastigotes bind to determinants on the phosphoglycan core. Thus, the more complex substitutions to the *L. major* LPG glycan core may occlude access of these receptors to these determinants. Addition of purified *L. major* LPG to BM-DC culture resulted in potent activation of the cells. However, purification of LPG would result in loss of the ordered arrangement of the LPG molecules that occurs on the surface of the parasites, and DC receptors would therefore have access to activating determinants on the phosphoglycan core. This idea could be tested by reconstituting LPG^{-/-} parasites with *L. mexicana* and *L. major* LPG, as described by (Handman *et al.* 1986).

6.5 Concluding Remarks

The results from experiments described in this chapter strongly implicate *L. mexicana*derived LPG as a potential activation signal for DC, since in the absence of LPG *L. mexicana* promastigotes could not activate DC, and purified LPG activated BM-DC. Therefore, *L. mexicana* LPG is the first example described of a protozoan PAMP. Activation of DC is likely to be due to recognition of a part of the *L. mexicana* phosphoglycan core by DC sugar/lectin receptors since it is within this region that the main differences occur between *L. mexicana* and *L. major* LPG. Binding of LPG only triggers low levels of activation in DC cultures, however, indicating that the DC population is heterogeneous in terms of susceptibility to LPG activation. This observation implies that, *in vivo*, binding of LPG on uptake of metacyclic *L. mexicana* promastigotes may not be sufficient to activate DC at the site of infection. Thus activation by LPG would likely synergise with the effect of other exogenous factors, such as pro-inflammatory cytokines, to initiate the primary anti-*Leishmania* T cell response.

Chapter 7: Discussion

The work presented in this thesis had two aims: first to establish and test a model system with which to follow the fate of *Leishmania*-derived antigens in infected cells; second to investigate the specific interaction between *Leishmania* and DC using a defined *in vitro* model.

Do infected DC process and present Leishmania-derived antigens?

A model experimental system was designed with which to follow the fate of Leishmania-derived antigens in infected cells. This model was based on the transgenic expression of a defined MHC II-restricted T cell epitope, MCC, by L. mexicana parasites. H2-E^k-MCC complexes would be detected using the complex-specific mAb D4 and the H2-Ek-MCC-specific T cell hybridoma, 2B4. MCC was cloned into two different carrier proteins; GST and a secreted form of L. mexicana MBAP. MBAP:MCC fusion proteins were expressed by transgenic parasites, but MCC was not presented at detectable levels by infected DC and M Φ . Published data indicated that MBAP epitopes are present on the surface of infected M Φ in the context of MHC II molecules, and, therefore, that MCC should be presented in this system. A number of different factors are likely to contribute to the lack of presentation from transgenic parasites in this experimental system: the secretion of amastigote cysteine proteases into the PV may result in the destruction of T cell epitopes before they are bound by MHC II molecules. Incubation of infected cells with protease inhibitors would result in inactivation of the host processing machinery and could not be used to avoid this problem. However, expression of high levels of fusion protein by transgenic parasites may saturate proteases in the PV, resulting in the presentation of intact T cell epitopes. Second, sequences surrounding the MCC epitope may not favour optimal processing of this peptide by host cell proteases; replacing a known T cell epitope of gp63 with MCC should circumvent this problem. It is not known whether parasite antigens bind MHC II in the PV or

whether the antigens are transported out of the PV to join the host endosomal pathway in an alternative compartment. If complexes form in the PV then it may be that transport from the PV to the cell surface is less efficient that conventional processing and presentation pathways, and that high concentrations of parasite antigens are required to overcome this inefficiency. *Leishmania*-infected DC were fully competent to process exogenous antigen for presentation to T cells, therefore, once levels of expression of fusion proteins and processing of the epitope have been optimised, this experimental model should be appropriate for following the fate of parasite-derived antigens in infected cells.

Does uptake of Leishmania parasites per se activate DC?

Leishmania parasites, as pathogens, have been assumed to activate DC upon uptake. However the published data is conflicting regarding whether promastigotes or amastigotes, or both, can provide the activating stimulus. Following initial and unexpected observations that amastigote infection did not cause upregulation of MHC II on BM-DC, an experimental model was established to address the question of whether, in a highly controlled system, uptake of Leishmania parasites per se could activate DC. EGFP-expressing L. mexicana parasites, which can be maintained in vitro, were used to distinguish between infected and non-infected cells in the population. The results reported in this thesis demonstrate that uptake of L. mexicana amastigotes does not activate BM-DC or D1 cells either in terms of upregulation of surface activation markers or increased cytokine production. Thus, L. mexicana amastigotes do not express molecules that signal activation upon binding by DC receptors. This result apparently contradicts previous reports that lesion-derived L. major or L. amazonensis amastigotes activated DC upon up-take (von Stebut et al. 1998; Qi et al. 2001); a discrepancy likely to be due to the fact that lesion-derived amastigotes will be coated with Ig and other host proteins from the inflamed tissues that may trigger activation of DC. Differences in the species of parasite used may also account for the results obtained by different groups on infection of DC with Leishmania promastigotes; the data presented in this thesis demonstrate, in accordance with von Stebut and colleagues (1998) that uptake of L.

major promastigotes does not activate BM-DC; *L. mexicana* promastigotes however could activate at least some BM-DC and D1 cells.

While L. mexicana amastigotes do not induce upregulation of DC activation markers, it seems unlikely that there will be no interaction at all between the parasites and DC. This is supported by the clusteral analysis from the GeneChip[®] analysis of L. mexicana-infected D1 cells. Provisional data from this experiment indicates that transcription of 880 DC genes was altered by at least three fold on infection with L. mexicana amastigotes. Thus, these data, together with the flow cytometry data, indicate that amastigotes do not behave as inert particles on infection of D1 cells, but that this interaction does not result in classical activation of the cells.

Uptake of *L. mexicana* promastigotes activated a percentage of BM-DC, and this effect was more pronounced with D1 cells. Activated BM-DC were consistently EGFP⁻ but it was subsequently shown that activated D1 cells were infected with intact, EGFP⁺, parasites. Taken together these data suggest that the activating signal was not intracellular, as initially proposed in Chapter 4, but that BM-DC had been activated upon uptake of intact parasites that were subsequently degraded. These results suggest that *Leishmania* parasites are more rapidly degraded in BM-DC than D1 cells.

Experiments to address the nature of the *L. mexicana* promastigote activating signal demonstrated that *L. major* promastigotes did not activate BM-DC or D1 cells upon uptake, and resembled *L. mexicana* amastigotes in their interaction with this host cell type. The hypothesis was therefore proposed that metacyclic *L. mexicana* LPG might be the activating signal, since *L. mexicana* amastigotes do not express LPG and the composition of the sugar side chains on this molecule differs between *L. mexicana* and *L. major*. Experiments using LPG^{-/-} promastigotes indicated that LPG was a *L. mexicana* PAMP and this was supported by incubation of BM-DC with purified LPG. It is proposed that the receptor for LPG recognises determinants on the *L. mexicana* LPG would block access to this core, preventing activation of DC via signalling through these

receptors. Only a limited number of cells in DC cultures responded to the promastigotederived activating stimulus in these experiments, suggesting heterogeneity amongst both BM-DC and D1 cells in the expression of the LPG receptor, and that a higher percentage of D1 cells expressed this receptor than BM-DC.

The potential of LPG as a protozoan PAMP

LPG fulfills the requirements put forward by Medzhitov & Janeway (Medzhitov and Janeway 1997) that PAMP should be signature molecules for a range of pathogens, which are essential for their survival, and so will be relatively invariant. LPG is expressed by all species of Leishmania parasites and, while depending on the species, it may not be essential for survival in the host, it is critical for the passage of promastigotes through the sandfly (Sacks et al. 2000). LPG also shares structural similarities with LPS, a well-defined bacterial PAMP. Infact, LPG was originally characterised as "a Leishmania lipopolysaccharide molecule (L-LPS)"(Handman et al. 1986). Thus, LPG is proposed to be the first example identified of a protozoal PAMP. The similarities between LPG and LPS and the fact that LPG epitopes transiently appear on the surface of MO upon infection with L. mexicana promastigotes (Stierhof et al. 1991) suggest that LPG could mediate activation of DC by binding to the receptors utilised by LPS, including TLR4 in association with CD14. However, preliminary data indicates that LPG does not bind to TLR4, since BM-DC from B10 mice, which carry a natural mutation in the TLR4 gene, were still activated upon incubation with L. mexicana promastigotes (data not shown). Thus the receptor for L. mexicana LPG awaits identification. However, it is likely to be a sugar or lectin receptor if it recognises determinants on the phosphoglycan core.

Do Leishmania parasites suppress activation of DC?

DC are exquisitely sensitive to activating stimuli. Therefore, the lack of activation by L. *mexicana* amastigotes or L. *major* promastigotes implied that these parasites are able to suppress maturation of DC, as has been documented for infected M Φ . L. *mexicana* amastigotes, however, did not suppress simultaneous activation of BM-DC with LPS

and IFN γ and also did not induce IL-10 production in D1 cultures. It was more difficult, however, to define whether intracellular *L. major* promastigotes suppressed activation of DC; *L. major* promastigote-infected cells expressed consistently lower levels of activation markers than the non-infected cells in the culture. This was particularly evident when BM-DC were activated with low levels of activating stimuli (TNF α or IFN γ) prior to infection. This observation could imply either that activation of infected cells was suppressed, or that parasites were more rapidly degraded in activated cells. In order to distinguish between these two possibilities, one would ideally mark cells containing parasites in such a way that this label persisted once the parasites had been degraded. One way to approach this may be to infect DC with EGFP⁺ parasites and sort them into a homogeneous infected population by flow cytometry. The EGFP⁺ DC could then be cultured with low levels of activating stimuli and stained for surface activation markers. If parasites were suppressing activation then there should be very few activated cells in the culture. By comparison, if parasites were degraded in activated cells then an EGFP⁻ population would emerge expressing high levels of surface activation markers.

D1 cells versus BM-DC

The experiments described in Chapters 4, 5 and 6 used two *in vitro*-cultured populations of DC as *in vitro* models of DC *in vivo*. BM-DC are derived from bone marrow precursors that have been cultured in the presence of GM-CSF. These cultures are fairly heterogeneous, containing DC precursors as well as immature, and spontaneously maturing DC, and are likely to reflect the myeloid DC that will be recruited to the site of infection from the blood *in vivo*. D1 cells are a long-term growth factor-dependent population of splenic DC, which are also cultured in the presence of GM-CSF. The D1 population is more homogeneous than BM-DC, and can be maintained as an immature population of DC in culture. Thus, they provide a useful system with which to investigate the interaction between *Leishmania* parasites and DC *in vitro*, and were an ideal population with which to perform the kinetic analysis described in Appendix B. The experiments described in this thesis, however, highlighted some differences between BM-DC and D1 cells: experiments performed using BM-DC indicated that CD86 was more sensitive to *Leishmania*-derived activating signals than MHC II,

suggesting that surface expression of these two markers was differentially regulated. This was not the case in the D1 cells. This observation may imply that long-term culture of D1 cells in conditioned medium has resulted in a homogeneity in the responses of these cells that does not reflect the situation *in vivo*. Furthermore, expression profiles of surface DC markers and the activation of only 33% of D1 cells on incubation with *L. mexicana* promastigotes indicates that these cells are not as homogeneous as they sometimes appeared. Finally, *L. mexicana* promastigotes were more rapidly degraded in activated BM-DC than activated D1 cells, indicating again that BM-DC are more responsive to infection than D1 cells. Thus, while the D1 cell culture provides an invaluable tool for the investigation DC interactions *in vitro*, these observations indicate the importance of interpreting the results from D1 experiments in the light of results from other DC cultures.

Relevance of the in vitro model to Leishmania infection in vivo

The results presented in this thesis use in vitro model experimental systems to explore the interaction between Leishmania and DC. In order to understand the complex interactions that occur in vivo during the initiation of a primary T cell response, it is important to be able to dissect the individual parts that contribute to this response. The experimental system described in Chapter 4 allowed the specific interaction between Leishmania parasites and DC to be examined in a highly controlled manner in the absence of other exogenous factors. Thus, the precise question of whether uptake of Leishmania parasites per se activated DC could be addressed. These results must, however, be considered within the context of the micorenvironment in which the interaction will occur in vivo: L. mexicana parasites will be injected into the epidermis of the host along with sandfly saliva, which has been shown to be immunomodulatory. In addition, wounding, caused by injection of the parasites, will initiate inflammatory responses in the host. Thus, promastigotes will be injected into an environment containing pro-inflammatory cytokines that may synergise with LPG to activate immature DC, that will then migrate to the draining LN and stimulate the primary anti-Leishmania T cell response. These DC may contain intact parasites, degraded parasites or have picked up parasite debris at the site of infection. The apparent heterogeneity of expression of the putative LPG receptor in DC cultures may reflect the restricted expression of this receptor by distinct DC subsets *in vivo*, implying that activation of a response to *Leishmania* will depend on the subset of DC encountered by the parasites. It would therefore be interesting to investigate the interaction of *Leishmania* with LC in more detail, since these are the DC subset that first encounters the parasites on injection into the epidermis, notably whether these cells are more sensitive to activation by LPG than BM-DC.

An interesting extension of this work would be to investigate whether the was any difference between the ability of promastigote- or amastigote-infected DC, or DC incubated with LPG, to stimulate Th1 versus Th2 responses in vitro and on adoptive transfer in vivo. In particular it would be interesting to explore the consequence of the apparent 'silent' infection of DC by amastigotes on polarisation of developing Th cells. It might be expected that these DC would induce expansion of Th2, cells since previous studies have demonstrated that incubation of DC with a pathogen-derived product which does not induce up-regulation of DC surface activation markers, resulted in the development of DC which induced polarisation of Th2 cells in vivo (MacDonald et al. 2001). However, CD40 signalling has recently been shown to be important for the induction of a Th2 response by DC (MacDonald et al. 2002). CD40 expression was not measured in the experiments described in this thesis, but, based on the lack of activation of other surface markers, CD40 would be anticipated to be upregulated on the surface of promastigote-infected, but not amastigote-infected, DC. This would suggest that promastigote-infected DC may polarise a Th2 response but amastigote-infected DC would polarise a Th1 response. Finally, it would also be interesting to consider whether activation of DC upon uptake of L. mexicana, but not L. major, LPG could be partly responsible for the differential ability of C57BL/6 mice to control infection with these parasites, since these mice mount a polarised Th1 response to infection with L. major, but a non-polarised Th response to infection with L. mexicana.

DC will initially take up *L. mexicana* promastigotes at the site of infection, thus the primary immune response will be primed to promastigote antigens. Intracellular promastigotes will then transform into amastigotes, which express different antigens, so how is the immune response to *Leishmania* maintained? Bystander activation of amastigote-infected M Φ may occur by anti-promastigote effector cells which have been recruited to the site of infection and which will interact with M Φ that have taken up promastigote debris and degraded intracellular promastigotes. This would lead to the killing of intracellular amastigotes and the release of amastigote debris, thus increasing the pool of available amastigote antigens, which will be taken up and presented by DC activated at the site of infection.

The lack of classical activation of DC by amastigotes may, however, be important for the persistence of parasites in a 'cured' host. In the absence of pro-inflammatory cytokines, when the anti-*Leishmania* response has died down, amastigotes, which are released upon lysis or death of host cells, will be taken up by DC at the site of the lesion, or in the LN, without triggering activation. This may contribute to the persistence of parasites in the immune host.

DC are not the natural reservoirs for Leishmania parasites

Infection of D1 cells facilitated investigation of the effect of long-term infection of DC with *L. mexicana* parasites. Infected M Φ develop large communal PV within 48 hours of infection that contain multiple parasites. It was proposed that *Leishmania* parasites would not be able to establish infection in DC in the way that they do M Φ , and that this was related to the observation that infected DC can efficiently process and present exogenous antigen *in vitro*. The results presented in Chapter 5 demonstrate that live *L. mexicana* promastigotes and amastigotes persist for up to 96 hours in D1 cells. This observation should be confirmed in an alternative DC population because, as discussed above, D1 cells do not degrade intracellular parasites as readily as BM-DC. Unfortunately, BM-DC die after 48 hours infection and so the experiment cannot be repeated in these cells. Confocal analysis of infected D1 cells showed that large

communal PV did not form in D1 cells infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes within the 96 hour time frame of the experiment. This work was supported by the observation that PV in infected DC *in vivo* were significantly smaller than those formed in infected M Φ (T. Aebischer personal communication). This suggests that *L. mexicana* parasites cannot establish a chronic infection in DC as efficiently as in M Φ and that, *in vivo*, DC will not constitute a significant parasite reservoir. The hypothesis is proposed that the differential ability of *L. mexicana* parasites to form large PV in M Φ but not DC determines the efficiency with which *Leishmania* antigens are presented by these cell types. If so, then inhibition of PV formation in M Φ should alter the kinetics of antigen presentation in these cells. Care would have to be taken, however, not to inhibit transport of MHC II complexes in these cells. Results from the GeneChip[®] experiment may give clues about differential expression of DC genes related to vacuole formation and transport along the endosomal pathway, for example, transcriptional regulation of *rab* genes.

In conclusion, this thesis demonstrates that *Leishmania*-infected DC are capable of initiating the primary T cell response because they efficiently present antigen to T cells. However, uptake of *Leishmania* parasites *per se* is probably insufficient to initiate the primary anti-parasite immune response. Thus, the anti-*Leishmania* T cell response is likely to be primed via activation of DC at the site of infection by factors produced in response to injection of parasites by the insect vector, such as pro-inflammatory cytokines.

Appendix A: a) Plasmids used for Cloning Strategies



Appendix A: a) Plasmids used for Cloning Stategies







Appendix B:

Transcriptional Analysis of the Effect of Incubation of D1 Cell Cultures with *L. mexicana* Wild Type or LPG^{-/-} Parasites.

Introduction

Oligonucleotide microarrays have recently been used to analyse the response of DC to infection with different organisms at the level of transcription (Granucci *et al.* 2001; Huang *et al.* 2001). Experiments comparing the effect of infection with different well characterised pathogens, or key molecular components from these pathogens, demonstrated that infection initiates a core response involving the up-regulation of over one hundred genes, as well as activating transcription of other genes more specific to the response to that class of pathogen. Interestingly, incubation of DC with purified molecular components from these pathogens (LPS, mannan or double stranded RNA) mimicked the effect of infection with the whole organism, in particular when comparing LPS and the gram negative bacteria, *E coli* (Huang *et al.* 2001). Thus, a kinetic analysis was performed to investigate the effect of uptake of *L. mexicana* promastigotes and amastigotes on the transcription of D1 DC genes. LPG^{-/-} *L. mexicana* promastigotes were also included to investigate the LPG-specific up-regulation of gene expression in infected cells, since LPG is a major determinant on the surface of *L. mexicana* promastigotes but is lacking from the surface of amastigotes.

Preliminary Results and Discussion

Based on the results from the time course performed on *L. mexicana* promastigote- and amastigote-infected cells (see Chapter 5, Figure 5.5), time points of 4, 8, 12 and 24 hours were chosen for the transcriptional analysis. A 12 hour time point was included because the maximum change of surface activation marker expression on incubation

with promastigotes occurred between 8 and 18 hours (Figure 5.5). $2x10^6$ D1 cells were incubated for 4, 8, 12 or 24 hours with stationary phase wild type L. mexicana promastigotes or amastigotes, or stationary phase L. mexicana LPG^{-/-} promastigotes at a ratio of 1:5. This ratio of DC:parasites was chosen to maximise parasite uptake but minimise the number of excess parasites remaining in the culture medium, thus reducing the risk of contamination of samples with Leishmania RNA from extracellular parasites. Cells were then harvested, washed thoroughly and cell pellets frozen at -80°C. Aliquots of cells were tested by flow cytometry at each time point (Figure B.1). This analysis confirmed that uptake of L. mexicana amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes did not activate D1 cells, but that promastigotes activated approximately 37% of the cells after 24 hours. An early peak of activated cells that decreased through-out the time course was detected by flow cytometry for the amastigote- and LPG^{-/-} promastigote-infected cultures, while this peak merged into the activated population of the promastigoteinfected cultures. However, since this early peak appeared to be non-specific, and since it was present at the onset of the time course, it was likely to be due to the surface display of pre-existing molecules and should not be reflected at the level of transcription.

RNA was extracted from frozen pellets and used to generate biotin-labelled cRNA for hybridisation onto two high density oligonucleotide arrays (Affymetrix Mulik GeneChip[®] array) which collectively displayed 11 000 genes and ESTs (Expressed Sequence Tags). RNA extraction and chip hybridisation was performed by Caterina Vizzardelli (Milan). Statistical and filtering analyses were performed by Mattia Pellizola (Milan).

At present, only preliminary analyses have been performed on these data. Figure B.2 depicts the correlation between the genes that are up- or down-regulated by more than three fold upon incubation of D1 cells with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes. This diagram illustrates that large numbers of genes are differentially regulated in the three groups. Notably, although infection with *L. mexicana* amastigotes did not induce up-regulation of surface activation markers or production of



Figure B.1A: CD86 Expression on *L. mexicana*-Infected D1 Cells Used for the GeneChip[®] Analysis

D1 cells were infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes, or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes, for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested, fixed and stained for the surface activation marker CD86. Histograms show non-infected D1 cells at 4 hours (thin lines) and cells incubated with *Leishmania* parasites for 4, 8, 12 or 24 hours (thick lines).

Numbers represent the percentage of activated cells based on a marker set on activated cells at 24 hours.



Figure B.1B: MHC II Expression on *L. mexicana*-Infected D1Cells Used for the GeneChip® Analysis

D1 cells were infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes, or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested, fixed and stained for surface MHC II. Histograms show non-infected D1 cells at 4 hours (thin lines) and cells incubated with *Leishmania* parasites for 4, 8, 12 or 24 hours (thick lines).

Numbers represent the percentage of activated cells based on a marker set on activated cells at 24 hours.



Figure B.1C: CD54 Expression on *L. mexicana*-Infected D1 Cells Used for the GeneChip[®] Analysis

D1 cells were infected with *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes, for the times indicated. Cells were then harvested, fixed and stained for the surface activation marker CD54. Histograms show non-infected D1 cells at 4 hours (thin lines) and cells incubated *Leishmania* parasites for 4, 8, 12 or 24 hours (thick lines).

Numbers represent the percentage of activated cells based on a marker set on activated cells at 24 hours.

Figure B.2: Diagram Showing Correlations Between Genes Expressed by Wild Type *L. mexicana* Promastigote-, Amastigote- or LPG^{-/-} Promastigote-infected D1 Cells.



Venn diagram showing the correlation between gene expression of D1 cells incubated for 4, 8, 12 or 24 hours with wild type *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes.

Numbers represent the number of pooled genes in each subset, expression of which is regulated by three fold or more upon incubation with promastigotes, amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes.

cytokines, 880 D1 genes were regulated in an amastigote-specific manner. This is much higher than the number of differentially regulated genes in the promastigote-specific groups. It is also significant that incubation of D1 cells with $LPG^{-/-}$ parasites results in the differential expression of 202 genes. This implies that interactions between D1 cell molecules and *L. mexicana* LPG have an important modulatory effect on the cell.

Figure B.3 shows the results from hierarchal clustering of genes regulated on incubation with *Leishmania* parasites. This analysis was performed as described by (Granucci *et al.* 2001). These diagrams illustrate the differential expression of groups of genes in the three infection groups, demonstrating the extent to which D1 cells respond to infection by *L. mexicana* promastigotes, amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes at the level of gene transcription.

The results discussed in this appendix are preliminary and the data awaits further analysis. However, initial analyses indicate that the microarray data supports the results presented in Chapters 4, 5 and 6; surface activation markers are not transcriptionally upregulated upon incubation of D1 cells with *L. mexicana* amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes, and infection with wild type *L. mexicana* promastigotes specifically upregulates expression of the IL-12 p40 gene. These data also indicate that, while infection with amastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes appeared to be silent according to the parameters tested, hundreds of genes are regulated in response to these interactions, and it is evident that the parasites are not merely behaving as inert particles. However, it remains to be seen whether any of these responses are related to the activation of DC, and the efficacy with which they can initiate the anti-*Leishmania* T cell response.

Hierarchal clusters showing the different types of gene expression profiles obtained. For each group the kinetic points (0, 4, 8, 12, and 24) are represented from left to right. The label above the upper left corner of each box identifies the cluster and the number above the upper right corner indicates the number of genes in each cluster. Genes were clustered as described by Granucci *et al.* (2001). A filter was used to examine only those genes which showed a difference in expression of at least 3 fold between the maximum and minimum kinetic expression values.

Colour changes from black to red as expression increases.

Figure B.3: Hierarchal Clusters Showing Gene Expression Profiles Obtained from Infection of D1 Cells with Wild Type *L. mexicana* Amastigotes, Promastigotes or LPG^{-/-} Promastigotes



272

Table 1. Infection of BM-DC by *L. mexicana* amastigotes does not induce secretion of IL-12 $(p40)^{a}$

		IL-12 (p40) pg/ml
BM-DO	C alone	43.4 ± 15
+	LPS + IFN-γ	$3.6 \times 10^4 \pm 1 \times 10^4$
+	Amastigotes ^{b)}	36.1 ±11
+	Amastigotes + LPS + IFN-γ	$2.7\times10^4\pm9\times10^3$
+	Promastigotes ^{b)}	341.0 ± 112
+	Opsonized promastigotes	632.7 ± 184
+	Latex beads	ND

- a) Day 7 BM-DC (*n* = 4) were incubated for 18 h with *L. mexicana* amastigotes, promastigotes, or latex beads, with or without 1 µg/ml LPS and 10³ U/ml IFN- γ . The p40 subunit of IL-12 was measured in 18 h supernatants by ELISA. The sensitivity of the assay was 30 pg/ml. Values represent concentrations of cytokine in supernatants from ~2 × 10⁵ cells (mean ± SEM).
- b) Amastigotes vs. promastigotes: p = 0.035.

DC activation. Our data indicate that axenic *L. mexicana* amastigotes do not activate BM-DC, but present to DC as inert particles similar to latex beads during infection *in vitro*. Incubation with promastigotes results in the activa-



Fig. 5. Infection of EGFP-expressing parasites *in vivo*. C57BL/6 mice were infected with two clones of *L. mexicana*: EGFP (filled symbols) or two wild-type clones (open symbols) in the left hind footpads (10^7 promastigotes). Thereafter lesion development in this mouse strain (left part) was monitored at biweekly intervals, commencing at week three. Lesion size is also shown for BALB/c mice (right part) 32 weeks post-infection, by which time all animals had developed large, non-healing lesions. Data points refer to mean lesion size ± SD; numbers refer to the geometric mean of the parasite burden in the lesions at 32 weeks ± SD.

tion of a fraction of BM-DC, which is not increased by parasite opsonization with 5 % mouse serum. However, the majority of promastigote-infected BM-DC retain an immature phenotype, suggesting that the promastigote surface is also devoid of BM-DC-activating signals. In contrast to the situation documented in M Φ , where infection suppresses subsequent activation [4, 6, 18, 20], BM-DC incubated with either promastigotes or amastigotes could be fully matured upon addition of LPS and IFN- γ , indicating that *L. mexicana* do not suppress the ability of DC to respond to activating stimuli.

Activation of immature DC is believed to be triggered by "danger signals". These include conserved structural motifs on pathogenic organisms which are recognized by specific pattern recognition receptors [11-13], and host-derived factors. The list of pattern receptors currently includes members of the Toll-like receptor family involved in recognition of bacterial lipopolysaccharide or lipoteichoic acids [21-23], the multi-lectin family including DEC-205 [24] and mannose receptors [25, 26], and the presumptive receptor for unmethylated CpG islands [27]. In addition, pathogens can be opsonized by soluble factors such as complement and immunoglobulins, and sampled by DC that express complement (CD11b and c/CD18) and Fc receptors [28-30]. Since the surface of different Leishmania sp. is understood in some detail, our results can be considered in the context of the molecular composition of these surfaces, and their known and potential interactions with different classes of pattern receptors.

The surface of promastigotes is dominated by phosphoglycans, in particular lipophosphoglycan, and the glycoprotein GP63. These molecules activate complement via the alternative or the MBlectin pathway (for review see [31, 32]). Binding of cultured promastigotes to host cells via these surface molecules is mediated by CD11b and c/CD18 (directly to the lectin domain or indirectly, if opsonized, through the iC3b binding site) and mannose receptors [33-35]. Binding of these receptors appears not to change the expression of DC surface activation markers (this study; [14, 36]) implying that engagement of the mannose receptors, and of CD11b and c/CD18 (after reacting with 5 % serum; see [36]), by Leishmania sp. promastigotes is sufficient for triggering phagocytosis but does not cause DC maturation and activation.

Konecny and colleagues have reported that incubation of CD11c⁺ splenic DC with *L. major* promastigotes increased IL-12 production [14], while von Stebut et al. infected Langerhans cell-like foetal skin-derived DC (FSDDC) with *L. major* promastigotes, but did not note IL-12 expression [36]. In our hands selection with CD11c



Fig. 3. Infection by *L. mexicana* amastigotes does not activate BM-DC. (A) Replated day 7 BM-DC were incubated with EGFP-expressing amastigotes for 18 h, fixed and stained with antibodies against DC activation markers. (B) "Infection" of BM-DC with 3.0-μm latex beads. The results are representative of at least five different experiments.

induced low levels of IL-12 production, which were significantly higher than those produced by amastigoteinfected cells, consistent with the activation of a small percentage of the population (Fig. 2). These data support those presented in Sect. 2.4.

3 Discussion

In this study, we have investigated the interaction between *L. mexicana* parasites cultured *in vitro* and BM-DC, choosing to use this *in vitro* model in order to define the extent to which parasite-derived factors contribute to



Fig. 4. L. mexicana amastigotes do not suppress activation of BM-DC. Day 7 BM-DC were incubated for 18 h with 1 μ g/ml LPS and 10³ U/ml IFN- γ , with or without EGFP amastigotes, then fixed and stained for DC activation markers. These results are representative of at least five different experiments.



Fig. 2. Infection with EGFP-expressing *L. mexicana* promastigotes or opsonized promastigotes activates a small percentage of BM-DC. Replated day 7 BM-DC were incubated with promastigotes or opsonized promastigotes for 18 h, then fixed and stained with antibodies against DC activation markers. These results are representative of at least five different experiments.

2.3 Infection with L. mexicana amastigotes

The effect of *L. mexicana* amastigotes on BM-DC was investigated by harvesting day 7 BM-DC and replating with axenic amastigotes. BM-DC infected with *L. mexicana* amastigotes retained an immature phenotype and did not up-regulate expression of the DC activation markers CD86, CD54 or MHC class II (Fig. 3 A). In this respect, the *L. mexicana* amastigotes behaved similarly to latex beads, phagocytosis of which also did not activate BM-DC (uptake of latex beads was confirmed by microscopy; Fig. 3 B). Infected BM-DC were stained with an anti-amastigote serum to confirm that the parasites were truly intracellular and not attached to the surface of the cell; fluorescence was seen only in permeabilized cells (data not shown).

2.4 *L. mexicana* infection does not suppress activation of immature BM-DC

Infection of M Φ by *Leishmania sp.* was previously shown to suppress up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules [18] and production of IL-12 [6]. Immature DC were therefore given LPS/IFN- γ at the time of infection, or at various times thereafter, to establish whether *L. mexicana* promastigote or amastigote-infected BM-DC were similarly refractory to activation. In all cases, this induced activation of infected BM-DC to levels equivalent to those seen in LPS/IFN- γ -activated, non-infected BM-DC (Fig. 4 and data not shown). Infected BM-DC could also be activated by lower concentrations of these stimuli (data not shown). Thus, *L. mexicana* did not actively suppress activation of BM-DC.

2.5 Effect of *L. mexicana* infection of IL-12 secretion by BM-DC

We also investigated the effect of these parasites on IL-12 production by BM-DC. Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with parasites for 18 h with or without LPS and IFN- γ , after which the supernatants were collected and assayed by ELISA for production of IL-12. Table 1 shows that LPS/IFN- γ -activated, but not immature, BM-DC secreted high levels of IL-12, as expected [19]. Immature BM-DC infected by *L. mexicana* amastigotes did not secrete IL-12, although addition of LPS/IFN- γ resulted in production of IL-12 by infected cells. Incubation of BM-DC with promastigotes or opsonized promastigotes

to dissect the parasite: DC interaction through use of the highly controlled *in vitro* system afforded by *L. mexicana* parasites and bone marrow-derived DC (BM-DC), which permits discrimination between true parasite-mediated effects and effects mediated by host-derived factors associated with infection. Specifically, we have investigated whether *L. mexicana* promastigotes or amastigotes provide activation signals for immune BM-DC.

2 Results

2.1 Phenotypic characterization of BM-DC

Immature DC, derived from bone marrow precursors by *in vitro* culture with GM-CSF, express markers consistent with the immunophenotype of myeloid lineage DC [15]. *Leishmania* exhibit a strong tissue tropism for M Φ , and care was therefore taken to ensure high levels of purity in harvested BM-DC (>70 % BM-DC). Fig. 1 shows the phenotype of BM-DC harvested after 7 days of culture, and replated for a further 18 h with or without LPS and



Fig. 1. Immunophenotype of day 7 BM-DC. BM-DC were harvested on day 7, replated and incubated for a further 18 h with or without activation stimuli. (A) Thin lines represent immature BM-DC and thick lines show BM-DC activated for 18 h with 1 µg/ml LPS and 10³ U/ml IFN- γ . Dotted lines are negative controls. Small and dead cells were excluded from the plots by gating. (B) Day 7 BM-DC are positive for both CD11c and MHC class II.

IFN- γ . Staining with T cell (CD3) and M Φ (F4/80) markers showed no contamination with these cell types. Staining with B220 revealed a small population of B cells, which were excluded from subsequent analyses by gating. Further purification of the BM-DC, *e.g.* by enrichment for CD11c⁺ cells, resulted in maturation of the BM-DC population upon replating (data not shown), and therefore was not used in this study.

2.2 Infection of BM-DC by *L. mexicana* promastigotes

Promastigotes are injected by the sandfly into the host epidermis, where they become opsonized, enhancing uptake by the phagocyte [16]. We therefore investigated whether infection with promastigotes or opsonized promastigotes could provide a maturation signal for immature BM-DC. To this end, green-fluorescent parasites were generated by integrating the enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP) gene into a ribosomal RNA locus of L. mexicana by homologous recombination [17]. Briefly, a DNA cassette containing the EGFP reporter gene fused to the L. mexicana cysteine protease B 2.8 intergenic gene region, and followed in tandem by the hygromycin-resistance gene fused to a copy of the same intergenic region, was integrated into a genomic small subunit rRNA locus. Drug-resistant clones expressing high levels of EGFP were selected. The recombinant parasites expressed high levels of EGFP as both promastigotes and amastigotes, and expression levels between axenic amastigotes and lesion-derived amastigotes remained similar for at least 10 months post-infection.

Day 7 BM-DC were incubated for 18 h with stationaryphase EGFP-promastigotes. Flow cytometric analysis of this population (Fig. 2A) revealed that the majority of cells (85-90%) remained immature, and that the immature population contained both infected and noninfected BM-DC. A small but consistent percentage (10-15%), consisting mainly of uninfected cells, upregulated the surface activation markers CD86 and MHC class II. Opsonization of the promastigotes with 5% mouse serum did not significantly increase the proportion of activated cells in the population (Fig. 2 B). These data indicate that infection with L. mexicana promastigotes did not stimulate BM-DC to mature within the 18-h investigated. However, promastigotes, period or promastigote-derived material, could occasionally activate immature BM-DC. The lower levels of GFP fluorescence observed in experiments using opsonized compared to non-opsonized promastigotes was probably due to enhanced degradation of opsonized parasites.
Silent infection of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells by *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes

Clare L. Bennett¹, Ana Misslitz², Lisa Colledge¹, Toni Aebischer² and C. Clare Blackburn¹

¹ Centre for Genome Research, Institute of Cell Animal and Population Biology, The University of

Edinburgh, Edinburgh, Scotland ² Max-Planck Institut für Infektionsbiologie, Berlin, Germany

Resolution of infection by *Leishmania sp.* is critically dependent on activation of CD4⁺ T helper cells. Naive CD4⁺ T helper cells are primed by dendritic cells which have responded to an activation signal in the periphery. However, the role of *Leishmania*-infected dendritic cells in the activation of an anti-*Leishmania* immune response has not been comprehensively addressed. Using the highly controlled model system of bone marrow-derived dendritic cell infection by *Leishmania mexicana* cultured *in vitro*, we show that uptake of *L. mexicana* parasites does not result in activation of immature dendritic cells or secretion of IL-12. Incubation with *L. mexicana* promastigotes results in the activation of a small percentage of dendritic cells which do not appear to contain whole parasites. Activation of dendritic cells is not suppressed by infection, since infected cells can be fully activated on addition of activating stimuli. Therefore, uptake of intact *Leishmania mexicana* parasites is not sufficient to activate dendritic cells *in vitro*. We propose that these data provide a basis for interpreting the interactions between dendritic cells and all *Leishmania sp.*

Key words: Dendritic cell / Leishmania / Activation signal / Green fluorescent protein

1 Introduction

The protozoan parasites *Leishmania sp.* are the causative agents of a spectrum of diseases in humans. They undergo a digenetic lifecycle: the promastigote form resides in and is transmitted by its insect vector, the sandfly, while the amastigote form is an obligate intracellular resident of host monocytic phagocytes [1]. M Φ are the predominant host for *Leishmania sp.* in infected mammals and are also the principal effector cells in the clearance of intracellular parasites, through the activation of nitric oxide synthase [2, 3]. However, *Leishmania* infection itself does not appropriately activate M Φ [4–6] and resolution of the infection is entirely dependent on the presence of M Φ -activating type 1 phenotype parasite-specific CD4⁺ T helper cells [7].

The *Leishmania*-specific T cell response is thought to be initiated by dendritic cells (DC), since parasites and parasite-derived material can be detected by immuno-

[1 20820]

The last two authors contributed equally to the work.

Abbreviations: DC: Dendritic cell BM-DC: Bone marrowderived dendritic cell EGFP: Enhanced green fluorescent protein

Received	2/5/00
Revised	21/11/00
Accepted	28/11/00
,	

histochemistry in DC in the LN [8] and spleen [9] of infected mice. Some of these DC populations stimulate specific T cells *in vitro* ([8]; T.A., unpublished data). DC must mature to strongly stimulate T cells. Tissue DC are mostly immature, but are actively phagocytosing and processing antigens for loading onto largely intracellular MHC class II molecules. Activation signals stimulate DC to undergo dramatic phenotypic changes, which result in the redistribution of peptide-loaded MHC II molecules to the cell surface, up-regulation of co-stimulatory molecules, expression of cytokines such as IL-12, and downregulation of phagocytosis. The maturing DC migrate to T cell areas of the draining LN where they can activate specific naive CD4⁺ T helper cells [10].

It has recently been suggested that DC provide a link between the innate and adaptive immune responses, and that recognition of pathogen-derived "danger" signals activates DC and consequently enables them to stimulate appropriate T cell responses [11–13]. However, this emerging paradigm has not been rigorously investigated for complex pathogens such as protozoa and macroparasites. Several studies have reported effects of *Leishmania* infection on DC maturation [14]; however, these do not yet comprise an exhaustive survey of DC infection by different *Leishmania sp.* and moreover, are open to alternative interpretations. Here, we have sought antibodies is by itself an activation signal, possibly because of extensive cross-linking, and phagocytosis of the parasites may provide some synergy at the level of IL-12 expression, providing a possible explanation for the discrepancy between these results. In our study, a small percentage of BM-DC incubated with L. mexicana promastigotes was activated. These cells did not exhibit green fluorescence, indicating that they harbored parasite debris rather than live parasites. This is supported by the fact that incubation with promastigote lysates activates a small fraction of BM-DC, equivalent to that seen on incubation with whole parasites (CLB, CCB unpublished data). We therefore suggest that intracellular proteins released as a result of lost parasite integrity may be responsible for the observed BM-DC activation by promastigotes. Precedent for this is suggested by a previous report that LeIF, a leishmanial homologoue of eukaryotic initiation factor 4A, could induce monocytederived DC activation [37]. Liberated parasite DNA could also contain sequences with CpG activity, though we have thus far been unable to demonstrate this for L. mexicana genomic DNA (T.A., unpublished data).

The surface of axenic L. mexicana amastigotes [38] has previously been characterized, and is covered with a small GPI-anchored glycolipid, EpiM3. EpiM3 contains mannoses and an ethanolamine-phosphate group, but no equatorial OH groups to engage mannose receptors [39]. Thus, cultured amastigotes do not bind mannose receptors, CR3 or FcRyll [40]. However, although the receptors involved in their uptake remain elusive, cultured L. mexicana amastigotes are clearly phagocytosed by BM-DC: our data indicate that they do not encode surface-associated "danger" signals capable of activating BM-DC. Infection with lesion-derived L. major amastigotes has, in contrast, been shown to induce CD40, CD54, CD80 and CD86 as well as IL-12 secretion in FSDDC [36]. Lesion-derived parasites are opsonized by complement and Ig [40-42] and are co-purified with other host proteins present in the inflamed tissue [38]. Therefore, their interaction with DC is mediated at least by complement receptors and Fc receptors, ligation of the latter of which has been shown to induce DC maturation [28].

In murine models of Leishmaniasis the place of DCparasite encounter is known to bias the development of DC-induced effector T cell populations: in experimental visceral leishmaniasis, intravenous injection of *L. donovani* leads to IL-12 expression in splenic DC harboring parasite material [9], and apparently, a type 1, though not protective, T cell response [43]. We propose that intact *Leishmania sp.* promastigotes and amastigotes lack adjuvant activity. An important consequence of our findings is that, in the absence of such activity, DC maturation and activation during experimental *Leishmania* infection *in vivo* will be mediated by host-derived factors, such as cytokines released due to the trauma of injection or biting by the sand fly vector, and the array of receptors involved in the interaction. These are likely to depend on the microenvironment in which DC interaction with the parasites occurs, for instance, whether the parasite inoculum has been fully exposed to serum components, or whether the locale is conditioned by components present in the insects' saliva [44–46].

4 Materials and methods

4.1 Mice

Six- to eight-week-old female CBA mice were obtained from a colony maintained at the Centre for Genome Research animal facility.

4.2 Parasite cultures

L. mexicana (strain MNYC/BZ/62/M379) promastigotes were cultured *in vitro* in semi-defined medium/10% heat inactivated FCS at 26 °C. Amastigotes were cultured axenically at 34 °C in Schneider's *Drosophila* medium (Gibco BLR) supplemented with 20% heat-inactivated FCS and 3.9 g/I 2-(N-morpholino)ethanesulphonic acid (Sigma, GB). EGFP-expressing parasites are virulent upon infection *in vivo* (Fig. 5) with a tendency to slightly delayed lesion development compared to wild-type in C57BL/6 mice, which show intermediate resistance when infected with *L. mexicana*. At 32 weeks post-infection the parasite burden in lesions in fully susceptible BALB/c mice is identical to that reported for wild-type infections [47], indicating no gross difference in virulence between wild-type and transgenic parasites [17].

4.3 Isolation and propagation of BM-DC

BM-DC were cultured *in vitro* according to a method adapted from Inaba et al. [48]. Briefly, BM-derived white cells were plated at a density of 3.75×10^5 /ml in RPMI (Sigma) supplemented with 10 % FCS, 2 mM glutamine/ pyruvate and 10 ng/ml murine GM-CSF (Peprotech), in 24-well plates, at 1 ml/well, and incubated at 37 °C. The cultures were washed on days 3 and 6 to remove nonadherent granulocytes and lymphocytes. On day 7 loosely adherent BM-DC were removed by more vigorous washing and replated, to exclude firmly adherent M Φ from subsequent culture. Where necessary, DC were stimulated for 18 hours with 1 µg/ml *E. coli*-derived LPS (Sigma) and 10³ U/ml IFN- γ (R&D systems).

4.4 Infection of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* parasites and phagocytosis of latex beads

Day 7 BM-DC were incubated with well-washed *L. mexica-na* amastigotes, stationary-phase promastigotes, or latex beads, at a ratio of 1:8, for 18 h at 37 °C. We used 3.0- μ m beads (Sigma) since this is approximately the size of an amastigote. Stationary-phase promastigotes were opsonized by incubation with 5 % normal mouse serum at 37 °C for 15 min, followed by thorough washing. BM-DC were then harvested and fixed (Sect. 4.5) before staining, and the supernatant was stored frozen at -70 °C for analysis for IL-12 content.

4.5 Flow cytometry

BM-DC were harvested into 5-ml polypropylene tubes (Becton Dickinson), washed with PBS/10 % FCS, then stained using standard protocols. For intracellular staining cells were fixed and permeabilized using a Fix & Perm kit (TCS Biological Ltd). The following mAb were used: GL1-PE, specific for CD86; 14-4-4S-PE, specific for I-E^k; HL3-FITC, specific for CD11c; anti-B220-FITC; anti-CD3-PE (all from Pharmingen); KAT-1-PE, specific for ICAM1 (Cambridge Bioscience) and anti-F4/80-FITC (Caltag). Appropriate isotype controls were also used. An anti-DEC-205 antiserum (Serotec) was used with an anti-rat-PE secondary Ab (Pharmingen). Intracellular infection by amastigotes was confirmed with an anti-L. mexicana rabbit serum, generated by immunization of rabbits with L. mexicana promastigotes, and visualized using an anti-rabbit-FITC secondary Ab (Sigma). DC were fixed and blocked before staining using 2.4G2 (Fc Block[™], Pharmingen) and 10 % normal mouse serum. Flow cytometric analysis was performed using a FACScan (Becton Dickinson) and analyzed using CellQuest 3.1 software.

4.6 Cytokine detection

The p40 subunit of IL-12 in culture supernatants was measured using a commercially available ELISA kit (Pharmingen). Statistical analyses were performed using the Student's *t*-test.

Acknowledgements: This work was supported by The Sir Halley Stewart Trust (CLB), The Wellcome Trust (CCB), The LeverhumIme Trust (LC) and grant Ae16/1–3 from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (TA and AM).

References

- Alexander, J. and Russell, D. G., The interaction of *Leishmania* species with macrophages. *Adv. Parasitol.* 1992. 31: 175–254.
- 2 Green, S. J., Meltzer, M. S., Hibbs, J. B., Jr. and Nacy, C. A., Activated macrophages destroy intracellular *Leishmania major* amastigotes by an L-arginine-dependent killing mechanism. *J. Immunol.* 1990. 144: 278–283.

- 3 Wei, X. Q., Charles, I. G., Smith, A., Ure, J., Feng, G. J., Huang, F. P., Xu, D., Muller, W., Moncada, S. and Liew, F. Y., Altered immune responses in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Nature* 1995. 375: 408–411.
- 4 Carrera, L., Gazzinelli, R. T., Badolato, R., Hieny, S., Muller, W., Kuhn, R. and Sacks, D. L., *Leishmania* promastigotes selectively inhibit interleukin 12 induction in bone marrow-derived macrophages from susceptible and resistant mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 1996. 183: 515–526.
- 5 Overath, P. and Aebischer, T., Antigen presentation by macrophages harboring intravesicular pathogens. *Parasitol. Today* 1999. **15**: 325–332.
- 6 Weinheber, N., Wolfram, M., Harbecke, D. and Aebischer, T., Phagocytosis of *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes by macrophages leads to a sustained suppression of IL-12 production. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1998. 28: 2467–2477.
- 7 Locksley, R. M. and Louis, J. A., Immunology of leishmaniasis. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 1992. **4:** 413–418.
- 8 Moll, H., Fuchs, H., Blank, C. and Rollinghoff, M., Langerhans cells transport *Leishmania major* from the infected skin to the draining lymph node for presentation to antigen-specific T cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1993. 23: 1595–1601.
- 9 Gorak, P. M., Engwerda, C. R. and Kaye, P. M., Dendritic cells, but not macrophages, produce IL-12 immediately following *Leishmania donovani* infection. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1998. 28: 687–695.
- Banchereau, J. S. and Steinman, R. M., Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. *Nature* 1998. 392: 245–252.
- 11 Madzhitov, R. and Janeway, C. A. Jr., Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. *Cell* 1997. **91**: 295–298.
- 12 Madzhitov, R. and Janeway, C., Jr., Innate immune recognition: mechanisms and pathways. *Immunol. Rev.* 2000. 173: 89–97.
- 13 Matzinger, P., Tolerance, danger and the extended family. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 1994. 12: 991–1045.
- 14 Konecny, P., Stagg, A. J., Jebbari, H., English, N., Davidson, R. N. and Knight, S. C., Murine dendritic cells internalize *Leish-mania major* promastigotes, produced IL-12 p40 and stimulate primary T cell proliferation *in vitro*. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1999. 29: 1803–1811.
- 15 Reid, S. D., Penna, G. and Adorini, L., The control of T cell responses by dendritic cell subsets. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 2000. 12: 114–121.
- 16 Beverley, S. M. and Turco, S. J., Lipophosphoglycan (LPG) and the identification of virulence genes in the protozoan parasite *Leishmania. Trends Microbiol.* 1998. 6: 35–40.
- 17 Misslitz, A., Mottram, J. C., Overath, P. and Aebischer, T., Targeted integration into a rRNA locus results in uniform and high level expression of transgenes in *Leishmania* amastigotes. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol* 2000. 107: 251–261.
- 18 Kaye, P. M., Rogers, N. J., Curry, A. J. and Scott, J. C., Deficient expression of co-stimulatory molecules on *Leishmania*infected macrophages. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1994, 24: 2850–2854.
- 19 Trinchieri, G., Interleukin-12: a proinflammatory cytokine with immunoregulatory functions that bridge innate resistance and antigen-specific adaptive immunity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 1995. 13: 251–276.
- 20 Belkaid, Y., Butcher, B. and Sacks, D. L., Analysis of cytokine production by inflammatory mouse macrophages at the singlecell level: selective impairment of IL-12 induction in *Leishmania*infected cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1998. 28: 1389–1400.

Eur. J. Immunol. 2001. 31: 876-883

- 21 Takeuchi, O., Hoshino, K., Kawai, T., Sanjo, H., Takada, H., Ogawa, T., Takeda, K. and Akira, S., Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. *Immunity* 1999. 11: 443–451.
- 22 Hoshino, K., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Sanjo, H., Ogawa, T., Takeda, Y., Takeda, K. and Akira, S., Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. *J. Immunol.* 1999. **162**: 3749–3752.
- 23 Underhill, D. M., Ozinsky, A., Hajjar, A. M., Stevens, A., Wilson, C. B., Bassetti, M. and Aderem, A., The Toll-like receptor 2 is recruited to macrophage phagosomes and discriminates between pathogens. *Nature* 1999. 401: 811–815.
- 24 Jiang, W., Swiggard, W. J., Heufler, C., Peng, M., Mirza, A., Steinman, R. M. and Nussenzweig, M. C., The receptor DEC-205 expressed by dendritic cells and thymic epithelial cells is involved in antigen processing. *Nature* 1995. 375: 151–155.
- 25 Stahl, P. D. and Ezekowitz, R. A., The mannose receptor is a pattern recognition receptor involved in host defense. *Curr. Opin. Immunol.* 1998. 10: 50–55.
- 26 Bates, E. E., Fournier, N., Garcia, E., Valladeau, J., Durand, I., Pin, J. J., Zurawski, S. M., Patel, S., Abrams, J. S., Lebecque, S., Garrone, P. and Saeland, S., APCs express DCIR, a novel C-type lectin surface receptor containing an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif. *J. Immunol.* 1999. 163: 1973–1983.
- 27 Krieg, A. M., The role of CpG motifs in innate immunity. Curr. Opin. Immunol. 2000. 12: 35-43.
- 28 Regnault, A., Lankar, D., Lacabanne, V., Rodriguez, A., Thery, C., Rescigno, M., Saito, T., Verbeek, S., Bonnerot, C., Ricciardi-Castagnoli, P. and Amigorena, S., Fc gamma receptor-mediated induction of dendritic cell maturation and major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted antigen presentation after immune complex internalization. J. Exp. Med. 1999. 189: 371–380.
- 29 Maurer, D., Fiebiger, E., Reininger, B., Ebner, C., Petzelbauer, P., Shi, G. P., Chapman, H. A. and Stingl, G., Fc epsilon receptor I on dendritic cells delivers IgE-bound multivalent antigens into a cethepsin S-dependent pathway of MHC class II presentation. *J. Immunol.* 1998. **161**: 2731–2739.
- 30 Sallusto, F., Cella, M., Danieli, C. and Lanzavecchia, A., Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentralte macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. J. Exp. Med. 1995. 182: 389–400.
- 31 Descoteaux, A. and Turco, S. J., Glycoconjugates in Leishmania infectivity. *Biochim. Biophys Acta* 1999. 1455: 341–352.
- 32 Joiner, K. A., Molecular Basis of Interactions between Parasites and the Complement Cascade. In Englund, P. T. and Sher, A. (Eds.) *The Biology of Parasitism*. Alan R. Liss, New York 1988, pp 309–328.
- 33 Blackwell, J. M., Role of macrophage complement and lectinlike receptors in binding *Leishmania* parasites to host macrophages. *Immunol. Lett.* 1985. 11: 227–232.
- 34 Blackwell, J. M., Ezekowitz, R. A., Roberts, M. B., Channon, J. Y., Sim, R. B. and Gordon, S., Macrophage complement and lectin-like receptors bind *Leishmania* in the absence of serum. J. *Exp. Med.* 1985. 162: 324–331.
- 35 Talamas-Rohana, P., Wright, S. D., Lennartz, M. R. and Russell, D. G., Lipophosphoglycan from *Leishmania mexicana* promastigotes binds to members of the CR3, p150,95 and LFA-1 family of leukocyte integrins. *J. Immunol.* 1990. 144: 4817–4824.

- 36 von Stebut, E., Balkaid, Y., Jakob, T., Sacks, D. L. and Udey, M. C., Uptake of *Leishmania major* amastigotes results in activation and interleukin-12 release from murine skin-derived dendritic cells: implications for the initiation of anti-*Leishmania* immunity. *J. Exp. Med.* 1998. **188**: 1547–1552.
- 37 Probst, P., Skeiky, Y. A., Steeves, M., Gervassi, A., Grabstein, K. H. and Reed, S. G., A Leishmania protein that modulates interleukin (IL)-12, IL-10 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha production and expression of B7-1 in human monocyte-derived antigenpresenting cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* 1997. 27: 2634–2642.
- 38 Winter, G., Fuchs, M., McConville, M. J., Stierhof, Y. D. and Overath, P., Surface antigens of *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes: characterization of glycoinositol phospholipids and a macrophage-derived glycosphingolipid. *J. Cell Sci.* 1994. 107: 2471–2482.
- 39 Weis, W. I., Taylor, M. E. and Drickamer, K., The C-type lectin superfamily in the immune system. *Immunol. Rev.* 1998. 163: 19–34.
- 40 Peters, C., Aebischer, T., Stierhof, Y. D., Fuchs, M. and Overath, P., The role of macrophage receptors in adhesion and uptake of *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes. *J. Cell Sci.* 1995. 108: 3715–3724.
- 41 Kelleher, M., Moody, S. F., Mirabile, P., Osborn, A. H., Bacic, A. and Handman, E., Lipophosphoglycan blocks attachment of *Leishmania major* amastigotes to macrophages. *Infect. Immunity* 1995. 63: 43–50.
- 42 Guy, R. A. and Belosevic, M., Comparison of receptors required for entry of *Leishmania major* amastigotes into macrophages. *Infect. Immunity* 1993. 61: 1553–1558.
- 43 Kaye, P. M., Curry, A. J. and Blackwell, J. M. Differential production of Th1- and Th2-derived cytokines does not determine the genetically controlled or vaccine-induced rate of cure in murine visceral leishmaniasis. J. Immunol. 1991. 146: 2763–2770.
- 44 Mbow, M. L., Bleyenberg, J. A., Hall, L. R. and Titus, R. G., Phlebotomus papatasi and fly salivary gland lysate downregulates a Th1, but up-regulates a Th2, response in mice infected with *Leishmania major*. J. Immunol. 1998. 161: 5571–5577.
- 45 Waitumbi, J. and Warburg, A., Phlebotomus papatasi saliva inhibits protein phosphatase activity and nitric oxide production by murine macrophages. *Infect. Immunity* 1998. 66: 1534–1537.
- 46 Belkaid, Y., Kamhawi, S., Modi, G., Valenzuela, J., Noben-Trauth, N., Rowton, E., Ribeiro, J. and Sacks, D. L., Development of a natural model of cutaneous leishmaniasis: powerful effects of vector saliva and saliva preexposure on the long-term outcome of *Leishmania major* infection in the mouse ear dermis. *J. Exp. Med.* 1998. **188**: 1941–1953.
- 47 Overath, P. and Harbecke, D., Course of *Leishmania* infection in β₂-microglobulin-deficient mice. *Immunol. Lett.* 1993. 37: 13–17.
- 48 Inaba, K., Inaba, M., Romani, N., Aya, H., Deguchi, M., Ikehara, S., Muramatsu, S. and Steinman, R. M., Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colonystimulating factor. J. Exp. Med. 1992. 176: 1693–1702.

Correspondence: Clare Bennett, Centre for Genome Research, University of Edinburgh, King's Buildings, West Mains Road, Edinburgh EH9 3JQ, Great Britain Fax: 44 131 667 0164

e-mail: louise.bennett@ed.ac.uk

List of Figures

Figure 1.1:	Schematic representation of the Leishmania life cycle
Figure 1.2:	Activation of immature DC results in their maturation and migration to
	the lymph nodes
Figure 1.3:	Schematic representation of human Toll-like receptors and their ligands
Figure 1.4:	Polarisation of the T helper cell response by DC
Figure 1.5:	The role of infected antigen presenting cells in the resolution of infection
	with L. mexicana
Figure 2.1:	Cloning strategy for the generation of GST-int-L
Figure 2.2:	Cloning strategy for the generation of CLB1
Figure 2.3:	Cloning strategy for the generation of CLB3
Figure 2.4:	Cloning strategy for the generation of pSSU-gp63-MCC
Figure 3.1:	Integration of a transgene into a 18S small sub-unit rRNA locus using pSSU-int
Figure 3.2:	D4 only detects MHC II complexes in the presence of MCC
Figure 3.3	Schematic representation of an experimental model with which to detect
	the fate of Leishmania-derived antigens in infected cells
Figure 3.4:	Schematic diagram showing integration of GST-int-L into the 18S SSU
	rRNA gene
Figure 3.5:	PCR analyses to show correct integration of GST-int-L lines into the 18S
	SSU ribosomal locus
Figure 3.6:	Expression of mRNA, but not protein, by GST-int-L parasites
Figure 3.7:	DC infected with GST-int-L transgenic parasites do not stimulate a
	MCC-specific T cell response
Figure 3.8:	Sequence of the L. mexicana membrane-bound acid phosphatase gene
Figure 3.9:	Schematic diagram showing integration of CLB1 into the 18S SSU rRNA
	gene

.

- Figure 3.10: PCR analysis to show correct integration of CLB1 lines into the ribosomal locus
- Figure 3.11: Detection of acid phosphatase activity in supernatants from MBAP:MCC CLB1 transgenic amastigotes cultures
- Figure 3.12: Detection of MHC II-MCC complexes by D4
- Figure 3.13: Infection of BM-DC with L. mexicana amastigotes
- Figure 3.14: PCR analysis to show correct integration of CLB2 lines into the ribosomal locus
- Figure 3.15: Schematic diagram showing integration of CLB3 into the 18S SSU rRNA gene
- Figure 3.16: PCR analysis to show correct integration of CLB3 lines into the ribosomal locus
- Figure 3.17: Detection of acid phosphatase activity in supernatants from MBAP:MCC transgenic CLB2 and CLB3 parasites
- Figure 3.18: Neither DC nor M Φ infected with CLB3 transgenic parasites stimulate a MCC-specific T cell hybridoma
- Figure 3.19: Detection of MHC II-MCC complexes in CLB3-infected DC by D4
- Figure 3.20: Sequence of the L. mexicana gp63 C1 gene
- Figure 3.21: Schematic diagram showing integration of gp63:MCC into the 18S SSU rRNA gene
- Figure 3.22: PCR analyses to show correct integration of gp63:MCC lines into the ribosomal locus
- Figure 4.1: The model
- Figure 4.2: Phenotype of bone marrow-derived DC
- Figure 4.3: Internalisation of *Leishmania* parasites by BM-DC
- Figure 4.4: Incubation of BM-DC with *L. mexicana* promastigotes
- Figure 4.5: Incubation of BM-DC with different amounts of *L. mexicana* promastigote lysate
- Figure 4.6: Infection of BM-DC by *L. mexicana* amastigotes does not upregulate surface CD86, MHC II or CD54

- Figure 4.7: Infection by *L. mexicana* amastigotes does not suppress activation of BM-DC
- Figure 4.8: Production of IL-12 by *L. mexicana*-infected BM-DC
- Figure 4.9: L. mexicana-infected DC can stimulate an efficient T cell response in vitro
- Figure 5.1: Phenotype of D1 cells
- Figure 5.2: Infection of D1 cells with *L. mexicana* EGFP-expressing promastigotes and amastigotes
- Figure 5.3A: Production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by D1 cells
- Figure 5.3B: IL-10 secretion is not induced by infection of D1 cells with *L. mexicana* promastigotes and amastigotes
- Figure 5.4 Infection does not enhance activation of BM-DC
- Figure 5.5A: Kinetic analysis of CD86 expression on *L. mexicana* promastigote and amastigotes-infected D1 cells
- Figure 5.5B: Kinetic analysis of MHC II expression on *L. mexicana* promastigote and amastigotes-infected D1 cells
- Figure 5.5C: Kinetic analysis of CD54 expression on *L. mexicana* promastigote and amastigotes-infected D1 cells
- Figure 5.6: D1 cells support long-term infection with L. mexicana parasites
- Figure 5.7: Long-term infection with *L. mexicana* does not increase activation of D1 cells
- Figure 5.8: PV formation in L. mexicana-infected $M\Phi$
- Figure 5.9: Long-term infection of D1 cells by *L. mexicana* promastigotes does not induce formation of large PV
- Figure 5.10: Long-term infection of D1 cells by *L. mexicana* amastigotes does not induce the formation of communal PV *in vitro*
- Figure 6.1A: Incubation with *L. major* promastigotes does not induce activation of BM-DC
- Figure 6.1B: Incubation with *L. major* promastigotes does not activate D1 cells

- Infection of D1 cells with L. major promastigotes does not induce Figure 6.2: production of pro-inflammatory cytokines Suppression of activation of BM-DC by L. major promastigotes? Figure 6.3: Schematic representation of Leishmania phosphoglycan-containing Figure 6.4: glycoconjugates LPG^{-/-} promastigotes are internalised by BM-DC Figure 6.5: L mexicana LPG^{-/-} promastigotes do not activate BM-DC upon infection Figure 6.6: Incubation with L. mexicana LPG^{-/-} promastigotes does not activate D1 Figure 6.7: cells Incubation of LPG^{-/-} promastigotes and purified *L. mexicana* LPG with Figure 6.8: **BM-DC** restores activation Activation of BM-DC by purified L. mexicana or L. major LPG Figure 6.9: Figure B.1A: CD86 expression on L. mexicana-infected D1 cells used for the GeneChip[®] analysis Figure B.1B: MHC II expression on L. mexicana-infected D1 cells used for the GeneChip[®] analysis Figure B.1C: CD54 expression on L. mexicana-infected D1 cells used for the GeneChip[®] analysis Diagram showing correlations between genes expressed by wild type L. Figure B.2: mexicana promastigote-, amastigotes- or LPG-/- promastigote-infected D1 cells Figure B.3: Hierarchal clusters showing gene expression profiles obtained from infection of D1 cells with wild type L. mexicana amastigotes,
 - promastigotes or LPG^{-/-} promastigotes

List of Tables

Table 4.1:	Complete FACS data showing infection levels of BM-DC incubated with
	L. mexicana promastigotes or amastigotes
Table 4.2:	Complete FACS data showing infection of BM-DC with L. mexicana
	parasites or latex beads
Table 4.3:	Complete FACS data for BM-DC incubated with promastigote lysate
Table 4.4:	Complete FACS data for BM-DC activated with LPS and IFN γ with or
	without concomitant infection with L. mexicana amastigotes
Table 5.1:	Complete FACS data showing infection levels of D1 DC incubated with
	L. mexicana promastigotes or amastigotes
Table 5.2:	Complete FACS data showing levels of surface activation markers on D1
· ·	DC incubated with L. mexicana parasites or latex beads
Table 6.1:	Complete FACS data for infection levels of DC incubated with L. major
•	promastigotes
Table 6.2:	Complete FACS data for infection of BM-DC with L. major
	promastigotes
Table 6.3:	Complete FACS data for infection levels of BM-DC incubated with L .
	mexicana LPG ^{-/-} promastigotes
Table 6.4:	Complete FACS data for infection of DC with L. mexicana LPG ^{-/-}
	promastigotes
Table 6.5:	Complete FACS data for infection of BM-DC with L. mexicana wild type
	or LPG ^{-/-} promastigotes, or LPG ^{-/-} promastigotes and purified <i>L. mexicana</i>
	LPG
Table 6.6:	Complete FACS data for incubation of BM-DC with purified L. mexicana
	and <i>L. major</i> LPG
Table 6.7:	Incubation of BM-DC with purified LPG and Polymyxin B

List of abbreviations

AEP	Asparaginyl endopeptidase
APC	Antigen presenting cell
bp	Base pairs
BM-DC	Bone marrow-derived dendritic cells
CASM	Concanavalin A-stimulated medium
CCR	C-C chemokine receptor
CD40L	CD40 ligand
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CFSE	Carboxyfluoroscein diacetate succinimidyl ester
CLIP	Class II associated invariant chain peptide
CIIV	Class II-containing vesicle
CPB	Cysteine protease B
CR	Complement receptor
DC	Dendritic cells
DEPC	Diethylpyrocarbonate
DMSO	Dimethlysulphoxide
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
dNTP	Deoxynucleoside triphosphate
dsRNA	Double stranded RNA
EGFP	Enhance green fluorescent protein
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbant assay
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
FcR	Fc receptor
FITC	Fluoroscein isothiocyanate
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GM-CSF	Granulocye/macrophage-colony stimulating factor
GPI	Glycosyl-phosphatidylinositol
GST	Glutathione S-transferase
HA	Haemagglutinin
HRP	Hydrogen peroxide
ICAM-1	Intercellular adhesion molecule-1
Ig	Immunoglobulin
Ii	Invariant chain
IL	Interleukin
IL-12R	IL-12 receptor
IFN	Interferon
IRAK	IL-1 receptor activated kinase
KLH	Keyhole limpet haemocyanin
LACK	Leishmania homologue of receptor of activated C kinase
LC	Langerhans cells
LN	Lymph node

	LPB	Lipopolysaccharide-binding protein
	LPG	Lipophosphoglycan
	LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
	LTA	Lipoteichoic acids
	mAb	Monoclonal antibody
	МΦ	Macrophage
	MAC	Membrane attack complex
	MACS	Magnet activated cell sorting
	MBAP	Membrane-bound acid phosphatase
	MCC	Moth cytochrome C
	MCS	Multiple cloning site
	MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
	MIIC	MHC II-containing compartment
	MIP	Macrophage inflammatory protein
	MLR	Mixed lymphocyte reaction
	MMTV	Mouse mammary tumour virus
	MyD88	Myeloid differentiation factor 88
	kb	Kilobase pairs
	Kda	Kilodalton
	NFκB	Nuclear factor κB
	NK	Natural killer cells
	NO	Nitric oxide
•	INOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
	OVA	Ovalbumin-derived peptide
	PAMP	Pathogen-associated molecular pattern
	PBL	Peripheral blood lymphocytes
	PCC	Pigeon cytochrome C
	PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
	PDBu	Phorbol-12,13-dibutyrate
	PDG	Peptidoglycan
	PE	R-phycoerythrin
	PI	Propidium iodide
	PNA	Peanut agglutinin
	PNPP	p-Nitrophenol phosphate
	PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
	PS	Phosphatidyl serine
	PV	Parasitophorous vacuole
	RANTES	Regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted
	RIL-12	Recombinant IL-12
	RNA	Ribonucleic acid
	RRNA	Ribosomal RNA
	SAP	Shrimp alkaline phosphatase
	SCID	Severe combined immunodeficiency
	SDM	Semi-defined medium
	SDM	Site-directed mutagenesis
	SDS-PAGE	SDS-polyacrylamide gel elecrophoresis

SEA	Schistosome egg antigen
SLA	Soluble Leishmania antigen
SLC	Secondary lymphoid tissue chemokine
SSU	Small subunit
STAT	Signal transducer and activator of transcription
TCR	T cell receptor
Th	T helper cell
Th1	T helper type 1
Th2	T helper type 2
TGF	Transforming growth factor
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor domain
TIRAP	(TIR)-domain-containing adaptor protein
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TRAF	TNF receptor associated factor
TRANCE	TNF-related activation-induced cytokine

References

Abbas, A. K., Lichtman, A.H. and Pober, J.S. (1997). <u>Cellular and Molecular</u> <u>Immunology</u>, Sanders.

Abbas, A. K., K. M. Murphy and A. Sher (1996). Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. *Nature* **383**(6603): 787-93.

Aebischer, T., S. F. Moody and E. Handman (1993). Persistence of virulent *Leishmania major* in murine cutaneous leishmaniasis: a possible hazard for the host. *Infect Immun* **61**(1): 220-6.

Afonso, L. C., T. M. Scharton, L. Q. Vieira, M. Wysocka, G. Trinchieri and P. Scott (1994). The adjuvant effect of interleukin-12 in a vaccine against *Leishmania* major. <u>Science</u> 263(5144): 235-7.

Afonso, L. C. and P. Scott (1993). Immune responses associated with susceptibility of C57BL/10 mice to *Leishmania amazonensis*. *Infect Immun* **61**(7): 2952-9.

Alexander, J. and D. G. Russell (1992). The interaction of *Leishmania* species with macrophages. <u>Adv Parasitol</u> 31: 175-254.

Alexopoulou, L., A. C. Holt, R. Medzhitov and R. A. Flavell (2001). Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptor 3. <u>Nature</u> **413**(6857): 732-8.

Allen, J. E. and R. M. Maizels (1997). Th1-Th2: reliable paradigm or dangerous dogma? *Immunol Today* **18**(8): 387-92.

Amigorena, S., J. R. Drake, P. Webster and I. Mellman (1994). Transient accumulation of new class II MHC molecules in a novel endocytic compartment in B lymphocytes. *Nature* **369**(6476): 113-20.

Amigorena, S., P. Webster, J. Drake, J. Newcomb, P. Cresswell and I. Mellman (1995). Invariant chain cleavage and peptide loading in major histocompatibility complex class II vesicles. *J Exp Med* **181**(5): 1729-41.

Anjuere, F., P. Martin, I. Ferrero, M. L. Fraga, G. M. del Hoyo, N. Wright and C. Ardavin (1999). Definition of dendritic cell subpopulations present in the spleen, Peyer's patches, lymph nodes, and skin of the mouse. <u>*Blood*</u> **93**(2): 590-8.

Antoine, J. C., C. Jouanne, T. Lang, E. Prina, C. de Chastellier and C. Frehel (1991). Localization of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules in phagolysosomes of murine macrophages infected with *Leishmania amazonensis*. <u>Infect Immun</u> **59**(3): 764-75.

Antoine, J. C., T. Lang, E. Prina, N. Courret and R. Hellio (1999). H-2M molecules, like MHC class II molecules, are targeted to parasitophorous vacuoles of *Leishmania*-infected macrophages and internalized by amastigotes of *L. amazonensis* and *L. mexicana*. <u>J Cell Sci</u> **112**(Pt 15): 2559-70.

Antoine, J. C., E. Prina, T. Lang and N. Courret (1998). The biogenesis and properties of the parasitophorous vacuoles that harbour *Leishmania* in murine macrophages. <u>*Trends*</u> <u>*Microbiol*</u> 6(10): 392-401.

Ardavin, C., L. Wu, C. L. Li and K. Shortman (1993). Thymic dendritic cells and T cells develop simultaneously in the thymus from a common precursor population. *Nature* **362**(6422): 761-3.

Bahr, V., Y. D. Stierhof, T. Ilg, M. Demar, M. Quinten and P. Overath (1993). Expression of lipophosphoglycan, high-molecular weight phosphoglycan and glycoprotein 63 in promastigotes and amastigotes of *Leishmania mexicana*. <u>Mol</u> <u>Biochem Parasitol</u> 58(1): 107-21.

Banchereau, J., F. Briere, C. Caux, J. Davoust, S. Lebecque, Y. J. Liu, B. Pulendran and K. Palucka (2000). Immunobiology of dendritic cells. *Annu Rev Immunol* 18: 767-811.

Bates, E. E., N. Fournier, E. Garcia, J. Valladeau, I. Durand, J. J. Pin, S. M. Zurawski, S. Patel, J. S. Abrams, S. Lebecque, P. Garrone and S. Saeland (1999). APCs express DCIR, a novel C-type lectin surface receptor containing an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif. *J Immunol* 163(4): 1973-83.

Bates, P. A. (1994). Complete developmental cycle of *Leishmania mexicana* in axenic culture. *Parasitology* **108**(Pt 1): 1-9.

Bates, P. A., C. D. Robertson, L. Tetley and G. H. Coombs (1992). Axenic cultivation and characterization of *Leishmania mexicana* amastigote-like forms. *Parasitology* **105**(Pt 2): 193-202.

Belkaid, Y., B. Butcher and D. L. Sacks (1998). Analysis of cytokine production by inflammatory mouse macrophages at the single-cell level: selective impairment of IL-12 induction in *Leishmania*-infected cells. *Eur J Immunol* **28**(4): 1389-400.

Belkaid, Y., K. F. Hoffmann, S. Mendez, S. Kamhawi, M. C. Udey, T. A. Wynn and D. L. Sacks (2001). The role of interleukin (IL)-10 in the persistence of *Leishmania major* in the skin after healing and the therapeutic potential of anti-IL-10 receptor antibody for sterile cure. *J Exp Med* **194**(10): 1497-506.

Belkaid, Y., S. Kamhawi, G. Modi, J. Valenzuela, N. Noben-Trauth, E. Rowton, J. Ribeiro and D. L. Sacks (1998). Development of a natural model of cutaneous leishmaniasis: powerful effects of vector saliva and saliva pre-exposure on the long-term

outcome of *Leishmania major* infection in the mouse ear dermis. <u>J Exp Med</u> 188(10): 1941-53.

Belkaid, Y., S. Mendez, R. Lira, N. Kadambi, G. Milon and D. Sacks (2000). A natural model of *Leishmania major* infection reveals a prolonged 'silent' phase of parasite amplification in the skin before the onset of lesion formation and immunity. *J Immunol* **165**(2): 969-77.

Belosevic, M., D. S. Finbloom, P. H. Van Der Meide, M. V. Slayter and C. A. Nacy (1989). Administration of monoclonal anti-IFN-gamma antibodies *in vivo* abrogates natural resistance of C3H/HeN mice to infection with *Leishmania major*. <u>J Immunol</u> **143**(1): 266-74.

Bennett, C. L., A. Misslitz, L. Colledge, T. Aebischer and C. C. Blackburn (2001). Silent infection of bone marrow-derived dendritic cells by *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes. *Eur J Immunol* **31**(3): 876-83.

Bevec, T., V. Stoka, G. Pungercic, I. Dolenc and V. Turk (1996). Major histocompatibility complex class II-associated p41 invariant chain fragment is a strong inhibitor of lysosomal cathepsin L. <u>J Exp Med</u> 183(4): 1331-8.

Biedermann, T., S. Zimmermann, H. Himmelrich, A. Gumy, O. Egeter, A. K. Sakrauski, I. Seegmuller, H. Voigt, P. Launois, A. D. Levine, H. Wagner, K. Heeg, J. A. Louis and M. Rocken (2001). IL-4 instructs TH1 responses and resistance to *Leishmania major* in susceptible BALB/c mice. *Nat Immunol* **2**(11): 1054-60.

Bird, J. J., D. R. Brown, A. C. Mullen, N. H. Moskowitz, M. A. Mahowald, J. R. Sider, T. F. Gajewski, C. R. Wang and S. L. Reiner (1998). Helper T cell differentiation is controlled by the cell cycle. *Immunity* 9(2): 229-37.

Blackwell, J. M. (1985). Role of macrophage complement and lectin-like receptors in binding *Leishmania* parasites to host macrophages. *Immunol Lett* **11**(3-4): 227-32.

Blackwell, J. M., R. A. Ezekowitz, M. B. Roberts, J. Y. Channon, R. B. Sim and S. Gordon (1985). Macrophage complement and lectin-like receptors bind Leishmania in the absence of serum. *J Exp Med* **162**(1): 324-31.

Blank, C., H. Fuchs, K. Rappersberger, M. Rollinghoff and H. Moll (1993). Parasitism of epidermal Langerhans cells in experimental cutaneous leishmaniasis with *Leishmania major*. <u>J Infect Dis</u> 167(2): 418-25.

Brasel, K., T. De Smedt, J. L. Smith and C. R. Maliszewski (2000). Generation of murine dendritic cells from flt3-ligand-supplemented bone marrow cultures. <u>Blood</u> **96**(9): 3029-39.

Bretscher, P. and M. Cohn (1970). A theory of self-nonself discrimination. <u>Science</u> 169(950): 1042-9.

Brittingham, A., G. Chen, B. S. McGwire, K. P. Chang and D. M. Mosser (1999). Interaction of *Leishmania* gp63 with cellular receptors for fibronectin. *Infect Immun* 67(9): 4477-84.

Brittingham, A., C. J. Morrison, W. R. McMaster, B. S. McGwire, K. P. Chang and D. M. Mosser (1995). Role of the *Leishmania* surface protease gp63 in complement fixation, cell adhesion, and resistance to complement-mediated lysis. *J Immunol* **155**(6): 3102-11.

Brown, D. R. and S. L. Reiner (1999). Polarized helper-T-cell responses against *Leishmania major* in the absence of B cells. *Infect Immun* **67**(1): 266-70.

Burkly, L., C. Hession, L. Ogata, C. Reilly, L. A. Marconi, D. Olson, R. Tizard, R. Cate and D. Lo (1995). Expression of relB is required for the development of thymic medulla and dendritic cells. *Nature* 373(6514): 531-6.

Button, L. L. and W. R. McMaster (1988). Molecular cloning of the major surface antigen of *Leishmania*. J Exp Med 167(2): 724-9.

Button, L. L., D. G. Russell, H. L. Klein, E. Medina-Acosta, R. E. Karess and W. R. McMaster (1989). Genes encoding the major surface glycoprotein in *Leishmania* are tandemly linked at a single chromosomal locus and are constitutively transcribed. <u>*Mol Biochem Parasitol*</u> 32(2-3): 271-83.

Campbell, K. A., P. J. Ovendale, M. K. Kennedy, W. C. Fanslow, S. G. Reed and C. R. Maliszewski (1996). CD40 ligand is required for protective cell-mediated immunity to *Leishmania major*. *Immunity* 4(3): 283-9.

Cappecchi, M. (1990). How efficient can you get? *Nature* 348: 109.

Carrera, L., R. T. Gazzinelli, R. Badolato, S. Hieny, W. Muller, R. Kuhn and D. L. Sacks (1996). *Leishmania* promastigotes selectively inhibit interleukin 12 induction in bone marrow-derived macrophages from susceptible and resistant mice. <u>J Exp Med</u> **183**(2): 515-26.

Cella, M., A. Engering, V. Pinet, J. Pieters and A. Lanzavecchia (1997). Inflammatory stimuli induce accumulation of MHC class II complexes on dendritic cells. *Nature* **388**(6644): 782-7.

Cella, M., D. Scheidegger, K. Palmer-Lehmann, P. Lane, A. Lanzavecchia and G. Alber (1996). Ligation of CD40 on dendritic cells triggers production of high levels of interleukin-12 and enhances T cell stimulatory capacity: T-T help via APC activation. \underline{J} <u>Exp Med</u> 184(2): 747-52.

Chan, J., T. Fujiwara, P. Brennan, M. McNeil, S. J. Turco, J. C. Sibille, M. Snapper, P. Aisen and B. R. Bloom (1989). Microbial glycolipids: possible virulence factors that scavenge oxygen radicals. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **86**(7): 2453-7.

Chatelain, R., S. Mauze and R. L. Coffman (1999). Experimental *Leishmania major* infection in mice: role of IL-10. *Parasite Immunol* **21**(4): 211-8.

Chatelain, R., K. Varkila and R. L. Coffman (1992). IL-4 induces a Th2 response in *Leishmania major*-infected mice. <u>J Immunol</u> 148(4): 1182-7.

Chen, A. I., A. J. McAdam, J. E. Buhlmann, S. Scott, M. L. Lupher, Jr., E. A. Greenfield, P. R. Baum, W. C. Fanslow, D. M. Calderhead, G. J. Freeman and A. H. Sharpe (1999). Ox40-ligand has a critical costimulatory role in dendritic cell:T cell interactions. *Immunity* **11**(6): 689-98.

Chung, C. T. and R. H. Miller (1988). A rapid and convenient method for the preparation and storage of competent bacterial cells. *Nucleic Acids Res* 16(8): 3580.

Colledge, L., C. L. Bennett, P. A. Reay and C. C. Blackburn Rapid constitutive generation of a specific peptide-MHC class II complex in murine dendritic cells (final revision, Eur. J. Immunol.).

Colledge, L., M. Y. Sun, W. Lin, C. C. Blackburn and P. A. Reay (2001). Differing processing requirements of four recombinant antigens containing a single defined T-cell epitope for presentation by major histocompatibility complex class II. *Immunology* **103**(3): 343-50.

Connell, N. D., E. Medina-Acosta, W. R. McMaster, B. R. Bloom and D. G. Russell (1993). Effective immunization against cutaneous leishmaniasis with recombinant bacille Calmette-Guerin expressing the *Leishmania* surface proteinase gp63. <u>*Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*</u> 90(24): 11473-7.

Courret, N., C. Frehel, E. Prina, T. Lang and J. C. Antoine (2001). Kinetics of the intracellular differentiation of *Leishmania amazonensis* and internalization of host MHC molecules by the intermediate parasite stages. <u>*Parasitology*</u> 122(Pt 3): 263-79.

Courret, N., E. Prina, E. Mougneau, E. M. Saraiva, D. L. Sacks, N. Glaichenhaus and J. C. Antoine (1999). Presentation of the *Leishmania* antigen LACK by infected macrophages is dependent upon the virulence of the phagocytosed parasites. <u>Eur J</u> <u>Immunol</u> 29(3): 762-73.

Cyster, J. G. (1999). Chemokines and cell migration in secondary lymphoid organs. Science 286(5447): 2098-102.

d'Ostiani, C. F., G. Del Sero, A. Bacci, C. Montagnoli, A. Spreca, A. Mencacci, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli and L. Romani (2000). Dendritic cells discriminate between yeasts

and hyphae of the fungus *Candida albicans*. Implications for initiation of T helper cell immunity in vitro and in vivo. <u>J Exp Med</u> **191**(10): 1661-74.

Da Silva, R. P., B. F. Hall, K. A. Joiner and D. L. Sacks (1989). CR1, the C3b receptor, mediates binding of infective *Leishmania major* metacyclic promastigotes to human macrophages. *J Immunol* 143(2): 617-22.

de Freitas Balanco, J. M., M. E. Moreira, A. Bonomo, P. T. Bozza, G. Amarante-Mendes, C. Pirmez and M. A. Barcinski (2001). Apoptotic mimicry by an obligate intracellular parasite downregulates macrophage microbicidal activity. *Curr Biol* 11(23): 1870-3.

De Souza Leao, S., T. Lang, E. Prina, R. Hellio and J. C. Antoine (1995). Intracellular *Leishmania amazonensis* amastigotes internalize and degrade MHC class II molecules of their host cells. *J Cell Sci* **108**(Pt 10): 3219-31.

de St Groth, B. F. (1998). The evolution of self-tolerance: a new cell arises to meet the challenge of self-reactivity. *Immunol Today* **19**(10): 448-54.

Denzin, L. K. and P. Cresswell (1995). HLA-DM induces CLIP dissociation from MHC class II alpha beta dimers and facilitates peptide loading. <u>*Cell*</u> 82(1): 155-65.

Dermine, J. F., S. Scianimanico, C. Prive, A. Descoteaux and M. Desjardins (2000). *Leishmania* promastigotes require lipophosphoglycan to actively modulate the fusion properties of phagosomes at an early step of phagocytosis. *Cell Microbiol* **2**(2): 115-26.

Descoteaux, A., G. Matlashewski and S. J. Turco (1992). Inhibition of macrophage protein kinase C-mediated protein phosphorylation by *Leishmania donovani* lipophosphoglycan. *J Immunol* **149**(9): 3008-15.

Deussing, J., W. Roth, P. Saftig, C. Peters, H. L. Ploegh and J. A. Villadangos (1998). Cathepsins B and D are dispensable for major histocompatibility complex class II-mediated antigen presentation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **95**(8): 4516-21.

Dieu, M. C., B. Vanbervliet, A. Vicari, J. M. Bridon, E. Oldham, S. Ait-Yahia, F. Briere, A. Zlotnik, S. Lebecque and C. Caux (1998). Selective recruitment of immature and mature dendritic cells by distinct chemokines expressed in different anatomic sites. <u>J</u> <u>Exp Med</u> 188(2): 373-86.

Doherty, T. M. and R. L. Coffman (1996). *Leishmania major*: effect of infectious dose on T cell subset development in BALB/c mice. *Exp Parasitol* 84(2): 124-35.

Drake, J. R., P. Webster, J. C. Cambier and I. Mellman (1997). Delivery of B cell receptor-internalized antigen to endosomes and class II vesicles. *J Exp Med* **186**(8): 1299-306.

ElHassan, A. M., A. Gaafar and T. G. Theander (1995). Antigen-presenting cells in human cutaneous leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania major*. <u>*Clin Exp Immunol*</u> **99**(3): 445-53.

Elhay, M., M. Kelleher, A. Bacic, M. J. McConville, D. L. Tolson, T. W. Pearson and E. Handman (1990). Lipophosphoglycan expression and virulence in ricin-resistant variants of *Leishmania major*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **40**(2): 255-67.

Fanger, N. A., D. Voigtlaender, C. Liu, S. Swink, K. Wardwell, J. Fisher, R. F. Graziano, L. C. Pfefferkorn and P. M. Guyre (1997). Characterization of expression, cytokine regulation, and effector function of the high affinity IgG receptor Fc gamma RI (CD64) expressed on human blood dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **158**(7): 3090-8.

Farrar, J. D., W. Ouyang, M. Lohning, M. Assenmacher, A. Radbruch, O. Kanagawa and K. M. Murphy (2001). An instructive component in T helper cell type 2 (Th2) development mediated by GATA-3. *JExp Med* **193**(5): 643-50.

Fineschi, B., L. S. Arneson, M. F. Naujokas and J. Miller (1995). Proteolysis of major histocompatibility complex class II-associated invariant chain is regulated by the alternatively spliced gene product, p41. <u>*Proc Natl Acad Sci US A*</u> 92(22): 10257-61.

Fitzgerald, K. A., E. M. Palsson-McDermott, A. G. Bowie, C. A. Jefferies, A. S. Mansell, G. Brady, E. Brint, A. Dunne, P. Gray, M. T. Harte, D. McMurray, D. E. Smith, J. E. Sims, T. A. Bird and L. A. O'Neill (2001). Mal (MyD88-adapter-like) is required for Toll-like receptor-4 signal transduction. *Nature* **413**(6851): 78-83.

Flohe, S., T. Lang and H. Moll (1997). Synthesis, stability, and subcellular distribution of major histocompatibility complex class II molecules in Langerhans cells infected with *Leishmania major*. *Infect Immun* **65**(8): 3444-50.

Flohe, S. B., C. Bauer, S. Flohe and H. Moll (1998). Antigen-pulsed epidermal Langerhans cells protect susceptible mice from infection with the intracellular parasite *Leishmania major*. <u>*Eur J Immunol*</u> 28(11): 3800-11

Flynn, S., K. M. Toellner, C. Raykundalia, M. Goodall and P. Lane (1998). CD4 T cell cytokine differentiation: the B cell activation molecule, OX40 ligand, instructs CD4 T cells to express interleukin 4 and upregulates expression of the chemokine receptor, Blr-1. *J Exp Med* **188**(2): 297-304.

Forster, R., A. Schubel, D. Breitfeld, E. Kremmer, I. Renner-Muller, E. Wolf and M. Lipp (1999). CCR7 coordinates the primary immune response by establishing functional microenvironments in secondary lymphoid organs. *Cell* **99**(1): 23-33.

Frame, M. J., J. C. Mottram and G. H. Coombs (2000). Analysis of the roles of cysteine proteinases of *Leishmania mexicana* in the host-parasite interaction. *Parasitology* **121**(Pt 4): 367-77.

Fruth, U., N. Solioz and J. A. Louis (1993). *Leishmania major* interferes with antigen presentation by infected macrophages. *J Immunol* **150**(5): 1857-64.

Fukao, T., S. Matsuda and S. Koyasu (2000). Synergistic effects of IL-4 and IL-18 on IL-12-dependent IFN-gamma production by dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 164(1): 64-71.

Gaafar, A., A. Y. el Kadaro, T. G. Theander, H. Permin, A. Ismail, A. Kharazmi and A. M. el Hassan (1995). The pathology of cutaneous leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania major* in Sudan. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **52**(5): 438-42.

Gaafar, A., B. Veress, H. Permin, A. Kharazmi, T. G. Theander and A. M. el Hassan (1999). Characterization of the local and systemic immune responses in patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis due to *Leishmania major*. <u>*Clin Immunol*</u> **91**(3): 314-20.

Gallucci, S., M. Lolkema and P. Matzinger (1999). Natural adjuvants: endogenous activators of dendritic cells. *Nat Med* 5(11): 1249-55.

Trombetta, J. E. Galan and I. Mellman (2000). Developmental control of endocytosis in dendritic cells by Cdc42. <u>*Cell*</u> 102(3): 325-34.

Gately, M. K., L. M. Renzetti, J. Magram, A. S. Stern, L. Adorini, U. Gubler and D. H. Presky (1998). The interleukin-12/interleukin-12-receptor system: role in normal and pathologic immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol* 16: 495-521.

Georgopoulos, K., M. Bigby, J. H. Wang, A. Molnar, P. Wu, S. Winandy and A. Sharpe (1994). The Ikaros gene is required for the development of all lymphoid lineages. <u>*Cell*</u> **79**(1): 143-56.

Gett, A. V. and P. D. Hodgkin (1998). Cell division regulates the T cell cytokine repertoire, revealing a mechanism underlying immune class regulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **95**(16): 9488-93.

Gewirtz, A. T., T. A. Navas, S. Lyons, P. J. Godowski and J. L. Madara (2001). Cutting edge: bacterial flagellin activates basolaterally expressed tlr5 to induce epithelial proinflammatory gene expression. *J Immunol* **167**(4): 1882-5.

Gillessen, S., D. Carvajal, P. Ling, F. J. Podlaski, D. L. Stremlo, P. C. Familletti, U. Gubler, D. H. Presky, A. S. Stern and M. K. Gately (1995). Mouse interleukin-12 (IL-12) p40 homodimer: a potent IL-12 antagonist. *Eur J Immunol* **25**(1): 200-6.

Giorgione, J. R., S. J. Turco and R. M. Epand (1996). Transbilayer inhibition of protein kinase C by the lipophosphoglycan from *Leishmania donovani*. <u>*Proc Natl Acad Sci U S*</u> <u>A</u> 93(21): 11634-9.

Gonzalez, C. R., F. R. Noriega, S. Huerta, A. Santiago, M. Vega, J. Paniagua, V. Ortiz-Navarrete, A. Isibasi and M. M. Levine (1998). Immunogenicity of a *Salmonella typhi* CVD 908 candidate vaccine strain expressing the major surface protein gp63 of *Leishmania mexicana mexicana*. <u>Vaccine</u> 16(9-10): 1043-52.

Gorak, P. M., C. R. Engwerda and P. M. Kaye (1998). Dendritic cells, but not macrophages, produce IL-12 immediately following *Leishmania donovani* infection. *Eur* <u>J Immunol</u> 28(2): 687-95.

Granucci, F., C. Vizzardelli, N. Pavelka, S. Feau, M. Persico, E. Virzi, M. Rescigno, G. Moro and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli (2001). Inducible IL-2 production by dendritic cells revealed by global gene expression analysis. *Nat Immunol* **2**(9): 882-8.

Green, S. J., M. S. Meltzer, J. B. Hibbs, Jr. and C. A. Nacy (1990). Activated macrophages destroy intracellular *Leishmania major* amastigotes by an L-arginine-dependent killing mechanism. *J Immunol* **144**(1): 278-83.

Grogl, M., T. N. Thomason and E. D. Franke (1992). Drug resistance in leishmaniasis: its implication in systemic chemotherapy of cutaneous and mucocutaneous disease. <u>*Am J*</u> <u>*Trop Med Hyg*</u> 47(1): 117-26.

Grohmann, U., M. L. Belladonna, R. Bianchi, C. Orabona, E. Ayroldi, M. C. Fioretti and P. Puccetti (1998). IL-12 acts directly on DC to promote nuclear localization of NF-kappaB and primes DC for IL-12 production. *Immunity* 9(3): 315-23.

Groux, H., F. Cottrez, M. Rouleau, S. Mauze, S. Antonenko, S. Hurst, T. McNeil, M. Bigler, M. G. Roncarolo and R. L. Coffman (1999). A transgenic model to analyze the immunoregulatory role of IL-10 secreted by antigen-presenting cells. *J Immunol* 162(3): 1723-9.

Guagliardi, L. E., B. Koppelman, J. S. Blum, M. S. Marks, P. Cresswell and F. M. Brodsky (1990). Co-localization of molecules involved in antigen processing and presentation in an early endocytic compartment. *Nature* **343**(6254): 133-9.

Guler, M. L., J. D. Gorham, C. S. Hsieh, A. J. Mackey, R. G. Steen, W. F. Dietrich and K. M. Murphy (1996). Genetic susceptibility to *Leishmania*: IL-12 responsiveness in TH1 cell development. *Science* **271**(5251): 984-7.

Gunn, M. D., S. Kyuwa, C. Tam, T. Kakiuchi, A. Matsuzawa, L. T. Williams and H. Nakano (1999). Mice lacking expression of secondary lymphoid organ chemokine have defects in lymphocyte homing and dendritic cell localization. *J Exp Med* **189**(3): 451-60.

Gupta, N., N. Goyal and A. K. Rastogi (2001). *In vitro* cultivation and characterization of axenic amastigotes of *Leishmania*. *<u>Trends Parasitol</u>* **17**(3): 150-3.

Guy, R. A. and M. Belosevic (1993). Comparison of receptors required for entry of *Leishmania major* amastigotes into macrophages. *Infect Immun* **61**(4): 1553-8.

Hagenbaugh, A., S. Sharma, S. M. Dubinett, S. H. Wei, R. Aranda, H. Cheroutre, D. J. Fowell, S. Binder, B. Tsao, R. M. Locksley, K. W. Moore and M. Kronenberg (1997). Altered immune responses in interleukin 10 transgenic mice. *J Exp Med* **185**(12): 2101-10.

Handman, E. (1997). Leishmania Vaccines: Old and New. *Parasitol. Today* 13(6): 236-238.

Handman, E. and J. W. Goding (1985). The *Leishmania* receptor for macrophages is a lipid-containing glycoconjugate. <u>*Embo J*</u> 4(2): 329-36.

Handman, E., L. F. Schnur, T. W. Spithill and G. F. Mitchell (1986). Passive transfer of *Leishmania* lipopolysaccharide confers parasite survival in macrophages. <u>J Immunol</u> **137**(11): 3608-13.

Harding, C. V. and H. J. Geuze (1993). Immunogenic peptides bind to class II MHC molecules in an early lysosomal compartment. *J Immunol* **151**(8): 3988-98.

Hartmann, G., G. J. Weiner and A. M. Krieg (1999). CpG DNA: a potent signal for growth, activation, and maturation of human dendritic cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **96**(16): 9305-10.

Hatzigeorgiou, D. E., J. Geng, B. Zhu, Y. Zhang, K. Liu, W. N. Rom, M. J. Fenton, S. J. Turco and J. L. Ho (1996). Lipophosphoglycan from *Leishmania* suppresses agonist-induced interleukin 1 beta gene expression in human monocytes via a unique promoter sequence. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(25): 14708-13.

Hayashi, F., K. D. Smith, A. Ozinsky, T. R. Hawn, E. C. Yi, D. R. Goodlett, J. K. Eng, S. Akira, D. M. Underhill and A. Aderem (2001). The innate immune response to bacterial flagellin is mediated by Toll-like receptor 5. *Nature* **410**(6832): 1099-103.

Heath, V. L., L. Showe, C. Crain, F. J. Barrat, G. Trinchieri and A. O'Garra (2000). Cutting edge: ectopic expression of the IL-12 receptor-beta 2 in developing and committed Th2 cells does not affect the production of IL-4 or induce the production of IFN-gamma. *J Immunol* 164(6): 2861-5.

Hedrick, S. M., L. A. Matis, T. T. Hecht, L. E. Samelson, D. L. Longo, E. Heber-Katz and R. H. Schwartz (1982). The fine specificity of antigen and Ia determinant recognition by T cell hybridoma clones specific for pigeon cytochrome c. <u>*Cell*</u> **30**(1): 141-52.

Heinzel, F. P., R. M. Rerko, F. Ahmed and E. Pearlman (1995). Endogenous IL-12 is required for control of Th2 cytokine responses capable of exacerbating leishmaniasis in normally resistant mice. *J Immunol* **155**(2): 730-9.

Heinzel, F. P., M. D. Sadick, B. J. Holaday, R. L. Coffman and R. M. Locksley (1989). Reciprocal expression of interferon gamma or interleukin 4 during the resolution or progression of murine leishmaniasis. Evidence for expansion of distinct helper T cell subsets. *J Exp Med* **169**(1): 59-72.

Heinzel, F. P., D. S. Schoenhaut, R. M. Rerko, L. E. Rosser and M. K. Gately (1993). Recombinant interleukin 12 cures mice infected with *Leishmania major*. <u>J Exp Med</u> 177(5): 1505-9.

Hemmi, H., O. Takeuchi, T. Kawai, T. Kaisho, S. Sato, H. Sanjo, M. Matsumoto, K. Hoshino, H. Wagner, K. Takeda and S. Akira (2000). A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. *Nature* **408**(6813): 740-5.

Henri, S., D. Vremec, A. Kamath, J. Waithman, S. Williams, C. Benoist, K. Burnham, S. Saeland, E. Handman and K. Shortman (2001). The dendritic cell populations of mouse lymph nodes. *J Immunol* 167(2): 741-8.

Hertz, C., S. Kiertscher, P. Godowski, D. Bouis, M. Norgard, M. Roth and R. Modlin (2001). Microbial lipopeptides stimulate dendritic cell maturation via Toll-like receptor 2. *J Immunol* **166**(4): 2444-50.

Herwaldt, B. L. (1999). Leishmaniasis. *Lancet* 354(9185): 1191-9.

Hess, J., I. Gentschev, D. Miko, M. Welzel, C. Ladel, W. Goebel and S. H. Kaufmann (1996). Superior efficacy of secreted over somatic antigen display in recombinant *Salmonella vaccine* induced protection against listeriosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **93**(4): 1458-63.

Hewitt, E. W., A. Treumann, N. Morrice, P. J. Tatnell, J. Kay and C. Watts (1997). Natural processing sites for human cathepsin E and cathepsin D in tetanus toxin: implications for T cell epitope generation. *J Immunol* **159**(10): 4693-9.

Himmelrich, H., P. Launois, I. Maillard, T. Biedermann, F. Tacchini-Cottier, R. M. Locksley, M. Rocken and J. A. Louis (2000). In BALB/c mice, IL-4 production during the initial phase of infection with *Leishmania major* is necessary and sufficient to instruct Th2 cell development resulting in progressive disease. <u>J Immunol</u> 164(9): 4819-25.

Himmelrich, H., C. Parra-Lopez, F. Tacchini-Cottier, J. A. Louis and P. Launois (1998). The IL-4 rapidly produced in BALB/c mice after infection with *Leishmania major* down-regulates IL-12 receptor beta 2-chain expression on CD4+ T cells resulting in a state of unresponsiveness to IL-12. *J Immunol* **161**(11): 6156-63.

Hirschfeld, M., Y. Ma, J. H. Weis, S. N. Vogel and J. J. Weis (2000). Cutting edge: repurification of lipopolysaccharide eliminates signaling through both human and murine toll-like receptor 2. *J Immunol* **165**(2): 618-22.

Hochrein, H., M. O'Keeffe, T. Luft, S. Vandenabeele, R. J. Grumont, E. Maraskovsky and K. Shortman (2000). Interleukin (IL)-4 is a major regulatory cytokine governing bioactive IL-12 production by mouse and human dendritic cells. <u>J Exp Med</u> **192**(6): 823-33.

Hochrein, H., K. Shortman, D. Vremec, B. Scott, P. Hertzog and M. O'Keeffe (2001). Differential production of IL-12, IFN-alpha, and IFN-gamma by mouse dendritic cell subsets. *J Immunol* **166**(9): 5448-55.

Holaday, B. J., M. D. Sadick, Z. E. Wang, S. L. Reiner, F. P. Heinzel, T. G. Parslow and R. M. Locksley (1991). Reconstitution of *Leishmania* immunity in severe combined immunodeficient mice using Th1- and Th2-like cell lines. <u>J Immunol</u> 147(5): 1653-8.

Horng, T., G. M. Barton and R. Medzhitov (2001). TIRAP: an adapter molecule in the Toll signaling pathway. *Nat Immunol* **2**(9): 835-41.

Hoshino, K., O. Takeuchi, T. Kawai, H. Sanjo, T. Ogawa, Y. Takeda, K. Takeda and S. Akira (1999). Cutting edge: Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-deficient mice are hyporesponsive to lipopolysaccharide: evidence for TLR4 as the Lps gene product. \underline{J} Immunol 162(7): 3749-52.

Hsieh, C. S., S. E. Macatonia, C. S. Tripp, S. F. Wolf, A. O'Garra and K. M. Murphy (1993). Development of TH1 CD4+ T cells through IL-12 produced by *Listeria*-induced macrophages. *Science* **260**(5107): 547-9.

Huang, L. Y., C. Reis e Sousa, Y. Itoh, J. Inman and D. E. Scott (2001). IL-12 induction by a TH1-inducing adjuvant in vivo: dendritic cell subsets and regulation by IL-10. \underline{J} Immunol 167(3): 1423-30.

Huang, Q., D. Liu, P. Majewski, L. C. Schulte, J. M. Korn, R. A. Young, E. S. Lander and N. Hacohen (2001). The plasticity of dendritic cell responses to pathogens and their components. <u>Science</u> **294**(5543): 870-5.

Ibrahim, M. A., B. M. Chain and D. R. Katz (1995). The injured cell: the role of the dendritic cell system as a sentinel receptor pathway. *Immunol Today* **16**(4): 181-6.

Ilg, T. (2000). Lipophosphoglycan is not required for infection of macrophages or mice by *Leishmania mexicana*. *Embo J* **19**(9): 1953-62.

Ilg, T., B. Menz, G. Winter, D. G. Russell, R. Etges, D. Schell and P. Overath (1991). Monoclonal antibodies to *Leishmania mexicana* promastigote antigens. I. Secreted acid phosphatase and other proteins share epitopes with lipophosphoglycan. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 99(Pt 1): 175-80.

Ilg, T., R. Etges, P. Overath, M. J. McConville, J. Thomas-Oates, J. Thomas, S. W. Homans and M. A. Ferguson (1992). Structure of *Leishmania mexicana* lipophosphoglycan. *J Biol Chem* **267**(10): 6834-40.

Inaba, K., M. Inaba, N. Romani, H. Aya, M. Deguchi, S. Ikehara, S. Muramatsu and R. M. Steinman (1992). Generation of large numbers of dendritic cells from mouse bone marrow cultures supplemented with granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *J Exp Med* **176**(6): 1693-702.

Inaba, K., J. P. Metlay, M. T. Crowley and R. M. Steinman (1990). Dendritic cells pulsed with protein antigens *in vitro* can prime antigen-specific, MHC-restricted T cells in situ. *J Exp Med* **172**(2): 631-40.

Inaba, K., M. Pack, M. Inaba, H. Sakuta, F. Isdell and R. M. Steinman (1997). High levels of a major histocompatibility complex II-self peptide complex on dendritic cells from the T cell areas of lymph nodes. *J Exp Med* **186**(5): 665-72.

Inaba, K., R. M. Steinman, M. W. Pack, H. Aya, M. Inaba, T. Sudo, S. Wolpe and G. Schuler (1992). Identification of proliferating dendritic cell precursors in mouse blood. <u>J</u> <u>Exp Med</u> 175(5): 1157-67.

Inaba, K., R. M. Steinman, W. C. Van Voorhis and S. Muramatsu (1983). Dendritic cells are critical accessory cells for thymus-dependent antibody responses in mouse and in man. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* 80(19): 6041-5.

Inaba, K., S. Turley, T. Iyoda, F. Yamaide, S. Shimoyama, C. Reis e Sousa, R. N. Germain, I. Mellman and R. M. Steinman (2000). The formation of immunogenic major histocompatibility complex class II-peptide ligands in lysosomal compartments of dendritic cells is regulated by inflammatory stimuli. *J Exp Med* **191**(6): 927-36.

Jakob, T., P. S. Walker, A. M. Krieg, M. C. Udey and J. C. Vogel (1998). Activation of cutaneous dendritic cells by CpG-containing oligodeoxynucleotides: a role for dendritic cells in the augmentation of Th1 responses by immunostimulatory DNA. *J Immunol* **161**(6): 3042-9.

Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1989). Approaching the asymptote? Evolution and revolution in immunology. <u>Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol</u> 54(Pt 1): 1-13.

Janeway, C. A., Jr. (1992). The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self. *Immunol Today* **13**(1): 11-6.

Jardim, A., J. Alexander, H. S. Teh, D. Ou and R. W. Olafson (1990). Immunoprotective *Leishmania major* synthetic T cell epitopes. *J Exp Med* **172**(2): 645-8.

Jiang, W., W. J. Swiggard, C. Heufler, M. Peng, A. Mirza, R. M. Steinman and M. C. Nussenzweig (1995). The receptor DEC-205 expressed by dendritic cells and thymic epithelial cells is involved in antigen processing. *Nature* **375**(6527): 151-5.

Jones, D., M. M. Elloso, L. Showe, D. Williams, G. Trinchieri and P. Scott (1998). Differential regulation of the interleukin-12 receptor during the innate immune response to *Leishmania major*. *Infect Immun* **66**(8): 3818-24.

Jones, D. E., L. U. Buxbaum and P. Scott (2000). IL-4-independent inhibition of IL-12 responsiveness during *Leishmania amazonensis* infection. <u>J Immunol</u> 165(1): 364-72.

Josien, R., B. R. Wong, H. L. Li, R. M. Steinman and Y. Choi (1999). TRANCE, a TNF family member, is differentially expressed on T cell subsets and induces cytokine production in dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **162**(5): 2562-8.

Julia, V., S. S. McSorley, L. Malherbe, J. P. Breittmayer, F. Girard-Pipau, A. Beck and N. Glaichenhaus (2000). Priming by microbial antigens from the intestinal flora determines the ability of CD4+ T cells to rapidly secrete IL-4 in BALB/c mice infected with *Leishmania major*. <u>J Immunol</u> 165(10): 5637-45.

Julia, V., M. Rassoulzadegan and N. Glaichenhaus (1996). Resistance to *Leishmania* major induced by tolerance to a single antigen. <u>Science</u> 274(5286): 421-3.

Kadowaki, N., S. Ho, S. Antonenko, R. W. Malefyt, R. A. Kastelein, F. Bazan and Y. J. Liu (2001). Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like receptors and respond to different microbial antigens. *J Exp Med* **194**(6): 863-9.

Kaisho, T. and S. Akira (2001). Dendritic-cell function in Toll-like receptor- and MyD88-knockout mice. *Trends Immunol* 22(2): 78-83.

Kaisho, T., O. Takeuchi, T. Kawai, K. Hoshino and S. Akira (2001). Endotoxin-induced maturation of MyD88-deficient dendritic cells. *J Immunol* 166(9): 5688-94.

Kalinski, P., C. M. Hilkens, E. A. Wierenga and M. L. Kapsenberg (1999). T-cell priming by type-1 and type-2 polarized dendritic cells: the concept of a third signal. *Immunol Today* **20**(12): 561-7.

Kalinski, P., H. H. Smits, J. H. Schuitemaker, P. L. Vieira, M. van Eijk, E. C. de Jong, E. A. Wierenga and M. L. Kapsenberg (2000). IL-4 is a mediator of IL-12p70 induction by human Th2 cells: reversal of polarized Th2 phenotype by dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **165**(4): 1877-81.

Kamanaka, M., P. Yu, T. Yasui, K. Yoshida, T. Kawabe, T. Horii, T. Kishimoto and H. Kikutani (1996). Protective role of CD40 in *Leishmania major* infection at two distinct phases of cell-mediated immunity. *Immunity* **4**(3): 275-81.

Kamath, A. T., J. Pooley, M. A. O'Keeffe, D. Vremec, Y. Zhan, A. M. Lew, A. D'Amico, L. Wu, D. F. Tough and K. Shortman (2000). The development, maturation, and turnover rate of mouse spleen dendritic cell populations. *J Immunol* **165**(12): 6762-70.

Kamhawi, S., Y. Belkaid, G. Modi, E. Rowton and D. Sacks (2000). Protection against cutaneous leishmaniasis resulting from bites of uninfected sand flies. *Science* **290**(5495): 1351-4.

Kane, M. M. and D. M. Mosser (2001). The role of IL-10 in promoting disease progression in leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* 166(2): 1141-7.

Kaplan, M. H., U. Schindler, S. T. Smiley and M. J. Grusby (1996b). Stat6 is required for mediating responses to IL-4 and for development of Th2 cells. *Immunity* 4(3): 313-9.

Kaplan, M. H., Y. L. Sun, T. Hoey and M. J. Grusby (1996a). Impaired IL-12 responses and enhanced development of Th2 cells in Stat4-deficient mice. *Nature* **382**(6587): 174-7.

Kapler, G. M., C. M. Coburn and S. M. Beverley (1990). Stable transfection of the human parasite *Leishmania major* delineates a 30-kilobase region sufficient for extrachromosomal replication and expression. <u>Mol Cell Biol</u> 10(3): 1084-94.

Karp, C. L., S. J. Turco and D. L. Sacks (1991). Lipophosphoglycan masks recognition of the *Leishmania donovani* promastigote surface by human kala-azar serum. <u>J Immunol</u> **147**(2): 680-4.

Kato, K., O. Shimozato, K. Hoshi, H. Wakimoto, H. Hamada, H. Yagita and K. Okumura (1996). Local production of the p40 subunit of interleukin 12 suppresses T-helper 1-mediated immune responses and prevents allogeneic myoblast rejection. <u>Proc</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci USA</u> 93(17): 9085-9.

Kawai, T., O. Adachi, T. Ogawa, K. Takeda and S. Akira (1999). Unresponsiveness of MyD88-deficient mice to endotoxin. *Immunity* 11(1): 115-22.

Kaye, P. M., C. Coburn, M. McCrossan and S. M. Beverley (1993). Antigens targeted to the *Leishmania* phagolysosome are processed for CD4+ T cell recognition. *Eur J Immunol* 23(9): 2311-9.

Kaye, P. M., N. J. Rogers, A. J. Curry and J. C. Scott (1994). Deficient expression of costimulatory molecules on *Leishmania*-infected macrophages. *Eur J Immunol* **24**(11): 2850-4.

Kelleher, M., S. F. Moody, P. Mirabile, A. H. Osborn, A. Bacic and E. Handman (1995). Lipophosphoglycan blocks attachment of *Leishmania major* amastigotes to macrophages. *Infect Immun* 63(1): 43-50.

Kelso, A. and N. M. Gough (1988). Coexpression of granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor, gamma interferon, and interleukins 3 and 4 is random in murine alloreactive T-lymphocyte clones. <u>*Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*</u> 85(23): 9189-93. Kelso, A., P. Groves, A. B. Troutt and K. Francis (1995). Evidence for the stochastic acquisition of cytokine profile by CD4+ T cells activated in a T helper type 2-like response in vivo. *Eur J Immunol* **25**(5): 1168-75.

Kima, P. E., S. L. Constant, L. Hannum, M. Colmenares, K. S. Lee, A. M. Haberman, M. J. Shlomchik and D. McMahon-Pratt (2000). Internalization of *Leishmania mexicana* complex amastigotes via the Fc receptor is required to sustain infection in murine cutaneous leishmaniasis. *J Exp Med* **191**(6): 1063-8.

Kima, P. E., L. Soong, C. Chicharro, N. H. Ruddle and D. McMahon-Pratt (1996). *Leishmania*-infected macrophages sequester endogenously synthesized parasite antigens from presentation to CD4+ T cells. *Eur J Immunol* **26**(12): 3163-9.

Kirschning, C. J., H. Wesche, T. Merrill Ayres and M. Rothe (1998). Human toll-like receptor 2 confers responsiveness to bacterial lipopolysaccharide. <u>J Exp Med</u> 188(11): 2091-7.

Kitamura, D., J. Roes, R. Kuhn and K. Rajewsky (1991). A B cell-deficient mouse by targeted disruption of the membrane exon of the immunoglobulin mu chain gene. *Nature* **350**(6317): 423-6.

Kleijmeer, M. J., S. Morkowski, J. M. Griffith, A. Y. Rudensky and H. J. Geuze (1997). Major histocompatibility complex class II compartments in human and mouse B lymphoblasts represent conventional endocytic compartments. <u>J Cell Biol</u> 139(3): 639-49.

Kleijmeer, M. J., M. A. Ossevoort, C. J. van Veen, J. J. van Hellemond, J. J. Neefjes, W. M. Kast, C. J. Melief and H. J. Geuze (1995). MHC class II compartments and the kinetics of antigen presentation in activated mouse spleen dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **154**(11): 5715-24.

Knight, S. C., J. Mertin, A. Stackpoole and J. Clark (1983). Induction of immune responses *in vivo* with small numbers of veiled (dendritic) cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US* <u>A</u> 80(19): 6032-5.

Kobayashi, M., L. Fitz, M. Ryan, R. M. Hewick, S. C. Clark, S. Chan, R. Loudon, F. Sherman, B. Perussia and G. Trinchieri (1989). Identification and purification of natural killer cell stimulatory factor (NKSF), a cytokine with multiple biologic effects on human lymphocytes. *J Exp Med* **170**(3): 827-45.

Koch, F., U. Stanzl, P. Jennewein, K. Janke, C. Heufler, E. Kampgen, N. Romani and G. Schuler (1996). High level IL-12 production by murine dendritic cells: upregulation via MHC class II and CD40 molecules and downregulation by IL-4 and IL-10. *J Exp Med* **184**(2): 741-6.

Konecny, P., A. J. Stagg, H. Jebbari, N. English, R. N. Davidson and S. C. Knight (1999). Murine dendritic cells internalize *Leishmania major* promastigotes, produce IL-

12 p40 and stimulate primary T cell proliferation in vitro. *Eur J Immunol* **29**(6): 1803-11.

Kopf, M., F. Brombacher, G. Kohler, G. Kienzle, K. H. Widmann, K. Lefrang, C. Humborg, B. Ledermann and W. Solbach (1996). IL-4-deficient Balb/c mice resist infection with *Leishmania major*. *J Exp Med* **184**(3): 1127-36.

Krieg, A. M., A. K. Yi, S. Matson, T. J. Waldschmidt, G. A. Bishop, R. Teasdale, G. A. Koretzky and D. M. Klinman (1995). CpG motifs in bacterial DNA trigger direct B-cell activation. *Nature* **374**(6522): 546-9.

Kronin, V., K. Winkel, G. Suss, A. Kelso, W. Heath, J. Kirberg, H. von Boehmer and K. Shortman (1996). A subclass of dendritic cells regulates the response of naïve CD8 T cells by limiting their IL-2 production. *J Immunol* **157**(9): 3819-27.

Laemmli, U. K. (1970). Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. *Nature* 227(259): 680-5.

Lang, T., C. de Chastellier, C. Frehel, R. Hellio, P. Metezeau, S. d. S. Leao and J. C. Antoine (1994). Distribution of MHC class I and of MHC class II molecules in macrophages infected with *Leishmania amazonensis*. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 107(Pt 1): 69-82.

Langenkamp, A., M. Messi, A. Lanzavecchia and F. Sallusto (2000). Kinetics of dendritic cell activation: impact on priming of TH1, TH2 and nonpolarized T cells. <u>Nat</u> <u>Immunol</u> 1(4): 311-6.

Langford, C. K., B. Ullman and S. M. Landfear (1992). *Leishmania*: codon utilization of nuclear genes. *Exp Parasitol* 74(3): 360-1.

Laskay, T., M. Rollinghoff and W. Solbach (1993). Natural killer cells participate in the early defense against *Leishmania major* infection in mice. *Eur J Immunol* **23**(9): 2237-41.

Launois, P., I. Maillard, S. Pingel, K. G. Swihart, I. Xenarios, H. Acha-Orbea, H. Diggelmann, R. M. Locksley, H. R. MacDonald and J. A. Louis (1997). IL-4 rapidly produced by V beta 4 V alpha 8 CD4+ T cells instructs Th2 development and susceptibility to *Leishmania major* in BALB/c mice. *Immunity* 6(5): 541-9.

Launois, P., T. Ohteki, K. Swihart, H. R. MacDonald and J. A. Louis (1995). In susceptible mice, *Leishmania major* induce very rapid interleukin-4 production by CD4+ T cells which are NK1.1. *Eur J Immunol* **25**(12): 3298-307.

Launois, P., K. G. Swihart, G. Milon and J. A. Louis (1997). Early production of IL-4 in susceptible mice infected with *Leishmania major* rapidly induces IL-12 unresponsiveness. *J Immunol* **158**(7): 3317-24.

Lawrence, R. A., J. E. Allen, J. Osborne and R. M. Maizels (1994). Adult and microfilarial stages of the filarial parasite *Brugia malayi* stimulate contrasting cytokine and Ig isotype responses in BALB/c mice. *J Immunol* **153**(3): 1216-24.

LeBowitz, J. H., C. M. Coburn, D. Mcmahon-Pratt and S. M. Beverley (1990). Development of a stable *Leishmania* expression vector and application to the study of parasite surface antigen genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **87**: 9736-9740.

LeBowitz, J. H., H. Q. Smith, L. Rusche and S. M. Beverley (1993). Coupling of poly(A) site selection and trans-splicing in *Leishmania*. <u>Genes Dev</u> 7(6): 996-1007.

Lemaitre, B., E. Nicolas, L. Michaut, J. M. Reichhart and J. A. Hoffmann (1996). The dorsoventral regulatory gene cassette spatzle/Toll/cactus controls the potent antifungal response in *Drosophila* adults. *Cell* **86**(6): 973-83.

Liljedahl, M., T. Kuwana, W. P. Fung-Leung, M. R. Jackson, P. A. Peterson and L. Karlsson (1996). HLA-DO is a lysosomal resident which requires association with HLA-DM for efficient intracellular transport. *Embo J* **15**(18): 4817-24.

Liu, X. and K. P. Chang (1992). Extrachromosomal genetic complementation of surface metalloproteinase (gp63)-deficient *Leishmania* increases their binding to macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **89**(11): 4991-5.

Liu, Y. and C. A. Janeway, Jr. (1992). Cells that present both specific ligand and costimulatory activity are the most efficient inducers of clonal expansion of normal CD4 T cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **89**(9): 3845-9.

Liu, Y. J., H. Kanzler, V. Soumelis and M. Gilliet (2001). Dendritic cell lineage, plasticity and cross-regulation. *Nat Immunol* 2(7): 585-9.

Lo, S. K., L. Bovis, R. Matura, B. Zhu, S. He, H. Lum, S. J. Turco and J. L. Ho (1998). *Leishmania* lipophosphoglycan reduces monocyte transendothelial migration: modulation of cell adhesion molecules, intercellular junctional proteins, and chemoattractants. *J Immunol* 160(4): 1857-65.

Lo-Man, R. and C. Leclerc (1997). Parameters affecting the immunogenicity of recombinant T cell epitopes inserted into hybrid proteins. *Hum Immunol* **54**(2): 180-8.

Locksley, R. M., S. L. Reiner, F. Hatam, D. R. Littman and N. Killeen (1993). Helper T cells without CD4: control of leishmaniasis in CD4-deficient mice. <u>Science</u> 261(5127): 1448-51.

Love, D. C., J. D. Esko and D. M. Mosser (1993). A heparin-binding activity on Leishmania amastigotes which mediates adhesion to cellular proteoglycans. <u>*J Cell Biol*</u> **123**(3): 759-66.

Macatonia, S. E., N. A. Hosken, M. Litton, P. Vieira, C. S. Hsieh, J. A. Culpepper, M. Wysocka, G. Trinchieri, K. M. Murphy and A. O'Garra (1995). Dendritic cells produce IL-12 and direct the development of Th1 cells from naive CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* **154**(10): 5071-9.

Macatonia, S. E., S. C. Knight, A. J. Edwards, S. Griffiths and P. Fryer (1987). Localization of antigen on lymph node dendritic cells after exposure to the contact sensitizer fluorescein isothiocyanate. Functional and morphological studies. *J Exp Med* **166**(6): 1654-67.

MacDonald, A. S., A. D. Straw, B. Bauman and E. J. Pearce (2001). CD8(-) Dendritic Cell Activation Status Plays an Integral Role in Influencing Th2 Response Development. *J Immunol* 167(4): 1982-8.

MacDonald, A. S., A. D. Straw, N. M. Dalton and E. J. Pearce (2002). Cutting edge: Th2 response induction by dendritic cells: a role for CD40. *J Immunol* **168**(2): 537-40.

Magram, J., S. E. Connaughton, R. R. Warrier, D. M. Carvajal, C. Y. Wu, J. Ferrante, C. Stewart, U. Sarmiento, D. A. Faherty and M. K. Gately (1996). IL-12-deficient mice are defective in IFN gamma production and type 1 cytokine responses. *Immunity* **4**(5): 471-81.

Mahnke, K., M. Guo, S. Lee, H. Sepulveda, S. L. Swain, M. Nussenzweig and R. M. Steinman (2000). The dendritic cell receptor for endocytosis, DEC-205, can recycle and enhance antigen presentation via major histocompatibility complex class II-positive lysosomal compartments. *J Cell Biol* **151**(3): 673-84.

Maldonado-Lopez, R., T. De Smedt, P. Michel, J. Godfroid, B. Pajak, C. Heirman, K. Thielemans, O. Leo, J. Urbain and M. Moser (1999). CD8alpha+ and CD8alpha-subclasses of dendritic cells direct the development of distinct T helper cells in vivo. \underline{J} <u>Exp Med</u> 189(3): 587-92.

Maldonado-Lopez, R., C. Maliszewski, J. Urbain and M. Moser (2001). Cytokines regulate the capacity of CD8alpha(+) and CD8alpha(-) dendritic cells to prime Th1/Th2 cells in vivo. *J Immunol* **167**(8): 4345-50.

Manoury, B., Hewitt, E. W., Morrice, N., Dando, P. M., Barrett, A. J. & Watts. C. (1998). An asparaginyl endopeptidase processes a microbial antigen for class II MHC presentation. *Nature* **396**: 695-699.

Maraskovsky, E., K. Brasel, M. Teepe, E. R. Roux, S. D. Lyman, K. Shortman and H. J. McKenna (1996). Dramatic increase in the numbers of functionally mature dendritic cells in Flt3 ligand-treated mice: multiple dendritic cell subpopulations identified. <u>J Exp</u> <u>Med</u> **184**(5): 1953-62.

Marovich, M. A., M. A. McDowell, E. K. Thomas and T. B. Nutman (2000). IL-12p70 production by *Leishmania major*-harboring human dendritic cells is a CD40/CD40 ligand-dependent process. *J Immunol* **164**(11): 5858-65.

Marth, T. and B. L. Kelsall (1997). Regulation of interleukin-12 by complement receptor 3 signaling. *JExp Med* **185**(11): 1987-95.

Martin, W. D., G. G. Hicks, S. K. Mendiratta, H. I. Leva, H. E. Ruley and L. Van Kaer (1996). H2-M mutant mice are defective in the peptide loading of class II molecules, antigen presentation, and T cell repertoire selection. <u>*Cell*</u> **84**(4): 543-50.

Mattner, F., J. Magram, J. Ferrante, P. Launois, K. Di Padova, R. Behin, M. K. Gately, J. A. Louis and G. Alber (1996). Genetically resistant mice lacking interleukin-12 are susceptible to infection with *Leishmania major* and mount a polarized Th2 cell response. *Eur J Immunol* **26**(7): 1553-9.

Matzinger, P. (1994). Tolerance, danger and the extended family. <u>Ann Rev Immunol</u> 12: 991-1045.

Maurer, D., E. Fiebiger, B. Reininger, C. Ebner, P. Petzelbauer, G. P. Shi, H. A. Chapman and G. Stingl (1998). Fc epsilon receptor I on dendritic cells delivers IgEbound multivalent antigens into a cathepsin S-dependent pathway of MHC class II presentation. *J Immunol* 161(6): 2731-9.

McConville, M. J. and M. A. Ferguson (1993). The structure, biosynthesis and function of glycosylated phosphatidylinositols in the parasitic protozoa and higher eukaryotes. *Biochem J* 294(Pt 2): 305-24.

McConville, M. J., J. E. Thomas-Oates, M. A. Ferguson and S. W. Homans (1990). Structure of the lipophosphoglycan from *Leishmania major*. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 265(32): 19611-23.

McGwire, B. S. and K. P. Chang (1996). Posttranslational regulation of a *Leishmania* HEXXH metalloprotease (gp63). The effects of site-specific mutagenesis of catalytic, zinc binding, N-glycosylation, and glycosyl phosphatidylinositol addition sites on N-terminal end cleavage, intracellular stability, and extracellular exit. <u>J Biol Chem</u> **271**(14): 7903-9.

Medina-Acosta, E., R. E. Karess and D. G. Russell (1993). Structurally distinct genes for the surface protease of *Leishmania mexicana* are developmentally regulated. <u>Mol</u> <u>Biochem Parasitol</u> 57(1): 31-45.

Medina-Acosta, E., R. E. Karess, H. Schwartz and D. G. Russell (1989). The promastigote surface protease (gp63) of *Leishmania* is expressed but differentially processed and localized in the amastigote stage. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **37**(2): 263-73.

Medzhitov, R. and C. Janeway, Jr. (2000). Innate immune recognition: mechanisms and pathways. *Immunol Rev* 173: 89-97.

Medzhitov, R. and C. A. Janeway, Jr. (1997). Innate immunity: the virtues of a nonclonal system of recognition. <u>Cell</u> 91(3): 295-8.

Medzhitov, R., P. Preston-Hurlburt and C. A. Janeway, Jr. (1997). A human homologue of the *Drosophila* Toll protein signals activation of adaptive immunity. <u>Nature</u> **388**(6640): 394-7.

Mellman, I., S. J. Turley and R. M. Steinman (1998). Antigen processing for amateurs and professionals. *Trends Cell Biol* 8(6): 231-7.

Menz, B., G. Winter, T. Ilg, Lottspeivh and P. Overath (1991). Purification and characterization of a membrane-bound acid phosphatase of *Leishmania mexicana*. <u>Mol.</u> <u>Biochem. Parasitol.</u> **47**: 101-108.

Miller, R. A., S. G. Reed and M. Parsons (1990). *Leishmania* gp63 molecule implicated in cellular adhesion lacks an Arg-Gly-Asp sequence. <u>Mol Biochem Parasitol</u> **39**(2): 267-74.

Misslitz, A., J. C. Mottram, P. Overath and T. Aebischer (2000). Targeted integration into a rRNA locus results in uniform and high level expression of transgenes in *Leishmania* amastigotes. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* **107**: 251-261.

Mitchell, G. F., J. M. Curtis and E. Handman (1981). Resistance to cutaneous leishmaniasis in genetically susceptible BALB/c mice. <u>Aust J Exp Biol Med Sci</u> 59(Pt 5): 555-65.

Miyazaki, T., P. Wolf, S. Tourne, C. Waltzinger, A. Dierich, N. Barois, H. Ploegh, C. Benoist and D. Mathis (1996). Mice lacking H2-M complexes, enigmatic elements of the MHC class II peptide-loading pathway. <u>*Cell*</u> 84(4): 531-41.

Moll, H., H. Fuchs, C. Blank and M. Rollinghoff (1993). Langerhans cells transport *Leishmania major* from the infected skin to the draining lymph node for presentation to antigen-specific T cells. *Eur J Immunol* 23: 1595-1601.

Moll, H., R. Scollay and G. F. Mitchell (1988). Resistance to cutaneous leishmaniasis in nude mice injected with L3T4+ T cells but not with Ly-2+ T cells. *Immunol Cell Biol* **66**(Pt 1): 57-63.

Moore, K. W., R. de Waal Malefyt, R. L. Coffman and A. O'Garra (2001). Interleukin-10 and the interleukin-10 receptor. *Annu Rev Immunol* **19**: 683-765.

Morris, L., T. Aebischer, E. Handman and A. Kelso (1993). Resistance of BALB/c mice to *Leishmania major* infection is associated with a decrease in the precursor frequency of antigen-specific CD4+ cells secreting interleukin-4. *Int Immunol* **5**(7): 761-7.

Morris, L., A. B. Troutt, K. S. McLeod, A. Kelso, E. Handman and T. Aebischer (1993). Interleukin-4 but not gamma interferon production correlates with the severity of murine cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Infect Immun* **61**(8): 3459-65.

Moser, M. and K. M. Murphy (2000). Dendritic cell regulation of TH1-TH2 development. *Nat Immunol* 1(3): 199-205.

Mosmann, T. R., H. Cherwinski, M. W. Bond, M. A. Giedlin and R. L. Coffman (1986). Two types of murine helper T cell clone. I. Definition according to profiles of lymphokine activities and secreted proteins. *J Immunol* **136**(7): 2348-57.

Mosser, D. M. and P. J. Edelson (1985). The mouse macrophage receptor for C3bi (CR3) is a major mechanism in the phagocytosis of Leishmania promastigotes. \underline{J} <u>Immunol</u> 135(4): 2785-9.

Mosser, D. M., T. A. Springer and M. S. Diamond (1992). *Leishmania* promastigotes require opsonic complement to bind to the human leukocyte integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18). *J Cell Biol* **116**(2): 511-20.

Mosser, D. M. R., L. A. (1994). Divergent strategies used by the promastigote and amastigote forms of *Leishmania* to invade mammalian cells. *Bailliere's Clinical Infectious Diseases* 1(2): 191-212.

Mottram, J. C., M. J. Frame, D. R. Brooks, L. Tetley, J. E. Hutchison, A. E. Souza and G. H. Coombs (1997). The multiple cpb cysteine proteinase genes of *Leishmania mexicana* encode isoenzymes that differ in their stage regulation and substrate preferences. <u>J Biol Chem</u> 272(22): 14285-93.

Mottram, J. C., A. E. Souza, J. E. Hutchison, R. Carter, M. J. Frame and G. H. Coombs (1996). Evidence from disruption of the Imcpb gene array of *Leishmania mexicana* that cysteine proteinases are virulence factors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **93**(12): 6008-13.

Moudgil, K. D., E. E. Sercarz and I. S. Grewal (1998). Modulation of the immunogenicity of antigenic determinants by their flanking residues. *Immunol Today* **19**(5): 217-20.

Mougneau, E., F. Altare, A. E. Wakil, S. Zheng, T. Coppola, Z. E. Wang, R. Waldmann, R. M. Locksley and N. Glaichenhaus (1995). Expression cloning of a protective *Leishmania* antigen. *Science* **268**(5210): 563-6.

Murphy, D. B., D. Lo, S. Rath, R. L. Brinster, R. A. Flavell, A. Slanetz and C. A. Janeway, Jr. (1989). A novel MHC class II epitope expressed in thymic medulla but not cortex. *Nature* **338**(6218): 765-8.

Muzio, M., D. Bosisio, N. Polentarutti, G. D'Amico, A. Stoppacciaro, R. Mancinelli, C. van't Veer, G. Penton-Rol, L. P. Ruco, P. Allavena and A. Mantovani (2000). Differential expression and regulation of toll-like receptors (TLR) in human leukocytes: selective expression of TLR3 in dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **164**(11): 5998-6004.

Nakagawa, T., W. Roth, P. Wong, A. Nelson, A. Farr, J. Deussing, J. A. Villadangos, H. Ploegh, C. Peters and A. Y. Rudensky (1998). Cathepsin L: critical role in Ii degradation and CD4 T cell selection in the thymus. *Science* **280**(5362): 450-3.

Nijman, H. W., M. J. Kleijmeer, M. A. Ossevoort, V. M. Oorschot, M. P. Vierboom, M. van de Keur, P. Kenemans, W. M. Kast, H. J. Geuze and C. J. Melief (1995). Antigen capture and major histocompatibility class II compartments of freshly isolated and cultured human blood dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* 182(1): 163-74.

Nishikomori, R., R. O. Ehrhardt and W. Strober (2000). T helper type 2 cell differentiation occurs in the presence of interleukin 12 receptor beta2 chain expression and signaling. *J Exp Med* **191**(5): 847-58.

Nishikomori, R., S. Gurunathan, K. Nishikomori and W. Strober (2001). BALB/c mice bearing a transgenic IL-12 receptor beta 2 gene exhibit a nonhealing phenotype to *Leishmania major* infection despite intact IL-12 signaling. <u>J Immunol</u> **166**(11): 6776-83.

Noben-Trauth, N., P. Kropf and I. Muller (1996). Susceptibility to *Leishmania major* infection in interleukin-4-deficient mice. <u>Science</u> **271**(5251): 987-90.

Ohteki, T., T. Fukao, K. Suzue, C. Maki, M. Ito, M. Nakamura and S. Koyasu (1999). Interleukin 12-dependent interferon gamma production by CD8alpha+ lymphoid dendritic cells. *J Exp Med* **189**(12): 1981-6.

Ouellette, M. P., B. (1993). Mechanisms of drug resistance in *Leishmania*. <u>*Parasitol.*</u> <u>*Today*</u> 9(5): 150-153.

Overath, P. and T. Aebischer (1999). Antigen presentation by macrophages harboring intravesicular pathogens. *Parasitol Today* **15**(8): 325-32.

Overath, P. and D. Harbecke (1993). Course of *Leishmania* infection in beta 2microglobulin-deficient mice. *Immunol Lett* 37(1): 13-7.

Ozinsky, A., D. M. Underhill, J. D. Fontenot, A. M. Hajjar, K. D. Smith, C. B. Wilson, L. Schroeder and A. Aderem (2000). The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. <u>*Proc*</u> <u>Natl Acad Sci US A</u> 97(25): 13766-71.

Parham, P. (2000). The Immune System, Garland Publishing / Elsevier Science.

Peters, C., T. Aebischer, Y. D. Stierhof, M. Fuchs and P. Overath (1995). The role of macrophage receptors in adhesion and uptake of *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes. <u>J</u> <u>Cell Sci</u> 108(Pt 12): 3715-24.

Peters, C., Y. D. Stierhof and T. Ilg (1997). Proteophosphoglycan secreted by *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes causes vacuole formation in macrophages. <u>Infect</u> <u>Immun</u> 65(2): 783-6.

Peters, P. J., J. J. Neefjes, V. Oorschot, H. L. Ploegh and H. J. Geuze (1991). Segregation of MHC class II molecules from MHC class I molecules in the Golgi complex for transport to lysosomal compartments. *Nature* **349**(6311): 669-76.

Peterson, M. and J. Miller (1992). Antigen presentation enhanced by the alternatively spliced invariant chain gene product p41. *Nature* **357**(6379): 596-8.

Piedrafita, D., L. Proudfoot, A. V. Nikolaev, D. Xu, W. Sands, G. J. Feng, E. Thomas, J. Brewer, M. A. Ferguson, J. Alexander and F. Y. Liew (1999). Regulation of macrophage IL-12 synthesis by *Leishmania* phosphoglycans. *Eur J Immunol* **29**(1): 235-44.

Pierre, P. and I. Mellman (1998). Developmental regulation of invariant chain proteolysis controls MHC class II trafficking in mouse dendritic cells. <u>*Cell*</u> 93(7): 1135-45.

Pierre, P., S. J. Turley, E. Gatti, M. Hull, J. Meltzer, A. Mirza, K. Inaba, R. M. Steinman and I. Mellman (1997). Developmental regulation of MHC class II transport in mouse dendritic cells. *Nature* **388**(6644): 787-92.

Pieters, J. (1997). MHC class II restricted antigen presentation. <u>Curr Opin Immunol</u> 9(1): 89-96.

Pinet, V., M. Vergelli, R. Martin, O. Bakke and E. O. Long (1995). Antigen presentation mediated by recycling of surface HLA-DR molecules. *Nature* **375**(6532): 603-6.

Poltorak, A., X. He, I. Smirnova, M. Y. Liu, C. V. Huffel, X. Du, D. Birdwell, E. Alejos, M. Silva, C. Galanos, M. Freudenberg, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli, B. Layton and B. Beutler (1998). Defective LPS signaling in C3H/HeJ and C57BL/10ScCr mice: mutations in Tlr4 gene. <u>Science</u> 282(5396): 2085-8.

Pond, L. and C. Watts (1997). Characterization of transport of newly assembled, T cellstimulatory MHC class II-peptide complexes from MHC class II compartments to the cell surface. <u>J Immunol</u> **159**(2): 543-53.

Prina, E., J. C. Antoine, B. Wiederanders and H. Kirschke (1990). Localization and activity of various lysosomal proteases in *Leishmania amazonensis*-infected macrophages. *Infect Immun* **58**(6): 1730-7.
Prina, E., C. Jouanne, S. de Souza Lao, A. Szabo, J. G. Guillet and J. C. Antoine (1993). Antigen presentation capacity of murine macrophages infected with *Leishmania amazonensis* amastigotes. <u>J Immunol</u> 151(4): 2050-61.

Prina, E., T. Lang, N. Glaichenhaus and J. C. Antoine (1996). Presentation of the protective parasite antigen LACK by *Leishmania*- infected macrophages. <u>J Immunol</u> **156**(11): 4318-27.

Proudfoot, L., A. V. Nikolaev, G. J. Feng, W. Q. Wei, M. A. Ferguson, J. S. Brimacombe and F. Y. Liew (1996). Regulation of the expression of nitric oxide synthase and leishmanicidal activity by glycoconjugates of *Leishmania* lipophosphoglycan in murine macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 93(20): 10984-9.

Puentes, S. M., R. P. Da Silva, D. L. Sacks, C. H. Hammer and K. A. Joiner (1990). Serum resistance of metacyclic stage *Leishmania major* promastigotes is due to release of C5b-9. *J Immunol* **145**(12): 4311-6.

Puentes, S. M., D. L. Sacks, R. P. da Silva and K. A. Joiner (1988). Complement binding by two developmental stages of *Leishmania major* promastigotes varying in expression of a surface lipophosphoglycan. *J Exp Med* **167**(3): 887-902.

Pulendran, B., J. L. Smith, G. Caspary, K. Brasel, D. Pettit, E. Maraskovsky and C. R. Maliszewski (1999). Distinct dendritic cell subsets differentially regulate the class of immune response in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* **96**(3): 1036-41.

Qi, H., V. Popov and L. Soong (2001). Leishmania amazonensis-Dendritic Cell Interactions In Vitro and the Priming of Parasite-Specific CD4(+) T Cells In Vivo. J. Immunol 167(8): 4534-42.

Randolph, G. J., S. Beaulieu, S. Lebecque, R. M. Steinman and W. A. Muller (1998). Differentiation of monocytes into dendritic cells in a model of transendothelial trafficking. <u>Science</u> **282**(5388): 480-3.

Raposo, G., H. W. Nijman, W. Stoorvogel, R. Liejendekker, C. V. Harding, C. J. Melief and H. J. Geuze (1996). B lymphocytes secrete antigen-presenting vesicles. *J Exp Med* **183**(3): 1161-72.

Reay, P. A., R. M. Kantor and M. M. Davis (1994). Use of global amino acid replacements to define the requirements for MHC binding and T cell recognition of moth cytochrome c (93-103). *J Immunol* **152**(8): 3946-57.

Reay, P. A., K. Matsui, K. Haase, C. Wulfing, Y. H. Chien and M. M. Davis (2000). Determination of the relationship between T cell responsiveness and the number of MHC-peptide complexes using specific monoclonal antibodies. *J Immunol* 164(11): 5626-34.

Regnault, A., D. Lankar, V. Lacabanne, A. Rodriguez, C. Thery, M. Rescigno, T. Saito, S. Verbeek, C. Bonnerot, P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli and S. Amigorena (1999). Fcgamma receptor-mediated induction of dendritic cell maturation and major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted antigen presentation after immune complex internalization. <u>J</u> <u>Exp Med</u> 189(2): 371-80.

Reiner, S. L. and R. M. Locksley (1995). The regulation of immunity to *Leishmania* major. *Annu Rev Immunol* 13: 151-77.

Reiner, S. L., Z. E. Wang, F. Hatam, P. Scott and R. M. Locksley (1993). TH1 and TH2 cell antigen receptors in experimental leishmaniasis. *Science* **259**(5100): 1457-60.

Reiner, S. L., S. Zheng, Z. E. Wang, L. Stowring and R. M. Locksley (1994). *Leishmania* promastigotes evade interleukin 12 (IL-12) induction by macrophages and stimulate a broad range of cytokines from CD4+ T cells during initiation of infection. <u>J</u> <u>Exp Med</u> 179(2): 447-56.

Reis e Sousa, C., A. Sher and P. Kaye (1999). The role of dendritic cells in the induction and regulation of immunity to microbial infection. *Curr Opin Immunol* 11(4): 392-9.

Reis e Sousa, C., P. D. Stahl and J. M. Austyn (1993). Phagocytosis of antigens by Langerhans cells in vitro. <u>J Exp Med</u> 178(2): 509-19.

Riese, R. J., P. R. Wolf, D. Bromme, L. R. Natkin, J. A. Villadangos, H. L. Ploegh and H. A. Chapman (1996). Essential role for cathepsin S in MHC class II-associated invariant chain processing and peptide loading. *Immunity* 4(4): 357-66.

Rissoan, M. C., V. Soumelis, N. Kadowaki, G. Grouard, F. Briere, R. de Waal Malefyt and Y. J. Liu (1999). Reciprocal control of T helper cell and dendritic cell differentiation. *Science* 283(5405): 1183-6.

Roberts, L. S. a. J., J. (1996). Foundations of Parasitology, Wm. C. Brown Publishers.

Rock, F. L., G. Hardiman, J. C. Timans, R. A. Kastelein and J. F. Bazan (1998). A family of human receptors structurally related to *Drosophila* Toll. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U* <u>SA</u> 95(2): 588-93.

Rogers, P. R., J. Song, I. Gramaglia, N. Killeen and M. Croft (2001). OX40 promotes Bcl-xL and Bcl-2 expression and is essential for long-term survival of CD4 T cells. *Immunity* **15**(3): 445-55.

Rosnet, O., S. Marchetto, O. deLapeyriere and D. Birnbaum (1991). Murine Flt3, a gene encoding a novel tyrosine kinase receptor of the PDGFR/CSF1R family. *Oncogene* **6**(9): 1641-50.

Ruedl, C., M. F. Bachmann and M. Kopf (2000). The antigen dose determines T helper subset development by regulation of CD40 ligand. *Eur J Immunol* **30**(7): 2056-64.

Ruedl, C., P. Koebel, M. Bachmann, M. Hess and K. Karjalainen (2000). Anatomical origin of dendritic cells determines their life span in peripheral lymph nodes. *J Immunol* **165**(9): 4910-6.

Russell, D. G. and H. Wilhelm (1986). The involvement of the major surface glycoprotein (gp63) of *Leishmania* promastigotes in attachment to macrophages. \underline{J} <u>Immunol</u> 136(7): 2613-20.

Russell, D. G. and S. D. Wright (1988). Complement receptor type 3 (CR3) binds to an Arg-Gly-Asp-containing region of the major surface glycoprotein, gp63, of *Leishmania* promastigotes. <u>J Exp Med</u> 168(1): 279-92.

Russell, D. G., S. Xu and P. Chakraborty (1992). Intracellular trafficking and the parasitophorous vacuole of *Leishmania mexicana*-infected macrophages. <u>J Cell Sci</u> **103**(Pt 4): 1193-210.

Russo, D. M., J. M. Burns, Jr., E. M. Carvalho, R. J. Armitage, K. H. Grabstein, L. L. Button, W. R. McMaster and S. G. Reed (1991). Human T cell responses to gp63, a surface antigen of *Leishmania*. <u>J Immunol</u> 147(10): 3575-80.

Russo, D. M., A. Jardim, E. M. Carvalho, P. R. Sleath, R. J. Armitage, R. W. Olafson and S. G. Reed (1993). Mapping human T cell epitopes in *Leishmania* gp63: identification of cross-reactive and species-specific epitopes. *J Immunol* **150**(10): 4713.

Saar, Y., A. Ransford, E. Waldman, S. Mazareb, S. Amin-Spector, J. Plumblee, S. J. Turco and D. Zilberstein (1998). Characterization of developmentally-regulated activities in axenic amastigotes of *Leishmania donovani*. <u>Mol Biochem Parasitol</u> **95**(1): 9-20.

Sacks, D. L., T. N. Brodin and S. J. Turco (1990). Developmental modification of the lipophosphoglycan from *Leishmania major* promastigotes during metacyclogenesis. <u>Mol</u> <u>Biochem Parasitol</u> **42**(2): 225-33.

Sacks, D. L., G. Modi, E. Rowton, G. Spath, L. Epstein, S. J. Turco and S. M. Beverley (2000). The role of phosphoglycans in *Leishmania*-sand fly interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97(1): 406-11.

Sadick, M. D., F. P. Heinzel, B. J. Holaday, R. T. Pu, R. S. Dawkins and R. M. Locksley (1990). Cure of murine leishmaniasis with anti-interleukin 4 monoclonal antibody. Evidence for a T cell-dependent, interferon gamma-independent mechanism. *J Exp Med* **171**(1): 115-27.

Salamero, J., M. Humbert, P. Cosson and J. Davoust (1990). Mouse B lymphocyte specific endocytosis and recycling of MHC class II molecules. <u>*Embo J*</u> 9(11): 3489-96.

Sallusto, F., M. Cella, C. Danieli and A. Lanzavecchia (1995). Dendritic cells use macropinocytosis and the mannose receptor to concentrate macromolecules in the major histocompatibility complex class II compartment: downregulation by cytokines and bacterial products. *J Exp Med* **182**(2): 389-400.

Sallusto, F. and A. Lanzavecchia (1994). Efficient presentation of soluble antigen by cultured human dendritic cells is maintained by granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor plus interleukin 4 and downregulated by tumor necrosis factor alpha. \underline{J} <u>Exp Med</u> 179(4): 1109-18.

Sallusto, F. and A. Lanzavecchia (2000). Understanding dendritic cell and T-lymphocyte traffic through the analysis of chemokine receptor expression. *Immunol Rev* 177: 134-40.

Sambrook, J., E. F. Fritsch and T. Maniatis (1989). <u>Molecular Cloning: a Laboratory</u> <u>Manual</u>, Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbour NY.

Sanderson, F., M. J. Kleijmeer, A. Kelly, D. Verwoerd, A. Tulp, J. J. Neefjes, H. J. Geuze and J. Trowsdale (1994). Accumulation of HLA-DM, a regulator of antigen presentation, in MHC class II compartments. <u>Science</u> **266**(5190): 1566-9.

Sanger, F., S. Nicklen and A. R. Coulson (1977). DNA sequencing with chainterminating inhibitors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 74(12): 5463-7.

Saraiva, E. M., P. F. Pimenta, T. N. Brodin, E. Rowton, G. B. Modi and D. L. Sacks (1995). Changes in lipophosphoglycan and gene expression associated with the development of *Leishmania major* in *Phlebotomus papatasi*. *Parasitology* **111**(Pt 3): 275-87.

Satoskar, A., F. Brombacher, W. J. Dai, I. McInnes, F. Y. Liew, J. Alexander and W. Walker (1997). SCID mice reconstituted with IL-4-deficient lymphocytes, but not immunocompetent lymphocytes, are resistant to cutaneous leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* **159**(10): 5005-13.

Saudrais, C., D. Spehner, H. de la Salle, A. Bohbot, J. P. Cazenave, B. Goud, D. Hanau and J. Salamero (1998). Intracellular pathway for the generation of functional MHC class II peptide complexes in immature human dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **160**(6): 2597-607.

Scharton, T. M. and P. Scott (1993). Natural killer cells are a source of interferon gamma that drives differentiation of CD4+ T cell subsets and induces early resistance to *Leishmania major* in mice. <u>J Exp Med</u> **178**(2): 567-77.

Scharton-Kersten, T., L. C. Afonso, M. Wysocka, G. Trinchieri and P. Scott (1995). IL-12 is required for natural killer cell activation and subsequent T helper 1 cell development in experimental leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* **154**(10): 5320-30. Scheicher, C., M. Mehlig, H. P. Dienes and K. Reske (1995). Uptake of microparticleadsorbed protein antigen by bone marrow-derived dendritic cells results in up-regulation of interleukin-1 alpha and interleukin-12 p40/p35 and triggers prolonged, efficient antigen presentation. *Eur J Immunol* **25**(6): 1566-72.

Schneider, P., J. P. Rosat, J. Bouvier, J. Louis and C. Bordier (1992). *Leishmania major*: differential regulation of the surface metalloprotease in amastigote and promastigote stages. *Exp Parasitol* **75**(2): 196-206.

Schubach, A., F. Haddad, M. P. Oliveira-Neto, W. Degrave, C. Pirmez, G. Grimaldi, Jr. and O. Fernandes (1998). Detection of *Leishmania* DNA by polymerase chain reaction in scars of treated human patients. <u>J Infect Dis</u> 178(3): 911-4.

Schuler, G., Lutz, M., Bender, A., Thurner, B., Roeder, C., Young, J.W. and Romani, N. (1999). A Guide to the Isolation and Propagation of Dendritic Cells. <u>Dendritic Cells.</u> <u>Biological and Clinical Applications</u>. M. T. L. a. A. W. Thomson, Academic Press.

Schulz, O., D. A. Edwards, M. Schito, J. Aliberti, S. Manickasingham, A. Sher and C. Reis e Sousa (2000). CD40 triggering of heterodimeric IL-12 p70 production by dendritic cells in vivo requires a microbial priming signal. *Immunity* **13**(4): 453-62.

Scott, P. (1991). IFN-gamma modulates the early development of Th1 and Th2 responses in a murine model of cutaneous leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* 147(9): 3149-55.

Scott, P., P. Natovitz, R. L. Coffman, E. Pearce and A. Sher (1988). Immunoregulation of cutaneous leishmaniasis. T cell lines that transfer protective immunity or exacerbation belong to different T helper subsets and respond to distinct parasite antigens. *J Exp Med* **168**(5): 1675-84.

Shankar, A. H. and R. G. Titus (1995). T cell and non-T cell compartments can independently determine resistance to *Leishmania major*. *J Exp Med* **181**(3): 845-55.

Shreedhar, V., A. M. Moodycliffe, S. E. Ullrich, C. Bucana, M. L. Kripke and L. Flores-Romo (1999). Dendritic cells require T cells for functional maturation *in vivo*. *Immunity* **11**(5): 625-36.

Sloan, V. S., P. Cameron, G. Porter, M. Gammon, M. Amaya, E. Mellins and D. M. Zaller (1995). Mediation by HLA-DM of dissociation of peptides from HLA-DR. *Nature* **375**(6534): 802-6.

Soong, L., C. H. Chang, J. Sun, B. J. Longley, Jr., N. H. Ruddle, R. A. Flavell and D. McMahon-Pratt (1997). Role of CD4+ T cells in pathogenesis associated with *Leishmania amazonensis* infection. *J Immunol* **158**(11): 5374-83.

Soong, L., J. C. Xu, I. S. Grewal, P. Kima, J. Sun, B. J. Longley, Jr., N. H. Ruddle, D. McMahon-Pratt and R. A. Flavell (1996). Disruption of CD40-CD40 ligand interactions results in an enhanced susceptibility to *Leishmania amazonensis* infection. *Immunity* 4(3): 263-73.

Sousa, C. R., S. Hieny, T. Scharton-Kersten, D. Jankovic, H. Charest, R. N. Germain and A. Sher (1997). *In vivo* microbial stimulation induces rapid CD40 ligandindependent production of interleukin 12 by dendritic cells and their redistribution to T cell areas. *J Exp Med* **186**(11): 1819-29.

Sozzani, S., P. Allavena, G. D'Amico, W. Luini, G. Bianchi, M. Kataura, T. Imai, O. Yoshie, R. Bonecchi and A. Mantovani (1998). Differential regulation of chemokine receptors during dendritic cell maturation: a model for their trafficking properties. \underline{J} <u>Immunol</u> 161(3): 1083-6.

Spath, G. F., L. Epstein, B. Leader, S. M. Singer, H. A. Avila, S. J. Turco and S. M. Beverley (2000). Lipophosphoglycan is a virulence factor distinct from related glycoconjugates in the protozoan parasite *Leishmania major*. <u>Proc Natl Acad Sci USA</u> **97**(16): 9258-63.

St Johnston, D. and C. Nusslein-Volhard (1992). The origin of pattern and polarity in the *Drosophila* embryo. *Cell* 68(2): 201-19.

Stamm, L. M., A. Raisanen-Sokolowski, M. Okano, M. E. Russell, J. R. David and A. R. Satoskar (1998). Mice with STAT6-targeted gene disruption develop a Th1 response and control cutaneous leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* **161**(11): 6180-8.

Steinbrink, K., M. Wolfl, H. Jonuleit, J. Knop and A. H. Enk (1997). Induction of tolerance by IL-10-treated dendritic cells. *J Immunol* **159**(10): 4772-80.

Steinman, R. M. and Z. A. Cohn (1973). Identification of a novel cell type in peripheral lymphoid organs of mice. I. Morphology, quantitation, tissue distribution. *J Exp Med* **137**(5): 1142-62.

Stierhof, Y. D., H. Schwarz, B. Menz, D. G. Russell, M. Quinten and P. Overath (1991). Monoclonal antibodies to *Leishmania mexicana* promastigote antigens. II. Cellular localization of antigens in promastigotes and infected macrophages. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 99(Pt 1): 181-6.

Stockinger, B., Zal, T., Zal, A. and Gray, D. (1995). B cells solicit their own help. <u>J.</u> <u>Exp. Med.</u> 183: 891-899.

Suss, G. and K. Shortman (1996). A subclass of dendritic cells kills CD4 T cells via Fas/Fas-ligand-induced apoptosis. *J Exp Med* **183**(4): 1789-96.

Sutterwala, F. S., G. J. Noel, R. Clynes and D. M. Mosser (1997). Selective suppression of interleukin-12 induction after macrophage receptor ligation. <u>J Exp Med</u> 185(11): 1977-85.

Swain, S. L., G. Dennert, J. F. Warner and R. W. Dutton (1981). Culture supernatants of a stimulated T-cell line have helper activity that acts synergistically with interleukin-2 in the response of B cells to antigen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **75**(4): 2517-2521. Swier, K., D. R. Brown, J. J. Bird, W. D. Martin, L. Van Kaer and S. L. Reiner (1998). A critical, invariant chain-independent role for H2-M in antigen presentation. *J Immunol* **160**(2): 540-4.

Sypek, J. P., C. L. Chung, S. E. Mayor, J. M. Subramanyam, S. J. Goldman, D. S. Sieburth, S. F. Wolf and R. G. Schaub (1993). Resolution of cutaneous leishmaniasis: interleukin 12 initiates a protective T helper type 1 immune response. *J Exp Med* 177(6): 1797-802.

Szabo, S. J., A. S. Dighe, U. Gubler and K. M. Murphy (1997). Regulation of the interleukin (IL)-12R beta 2 subunit expression in developing T helper 1 (Th1) and Th2 cells. *J Exp Med* 185(5): 817-24.

Szabo, S. J., S. T. Kim, G. L. Costa, X. Zhang, C. G. Fathman and L. H. Glimcher (2000). A novel transcription factor, T-bet, directs Th1 lineage commitment. <u>*Cell*</u> **100**(6): 655-69.

Takeda, K., T. Tanaka, W. Shi, M. Matsumoto, M. Minami, S. Kashiwamura, K. Nakanishi, N. Yoshida, T. Kishimoto and S. Akira (1996). Essential role of Stat6 in IL-4 signalling. *Nature* **380**(6575): 627-30.

Takeuchi, O., K. Hoshino, T. Kawai, H. Sanjo, H. Takada, T. Ogawa, K. Takeda and S. Akira (1999). Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gram-negative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. *Immunity* **11**(4): 443-51.

Talamas-Rohana, P., S. D. Wright, M. R. Lennartz and D. G. Russell (1990). Lipophosphoglycan from *Leishmania mexicana* promastigotes binds to members of the CR3, p150,95 and LFA-1 family of leukocyte integrins. *J Immunol* **144**(12): 4817-24.

Tang, A., M. Amagai, L. G. Granger, J. R. Stanley and M. C. Udey (1993). Adhesion of epidermal Langerhans cells to keratinocytes mediated by E-cadherin. *Nature* **361**(6407): 82-5.

Thierfelder, W. E., J. M. van Deursen, K. Yamamoto, R. A. Tripp, S. R. Sarawar, R. T. Carson, M. Y. Sangster, D. A. Vignali, P. C. Doherty, G. C. Grosveld and J. N. Ihle (1996). Requirement for Stat4 in interleukin-12-mediated responses of natural killer and T cells. *Nature* **382**(6587): 171-4.

Thoma-Uszynski, S., S. M. Kiertscher, M. T. Ochoa, D. A. Bouis, M. V. Norgard, K. Miyake, P. J. Godowski, M. D. Roth and R. L. Modlin (2000). Activation of toll-like receptor 2 on human dendritic cells triggers induction of IL-12, but not IL-10. <u>J</u> <u>Immunol</u> 165(7): 3804-10.

Traver, D., K. Akashi, M. Manz, M. Merad, T. Miyamoto, E. G. Engleman and I. L. Weissman (2000). Development of CD8alpha-positive dendritic cells from a common myeloid progenitor. *Science* **290**(5499): 2152-4.

Trinchieri, G. (1995). Interleukin-12: a proinflammatory cytokine with immunoregulatory functions that bridge innate resistance and antigen-specific adaptive immunity. <u>Annu Rev Immunol</u> 13: 251-76.

Turco, S. J. and A. Descoteaux (1992). The lipophosphoglycan of *Leishmania* parasites. *Annu Rev Microbiol* **46**: 65-94.

Turco, S. J. and D. L. Sacks (1991). Expression of a stage-specific lipophosphoglycan in *Leishmania major* amastigotes. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **45**(1): 91-9.

Turley, S. J., K. Inaba, W. S. Garrett, M. Ebersold, J. Unternaehrer, R. M. Steinman and I. Mellman (2000). Transport of peptide-MHC class II complexes in developing dendritic cells. *Science* 288(5465): 522-7.

Underhill, D. M., A. Ozinsky, A. M. Hajjar, A. Stevens, C. B. Wilson, M. Bassetti and A. Aderem (1999). The Toll-like receptor 2 is recruited to macrophage phagosomes and discriminates between pathogens. *Nature* **401**(6755): 811-5.

Varkila, K., R. Chatelain, L. M. Leal and R. L. Coffman (1993). Reconstitution of C.B-17 scid mice with BALB/c T cells initiates a T helper type-1 response and renders them capable of healing *Leishmania major* infection. *Eur J Immunol* **23**(1): 262-8.

Vieira, P. L., E. C. de Jong, E. A. Wierenga, M. L. Kapsenberg and P. Kalinski (2000). Development of Th1-inducing capacity in myeloid dendritic cells requires environmental instruction. *J Immunol* **164**(9): 4507-12.

Villadangos, J. A., R. A. Bryant, J. Deussing, C. Driessen, A. M. Lennon-Dumenil, R. J. Riese, W. Roth, P. Saftig, G. P. Shi, H. A. Chapman, C. Peters and H. L. Ploegh (1999). Proteases involved in MHC class II antigen presentation. *Immunol Rev* **172**: 109-20.

Villadangos, J. A., M. Cardoso, R. J. Steptoe, D. van Berkel, J. Pooley, F. R. Carbone and K. Shortman (2001). MHC class II expression is regulated in dendritic cells independently of invariant chain degradation. *Immunity* 14(6): 739-49.

Visintin, A., A. Mazzoni, J. H. Spitzer, D. H. Wyllie, S. K. Dower and D. M. Segal (2001). Regulation of Toll-like receptors in human monocytes and dendritic cells. <u>J</u> <u>Immunol</u> 166(1): 249-55. von Stebut, E., Y. Belkaid, T. Jakob, D. L. Sacks and M. C. Udey (1998). Uptake of *Leishmania major* amastigotes results in activation and interleukin 12 release from murine skin-derived dendritic cells: implications for the initiation of anti-Leishmania immunity. <u>J Exp Med</u> 188(8): 1547-52.

von Stebut, E., Y. Belkaid, B. V. Nguyen, M. Cushing, D. L. Sacks and M. C. Udey (2000). *Leishmania major*-infected murine langerhans cell-like dendritic cells from susceptible mice release IL-12 after infection and vaccinate against experimental cutaneous Leishmaniasis. *Eur J Immunol* **30**(12): 3498-506.

Vouldoukis, I., P. A. Becherel, V. Riveros-Moreno, M. Arock, O. da Silva, P. Debre, D. Mazier and M. D. Mossalayi (1997). Interleukin-10 and interleukin-4 inhibit intracellular killing of *Leishmania infantum* and *Leishmania major* by human macrophages by decreasing nitric oxide generation. <u>Eur J Immunol</u> 27(4): 860-5.

Wang, J. H., A. Nichogiannopoulou, L. Wu, L. Sun, A. H. Sharpe, M. Bigby and K. Georgopoulos (1996). Selective defects in the development of the fetal and adult lymphoid system in mice with an Ikaros null mutation. *Immunity* 5(6): 537-49.

Wang, T., W. P. Lafuse and B. S. Zwilling (2000). Regulation of toll-like receptor 2 expression by macrophages following Mycobacterium avium infection. <u>J Immunol</u> **165**(11): 6308-13.

Wang, Z. E., S. L. Reiner, F. Hatam, F. P. Heinzel, J. Bouvier, C. W. Turck and R. M. Locksley (1993). Targeted activation of CD8 cells and infection of beta 2-microglobulin-deficient mice fail to confirm a primary protective role for CD8 cells in experimental leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* 151(4): 2077-86.

Wang, Z. E., S. Zheng, D. B. Corry, D. K. Dalton, R. A. Seder, S. L. Reiner and R. M. Locksley (1994). Interferon gamma-independent effects of interleukin 12 administered during acute or established infection due to Leishmania major. *Proc Nat Acad Sci USA* **91**(26): 12932-6.

Wei, X. Q., I. G. Charles, A. Smith, J. Ure, G. J. Feng, F. P. Huang, D. Xu, W. Muller, S. Moncada and F. Y. Liew (1995). Altered immune responses in mice lacking inducible nitric oxide synthase. *Nature* **375**(6530): 408-11.

Weinheber, N., M. Wolfram, D. Harbecke and T. Aebischer (1998). Phagocytosis of *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes by macrophages leads to a sustained suppression of IL-12 production. *Eur J Immunol* **28**(8): 2467-77.

Whelan, M., M. M. Harnett, K. M. Houston, V. Patel, W. Harnett and K. P. Rigley (2000). A filarial nematode-secreted product signals dendritic cells to acquire a phenotype that drives development of Th2 cells. *J Immunol* **164**(12): 6453-60.

Wiese, M., O. Berger, Y. D. Stierhof, M. Wolfram, M. Fuchs and P. Overath (1996). Gene cloning and cellular localization of a membrane-bound acid phosphatase of *Leishmania mexicana*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **82**(2): 153-65.

Wiese, M., T. Ilg, F. Lottspeich and P. Overath (1995). Ser/Thr-rich repetitive motifs as targets for phosphoglycan modifications in *Leishmania mexicana* secreted acid phosphatase. <u>*Embo J*</u> 14(6): 1067-74.

Will, A., C. Blank, M. Rollinghoff and H. Moll (1992). Murine epidermal Langerhans cells are potent stimulators of an antigen- specific T cell response to *Leishmania major*, the cause of cutaneous leishmaniasis. *Eur J Immunol* **22**(6): 1341-7.

Williams, M. J., A. Rodriguez, D. A. Kimbrell and E. D. Eldon (1997). The 18-wheeler mutation reveals complex antibacterial gene regulation in Drosophila host defense. <u>*Embo J*</u> 16(20): 6120-30.

Winter, G., M. Fuchs, M. J. McConville, Y. D. Stierhof and P. Overath (1994). Surface antigens of *Leishmania mexicana* amastigotes: characterization of glycoinositol phospholipids and a macrophage-derived glycosphingolipid. <u>J Cell Sci</u> 107(Pt 9): 2471-82.

Winzler, C., P. Rovere, M. Rescigno, F. Granucci, G. Penna, L. Adorini, V. S. Zimmermann, J. Davoust and P. Ricciardi-Castagnoli (1997). Maturation stages of mouse dendritic cells in growth factor-dependent long-term cultures. *J Exp Med* 185(2): 317-28.

Witmer-Pack, M. D., W. Olivier, J. Valinsky, G. Schuler and R. M. Steinman (1987). Granulocyte/macrophage colony-stimulating factor is essential for the viability and function of cultured murine epidermal Langerhans cells. *J Exp Med* **166**(5): 1484-98.

Wolfram, M., M. Fuchs, M. Wiese, Y. D. Stierhof and P. Overath (1996). Antigen presentation by *Leishmania mexicana*-infected macrophages: activation of helper T cells by a model parasite antigen secreted into the parasitophorous vacuole or expressed on the amastigote surface. *Eur J Immunol* **26**(12): 3153-62.

Wolfram, M., T. Ilg, J. C. Mottram and P. Overath (1995). Antigen presentation by *Leishmania mexicana*-infected macrophages: activation of helper T cells specific for amastigote cysteine proteinases requires intracellular killing of the parasites. *Eur J Immunol* **25**(4): 1094-100.

Wong, B. R., R. Josien, S. Y. Lee, B. Sauter, H. L. Li, R. M. Steinman and Y. Choi (1997). TRANCE (tumor necrosis factor [TNF]-related activation-induced cytokine), a new TNF family member predominantly expressed in T cells, is a dendritic cell-specific survival factor. *J Exp Med* **186**(12): 2075-80.

Wozencraft, A. O., G. Sayers and J. M. Blackwell (1986). Macrophage type 3 complement receptors mediate serum-independent binding of *Leishmania donovani*. Detection of macrophage-derived complement on the parasite surface by immunoelectron microscopy. *J Exp Med* **164**(4): 1332-7.

Wright, S. D. and S. C. Silverstein (1983). Receptors for C3b and C3bi promote phagocytosis but not the release of toxic oxygen from human phagocytes. *J Exp Med* **158**(6): 2016-23.

Wu, L., A. D'Amico, K. D. Winkel, M. Suter, D. Lo and K. Shortman (1998). RelB is essential for the development of myeloid-related CD8alpha- dendritic cells but not of lymphoid-related CD8alpha+ dendritic cells. *Immunity* **9**(6): 839-47.

Wu, L., A. Nichogiannopoulou, K. Shortman and K. Georgopoulos (1997). Cellautonomous defects in dendritic cell populations of Ikaros mutant mice point to a developmental relationship with the lymphoid lineage. <u>*Immunity*</u> 7(4): 483-92.

Wubbolts, R., M. Fernandez-Borja, L. Oomen, D. Verwoerd, H. Janssen, J. Calafat, A. Tulp, S. Dusseljee and J. Neefjes (1996). Direct vesicular transport of MHC class II molecules from lysosomal structures to the cell surface. *J Cell Biol* **135**(3): 611-22.

Yang, D. M., N. Fairweather, L. L. Button, W. R. McMaster, L. P. Kahl and F. Y. Liew (1990). Oral *Salmonella typhimurium* (AroA-) vaccine expressing a major leishmanial surface protein (gp63) preferentially induces T helper 1 cells and protective immunity against leishmaniasis. *J Immunol* 145(7): 2281-5.

Yang, R. B., M. R. Mark, A. Gray, A. Huang, M. H. Xie, M. Zhang, A. Goddard, W. I. Wood, A. L. Gurney and P. J. Godowski (1998). Toll-like receptor-2 mediates lipopolysaccharide-induced cellular signalling [see comments]. *Nature* **395**(6699): 284-8.

Zheng, W. and R. A. Flavell (1997). The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells. <u>*Cell*</u> **89**(4): 587-96.

Zhou, C., Y. Yang and A. Y. Jong (1990). Mini-prep in ten minutes. *Biotechniques* 8(2): 172-3.